

LSHTM Research Online

Migchelsen, SJ; (2019) Chlamydia trachomatis serology as a means of monitoring intervention activities to eliminate trachoma as a public health problem. PhD (research paper style) thesis, London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine. DOI: https://doi.org/10.17037/PUBS.04654854

Downloaded from: https://researchonline.lshtm.ac.uk/id/eprint/4654854/

DOI: https://doi.org/10.17037/PUBS.04654854

Usage Guidelines:

Please refer to usage guidelines at https://researchonline.lshtm.ac.uk/policies.html or alternatively contact researchonline@lshtm.ac.uk.

Copyright \copyright \ and Moral Rights for the papers on this site are retained by the individual authors and/or other copyright owners



LSHTM Research Online

Migchelsen, SJ; (2019) Chlamydia trachomatis serology as a means of monitoring intervention activities to eliminate trachoma as a public health problem. PhD (research paper style) thesis, London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine. DOI: https://doi.org/10.17037/PUBS.04654854

Downloaded from: https://researchonline.lshtm.ac.uk/id/eprint/4654854/

DOI: https://doi.org/10.17037/PUBS.04654854

Usage Guidelines:

Please refer to usage guidelines at https://researchonline.lshtm.ac.uk/policies.html or alternatively contact researchonline@lshtm.ac.uk.

Available under license. To note, 3rd party material is not necessarily covered under this license: http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/3.0/



Chlamydia trachomatis serology as a means of monitoring intervention activities to eliminate trachoma as a public health problem

STEPHANIE JASMINE MIGCHELSEN

Thesis submitted in accordance with the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy University of London

September 2018

Department of Clinical Research

Faculty of Infectious and Tropical Diseases

LONDON SCHOOL OF HYGIENE & TROPICAL MEDICINE

Funded by Wellcome Trust

Declaration

I, Stephanie Jasmine Migchelsen, confirm that the work presented in this thesis is my own. Where information has been derived from other sources, I confirm that this has been indicated in the thesis.



Signature Date 19 September 2018

Stephanie J Migchelsen

Preface

This thesis is presented as a 'Research Paper Style Thesis' in accordance with submission guidance provided by the London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine. Four of the chapters comprise papers that have been published or are prepared for submission to peerreviewed journals. These are highlighted in italics in the Table of Contents. In view of the differing requirements of the journals in which the work has been published there is by necessity some repetition of material and variation in the formatting of these chapters. Publication details and acknowledgement of co- author contributions are included on the individual cover sheets for each paper. The remainder of the thesis is comprised of 'linking material' and includes an introduction to the overall research project.

All material within this thesis was written by Stephanie Migchelsen.

Abstract

Trachoma causes blindness as a result of repeated ocular infection with *Chlamydia trachomatis* (Ct). International efforts are focused on eliminating trachoma as a public health problem by 2020; the World Health Organisation's (WHO) and the Global Alliance for the Elimination of Trachoma by 2020 (GET2020) (1) recommend the SAFE strategy (Surgery to treat trichiasis, Antibiotics to treat infection with Ct, Facial cleanliness and Environmental change to reduce transmission) (2). Current implementation guidelines for the A, F and E aspects of the strategy are based on the prevalence of trachomatous inflammation-follicular (TF) in children aged 1-9 years. Antibiotics are administered as azithromycin mass drug administration (MDA) to all residents of districts wherein the prevalence of TF in 1-9 year old children is greater than 10% (3).

As we approach the global elimination of trachoma, the prevalence of TF in children will decline towards the elimination threshold of 5%, and with it, the positive predictive value of TF. This may result in inappropriate, continued administration of antibiotics, which is a mis-use of valuable financial and person resources, as well as raising concerns about antimicrobial stewardship.

Once the prevalence of TF in children aged 1-9 years is below 5%, re-emergence must be monitored. The WHO recommends a 'pre-validation' survey to determine if re-emergence has occurred (4). The 2014 Technical Consultation on Trachoma Surveillance (4) recommended exploring the district-level prevalence of TF, the district-level prevalence of conjunctival infection with Ct and the district-level prevalence of antibodies against Ct, to determine an appropriate measure, or combination of measures, for deciding when to stop MDA.

Numerous methods exist for detecting antibodies against Ct antigens (5–9). Specimens may be collected by venepuncture or from fingerprick, stored as whole blood, serum or dried blood spots on filter paper, and assayed using enzyme-linked immunosorbent assays (ELISA), lateral flow assays (LFA), or multiplex bead assay (MBA); of theses, MBA allows for the testing for antibodies against numerous antigens from endemic infections, but the required instrumentation and reagents are more cost-intensive. Historically, serology for Ct fell out of favour due to the high cross-reaction with antigens from *C pneumoniae*, however, with the advent of new proteomic tools and assays with greater reported sensitivity and specificity, serology has re-emerged as a potential tool for monitoring the prevalence of antibody-inducing chlamydial infection (4,10,11).

Both ELISA and MBA assays present output as numerical data, which must be translated to a population seroprevalence value. Therefore, a method must be determined for dichotomising numerical data and setting a threshold between seropositive and seronegative samples. Receiver

Operating Characteristic (ROC) curves have previously been used, but these rely on appropriate reference standards. Alternate methods that rely solely on the data generated within a study, such as finite mixture modelling, may be more appropriate (12–15).

Once seropositivity has been estimated, it is of interest to detect changes in the age-specific seroprevalence of a population. Catalytic models have previously been used to monitor changes in the prevalence of malaria (13,16–22) and this methodology can be applied to detect changes in transmission as a proxy for the force of infection (FOI) as well as to estimate seroconversion rates, and to a lesser extent, seroreversion rates (13,19).

The simplicity of dichotomous seroprevalence estimates may provide lower resolution information than the quantitative antibody levels. Recent work uses quantitative antibody levels to measure changes in transmission (23). Ensemble machine learning can be used to produce characteristic agespecific antibody curves that may reveal changes in population mean antibody levels that would otherwise be masked because changes occurred above or below the seropositivity threshold.

There remain several areas to be elucidated. While antigens used in modern serological studies are considered specific for Ct, there is yet no way to distinguish between antibodies due to ocular infection or genital infection, making serological studies in anyone over the age of sexual debut a challenge. There is no standard reference for antibody levels, making a comparison between different studies challenging. The two most commonly used assays produce different output data: ELISAs measures optical density- the amount of light absorbed by the specimen- while MBAs detect fluorescence in an assayed specimen. An internal standard would allow for comparison between the two assays.

This PhD research addresses several key questions about the use of serology and Ct-specific antibodies for monitoring the prevalence of trachoma. As more countries progress to eliminating trachoma as a public health problem by 2020, efforts will need to be increased to monitor and evaluate elimination efforts and to prevent re-emergence of the disease. Serological techniques may be ideal for such activities.

Acknowledgements

I am very grateful to a number of people for their assistance and support over the course of my PhD programme. I was privileged to have not one, but three outstanding supervisors: David Mabey, Anthony Solomon and Chrissy h Roberts, each of whom pushed me to try harder, think deeper and encouraged me when times were tough.

Within the trachoma group, Martin Holland and Robin Bailey provided insightful discussion and encouragement both in London and while I was in The Gambia. I was also lucky to be supported by Ana Roca and Sarah Burr during my time in the field. Sarah and her family deserve extra thanks for being a very welcome diversion from endless days in the lab, good quality Wi-Fi, an adorable kitten and hospitality. Hassan Joof, Pateh Makalo and Omar Camara formed the core of my field team in The Gambia and I thank them for their friendship and support in the field, as well as the patience to teach me Mandinka, Fula, Wollof and Serrer.

I am thankful to Tamara Hurst, Eleanor Martins and Susan Sheedy for administering my grant and for administrative and moral support.

This research would not have been possible without the endless support of Diana Martin and her group at the CDC. Thank you for hosting me at the very beginning of this project and for mentoring me throughout. I so much admire your problem-solving abilities and level-headedness. Thank you to Gretchen Cooley for all her support and assistance in The Gambia.

Kevin Tetteh and Tom Hall shared generously of their knowledge in protein expression and ELISA technology which was invaluable during the initial stages of my lab work. Nuno Sepulveda helped me modify complex R script to suit my trachoma data with endless patience. Ben Arnold and Neal Alexander let me pick their stats brains and kindly guided me through the statistical analyses presented here.

I am thankful to Bert, Tamsyn, Harry, Sandra, Jo, Adriana, Anna and Christine for hours of laughter in the office and lab and sometimes at the pub. My colleagues at Public Health England who have supported me working full-time while writing up this thesis. It's been all Chlamydia, all the time.

Finally, to my parents, who have supported and encouraged me from day one and wisely learned never to ask how the thesis was coming along. To Steve- I don't think you had any idea what you were signing up for when we started all this, but thanks for sticking it out with me. Now let's go have a weekend off!

Table of Contents

Contents

Preface	3
Abstract	4
Acknowledgements	6
Table of Contents	7
List of Figures presented in this Thesis	12
List of Tables presented in this Thesis	15
Glossary of abbreviations and terms	17
List of contributors to the research presented in this thesis	21
Thesis Outline	22
Chapter 1 Overview of PhD objectives	23
1.1 Project Summary	23
1.2 Aims and Objectives	25
1.2.1 Aim	25
1.2.2 Specific Objectives	25
1.3 Hypotheses	26
1.4 Study sites	26
1.4.1 The Gambia	28
1.4.2 Trachoma in The Gambia	29
1.4.3 PhD Fieldwork and Samples	
1.5 Study components	31
1.5.1 Literature Review	31
1.5.2 Development of a Pgp3 ELISA	32
1.5.3 Assessment of threshold methods	32
1.5.4 Estimation of changes in transmission rates	32
1.5.5 Estimate age-dependent antibody levels	32
1.6 Fieldwork Protocol	33
1.6.1 Sample Size Calculations	
1.6.2 Community Sensitisation	34
1.6.3 Inclusion and Exclusion Criteria	34
1.6.4 Informed Consent	34
1.6.5 Data and Sample Collection	35
1.7 Laboratory testing	35

1.8 Data Analysis Tools	35
1.9 Ethical Considerations	
1.10 Data Management	
1.11 References	
Chapter 2- Serological tests for the surveillance of Chlamydia trachomatis infections development and review of their use in public health	:: the history, 44
2.1 Introduction	47
2.2 Technological platforms	49
2.2.1 Complement fixation (CF)	49
2.2.2 Microimmunofluorescence (MIF)	50
2.2.3 ELISA	51
2.2.4 Multiplex bead assay (MBA)	52
2.2.5 Proteomics	54
2.2.6 Summary of Diagnostic Platforms	54
2.3 Isotype selection	56
2.3.1 Immunoglobulin M (IgM)	56
2.3.2 Immunoglobulin A (IgA)	57
2.3.3 Immunoglobulin G (IgG)	57
2.3.4 Summary of Isotype Selection	58
2.4 Antigen selection	59
2.4.1 MOMP	59
2.4.2 Heat shock protein (hsp)	60
2.4.3 CT694	60
2.4.4 Pgp3	61
2.4.5 Novel Antigens	62
2.4.6 Summary	62
2.5 Data analysis and interpretation	64
2.5.1 Methods for determination of thresholds	64
2.5.2 Finite Mixture Modelling (FMM)	65
2.5.3 ROC curves	66
2.5.4 Reference standards	66
2.5.5 Quantitative antibody levels	67
2.5.6 Summary of analysis and interpretation of serological assays	67
2.6 Serology used in population-based surveys	
2.6.1 Ocular Ct infection	69
2.6.2 Genital Ct infection	75

2.7 Discussion	5
2.8 References	3
Chapter 3- Development of a Pgp3-specific ELISA to measure antibodies against Ct using fingerprick dried blood spots	0
3.1 Purpose	2
3.2 Background	2
3.3 Methods	2
3.3.1 Standards	3
3.3.2 Optimisation of anti-IgG concentration12	3
3.3.3 Optimisation of TMB incubation time12	5
3.3.4 Quality Control	7
3.4 References	3
Chapter 4 - Defining seropositivity thresholds for use in trachoma elimination studies	Э
Supplementary Table 4.1: Prevalence of the clinical signs of trachoma for Laos, by Gender, Region and Age	1
Supplementary Table 4.2: Prevalence of the clinical signs of trachoma for Uganda, by Gender, Region and Age	2
Supplementary Table 4.3: Prevalence of the clinical signs of trachoma for The Gambia by Gender, Region and Age	3
Supplementary Table 4.4: Seroprevalence for Laos by Gender, Region and Age, for each of six thresholds	4
Supplementary Table 4.5: Seroprevalence for Uganda by Gender, Region and Age, for each of six thresholds	6
Supplementary Table 4.6: Seroprevalence for The Gambia by Gender, Region and Age, for each of six thresholds	8
Chapter 5- Serology reflects a decline in the prevalence of trachoma in two regions of The Gambia	0
Supplementary Table 5.1. Clinical signs assessed in participants in The Gambia	3
Supplementary Table 5.2. Seroprevalence of anti-Pgp3 antibodies in The Gambia by region, gender and age	4
Supplementary Figure 5.1. Assumed seronegative (red) and assumed seropositive (green) populations as estimated using Finite Mixture Modelling	5
Supplementary Table 5.3. Seroprevalence of anti-Pgp3 antibodies by region, gender and age, Lower River Region and Upper River Region, The Gambia, 2014	5
Supplementary Figure 5.2. Proportion of participants who were seropositive for anti-Pgp3 antibodies using a threshold set at 0.673 OD450nm, by age group and region, Lower River Region	
(LRR) and Upper River Region (URR), The Gambia, 2014176	5

Supplementary Figure 5.3. Proportion of participants who were seropositive for anti-Pgp antibodies using a threshold set at 0.673 OD ₄₅₀ nm, by age group and gender, Lower River and Upper River Region, The Gambia, 2014	3 [.] Region 177
Supplementary Table 5.4. Maximum likelihood parameter estimates and the respective S confidence intervals (in brackets) for the seroconversion and seroreversion rates (SCR an respectively); data collected from participants in Lower River Region and Upper River Reg Gambia, 2014.	15% d SRR, gion, The 177
Chapter 6- Analysis of age-dependent mean antibody levels is more informative than quality sero-status analysis for studies on elimination of trachoma.	<i>ative</i> 178
6.1 Abstract	
6.2 Introduction	
6.3 Methods	
6.3.1 Ethics	
6.3.2 Datasets	
6.3.3 Measuring effects of MDA on antibody levels	
6.3.4 Evaluating antibody levels in a peri-elimination setting	
6.3.5 Comparing Ct exposure in children	
6.3.6 Visualising the relative impact of urogenital and ocular Ct infections on antibody	levels 186
6.3.7 Specimen handling	
6.3.8 Serological analysis of anti-Ct-antibodies	
6.3.9 Statistical analysis	
6.3.10 Seroprevalence estimation	
6.4 Results	
6.4.1 Effect of MDA on antibody levels	
6.4.2 Antibody levels in the peri-elimination setting	
6.4.3 Comparing Ct exposure in children	
6.4.4 Relative impact of genital and ocular infections on antibody levels	
6.5 Discussion	
6.6 Acknowledgements	
6.7 Author Contributions	
6.8 References	
Chapter 7- Discussion	
7.1 Summary of Research Findings	
7.1.1 Objective 1	
7.1.2 Objective 2	
7.1.3 Objective 3	210
7.1.4 Objective 4	211

7.1.5 Objective 5	211
7.2 Limitations	212
7.2.1 Study design	212
7.2.2 Population to be sampled	213
7.2.3 Seroconversion	213
7.2.4 Assay Limitations	214
7.3 Practical Considerations	214
7.3.1 Sampling frame	214
7.3.2 Assays and data	215
7.3.3 Following successful MDA	215
7.3.4 Symbiosis with other NTD programmes	216
7.3.5 Future Research	216
7.4 Conclusions	217
7.5 References	219
Appendix 1- Eye exam and Dried Blood Spot (DBS) sample collection	225
Appendix 2- Ocular Examination Form	230
Appendix 3- Participant Information Sheet (Child)	231
Appendix 4- Participant Information Sheet (Adult)	236

List of Figures presented in this Thesis

Chapter 1

- Figure 1.1. Map produced by the WHO showing the status of elimination of trachoma as a public health problem, 2018.
- Figure 1.2. Map of The Gambia, showing current administrative areas, with the historical names provided for the two primary study districts included.

Chapter 2:

- Figure 2.1- Schematic representation of Complement Fixation
- Figure 2.2- Schematic representation of the microimmunofluorescence (MIF) assay
- Figure 2.3- Schematic representation of the indirect enzyme linked-immunosorbent assay (ELISA)
- Figure 2.4- Schematic representation of the multiplex bead assay.
- Figure 2.5- Pattern of antibody kinetics following infection with Ct
- Figure 2.6- Finite mixture modelling composed of two individual Gaussian curves.
- Figure 2.7. Flow chart of publications identified and excluded for this review.
- Figure 2.8- Factors to consider when selecting an assay to detect antibodies against *C. trachomatis*

- Figure 3.1- Visual representation of ELISA set-up
- Figure 3.2- Microtitre plate layout for optimisation of HRP-conjugated anti-human IgG used in a Pgp3-specific ELISA
- Figure 3.3- Serial dilution of HRP-conjugated mouse anti-human IgG.
- Figure 3.4- Microtitre plate layout for optimisation of TMB incubation time used in a Pgp3specific ELISA.
- Figure 3.5- Optimisation of TMB incubation time for Pgp3-specific ELISA.
- Figure 3.6- Standard curve produced from 5 standards at arbitrary units (1000 u, 500 u, 200 u, 50 u and 0 u).

Chapter 4

- Figure 4.1- Typical results from an ELISA plate
- Figure 4.2- Threshold values from Laos (1-9 year olds) data
- Figure 4.3- Threshold values from Uganda (1-9 year olds) data
- Figure 4.4- Threshold values from The Gambia (all ages) data
- Figure 4.5- Receiver Operating Characteristic (ROC) curve showing the relationship between sensitivity, specificity and threshold values

- Figure 5.1- Proportion of participants who were seropositive for anti-Pgp3 antibodies by age group and region, Lower River Region and Upper River Region, The Gambia, 2014
- Figure 5.2- Proportion of participants who were seropositive for anti-Pgp3 antibodies by age group and gender, Lower River Region and Upper River Region, The Gambia, 2014
- Figure 5.3- Akaike's information criterion (AIC) using the profile likelihood method for estimating the change- point for the models assuming an abrupt reduction in transmission intensity or annual log-linear decay of transmission intensity from the change-point to the present.
- Figure 5.4- Expected seroprevalence curves as function of age (solid lines) according to the maximum likelihood estimates and the respective 95% confidence intervals (dashed lines) according to the best models selected
- Supplementary Figure 5.1. Assumed seronegative (red) and assumed seropositive (green) populations as estimated using Finite Mixture Modelling.
- Supplementary Figure 5.2. Proportion of participants who were seropositive for anti-Pgp3 antibodies using a threshold set at 0.673 OD₄₅₀nm, by age group and region, Lower River Region (LRR) and Upper River Region (URR), The Gambia, 2014.
- Supplementary Figure 5.3. Proportion of participants who were seropositive for anti-Pgp3 antibodies using a threshold set at 0.673 OD₄₅₀nm, by age group and gender, Lower River Region and Upper River Region, The Gambia, 2014.

- Figure 6.1- A shift in the *C. trachomatis* Pgp3 age-antibody level curves demonstrates a reduction in transmission following antibiotic mass drug administration (MDA) in Kapilvastu District, Nepal.
- Figure 6.2- *C. trachomatis* Pgp3 age-antibody level curves from Kapilvastu District, Nepal, compared to a population in Rombo, Tanzania, where ocular Ct infection was eliminated in 2005
- Figure 6.3- Variation in the *C. trachomatis* Pgp3 age-antibody level curves between populations in two regions of The Gambia
- Figure 6.4- *C. trachomatis* Pgp3 age-antibody level curves between children aged 1–9 years in The Gambia, Uganda, Laos and Kiribati.
- Figure 6.5- Variation in the *C. trachomatis* Pgp3 age-antibody level curves between The Gambia and the Solomon Islands

List of Tables presented in this Thesis

Chapter 1:

 Table 1.1. Estimates of seroprevalence and seroconversion rate (Λ) in two regions of The Gambia

Chapter 2:

- Table 2.1- Summary of ocular Ct studies
- Table 2.2- Calculated R_0 in communities with three levels of endemicity in Tanzania
- Table 2.3- Summary of genital Ct studies

Chapter 3

- Table 3.1. Ratio of OD values between standards measured to optimise the concentration of anti-IgG
- Table 3.2. Ratio of OD values between standards measured to optimise the incubation time with TMB.

- Table 4.1- Distribution of participants in three trachoma studies, including clinical signs
- Table 4.2- The mean OD₄₅₀ value for the five control sera used on the ELISA plates
- Table 4.3- Seroprevalence by Country, as estimated using alternate threshold specification methods
- Table 4.4- Proportion of participants with different phenotypes considered seropositive by each threshold
- Supplementary Table 4.4: Seroprevalence for Laos by Gender, Region and Age, for each of six thresholds.
- Supplementary Table 4.6: Seroprevalence for Uganda by Gender, Region and Age, for each of six thresholds.
- Supplementary Table 4.6: Seroprevalence for The Gambia by Gender, Region and Age, for each of six thresholds.

Chapter 5

- Table 5.1- Age distribution of study participants Lower River Region and Upper River Region, The Gambia, 2014
- Table 5.2- Frequency of signs of trachoma in study participants Lower River Region and Upper River Region, The Gambia, 2014
- Table 5.3- Seroprevalence of anti-Pgp3 antibodies by region, gender and age, Lower River Region and Upper River Region, The Gambia, 2014
- Table 5.4- Maximum likelihood estimates for the past and current seroconversion and seroreversion rates (SCR and SRR, respectively) associated with data collected from participants in Lower River Region and Upper River Region, The Gambia, 2014
- Table 5.5- Previously published data on the prevalence active trachoma and trachomatous trichiasis, Lower River Region and Upper River Region, The Gambia, 1986–2013.
- Supplementary Table 5.1. Clinical signs assessed in participants in The Gambia
- Supplementary Table 5.2. Seroprevalence of anti-Pgp3 antibodies in The Gambia by region, gender and age
- Supplementary Table 5.3. Seroprevalence of anti-Pgp3 antibodies by region, gender and age, Lower River Region and Upper River Region, The Gambia, 2014.
- Supplementary Table 5.4. Maximum likelihood parameter estimates and the respective 95% confidence intervals (in brackets) for the seroconversion and seroreversion rates (SCR and SRR, respectively); data collected from participants in Lower River Region and Upper River Region, The Gambia, 2014.

Chapter 6

• Table 6.1- Datasets used in the antibody acquisition analysis

95% CI	95% confidence interval		
	The condition of having either trachomatis inflammation- follicular		
active trachoma	(TF) and/or trachomatous inflammation- intense; see also 'scarring		
	trachoma'		
alkalo	Village chief in The Gambia		
aOR	Adjusted odds ratio		
Catalytic model	A means of modelling to describe mathematically the rate of change		
	of a variable as a function of time.		
CDC	Centers for Disease Control and Prevention		
CF	complement fixation		
сНѕр	Chlamydial heat shock protein; see also 'heat shock protein'		
СО	Corneal opacity; corneal scarring that blurs the pupil margin		
CoV	Coefficient of variation; ratio of the standard deviation within a		
00	group of samples to the mean of the samples		
Cohen's kappa	A statistical measure of agreement between categorical items.		
	Reduction of disease incidence, prevalence, morbidity, and/or		
Control	mortality to a locally acceptable level as a result of deliberate		
	efforts (WHO, 2015)		
Ср	Chlamydia pneumoniae		
C nsittari	Species within the genus of <i>Chlamydia</i> , causes avian chlamydiosis		
	and respiratory psittacosis in humans.		
CRD	Clinical Research Department		
Ct	Chlamydia trachomatis		
СТ694	Protein secreted by Ct involved in pathogenesis and the secretory		
	process		
DBS	Dried blood spot		
ddPCR	droplet digital PCR		
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid		
FA	Enumeration area- census area, as defined by the Gambian		
	government		
EB	elementary body- nonreplicating infectious particles that are		
	released when infected host cells rupture		
Elimination as a public	Achievement of measurable global targets set by WHO in relation to		
health problem	a specific disease; unless otherwise specified, in this work the term		
	'elimination' refers to elimination as a public health problem		
	Reduction to zero of the incidence of infection caused by a specific		
Elimination of transmission	pathogen in a defined geographical area, with minimal risk of		
	reintroduction, as a result of deliberate efforts (WHO, 2015)		
ELISA	Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay		
EN/	expectation-maximisation algorithm- iterative method to find		
	maximum likelihood estimates of parameters in a statistical model		

ECDEN	Expanded Special Project for the Elimination of Neglected Tropical		
ESPEN	Diseases		
	Force of Infection; the rate at which susceptible individuals acquire		
FOI	an infectious disease		
	finite mixture model- probabilistic model for representing the		
FMM	presence of two or more subpopulations within the overall		
	population		
GTMP	Global Trachoma Mapping Project		
GUM	Genito-urinary medicine; see also STI		
	Defined as a community in a district with a prevalence of TF higher		
h at an at	than 10% when all other surveyed communities are below 10%.		
notspot	Note that this is not an official WHO definition but has been used in		
	a country-specific example in Lao PDR (Southisombath et al., 2016).		
HRP	Horseradish peroxidase		
	heat shock protein; protein produced by cells in response to		
Hsp	stressful conditions		
	A population in which the prevalence of active trachoma (TF and/or		
hyperendemic	TI) in children aged 1–9 years old is >20% (Wright & Taylor, 2005)		
	A population in which the prevalence of active trachoma in children		
hypoendemic	aged 1–9 years old is <10% (Wright & Taylor, 2005)		
hysterosalpingogram	radiologic procedure to investigate the fallopian tubes		
lg	Immunoglobulin; summarise types written about		
lif	indirect immunofluorescence		
ITD	Infectious and Tropical Diseases		
ITI	International Trachoma Initiative		
1	Keyhole surgery to examine and/or treat fallopian tubes, ovaries or		
laparoscopy	uterus		
LFA	lateral flow assay		
LGV	lymphogranuloma venereum		
LRR	Lower River Region		
LSHTM	London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine		
MBA	multiplex bead assay		
MDA	mass drug administration of antibiotics		
Mesoendemic	A population in which the prevalence of active trachoma		
	Median fluorescent intensity minus background, unit of		
IVIFI-bkga	measurement for MBA results		
MIF	micro-immunofluorescence		
MOMP	39 kilodalton immunodominant major outer membrane protein		
MRC	Medical Research Council		
NAAT	Nucleic acid amplification test		
NG	Neisseria gonorrhoeae		
NTD	neglected tropical disease		
ompA	gene that encodes the major outer membrane protein (MOMP)		
OD ₄₅₀	Optical density of an ELISA measured at 450nm		

OR	Odds ratio		
OPE	Open reading frame; part of an organism's genetic code that can be		
UNF	translated to produce a protein		
PBS	Phosphate-buffered saline		
PBSTw	PBS with 0.3% v/v Tween 20		
DCD	polymerase chain reaction; technique to make many copies of a		
PCK	specific DNA sequence		
	Preventive chemotherapy and transmission control focus on		
DCT	diseases for which a strategy exists as well as on tools and the		
	availability of safe and effective drugs that make it feasible to		
	implement large-scale preventive chemotherapy.		
	A region or country in which trachoma is believed to have been		
nori alimination	eliminated as a public health problem but has not yet been		
peri-emmation	validated. It is expected that the prevalence of TF in children aged		
	1-9 years would be less than 5%.		
	Inflammation of the coating of the liver, often caused by		
perihepatitis	inflammation of the upper genital tract in women, commonly		
	known as pelvic inflammatory disease (PID)		
PID	Pelvic inflammatory disease		
Pgp3	plasmid gene product 3		
PPV	positive predictive value		
D	basic reproduction number; the average number of infections that		
	occur from an index case in a fully susceptible population		
RCM	Reverse catalytic model		
	Receiver Operating Characteristic curve; a graphical plot to illustrate		
ROC curve	the diagnostic ability of a dichotomous classification system as its		
	threshold is varied.		
SAFE	surgery, antibiotics, facial cleanliness, environmental improvements		
	The condition of having scarring in the tarsal conjunctiva (TS) and/or		
scarring trachoma	trachomatous trichiasis (TT) and/or corneal opacity (CO) as a result		
	of ocular infection with Ct; see also 'active trachoma'		
	seroconversion rate (λ); the yearly average rate by which		
SCR	seronegative (never infected) individuals become exposed to a		
	disease and produce antibodies against that specific disease		
SD	standard deviation; a measure to quantify the amount of variation		
50	within a set of values		
	The process by which specific antibody develops and becomes		
seroconversion	detectable in the blood by a serological assay; antibody levels fall		
	above a threshold for positivity		
	The point at which antibody is produced at insignificant amounts		
seroreversion	and is too low to be detected; antibody levels fall below a threshold		
	for positivity		

	A distinct variation of subspecies within Ct classified based on cell		
serovar	surface antigens allowing for epidemiological classification. Ct		
	serovars tend to show tropism for ocular or genital regions		
	seroreversion rate (δ); the annual mean rate by which seropositive		
SRR	individuals revert to a seronegative status in the absence of re-		
	infection		
STI	sexually transmitted infection		
тс	trachomatous inflammation-follicular; the presence of five or more		
	follicles in the upper tarsal conjunctiva		
TFI	tubal factor infertility		
	trachomatous inflammation-intense; the pronounced inflammation		
ТІ	and thickening of the upper tarsal conjunctiva to obscures the		
	normal deep tarsal vessels		
ТМВ	tetra-methylbenzidine		
ТРА	Trachoma rapid assessment-a rapid survey based on a convenience		
	sample of communities where trachoma is likely to be present		
тс	Trachomatous scarring; the presence of scarring in the tarsal		
15	conjunctiva		
тт	Trachomatous trichiasis; at least one eyelash rubbing the surface of		
	the eyeball		
TV	Trichomonas vaginalis		
URR	Upper River Region		
validation	The process by which elimination of a disease as a public health		
Validation	problem is documented (WHO, 2015)		
	Visual Inflection Point-an estimation of the point of inflection of a		
VIP	curve based on visual, human examination		
WHO	World Health Organization		
WIF	whole cell inclusion immunofluorescence		
Youden's Lindex	A statistic to capture the performance of a dichotomous diagnostic		
rouden sj-maex	test. Measured J=sensitivity+specificity-1		

List of contributors to the research presented in this thesis

Name	Position/Institution	n Contribution	
David Mabey	Professor of	PhD Supervisor	
	Communicable		
	Disease, CRD, ITD, LSHTM		
Chrissy h Roberts	Associate Professor of	PhD co-supervisor	
	Human Genetics, CRD, ITD,		
	LSHTM		
Anthony Solomon	Honorary Senior Lecturer,	PhD co-supervisor	
	CRD, ITD, LSHTM		
Martin Holland	Professor of Microbial	Member of advisory committee	
	Immunity, CRD, ITD, LSHTM		
Kevin Tetteh	Lecturer, CRD, ITD, LSHTM	Member of advisory committee	
Neal Alexander	Professor of Medical	Member of advisory committee	
	Statistics and Epidemiology,		
	IDE, EPH, LSHTM		
Nuno Sepulveda	Assistant Professor of	Essential support with	
	Biostatistics and Statistical	seroconversion scripts	
	Genetics, ITD, LSHTM		
Diana Martin	Research Epidemiologist,	Essential support with multiplex	
	CDC	bead assay	
Sarah Burr	Assistant Professor, CRD,	Supervisor and essential logistic	
	ITD, LSHTM	support for fieldwork	

Thesis Outline

This thesis is composed of explanatory materials, data chapters based on published and submitted manuscripts and linking material to create a logical flow. Chapters highlighted in italics consist of papers that have been published or submitted for publication. The other chapters are linking material prepared for this thesis.

Chapter 1 is an overview of the components of my PhD research and the components of this project. It outlines the scientific rationale for my research.

Chapter 2 provides the history of serology for the investigation of *Chlamydia trachomatis* (Ct) infection, an overview of assays, antigens and immunoglobulins, before reviewing the studies performed to-date, looking at both those specific to ocular and genital Ct infection.

Chapter 3 details the development of the Pgp3-specific ELISA used to analyse samples from The Gambia, Laos, Uganda and Kiribati. The ELISA has also been used by other researchers to analyse sample from serological studies in Ghana, Malawi and the Solomon Islands.

Chapter 4 presents serological data from The Gambia, Uganda and Laos and methods in which thresholds for serological data can be set to separate seropositive samples from seronegative samples. Results suggest that methods relying only on the samples themselves, rather than external controls, produce more consistent results. This chapter also details the Pgp3-specific ELISA used to generate serological data.

Chapter 5 uses a reversible catalytic model to estimate seroconversion and seroreversion rates in The Gambia. Evidence suggests an abrupt change in transmission occurred approximately 20 years prior to samples being collected, in addition to a more gradual decline in disease and infection as access to water, healthcare and education increased from 1986 to the current day.

Chapter 6 examines age-standardised antibody acquisition models as an alternative method to dichotomised seropositive results. Results are compiled from seven serological studies from endemic and previously-endemic countries across a range of ages. Age-dependent antibodies level provide proof of changes between pre- and post-MDA in a population, the ability to distinguish between populations with on-going transmission and ones in which trachoma has been eliminated and, at population-level, can approximate when Ct infection is acquired, whether ocular or genital infections.

Chapter 7 provides the final discussion and conclusion to the research presented in this thesis.

Chapter 1 Overview of PhD objectives

1.1 Project Summary

Trachoma is a form of chronic conjunctivitis caused by ocular infection with the obligate intracellular bacterium *Chlamydia trachomatis* (Ct). It is the world's most common form of infectious and preventable blindness and affects people predominantly in the most remote and poorest areas of the world. The World Health Organization (WHO) estimates that 190 million people live in trachomaendemic regions; 21 million people have active trachoma, and 7.3 million people need surgery for trachomatous trichiasis. Trachoma has led to visual impairment in 1.9 million people of whom 1.2 million are blind [1].

Diagnosis of trachoma is based on the presence of clinical signs. Active trachoma is characterised by trachomatous inflammation. Trachomatous inflammation- follicular (TF) is defined as the presence of five or more follicles, each at least 0.5mm in diameter in the central part of the upper tarsal conjunctiva [2]. Trachomatous inflammation-intense (TI) indicates inflammation obscuring at least half the tarsal blood vessels [2]. Repeated infection over the course of a lifetime can lead to harmful sequelae known as scarring trachoma: trachomatous scarring (TS) in which scars are easily visible as white lines or bands in the tarsal conjunctiva; trachomatous trichiasis (TT) with at least one eyelash touching the surface of the eyeball; and corneal opacity (CO) when the repeated scratching of the eyeball leads to corneal scarring blurring the pupil margin and reducing visual acuity, leading ultimately to blindness [2].

The WHO Roadmap proposed to eliminate trachoma as a public health problem by 2020 [3]. Elimination as a public health problem is related to both infection *and* disease, defined by measurable targets set by the WHO; continued actions are required to maintain targets and advance the interruption of transmission. Validation is the process of documenting the elimination of a disease as a public health problem [4]. The operational thresholds for the elimination of trachoma as a public health problem are defined as: (i) a prevalence of trachomatous trichiasis (TT) "unknown to the health system" of < 1 case per 1000 total population; and (ii) a prevalence of trachomatous inflammation-follicular (TF) in children aged 1–9 years of < 5%, in each formerly endemic district [5].

Elimination of trachoma as a public health problem is based on the SAFE strategy: **S**urgery for trichiasis, **A**ntibiotics to reduce infection, **F**acial cleanliness to reduce transmission and **E**nvironmental improvement. The SAFE strategy comprises both preventive chemotherapy and transmission control (PCT) as well as hygiene and environmental management. Antibiotics in the form of azithromycin (and tetracycline eye ointment when contra-indicated) are distributed to all

members of communities wherein the prevalence of TF is greater than 10% in children aged 1-9 years [6]. Substantial international effort has gone into the elimination of trachoma as a public health problem, with the Global Trachoma Mapping Project collecting data from 2.6 million people across 29 countries, to determine the prevalence of trachoma in these countries and their requirement for the elements of the SAFE strategy [7].

With the leadership of the WHO, the global effort to eliminate trachoma as a public health problem has seen significant success, with several countries declared as having met the elimination targets: as of October 2018, Cambodia, China, Gambia, Ghana, Islamic Republic of Iran, Iraq, Lao People's Democratic Republic, Mexico, Morocco, Myanmar, Nepal and Oman had reported achieving elimination goals [1,8,9].

As efforts to eliminate blinding trachoma as a public health problem are increased to meet the 2020 deadline [10], experts have agreed to explore the correlation between clinical signs, infection and antibodies, and how these can be used to advise programmatic decisions regarding the implementation, continuation and eventual cessation of MDA of antibiotics [11]. Studies monitoring elimination efforts have previously measured the prevalence of disease [12–17], however there are concerns that surveys based on clinical signs in post-MDA communities may lead to ongoing interventions that are unnecessary and inappropriate: active trachoma (the presence of TF and/or TI) often persists after infection has cleared, these clinical signs may be overcalled (due to the challenge of standardised training) [18] or that follicular diseases may have different aetiology [19]. In post-MDA communities, the positive predictive value (PPV) of clinical signs is diminished [20]. Finally, there is no biological significance to the 5% TF prevalence as set by the WHO for either stopping MDA or predicting the recrudescence of active trachoma [21].

Surveillance efforts have also used PCR to estimate the prevalence of ocular Ct infection [22–26], however monitoring active ocular Ct infection is expensive with one test for infection estimated to cost \$8-16 (US Dollars) per test [21] and no thresholds for the prevalence of ocular Ct infection have been suggested by the WHO.

In 2014, the Technical Consultation on Trachoma Surveillance made recommendations to explore alternative indicators on which to base the decision to stop MDA; these include the district-level prevalence of antibodies to C. trachomatis-derived antigens [11]. A change in the prevalence of seropositivity in a community may demonstrate when the level of Ct circulating in a community has reached a level low enough to prevent recrudescence of infection and disease.

Serological assays for Ct-specific antibodies have existed for many years and the historical context is provided in detail in Chapter 2 of this thesis. In brief, early assays were non-specific and often cross-reacted with antibodies against *C. pneumoniae* (Cp) [27,28]. Additionally, concerns about the sensitivity and specificity of previous assays have been raised [29–31]. Advances in protein expression and purification techniques and the development of multiplex technology has led to the development improved assays [32–34], although in resource-poor settings, a less technologically-dependent assay may be preferable.

The research conducted as part of this thesis aims to explore serology as a means of monitoring intervention activities. This thesis first reviews the historical use of serology for detection antibodies against Ct infection and summarises the use of Ct-specific serological assays at a population level to measure the prevalence of antibodies resulting from ocular and genital infections. The development of a Pgp3-specifid ELISA is presented in Chapter 3 along with methods to set seropositivity thresholds in Chapter 4. Using age-standardised seroprevalence, the seroconversion and seroreversion rates were modelled under different epidemiological settings in Chapter 5. Finally, in Chapter 6, antibody acquisition models were used to compare datasets from countries where trachoma has been eliminated as a public health problem to those where transmission is on-going and further, where the prevalence of genital Ct infection is likely contributing to the prevalence of Ct-specific antibodies in the population. The final chapter summarises the work completed for this thesis and addresses the epidemiological implications of this research and suggests future research.

1.2 Aims and Objectives

1.2.1 Aim

The aim of this research was to measure antibodies against Ct, using a Pgp3-specific ELISA, and use the age-specific seroprevalence as an alternative means of measuring the prevalence of ocular Ct infection.

1.2.2 Specific Objectives

- Collect demographic and clinical information and fingerprick blood samples to investigate the epidemiology of trachoma and the age profiles of antibodies against Pgp3 in Lower and Upper River Regions of The Gambia
- Develop a Pgp3-specific ELISA to measure antibodies against Ct using fingerprick dried blood spots (DBS)

- 3. Determine appropriate cut-off thresholds to distinguish between seropositive and seronegative individuals in populations from The Gambia, Lao PDR and Uganda.
- 4. Use seroprevalence data to estimate changes in transmission in The Gambia and estimate seroconversion and seroreversion rates.
- 5. Use antibody level data as an alternative to seroprevalence data to measure changes in Ct transmission

1.3 Hypotheses

- 1. Antibodies against Pgp3 can be measured using a sensitive and specific ELISA.
- 2. Internally-calibrated thresholding methods are an appropriate means of determining seropositivity thresholds.
- 3. Serology can be used to infer changes in the incidence of trachoma.
- 4. Antibody levels, rather than seropositivity, can be used to measure changes in disease transmission.

1.4 Study sites

This thesis includes data from seven countries: The Gambia, Lao People's Democratic Republic (Laos), Uganda, Nepal, Tanzania, Solomon Islands and Kiribati (Figure 1). Samples from The Gambia comprise the primary dataset. The datasets include countries multiple rounds of MDA have taken place: The Gambia, Laos, Uganda, Nepal and Tanzania. Of these, Nepal and Laos have been certified by the WHO as having eliminated trachoma as a public health problem, while The Gambia is preparing their dossier for elimination. The region from which the Tanzanian data were generated was shown to have no ocular Ct infection in 2002 [35]. In comparison, Kiribati was shown to have high levels of active trachoma and ocular Ct infection [36] and the Solomon Islands has moderate levels of active trachoma in children aged 1-9 years old, high prevalence of genital Ct infection [37,38] but low levels of ocular Ct infection [19]. Further information is detailed below.



Status of elimination of trachoma as a public health problem, 2018

Figure 1.1. Map produced by the WHO showing the status of elimination of trachoma as a public health problem, 2018. Research sites marked as red stars. From left to right, these are: The Gambia, Uganda, Tanzania, Nepal, Laos, Solomon Islands, Kiribati. Modified from [39].

Samples from Laos and Uganda were collected by collaborators at the International Trachoma Initiative (ITI) as part of the Trachoma Alternative Indicators Study [21]. At the time of sample collection, these countries were considered to be peri-elimination, that is the prevalence of TF in children aged 1-9 years would be less than 5%, but elimination as a public health problem has not yet been validated. Little has been published about the prevalence of trachoma in Uganda [40,41], however two regions were considered highly endemic for trachoma and received three years (2010-2012) of the A, F and E components of the SAFE strategy, although no data is publicly available. DBS were collected as part of a trachoma impact assessment survey [42].

A trachoma rapid assessment (TRA) was conducted in five provinces in Laos (Oudomxay, Luang Prabang, Vientiane, Salavan, and Sekong) in 2000, finding overall that 14.8% of children examined had active trachoma [43]. A population-based prevalence study was undertaken from November 2013-August 2014 to examine 21,566 children aged 1–9 years, and 15,052 adults aged ≥15 years [43]. Three 'hotspots' were identified, where the prevalence of TF in children aged 1-9 years was above 10%. These three regions, one each in Attapu, Houaphan and Phôngsali, along with surrounding villages were further surveyed and DBS collected during the extra survey round comprise part of this thesis [42].

The DBS from The Gambia, Uganda and Laos were assayed for antibodies against Pgp3 by the author of this thesis, who also conducted all serological analyses of these samples. These samples are described in detail in Chapter 4.

Additional serological datasets were requested and received from collaborators to compare the data from peri-elimination countries to (i) other countries or regions where trachoma has been validated as having been eliminated or where there is strong evidence to suggest that infection, transmission and disease have been eliminated, or (ii) where trachoma remains an ongoing public health problem.

Two regions in which trachoma has been 'eliminated' were also included: Nepal was validated as having eliminated trachoma in 2018 [44], while studies have shown that ocular Ct infection in Rombo district, Tanzania, was eliminated in 2005 [35]. These samples were assayed using a multiplex bead assay (MBA) and primary analyses completed by collaborators at the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, USA (CDC) [45,46]. Secondary analyses of antibody levels were completed by the author of this thesis.

Two regions where chlamydial infections remain an ongoing health problem were included for comparison: populations in the Solomon Islands have high prevalence of genital Ct and antibodies against Ct but low prevalence of conjunctival scarring (TT) [47,48] while a recent study showed a high prevalence of disease, ocular Ct infection and antibodies against Ct in Kiribati [36]. The author of this thesis assayed the samples from Kiribati and conducted all serological analyses as well as secondary analyses of the data from the Solomon Islands.

Additional data from the Solomon Islands were provided by Dr Robert Butcher of LSHTM [48], data from Nepal were provided by Dr Diana Martin of the CDC [45], data from Kiribati were provided Dr Anthony Solomon from the WHO [36], data from Tanzania by Drs Martin and Solomon [46].

1.4.1 The Gambia

The Gambia is the smallest mainland country in Africa. It is situated in West Africa, surrounded by Senegal except for its coastline on the Atlantic Ocean. The country stretches over 400 km inland, with the River Gambia dividing the country into two nearly equal halves. The 2013 National Census estimated the population to be 1.9 million, with women comprising 51% of the total population [49]. Due to a high fertility rate (5.4 births per woman), the population structure is skewed toward young people: 42% of the population is under 15 years and about 22% are between 15 and 24 years of age.

The Gambia has a typical Sahelian climate, with a short rainy season from June to October, and a longer dry season the rest of the year.

The country became a sovereign republic in 1965, following more than two centuries of colonial British rule [50]. Administratively, The Gambia is divided into eight administrative areas: Banjul (the seat of the government), Kanifing, Brikama, Mansa Konko (formerly Lower River Region), Kerewan (formerly North Bank), Kuntaur, Janjabureh (both formerly Central River Division) and Basse (formerly Upper River Region). To align with previously published works, in this thesis the author has chosen to refer to Mansa Konko and Basse by their historical names of Lower River Region (LRR) and Upper River Region (URR), respectively (Figure 2). For census purposes, The Gambia is divided into Enumeration Areas (EA), which cover a settlement, a cluster of small settlements or part of a large settlement; one EA generally covers 600-800 residents [51]; this is equivalent to a 'district' as described by the Global Trachoma Mapping Project (GTMP) [7].



Figure 1.2. Map of The Gambia, showing current administrative areas, with the historical names provided for the two primary study districts included. Map courtesy of Wikipedia user Acntx [52].

Trachoma is associated with poverty and low access to water and sanitation services [53]. In The Gambia access to water has increased greatly, with nearly 11% of rural populations having a source of drinking water on premises and 67.2% less than 30 minutes round-trip to access drinking water [50]. Despite these improvements in water and sanitation, nearly two-thirds of rural population does not have access to improved toilet facilities, as defined by the WHO and United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF.) Less than 13% of rural households have electricity and only 26% of rural households used soap and water for handwashing [54].

1.4.2 Trachoma in The Gambia

For many years trachoma was endemic in The Gambia. In 1986 a population-based national survey of blindness, low vision and eye disease was undertaken and found there to be a prevalence rate of blindness of 0.7%, of which trachomatous corneal opacity was responsible for 17% [55]. With only

one eye clinic and one ophthalmologist at the time, the Gambian National Eye Care Programme (NECP) was integrated into the national health services as primary health care, with support from Sight Savers International. Ophthalmic nurses are integrated into community health services and cover a population of approximately 50,000. They are overseen by senior ophthalmic medical assistants, trained in cataract surgery [56]. A second national survey in 1996 showed that the prevalence rate of blindness had decreased to 0.4% while the prevalence of active trachoma – based on the WHO classifications of TF or TI – in children aged 0-14 years dropped from 10.73% to 4.81% [57,58]. Additional NECP activities have trained health care workers in primary eye care, recognition and treatment of conjunctivitis, and surgery for trichiasis, as well as community outreach activities like school screening and face-washing [58]. Further, the NECP has developed a network of *nyateros* (Friends of the Eye), who are non-health professionals, selected by their own communities, who have been trained in good eye health practices to promote within their communities [26].

Subsequent interventions run by the National Eye Health Programme (NEHP) included the mass drug administration (MDA) of azithromycin in over 20 districts across the country between 2007 and 2010. The Partnership for the Rapid Elimination of Trachoma (PRET) [59] was embedded within the NEHP and measured the prevalence of disease and ocular Ct infection in children in four district where MDA had been administered, including LRR, but not URR.

1.4.3 PhD Fieldwork and Samples

Primary fieldwork for this PhD research was conducted in Upper and Lower River Regions (URR and LRR, respectively) of The Gambia. URR is situated at the far east of the country, while LRR is located more centrally. I collected data and DBS over a three-month period from February to April 2014. The author assayed these DBS using a Pgp3-specific ELISA developed in collaboration with the CDC [42] and analysed all data.

Samples were also collected from Laos [43] and Uganda as part of the Trachoma Alternative Indicators Study [21]. These populations are further detailed in Chapter 4 [42]. The author assayed these samples using the Pgp3-specific ELISA and analysed all data.

Additional samples from Kiribati were provided for ELISA testing and analysis. These samples were collected as part of The Global Trachoma Mapping Project [7] undertaken on Kiritimati Island, in the far east of Kiribati, in the South Pacific [36]. Samples were collected from children 1-9 years old. The author of this thesis assayed these DBS with the Pgp3-specific ELISA and analysed the serological data.

Additional data came from the Solomon Islands, where DBS were collected from participants of all ages in participating villages in the provinces of Temotu and Rennell & Bellona as part of the Solomon Islands National Trachoma Elimination Program [48]. These samples were assayed using the same ELISA protocol as the samples above. The author performed secondary analysis of the serological data.

Data were also supplied for pre- and post- MDA populations in Nepal [45] and a post-MDA population in Rombo, Tanzania [46]. In both populations, samples were collected from participants of all ages. These samples were run on a Luminex assay at the CDC. The author performed secondary analysis of the serological data.

1.5 Study components

This PhD consists of five main components:

- Literature review of uses of serology for monitoring Ct infection at the population-level (Chapter 2)
- 2. Development of a Pgp3-specific ELISA (Chapter 3)
- Assessment of methods for determining thresholds between seropositive and seronegative populations (Chapter 4)
- 4. Estimation of changes in transmission rates in The Gambia using reverse catalytic modelling (Chapter 5)
- 5. Use of novel statistical methods to estimate age-dependent antibody levels as an alternative to seroprevalence (Chapter 6)

1.5.1 Literature Review

Historically, serology was commonly used as a diagnostic tool for genital chlamydial infections, however serology has been displaced as a diagnostic tool by more sensitive and specific methods based on nucleic acid amplification tests (NAATs), like polymerase chain reaction (PCR).

Meanwhile improvements in protein expression and purification have made serological assays more sensitive and specific for detecting antibodies which have developed as a result of previous chlamydial infection. The author conducted a systematic literature search in June 2016, which was updated in April 2018. The author outlined the antigens used, antibodies detected, methods of detection and summarised the current literature based on the public health applications of Ct serology; this includes studies of ocular and genital Ct infections.

1.5.2 Development of a Pgp3 ELISA

The author developed a Pgp3-specific ELISA with colleagues at the CDC. This was based on the existing MBA which has been previously published [33]. The author showed the ELISA to be sensitive and specific with reproducible results.

1.5.3 Assessment of threshold methods

The earlier development of a Pgp3-specific MBA relied on references standards to set a threshold for positivity using a Receiver Operator Characteristic (ROC) curve. The 'known negative' samples were de-linked serum samples from a population of 122 children from the United States, while the 'known positives' were DBS from 11 children, residing in a region in Tanzania which had undergone three rounds of MDA, from whom ocular swabs were PCR-positive for ocular Ct infection. Of these samples, three 'known negatives' were positive for antibodies against Pgp3, while one 'known positive' was negative for antibodies against Pgp3. This highlights issues in selecting appropriate reference standards. Therefore, the author explored other internally-calibrated methods (using data generated during the study) such as finite mixture modelling (FMM) and expectation-maximisation algorithms (EM) to establish positivity thresholds between seropositive and seronegative samples and compared these to thresholds set using an ROC curve, separately maximising sensitivity and specificity and Youden's J-index, which balances sensitivity and specificity [60]. These modelling techniques are detailed in Chapter 4.

1.5.4 Estimation of changes in transmission rates

Pgp3-specific serological data were used to produce a reverse catalytic model (RCM). RCM has been previously used in studies of malaria and neglected tropical diseases [61] to determine the impact of interventions on the force of infection (FoI). The author used RCM to estimate changes in seroconversion rate (SCR) and seroreversion rate (SRR) associated with a reduction in the prevalence of trachoma in The Gambia. This method may be of use in districts where the SAFE strategy has been implemented to show a change in the FoI, and to evaluate the effectiveness of the intervention activities; one would expect to see a decrease in the FoI following the intervention.

1.5.5 Estimation of age-dependent antibody levels

Serological surveys have relied on binary seropositive/seronegative data for estimates of prevalence. Rather than dichotomise the serological data to simple seropositive and seronegative, the author used a recently developed statistical package 'tmleAb' to estimate age-dependent antibody curves in seven countries. The author of this thesis compared pre- and post-MDA data across all ages, data from children in populations where trachoma has been eliminated to those with ongoing disease

and infection and data from all ages in a population with high levels of genital Ct infections to one with low levels of both ocular and genital Ct infections.

1.6 Fieldwork Protocol

In the Gambia a cross-sectional seroprevalence survey was conducted by the author, in which 20 EAs (10 each in LRR and URR) were selected for study using probability proportional to size. Households within these EAs were then randomly selected for participation. Demographic and clinical data, photographs of everted eyelids, and finger prick blood samples- in the form of DBS- were collected from all household members who consented to participate. ELISAs were used to test for anti-Pgp3 antibodies. Seroprevalence curves were generated and compared to historical and current prevalence data.

1.6.1 Sample Size Calculations

Sample sizes were estimated based on a two-sided comparison of seroprevalence rates between the regions (surveillance Zones). If there had been significant transmission of ocular chlamydial infection in the last generation, it was anticipated that 80% of 40-year olds will have antibody, compared to a suggested 20% in settings where minimal no transmission had occurred. These are represented below as regions A and B.

The rate for each region was first calculated from the following equation:

$\mathsf{P}(a)=1-\exp{(-\lambda a)},$

where P(*a*) is the age-specific seroprevalence (prevalence at age *a*), and λ is the force of infection to be estimated.

Region	Age	Seroprevalence*	٨
А	40	0.8	0.04
В	40	0.2	0.0056

Table 1.1. Estimates of seroprevalence and seroconversion rate (Λ) in two regions of The Gambia

*Estimates of seroprevalence (D. Mabey, personal communication)

Using the 'stpower' with the 'exponential' function and 90% power for a two-tailed test (α =0.05) in Stata, the necessary sample size for comparison is 150 individuals from Region A and 810 individuals from Region B. Accordingly, we collected samples from 20% more subjects than this, approximately 1000 per region. With an average household size of 7.5 people in LRR (National Eye Health Programme data) and 25 in URR (Grant Mackenzie, personal communication), we anticipated that 14 households should be sampled from each of the selected EAs in LRR and 4 from each of the EAs selected in URR.

These calculations assumed that the rate of seroconversion is relatively constant in the populations, that individuals, once seropositive, do not revert to seronegative and that there is no specific migration due to trachoma infection status [61].

1.6.2 Community Sensitisation

Members of the trachoma field team at the MRC Unit- The Gambia sensitised villages and obtained community-consent from the village chiefs, known as *alkalos*. Household head lists were compiled with the assistance of each *alkalo* and a census conducted in sequential randomly selected households consenting to participate until their combined population exceeded the projected sample of 100 per EA by 50%. Team members and eye health nurses explained the study to each head of household, answered any questions and explained the written consent form. All residents of selected households were invited to participate. If a selected household chose not to participate, the next one on the list was approached.

1.6.3 Inclusion and Exclusion Criteria

Inclusion Criteria

Resident in the selected village, a member of a selected household, willing to consent and participate; if younger than 17, a guardian must have been willing to provide consent. All residents of selected households were invited to participate. Assent was sought from participants aged 12-17.

Exclusion criteria

We invited all residents of selected households to participate. Age was not an exclusion factor. Participants were able to stop participating at any point during the process. Some selected households were 'reserves' and were not approached to participate if the projected sample size had been reached.

1.6.4 Informed Consent

Written (thumbprint or signature), informed consent was obtained from each adult participant and each participating child's parent or guardian. Each participant was free to ask questions to the field team before providing consent and throughout the ocular examination and sample collection. Assent was sought from children ages 12-17.
1.6.5 Data and Sample Collection

The survey in the Gambia was undertaken between February and April 2015. Individual-level data were collected by a local eye-health nurse, including gender, age (in years or as date of birth) and ethnic group. Facial cleanliness was observed by a trained trachoma grader before each eyelid was everted for grading and photography. Demographic information, facial cleanliness and trachoma grade were recorded on a standardised form by the author (Appendix 2). Forms were entered into a custom built EyeScores database [62] to link with photographs of everted eyelids. A fingerprick blood sample was collected onto filter paper by a second eye health nurse and allowed to dry for approximately 5 hours; each filter paper had six extensions, calibrated to absorb 10 µl of blood. All samples were placed in individual plastic bags, then stored with desiccant in larger sealed plastic bags. Samples were transferred to the MRC Unit-The Gambia where they were stored at -20°C. All samples were subsequently shipped to LSHTM for ELISA testing.

1.7 Laboratory testing

DBS were tested for IgG antibodies against Ct using a Pgp3-specific ELISA. A detailed protocol is provided in Chapter 3. In brief, DBS were eluted into 250 μ L of phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) with 2.5% w/v milk powder plus 0.3% v/v tween 20 (PBSTw-milk). Immunlon 2HB plates were coated overnight at 4°C with 50 ng/well glutathione S-transferase (GST)-tagged Pgp3 then blocked for 1 hour with PBST the following day. Plates were incubated for 2 hours with 50 μ L of elution mixture and incubated at room temperature with HRP-labelled mouse anti-human IgG for 1 hour. Plates were then incubated for ten minutes in the dark with tetra-methylbenzidine (TMB), stopped with 50 μ L 1N H₂SO₄ and optical density was read at 450 nm (OD₄₅₀). Control sera with known ratios of Pgp3 antibodies (1000 units, 500 units, 200 units, 50 units and negative control serum) and a blank consisting of PBSTw-milk were run on every plate. All specimens were normalised to the 200 unit control sera, which typically gave a reading of 1.0 OD₄₅₀.

1.8 Data Analysis Tools

All statistical analyses were carried out using R software version 3.3.2 [63]. Details of specific analyses for each component of this thesis are highlighted in the individual data chapters following.

In brief, Chapter 4 considers 4 methods of setting seropositivity thresholds. These include three internally calibrated methods, relying solely on data generated in the study to establish thresholds; these are then compared to the commonly ROC curve which has been frequently used in trachoma serological studies [18,33,46,64–67]. Using a ROC curve to set a threshold requires well-

characterised positive and negative reference samples from the population of interest. Interlaboratory calibration is also required, ideally using the original reference specimens. Misclassification of the reference samples can result in an inappropriate threshold.

The FoI for two populations in The Gambia was modelled in Chapter 5. This work involved estimating seroconversion and seroreversion rates based on catalytic models [68] and has previously been applied to both malaria [69–71] and Chagas disease [61].

Finally, an analysis using antibody acquisition models is presented in Chapter 6, in which changes in community antibody profiles are compared between pre-, peri- and post-elimination countries and between communities where genital chlamydia is highly prevalent to one where both ocular and genital chlamydia infection levels are low.

1.9 Ethical Considerations

This thesis was conducted in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki. Ethical approval was obtained from The Gambia government/Medical Research Council (MRC) Joint Ethics Committee (SCC1408v2) and the London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine (references 6319, 6514, 8355, 8918). For specimens not directly collected by the author, ethical approval was obtained from

- Laos: the Ministry of Health of the Lao People's Democratic Republic (No:48 NIOPH/NECHR),
- Uganda: Ugandan Ministry of Health (VCD-IRC/053)
- Tanzania: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (USA), Kilimanjaro Christian Medical College (KCMC)/ Tumaini University, and the National Institute for Medical Research (TZ)
 [46]
- Nepal: Children's Hospital and Research Center Oakland (IRB number 2013-043) and by Nepal Netra Jhoti Sangh (Nepali Prevention of Blindness Program) [45].
- Kiribati: London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine (reference numbers 6319, 8355 and 10136) and the Kiribati Ministry of Health and Medical Services (08/11/2015) [36]
- Solomon Islands: London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine (LSHTM; 8402) and Solomon Islands National Health Research Ethics Committee (HRC15/03)

1.10 Data Management

Each participant was assigned a unique identifying number, which was used to link photographs and demographic, clinical and laboratory data. In The Gambia, all fieldwork information was collected on standardised forms, which were then double entered into a custom build database, EyeScores [62]. Data from the other sites were provided directly to the author from collaborators.

1.11 References

- World Health Organization. WHO | Trachoma Fact sheet N 382 [Internet]. World Health Organization; 2017 [cited 12 Jan 2017]. Available: http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs382/en/
- 2. Thylefors B, Dawson CR, Jones BR, West SK, Taylor HR. A simple system for the assessment of trachoma and its complications. Bull World Health Organ. 1987;65: 477–83.
- 3. WHO. Accelerating Work To Overcome the Global Impact of Neglected Tropical Diseases: A roadmap for Implementation. WHO Technical Report series. 2012.
- 4. WHO. Generic framework for control, elimination and eradication of neglected tropical diseases. World Health Organization. 2015.
- 5. WHO. Report of the 2nd Global Scientific Meeting on Trachoma. 2003.
- 6. Solomon AW, Zondervan M, Kuper H, Buchan JC, Mabey DC, Foster A. Trachoma control: A guide for programme managers. 2006.
- Solomon AW, Pavluck AL, Courtright P, Aboe A, Adamu L, Alemayehu W, et al. The Global Trachoma Mapping Project: Methodology of a 34-Country Population-Based Study.
 Ophthalmic Epidemiol. 2015;22: 214–25. doi:10.3109/09286586.2015.1037401
- World Health Organization (WHO). Cambodia and the Lao People's Democratic Republic wipe out trachoma—leading infectious cause of blindness. In: Media release [Internet]. 2017 [cited 21 Feb 2018]. Available: https://www.who.int/westernpacific/news/detail/19-09-2017cambodia-and-the-lao-people-s-democratic-republic-wipe-out-trachoma-leading-infectiouscause-of-blindness
- 9. WHO | Morocco defeats trachoma. In: WHO [Internet]. World Health Organization; 2016
 [cited 11 Apr 2018]. Available: http://www.who.int/neglected diseases/news/Morocco defeats trachoma/en/
- World Health Organization. Global WHO Alliance for the Elimination of Blinding Trachoma by
 2020. In: Weekly Epidemiological record [Internet]. 2012 [cited 7 May 2013] pp. 161–168.
 Available: http://www.who.int/wer/2012/wer8717.pdf
- 11. Task Force for Global Health. Evaluation of alternative indicators for stopping trachoma mass drug administration. Decatur; 2014.

- 12. Bamani S, King JD, Dembele M, Coulibaly F, Sankara D, Kamissoko Y, et al. Where do we go from here? Prevalence of trachoma three years after stopping mass distribution of antibiotics in the regions of Kayes and Koulikoro, Mali. PLoS Negl Trop Dis. 2010;4: e734. doi:10.1371/journal.pntd.0000734
- Shekhawat N, Mkocha H, Munoz B, Gaydos C, Dize L, Quinn TC, et al. Cohort and Age Effects of Mass Drug Administration on Prevalence of Trachoma: A Longitudinal Study in Rural Tanzania. Investig Opthalmology Vis Sci. 2014;55: 2307. doi:10.1167/iovs.13-12701
- Munoz B, Stare D, Mkocha H, Gaydos C, Quinn T, West SK. Can clinical signs of trachoma be used after multiple rounds of mass antibiotic treatment to indicate infection? Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci. 2011;52: 8806–10. doi:10.1167/iovs.11-8074
- Bird M, Dawson CRR, Schachter JSS, Miao Y, Shama A, Osman A, et al. Does the diagnosis of trachoma adequately identify ocular chlamydial infection in trachoma-endemic areas? J Infect Dis. Oxford University Press; 2003;187: 1669–73. doi:10.1086/374743
- 16. Quicke E, Sillah A, Harding-Esch EM, Last A, Joof H, Makalo P, et al. Follicular trachoma and trichiasis prevalence in an urban community in The Gambia, West Africa: is there a need to include urban areas in national trachoma surveillance? Trop Med Int Health. 2013; doi:10.1111/tmi.12182
- 17. WHO Strategic and Technical Advisory Group on NTDs. Technical Consultaion on Trachoma Surveillance. Decatur; 2014.
- 18. Zambrano AI, Sharma S, Crowley K, Dize L, Munoz BE, Mishra SK, et al. The World Health Organization Recommendations for Trachoma Surveillance, Experience in Nepal and Added Benefit of Testing for Antibodies to *Chlamydia trachomatis* pgp3 Protein: NESTS Study. PLoS Negl Trop Dis. 2016;10. doi:10.1371/journal.pntd.0005003
- Butcher R, Sokana O, Jack K, Kalae E, Sui L, Russell C, et al. Active Trachoma Cases in the Solomon Islands Have Varied Polymicrobial Community Structures but Do Not Associate with Individual Non-Chlamydial Pathogens of the Eye. Front Med. 2018;4: 251. doi:10.3389/fmed.2017.00251
- Migchelsen SJ, Sepúlveda N, Martin DLDL, Cooley G, Gwyn S, Pickering H, et al. Serology reflects a decline in the prevalence of trachoma in two regions of The Gambia. Sci Rep. 2017;7: 15040. doi:10.1038/s41598-017-15056-7
- 21. WHO. Trachoma Alternative Indicators Study: Data review 31 August-1 September 2016.

Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017.

- Last AR, Burr SE, Weiss HA, Harding-Esch EM, Cassama E, Nabicassa M, et al. Risk factors for active trachoma and ocular *Chlamydia trachomatis* infection in treatment-naïve trachomahyperendemic communities of the Bijagós Archipelago, Guinea Bissau. Schachter J, editor. PLoS Negl Trop Dis. Public Library of Science; 2014;8: e2900. doi:10.1371/journal.pntd.0002900
- Burton MJ, Holland MJ, Makalo P, Aryee EAN, Sillah A, Cohuet S, et al. Profound and sustained reduction in *Chlamydia trachomatis* in The Gambia: a five-year longitudinal study of trachoma endemic communities. PLoS Negl Trop Dis. 2010;4. doi:10.1371/journal.pntd.0000835
- Goldschmidt P, Benallaoua D, Amza A, Einterz E, Huguet P, Poisson F, et al. Clinical and Microbiological Assessment of Trachoma in the Kolofata Health District, Far North Region, Cameroon. Trop Med Health. 2012;40: 7–14. doi:10.2149/tmh.2011-26
- Keenan JD, Lakew T, Alemayehu W, Melese M, Porco TC, Yi E, et al. Clinical activity and polymerase chain reaction evidence of chlamydial infection after repeated mass antibiotic treatments for trachoma. Am J Trop Med Hyg. 2010;82: 482–7. doi:10.4269/ajtmh.2010.09-0315
- Harding-Esch EM, Edwards T, Sillah A, Sarr I, Roberts CH, Snell P, et al. Active trachoma and ocular *Chlamydia trachomatis* infection in two Gambian regions: on course for elimination by 2020? PLoS Negl Trop Dis. 2009;3: e573. doi:10.1371/journal.pntd.0000573
- Peeling RW, Brunham RC. Chlamydiae as pathogens: new species and new issues. Emerg Infect Dis. 1996;2: 307–319. doi:10.3201/eid0204.960406
- Taylor HR. Trachoma A blinding scourge from the bronze age to the twenty-first century. 1st
 ed. Victoria, Australia: Haddington Press; 2008.
- Kern DG, Neill MA, Schachter J. A seroepidemiologic study of Chlamydia pneumoniae in Rhode Island. Evidence of serologic cross-reactivity. Chest. UNITED STATES; 1993;104: 208– 213.
- Clad A, Freidank H, Pltinnecke J, Jung B, Petersen EE. *Chlamydia trachomatis* species specific serology: ImmunoComb Chlamydia bivalent versus microimmunofluorescence (MIF). Infection. GERMANY: Springer-Verlag; 1994;22: 165–173. doi:10.1007/BF01716696
- 31. Clad A, Freidank HM, Kunze M, Schnoeckel U, Hofmeier S, Flecken U, et al. Detection of

seroconversion and persistence of *Chlamydia trachomatis* antibodies in five different serological tests. Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis. 2000;19: 932–937. doi:10.1007/s100960000397

- 32. Pickering H, Burr SE, Derrick T, Makalo P, Joof H, Hayward RD, et al. Profiling and validation of individual and patterns of *Chlamydia trachomatis*-specific antibody responses in trachomatous trichiasis. Parasit Vectors. England: BioMed Central; 2017;10: 143. doi:10.1186/s13071-017-2078-8
- Goodhew EB, Priest JW, Moss DM, Zhong G, Munoz B, Mkocha H, et al. CT694 and pgp3 as Serological Tools for Monitoring Trachoma Programs. PLoS Negl Trop Dis. 2012;6: e1873. doi:10.1371/journal.pntd.0001873
- 34. Waterboer T, Sehr P, Pawlita M. Suppression of non-specific binding in serological Luminex assays. J Immunol Methods. 2006;309: 200–4. doi:10.1016/j.jim.2005.11.008
- Solomon AW, Harding-Esch E, Alexander NDE, Aguirre A, Holland MJ, Bailey RL, et al. Two doses of azithromycin to eliminate trachoma in a Tanzanian community. N Engl J Med. 2008;358: 1870–1. doi:10.1056/NEJMc0706263
- Cama A, Müller A, Taoaba R, Butcher RM, Itibita I, Migchelsen SJ, et al. Prevalence of signs of trachoma, ocular *Chlamydia trachomatis* infection and antibodies to Pgp3 in residents of Kiritimati Island, Kiribati. PLoS Negl Trop Dis. 2017;11: [manuscript in press]. doi:10.1371/journal.pntd.0005863
- Marks M, Kako H, Butcher R, Lauri B, Puiahi E, Pitakaka R, et al. Prevalence of sexually transmitted infections in female clinic attendees in Honiara, Solomon Islands. BMJ Open. 2015;5: e007276. doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2014-007276
- 38. Marks M, Bottomley C, Tome H, Pitakaka R, Butcher R, Sokana O, et al. Mass drug administration of azithromycin for trachoma reduces the prevalence of genital *Chlamydia trachomatis* infection in the Solomon Islands. Sex Transm Infect. 2016;92: 261–5. doi:10.1136/sextrans-2015-052439
- WHO. Weekly epidemiological record Relevé épidémiologique hebdomadaire. World Heal Organ Wkly Epidemiol Rec. 2014;96: 421–428.
- 40. Habtamu E, Heggen A, Haddad D, Courtright P. Using a case study approach to document "preferred practices" in mass drug administration for trachoma. Community Eye Heal J. 2015;27: s01–s02.

- 41. Kawuma M. Eye diseases and blindness in Adjumani refugee settlement camps, Uganda. East Afr Med J. 2000;77: 580–2. doi:12862101
- Migchelsen SJ, Martin DL, Southisombath K, Turyaguma P, Heggen A, Rubangakene PP, et al.
 Defining Seropositivity Thresholds for Use in Trachoma Elimination Studies. PLoS Negl Trop
 Dis. 2017;11: e0005230. doi:10.1371/journal.pntd.0005230
- 43. Southisombath K, Sisalermsak S, Chansan P, Akkhavong K, Phommala S, Lewallen S, et al.
 National Trachoma Assessment in the Lao People's Democratic Republic in 2013–2014.
 Ophthalmic Epidemiol. Taylor & Francis; 2016;23: 1–7. doi:10.1080/09286586.2016.1236973
- 44. WHO. Nepal: first country in South-East Asia validated for eliminating trachoma. Kathmandu;2018.
- 45. Gwyn SE, Xiang L, Kandel RP, Dean D, Gambhir M, Martin DL. Prevalence of *Chlamydia trachomatis* -Specific Antibodies before and after Mass Drug Administration for Trachoma in Community-Wide Surveys of Four Communities in Nepal. Am J Trop Med Hyg. 2017; 1–11. doi:10.4269/ajtmh.17-0102
- Martin DL, Bid R, Sandi F, Goodhew EB, Massae PA, Lasway A, et al. Serology for trachoma surveillance after cessation of mass drug administration. PLoS Negl Trop Dis. 2015;9: e0003555. doi:10.1371/journal.pntd.0003555
- Butcher R, Sokana O, Jack K, Sui L, Russell C, Last A, et al. Clinical signs of trachoma are prevalent among Solomon Islanders who have no persistent markers of prior infection with *Chlamydia trachomatis*. Wellcome Open Res. 2018;3: 14.
 doi:10.12688/wellcomeopenres.13423.1
- Butcher R, Sokana O, Jack K, Martin DL, Burton MJ, Solomon A, et al. Age-specific prevalence of anti-Pgp3 antibodies and severe conjunctival scarring in the Solomon Islands. bioRxiv. 2017; doi:10.1101/141135
- 49. The Gambia Bureau of Statistics (GBOS). 2016 Statistical Abstract. 2017.
- 50. The Gambia Bureau of Statistics (GBOS), ICF International. The Gambia Demographic and Health Survey. Banjul, The Gambia, and Rockville, Maryland, USA; 2014.
- 51. Stare D, Harding-Esch E, Munoz B, Bailey R, Mabey D, Holland M, et al. Design and baseline data of a randomized trial to evaluate coverage and frequency of mass treatment with azithromycin: the Partnership for Rapid Elimination of Trachoma (PRET) in Tanzania and The Gambia. In: Ophthalmic epidemiology [Internet]. Feb 2011 [cited 9 May 2013] pp. 20–9.

doi:10.3109/09286586.2010.545500

- 52. User:Acntx Wikipedia [Internet]. [cited 3 Mar 2018]. Available: https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/User:Acntx
- 53. Hamilton H, Velleman Y. WASHing away blinding trachoma. 2013.
- 54. WHO and UNICEF. Progress on Drinking Water, Sanitation and Hygiene: Update abd SDG Baselines. 2017.
- 55. Faal H, Minassian D, Sowa S, Foster A. National survey of blindness and low vision in The Gambia: results. Br J Ophthalmol. 1989;73: 82–7.
- 56. Faal HB. The Gambia: approaches to blindness. Lancet. 1997;349.
- 57. Dolin PJ, Faal H, Johnson GJ, Ajewole J, Mohamed AA, Lee PS. Trachoma in The Gambia. Br J Ophthalmol. 1998;82: 930–3.
- 58. Faal H, Minassian DC, Dolin PJ, Mohamed AA, Ajewole J, Johnson GJ. Evaluation of a national eye care programme: re-survey after 10 years. Br J Ophthalmol. 2000;84: 948–51.
- 59. Harding-Esch EM, Sillah A, Edwards T, Burr SE, Hart JD, Joof H, et al. Mass Treatment with Azithromycin for Trachoma: When Is One Round Enough? Results from the PRET Trial in The Gambia. PLoS Negl Trop Dis. 2013;7: e2115. doi:10.1371/journal.pntd.0002115
- Youden WJ. Index for rating diagnostic tests. Cancer. 1950;3: 32–35. doi:10.1002/1097-0142(1950)3:1<32::AID-CNCR2820030106>3.0.CO;2-3
- 61. Cucunubá ZM, Nouvellet P, Conteh L, Vera MJ, Angulo VM, Dib JC, et al. Modelling historical changes in the force-of-infection of Chagas disease to inform control and elimination programmes: application in Colombia. BMJ Glob Heal. 2017;2: e000345. doi:10.1136/bmjgh-2017-000345
- Roberts C h, Mtuy T, Derrick T, Burton MJ, Holland MJ. Eyescores: an open platform for secure electronic data and photographic evidence collection in ophthalmological field studies. Br J Ophthalmol. 2013;97: 671–2. doi:10.1136/bjophthalmol-2012-302653
- R Development Core Team, R Core Team, R Development Core Team. R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing. Vienna, Austria: R Foundation for Statistical Computing; 2008.
- 64. Martin DL, Wiegand R, Goodhew B, Lammie P, Black CM, West S, et al. Serological Measures

of Trachoma Transmission Intensity. Sci Rep. 2015;5: 18532. doi:10.1038/srep18532

- 65. Goodhew EB, Morgan SMG, Switzer AJ, Munoz B, Dize L, Gaydos C, et al. Longitudinal analysis of antibody responses to trachoma antigens before and after mass drug administration. BMC Infect Dis. England: BioMed Central Ltd.; 2014;14: 216. doi:10.1186/1471-2334-14-216
- West SK, Munoz B, Weaver J, Mrango Z, Dize L, Gaydos C, et al. Can We Use Antibodies to *Chlamydia trachomatis* as a Surveillance Tool for National Trachoma Control Programs ? Results from a District Survey. PLoS Negl Trop Dis. 2016;10: 1–11. doi:10.1371/journal.pntd.0004352
- 67. West SK, Munoz B, Kaur H, Dize L, Mkocha H, Gaydos CA, et al. Longitudinal change in the serology of antibodies to *Chlamydia trachomatis* pgp3 in children residing in a trachoma area.
 Sci Rep. England; 2018;8: 3520. doi:10.1038/s41598-018-21127-0
- Muench H. Catalytic Models in Epidemiology. Cambridge, Mass: Harvard University Press; 1959.
- van den Hoogen LL, Griffin JT, Cook J, Sepúlveda N, Corran P, Conway DJ, et al. Serology describes a profile of declining malaria transmission in Farafenni, The Gambia. Malar J. BioMed Central; 2015;14: 416. doi:10.1186/s12936-015-0939-1
- Sepúlveda N, Paulino CD, Drakeley C. Sample size and power calculations for detecting changes in malaria transmission using antibody seroconversion rate. Malar J. BioMed Central; 2015;14: 1–14. doi:10.1186/s12936-015-1050-3
- Cunha MG, Silva ES, Sepúlveda N, Costa SPT, Saboia TC, Guerreiro JF, et al. Serologically defined variations in malaria endemicity in Pará state, Brazil. PLoS One. 2014;9: 1–17. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0113357

Chapter 2- Serological tests for the surveillance of Chlamydia trachomatis infections: the history, development and review of their use in public health London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine Keppel Street, London WC1E 7HT www.lshtm.ac.uk



Registry T: +44(0)20 7299 4646 F: +44(0)20 7299 4656 E: registry@lshtm.ac.uk

RESEARCH PAPER COVER SHEET

PLEASE NOTE THAT A COVER SHEET MUST BE COMPLETED <u>FOR EACH</u> RESEARCH PAPER INCLUDED IN A THESIS.

SECTION A – Student Details

Student	Stephanie Migchelsen
Principal Supervisor	David Makey
Thesis Title	chamidia trachonatis cerology as a meanson monitoring intervention advities to eliminate trachoma
	as a public has the problem

If the Research Paper has previously been published please complete Section B, if not please move to Section C

SECTION B – Paper already published

Where was the work published?	PLOS NTD	
When was the work published?	2017	19
If the work was published prior to registration for your research degree, give a brief rationale for its inclusion	NA	<u>8</u>
Have you retained the copyright for the work?*	OPEN ALLES Was the work subject to academic peer review?	cyps

*If yes, please attach evidence of retention. If no, or if the work is being included in its published format, please attach evidence of permission from the copyright holder (publisher or other author) to include this work.

SECTION C – Prepared for publication, but not yet published

Where is the work intended to be published?	. ×	
Please list the paper's authors in the intended authorship order:	51	
Stage of publication		

SECTION D – Multi-authored work

For multi-authored work, give full details of your role in the research included in the paper and in the preparation of the paper. (Attach a further sheet if necessary)	Tidleded the samples from the Gambia, performed the EZIST On all thesa mples i conducted the analyses, wrote and edited the piper and visponded to reviewers			
Student Signature:	Date: 10/09/18			
Supervisor Signature	Date: 12/4/18			

Improving health worldwide

www.ishtm.ac.uk

Summary

The bacterium *Chlamydia trachomatis* (Ct) causes both genital and ocular infection. Clinical signs are used to diagnose trachoma, cause by ocular infection with Ct, while genital infection is diagnosed using nucleic acid amplification tests (NAATs) to detect the presence of chlamydial DNA. Serology has historically been used as a diagnostic tool for both ocular and genital infections, however this is not an appropriate diagnostic method. We summarised the historical context of chlamydia serology reviewing samples, testing methodology, antigens, immunoglobulins detected and methods of analyses. We reviewed published serological studies to provide an overview of the current landscape of Ct serology as it relates to public health.

Methodology

The author of this thesis performed a systematic literature search of online databases (PubMed, Cochrane, Lilacs, Scielo, Scopus and Web of Science) in June 2016, and updated it in April 2018, following PRISMA guidelines. Studies were limited to peer-reviewed Ct serology studies in the public health context, that is not for research or individual diagnostics purposes with the reported outcome being the prevalence of antibodies against Ct. The studies were heterogenous in terms of population studies, sample collected, assay and antigen used and method of determining positivity.

Conclusion

Overall, 24 studies were included: 9 trachoma-related studies and 15 studies of genital Ct infections. The diversity of studies prompted a review of the historical development of serological assays for Ct to provide a more thorough overview of the elements of Ct serology and its public health applications. Few head-to-head comparisons have been made comparing either commercial and inhouse assays to each other or comparing different antigens, assay types or threshold methods across platforms. A standardised set of reference standards should be produced to facilitate comparisons between assays and settings if serology is to become more widely accepted as a useful public health tool.

In the subsequent chapters, the author will cover the development of a Pgp3-specific ELISA for detecting antibodies against Ct to be used to measure seroprevalence and antibody acquisition in populations where trachoma is or has been a public health problem. Data generated using this ELISA are used to estimate changes in the force of infection following public health interventions.

Serological tests for the surveillance of *Chlamydia trachomatis* infections: the history, development and review of their use in public health

Authors: Stephanie J Migchelsen, Sarah C Woodhall, Becca Handley, David Mabey, Chrissy h Roberts

2.1 Introduction

Chlamydia trachomatis (Ct) is one of the most frequent causes of bacterial sexually transmitted infections (STI) [1], as well as being the leading infectious cause of blindness [2]. The species consists of a number of serovars. To some extent it is possible to link serovars to pathology and tropism, with types A, B, Ba and C having tropism to the eye and causing trachoma. The remaining serovars are generally found in the genital tract, with types D-K causing the classical genital chlamydial infection whilst types L1, L2 and L3 cause a more severe form of disease known as lymphogranuloma venereum (LGV) [3].

Genital infection with Ct is common worldwide but ocular infection is now predominantly limited to tropical developing countries [4]. Repeated or prolonged infections (both genital and ocular) lead to complications and pathological sequelae. Genital Ct infection can cause pelvic inflammatory disease (PID), with potential sequelae of tubal factor infertility (TFI), ectopic pregnancy, chronic pelvic pain and infertility in women[5–8]. In men, genital Ct infection can cause epididymitis, an inflammation of the epididymis which causes severe testicular pain [9,10]. There is also some evidence that current infection with Ct is linked to sperm DNA fragmentation and reduced fertility [11]. Babies born to infected women are at risk of ophthalmia neonatorum or bacterial pneumonia [12].

Following ocular infection with Ct, raised follicles develop on the upper tarsal conjunctiva, known as trachomatous inflammation- follicular (TF). This is often followed by inflammatory thickening, called trachomatous inflammation- intense (TI). The long-term sequelae of this inflammation include scarring of the upper tarsal conjunctiva, leading to trichiasis, a condition where the eyelashes rub against the surface of the eye, which can lead to corneal opacity and blindness [13].

Methods for understanding the burden of Ct in populations differ between ocular and genital chlamydia disease. The prevalence of trachoma is determined by the presence of clinical signs detected by everting the upper eyelid to examine the tarsal surface [14]. Cross-sectional prevalence studies are typically performed in endemic locations, with children aged 1-9 years in selected villages being examined. Studies have shown a disparity between the clinical signs and the presence of Ct infection, particularly in areas of low-endemicity or post-intervention communities, with clinical signs often persisting after infection has been treated [15,16]. The prevalence and incidence of Ct infection is challenging to measure as infections are often asymptomatic and self-clearing [17]. In the primary care context, nucleic acid amplification tests (NAATs) are used to test a variety of specimen

types, including urogenital, pharyngeal and rectal swabs, as well as urine specimens [18] and these tests are also amenable to use in population monitoring and prevalence surveys. Some previous studies have been based on patients attending sexual health clinics, which suffer from population selection bias, selecting those at higher risk of chlamydia[19,20] whereas studies based on representative sampling show lower prevalence [21–23].

Unlike a clinical diagnosis based on signs and symptoms, or a molecular diagnosis based on genetic material, serological assays detect antibodies against specific antigens and are not commonly considered a diagnostic tool for current infection, either ocular or genital, as antibodies persist for a time once the infection has self-cleared or has been treated. Tests for infection and disease prevalence do not account for past exposure, nor do they measure the cumulative exposure to infection that lead to the sequelae that intervention and screening programmes for trachoma and genital Ct infection aim to minimise. Serology serves an altogether different purpose and is not a replacement for clinical or molecular diagnostic tools: NAATs are the recommended diagnostic tool for current infection [24,25]. The presence of antibodies can be used to indicate past exposure and changes in transmission [26,27] as well as indicating the development of severe pathology and scarring sequelae [28].

Historical reviews have focused on the use of Ct serology as a diagnostic test [29,30] but few recent works provide a detailed description of how these methods can be turned towards applications in programmatic surveillance for disease control [31]. A recent upsurge in interest in such applications has led us to review the use of anti-Chlamydial serological tests as tools for surveillance, drawing attention to particular studies in which serology has been used to measure the prevalence of anti-Ct antibodies in population-based samples. We present a historical context and examine some of the technical aspects of using serology. We show the challenges and opportunities of using serology to detect antibodies against Ct in the context of programmatic surveillance and disease control.

2.2 Technological platforms

Serological testing for *Chlamydia spp.* has a history dating back almost a century, with early (c. 1935) technologies such as the Complement Fixation (CF) assay having been largely replaced by the microimmunofluorescence (MIF) test and Enzyme Linked Immunosorbent Assays (ELISA) in the 1970s. Whilst ELISA remains a mainstay of serology in the 21st century, the technology has continued to evolve as the hardware has become more automated and the quality of the purified antibodies has increased over the years. In the last ten years it has become possible to adapt the principles of ELISA to highly multiplexed assays, using solid state micro-bead technology to simplify workflows and increase throughputs, whilst also improving precision and accuracy of measurement. Full proteomic analysis via microarray-based studies has also become both possible and affordable and has led to a paradigm shift in quantitative multi-antigen serological analysis. In this section we briefly introduce key studies that have used these technologies in Ct research.

2.2.1 Complement fixation (CF)

The first serological assay was published by Bedson in 1935 and was a complement fixation (CF) assay using a group-specific lipopolysaccharide (LPS) antigen [32]. CF was first used to diagnose cases of human psittacosis, caused by *C. psittaci* and LGV [32]. However, because it detected genus-specific *Chlamydia* lipopolysaccharides, it had poor specificity due to cross-reactivity [33,34]. Conway et al. used CF to detect high titres of antibodies in women with a history of PID and tubal damage[35]. Yet, it was not specified if the PID was due only to Ct, as other genital infections, such as gonorrhoea and bacterial vaginosis can cause PID[36,37]. Serological evidence of Ct infection was also detected in pregnant or potentially fertile women. Thus, although a positive CF result was correlated with tubal damage, it was not diagnostic of the condition, as many women without tubal damage had serological evidence of chlamydial infection [35]. Similarly, Richmond and colleagues performed a study in which CF was used to demonstrate anti-Ct antibodies in patients with psittacosis and those attending venereal disease and family planning clinics [38]. (Figure 2.1)

Complement fixation



Figure 2.1 Schematic representation of Complement Fixation. If the patient's serum contains antibodies against the antigen of interest (lipopolysaccharide), they will bind to the antigen to form antigen-antibody complexes. The complement proteins will react with these complexes and be depleted. Thus, when the antibody-coated erythrocytes are added, there will be no complement left in the serum. However, if no antibodies against the antigen of interest are present, the complement will not be depleted and it will react with the antibody-coated erythrocytes, lysing the erythrocytes and spilling their contents into the solution, thereby turning the solution pink.

2.2.2 Microimmunofluorescence (MIF)

In 1970, Wang and Grayston developed the microimmunofluorescence (MIF) test to serotype strains of *C. trachomatis* [39], having already raised a range of type-specific polyclonal antibodies, which allowed for serotyping of many of the serovars [40] using elementary bodies (EB). EBs are non-replicating infectious chlamydial particles that are released when an infected host cell ruptures [41]. Serovar-specific EBs are fixed onto glass slides as distinct dots and an immunoreaction is detected if a clinical specimen contains antibodies against the antigen. The reaction is visualised with a secondary antibody labelled with fluorescein isothiocyanate (Figure 2.2). The use of a specific secondary antibody allows the identification of antibody isotypes (commonly IgG, IgA or IgM). Both CF and MIF allow for serial dilutions to determine end-point titre of a specimen. Wang and colleagues also demonstrated serovar-specific IgM and IgG in serum and tears [42], as well as correlating the presence of IgM with infection [43]. It should be noted that the MIF is a labour-intensive in-house method, with modifications common [44,45], therefore results are variable in terms of both quality and performance [30]. For many years, MIF was considered the only specific and sensitive serologic assay for any of the *Chlamydia* spp. [29,46], however, both its sensitivity and specificity have been questioned [47–49]. Peeling and collaborators demonstrated the inter-

laboratory variability of the assay, which makes the comparison of published data from different labs challenging and underlines a need for standardised serological tests [50].



Micro immunofluorescence

Figure 2.2. Schematic representation of the microimmunofluorescence (MIF) assay. Chlamydial elementary bodies (EB) are fixed onto a glass slide, a clinical specimen is applied. If anti-EB antibodies are present, an immunoreaction can be detected by applying a secondary antibody labelled with fluorescein isothiocyanate.

2.2.3 ELISA

Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assays (ELISA) were developed with advances in diagnostic technology, such as antibody purification techniques. They were easier to perform than MIF, more objective [51] and large batches of samples could be processed simultaneously using 96-well plates. In brief, antigen is coated to the bottom of the wells, sample is applied, whereupon specific antibodies will bind to the antigen. A conjugated secondary antibody is applied and detected using a fluorescing substrate (Figure 2.3).

Numerous ELISAs for the diagnosis of chlamydial infections were introduced in the 1980s [52–55]. These ELISAs commonly used elementary bodies (EBs) as antigen [56]. These ELISAs were genusspecific, rather than species-specific and were unable to distinguish between antibodies for Ct and *Chlamydia pneumoniae* (Cp), a common human respiratory pathogen [16]. An appropriate screening test for chlamydial seroprevalence must be able to distinguish between species. With the advent of protein recombination techniques, new ELISAs have been developed providing greater reported sensitivity and specificity against MIF and CF [57,58]. Although most are indirect ELISAs, a double-antigen "sandwich" ELISA has also been developed and shows increased sensitivity when compared to some commercial indirect ELISAs [59,60].

An assay that detects antibodies to non-species-specific antigens could lead to over-estimation of the prevalence of Ct infections. In trachoma-endemic populations, this may lead to prolonged elimination activities and excessive use of antibiotics.



Indirect ELISA

Figure 2.3. Schematic representation of the indirect enzyme linked-immunosorbent assay (ELISA). Immunogenic chlamydial proteins (antigens) are coated to the bottom of wells, a clinical specimen is applied and antibodies specific to the antigen will bind. The immunoreaction can be detected by a secondary antibody conjugated with a fluorescein conjugate.

2.2.4 Multiplex bead assay (MBA)

An antigen-based multiplex bead assay (MBA) has been recently developed and allows for the identification of antibodies against multiple antigens [61]. Fluorescent microspheres are conjugated to antigens (Figure 2.4), and the varying spectral addresses of the labelled beads allow for up to 100 bead-antigen combinations to be used in a single assay well [62]. Following a workshop by the World Health Organization (WHO), experts in neglected tropical diseases (NTDs) concluded that antibody-based MBAs offered the greatest prospect of simultaneous monitoring of elimination efforts for

several NTDs, for instance trachoma, lymphatic filariasis, schistosomiasis, onchocerciasis, and soiltransmitted helminth infections [63]. The multiplex nature of the assay allows for dozens of antigens to be included, evidence of infection with several organisms to be obtained and for each sample to be assayed with several antigens. Previous studies using the MBA have used beads conjugated with plasmid gene product 3 (Pgp3) and CT694 (see Antigen selection, below), two immunogenic proteins produced by Ct, to monitor the changes in seroprevalence in trachoma-endemic populations at baseline and six months or one year after a single round of mass drug administration (MDA) [64,65], as a measure of the transmission intensity [26,66] and as a proxy for the force of infection (FoI) using seroconversion rates [27]. These studies have shown that in a programme-monitoring capacity, serological studies are a reasonable proxy for infection or clinical signs, particularly in areas of lowendemicity or post-MDA communities.



Multiplex bead assay

Figure 2.4. Schematic representation of the multiplex bead assay. Antigens are coated to fluorescent microspheres (beads) to which specific antibodies in clinical specimens will bind. A secondary antibody-conjugate is then applied and visualised by reading light emitted when the beads are excited using laser technology.

2.2.5 Proteomics

Advances in recombinant techniques and proteomics have led to refinements in serological techniques. This, in turn, has led to an exploration of potential immunological targets using whole genome scale proteomic arrays, with several immunogenic antigens being identified. The development of synthetic and recombinant protein methods allowed for improved ELISAs, using more Ct-specific antigens- such as the major outer membrane protein (MOMP), heat shock proteins (hsp), Pgp3 and CT694.

By assaying the peptides expressed by the open reading frames (ORF) of the chlamydial genome and plasmid, researchers have been able to identify antigens that elicit an immune response in infectionpositive women as well as pathogenic antigens that are specific to different scarring pathologies. Wang et al. performed a whole genome-scale proteome array of Ct serovar D: they expressed peptides encoded by the genome and plasmid and assayed them using a microarray against sera from Ct-infection positive women, with sera from infection-negative women as controls [67]. Of these proteins, 27 were recognised by ≥50% of the sera and were thus designated immunodominant antigens. These included antigens localised in the membrane, like MOMP, OmcB, and PmpD; proteins in the inclusion membrane, as well as proteins secreted into the host cell cytosol, such as Pgp3 [68]. The same whole genome array was used to profile antibody responses in individuals with and without trichiasis in The Gambia [69]. This study identified ten immunodominant antigens, including Pgp3, and CT694. Four additional antigens were associated with the trichiasis phenotype, producing a reaction only, or more strongly, in individuals with trichiasis compared to the controls who had no trichiasis. Another genome-wide study by Rodgers and colleagues was conducted using samples from women with laparoscopy-confirmed TFI and infertile women without TFI [70]. Many antigens elicited antibody responses in both groups, however 10 antigens were uniquely identified to elicit a response in TFI patients (100% specificity). Of these, two antigens (CT443 and CT381) had a sensitivity of 67.7% against clinically-diagnosed TFI, suggesting that they may prove to be useful biomarkers in the differential diagnosis of TFI. As such, serological assays based on these antigens may prove a less invasive tool than hysterosalpingogram or laparoscopy for diagnosing tubal pathology [71]. From the studies above, it is clear that the usefulness of serology as a tool depends on the careful selection of antigen(s) and also on the particular disease phenotype that is to be diagnosed.

2.2.6 Summary of Diagnostic Platforms

The use of a multiplex assay allows for the detection of antibodies against multiple antigens. This can be used to detect co-morbid diseases in integrated surveys, as has previously been demonstrated for

yaws and trachoma [72] and for a panel of infections endemic to Haiti, including lymphatic filariasis, giardiasis, toxoplasmosis, measles and malaria, as well as filarial antigens [62]. This type of multiantigen panel has been recommended by experts as the ultimate goal in NTD control and elimination [63]. Multi-antigen panels could also be used for detecting biological markers of upper genital tract infection and disease sequelae if they were to be used for monitoring the sequelae of genital Ct infections and estimating the risk of infertility. It is likely that a panel of antigens will be more informative than a single antigen assay, as suggested by microarray studies [69,70,73]. MBA platforms are more expensive than an ELISA plate reader, which may put them out of reach for public health programmes in low- and middle-income countries, in which case, the alternative may be to use a single-antigen ELISA assay. Both the MBA and ELISA are more objective and less labourintensive than MIF and can be automated or semi-automated.

2.3 Isotype selection

The isotype of an antibody is determined by the heavy chains and although five isotypes exist in humans, three are of primary interest: IgM, IgA and IgG. These isotypes emerge at different times and will persist for varying lengths of time following infection (Figure 2.5).



Figure 2.5 Pattern of antibody kinetics following infection with Ct. IgM is the first antibody to appear and this response is short-lived. IgA and IgG appear following the infection and persist longer.

In serological assays, serum antibodies are bound to fixed antigens, which are then detected using a tagged secondary, anti-human antibody. Any serum antibodies specific for the fixed antigen will bind to it; these are then detected using anti-human antibodies specific for one of the three isotypes of interest. Thus the selection of secondary antibody is critical in detecting the antibodies that form the immune response.

2.3.1 Immunoglobulin M (IgM)

IgM is the first antibody produced in response to an initial exposure to an antigen. Following primary chlamydial infection, IgM titres increase within two-four weeks and are lost within two-six months [46,74,75]. Although the presence of anti-Ct IgM has been found in the sera of patients with suspected or proven Ct infection [76], its production is short-lived and only a small proportion of people infected by Ct have been shown to have IgM antibodies against Ct [77]. In a study by

Treharne et al., of the 35 women who were culture-positive for genital Ct infection, only 49% had detectable levels of IgM [45]. Because chlamydial infection is often asymptomatic, patients may not present until their levels of IgM have dropped below detectable levels [77]. Similarly, in patients with trachoma, Rahi et al. demonstrated that anti-chlamydial IgM correlates with clinical inflammation but elevated levels of IgM were rare, and in patients with severe trachoma no IgM was detected [78].For this reason, IgM is not a practical immunoglobulin to measure in serological assays.

2.3.2 Immunoglobulin A (IgA)

Immunoglobulin A (IgA) is induced by the presence of microbes and is produced by plasma cells [79]. It is the principal immunoglobulin of mucosal membranes, binding to polymeric receptors expressed by mucosal epithelial cells[80]. It is common in areas such as the urogenital tract and epithelium of the conjunctiva, both areas for which Ct exhibits tropism.

Goodhew and colleagues used the MBA to measure the IgG and IgA immune responses to Pgp3 and CT694 in serum from children living in a trachoma-endemic region in Tanzania [64]. Fewer children had IgA responses than IgG responses, a difference more pronounced in older children; the measured levels of antibody were also lower which was expected, considering the lower levels of IgA in serum. Levels of IgA in the serum are related to total antigen dose, so the lower seroprevalence of IgA may indicate a lower infectious load [64]. In a study by Ghaem-Maghami and colleagues involving 113 patients from a genitourinary medicine (GUM) clinic, the IgA response was more prominent in patients with uncomplicated genital Ct infections compared to the groups with complications. Cervical IgA levels measured were 30-50 times higher than the levels in serum at baseline and both cervical and serum levels of IgA were higher than IgG levels [81]. The authors suggested that mucosal IgA may be indicative of recent infection, consistent with the plasma cells that are attracted to the site of infection, as shown in a study by Crowley-Nowick and colleagues [82]. Theoretically, IgA levels may provide evidence of a recent or ongoing infection [83]; however, due to the low levels of IgA present in the blood, it seems unlikely that future serological assays will be targeted to detect it. If more accurate assays were developed using mucus or tears, an IgAspecific assay may be worth revisiting.

2.3.3 Immunoglobulin G (IgG)

IgG is the most common type of antibody found in sera and represent approximately 75% of serum antibodies in humans[84]. IgG is produced by plasma B cells as part of the humoral immune response. Upon infection, IgG levels rise within six weeks and usually decrease slowly [85], making

them an ideal indicator of past infection; both trachoma and genital chlamydia studies suggest that IgG persists for months and possibly years after infection [64,86,87]. Numerous studies have used the presence of anti-Ct IgG as a proxy measure for the transmission of Ct infection in populationbased studies [27,59,92–101,60,102,103,64,66,72,88–91] as well as using it as a tool to estimate the proportion of disease sequelae attributable to Ct infection [104–110].

2.3.4 Summary of Isotype Selection

Both IgM and IgA are of limited value in serological assays: IgM persists for only a short time, while IgA is scarce in serum samples [111]. IgG is the most practical antibody for serological studies as it is the most common immunoglobulin in serum[84] and persists following clearance of the bacterium. Compared to the other immunoglobulins mentioned above, IgG is the most commonly studied antibody in the serological studies presented in this review.

2.4 Antigen selection

The core functionality of any serological test is provided by highly specific and highly avid interactions between a purified antibody and its corresponding antigen. Bound antigen is used as the instrument to detect circulating antibodies. These antibodies, if detected, are evidence of either a current or prior immune response to a Ct infection.

Human immune responses are highly heterogeneous at both individual- and population-level and the appropriate selection of antigens is therefore a crucial determinant of the value of the serological test. The ideal antigen choice is one or more peptides or proteins that can be shown to induce strong immune responses in the majority of persons exposed to infection and do not cross react with other infectious agents. In this section we describe and assess the use of various Ct antigens throughout the literature.

2.4.1 MOMP

The major outer membrane protein (MOMP) is a 39kDa protein encoded by ORF CT681 [112]. It has long been recognised as an immunodominant protein [113], and although there is considerable amino acid homology between proteins encoded by Ct and Cp, it appears that cross-reaction between Cp anti-MOMP antibodies and anti-Ct MOMP antibodies is rare [114,115]. A study by Närvänen et al. [116] used Ct-synthetic peptides derived from the variable domain of MOMP in an ELISA to detect antibodies against C. trachomatis. Samples from children with Cp antibodies determined by MIF did not show any reactivity in the ELISA [116]. However, at least one study has shown conflicting results [117]. Recombinant MOMP antigen has been used by Mygind and colleagues to detect anti-Ct antibodies with a reported sensitivity of 80% and specificity of 91% [118] when compared to the MIF. When used to detect anti-Ct IgG in sera collected from patients with acute Ct urogenital infection determined by NAAT and healthy blood donors, sensitivity was 61% and specificity 84% [119]. This suggests that MOMP is not immunoreactive in all participants or there was insufficient time between infection and testing to detect MOMP-specific IgG, which typically increases six weeks-post infection [85]. An additional study by Morré et al. compared three MOMPspecific ELISAs against MIF [120]. Sera from 149 women were analysed for anti-Ct IgG and IgA. Cervical screens were PCR-tested with 43 women positive for Ct DNA, and 106 women were PCRnegative. For all four assays, the overall seroprevalence rate was 40% for IgG and 7% for IgA. In infection-positive women, the IgG seroprevalence rates were two to three times higher than infection-negative women. Not all PCR-positive women were seropositive (74% sensitivity), nor were all PCR-negative women seronegative (75% specificity). An additional study by Miettinen and colleagues looked at the presence of MOMP-specific IgG and IgA in women with acute PID [113].

When compared to culture, IgG antibodies had 53% sensitivity and 89% specificity. The authors note that anti-MOMP IgG was frequently detected in women with PID who were not culture-positive for Ct and among apparently healthy controls, most likely reflecting previous Ct infections. Similar results were seen in studies with patients with TFI and subfertility [118,121]. These studies highlight that infection is not an appropriate reference standard for a serological assay.

2.4.2 Heat shock protein (hsp)

Heat shock proteins are a family of highly-conserved proteins common to both prokaryotes and eukaryotes; bacterial hsps are highly immunogenic targets in humans [122].They are produced by cells in response to stressful conditions, such as changes in temperature or exposure to UV light. Three chlamydial hsps (chsp) have been studied. Chsp70 has been identified as an in-vitro target of neutralising antibodies [123–125] whilst chsp10 and chsp60 (which are co-expressed) [126] both have important roles in eliciting the host immune response [101,127]. These chsps are highly conserved in chlamydial species with greater than 95% within-genus protein-level homology [122]. They also have approximately 60% amino acid homology with hsps from other bacterial species and approximately 50% homology with human hsps [122]. Numerous studies have shown a relationship between serum IgG antibody response to hsp60 and the development of scarring sequelae following genital Ct infection [101,125,128–132]. A similar, albeit more limited, response is seen in cases of trachomatous scarring, with the presence of chsp-specific serum IgG associated with conjunctival scarring in a study of 296 children and adults in The Gambia by Peeling and colleagues [28]. In a study by Patten et al., IgA against chsp60 was significantly correlated with acute chlamydial infection, whilst anti-chsp60 IgG was significantly correlated with confirmed PID [133].

2.4.3 CT694

CT694 is a small protein of approximately 40 kDa [112]. It is membrane-localised [134] and thought to play a role in host cell invasion or subversion of the immune system [135]. During early infection of the host cell, CT694 is secreted by the type III secretion system [136]. Early studies found that cross reactivity between antibodies against Ct and Cp lead to high rates of false positivity [137–139]. Although there are no known homologous sequences in the genomes of chlamydial species [136], some epitopes of CT694 may be structurally homologous to epitopes of other Gram-negative bacteria [30]. An MBA specific for CT694 and Pgp3 against *C. trachomatis* antigens has been developed by Goodhew et al., and used in numerous trachoma-endemic and previously-endemic areas [27,62,64,66,99,100]. CT694 has not been used in any single-antigen assays to-date as it may

produce variable results over time [64]. CT694 shows similar levels of sensitivity (91%) and specificity (98%) as Pgp3 when compared to PCR used as a reference standard. In post-MDA communities, and at an individual level, CT694 antibody response correlated well with both clinic signs of infection and PCR positivity [99]. In an additional study that measured antibodies against CT694 in children aged 1 – 9 years of age at baseline and 6-months post-treatment, antibody levels decreased but none of the children reverted to seronegative status [64].

2.4.4 Pgp3

Plasmid gene product 3 (Pgp3) is encoded by the Ct plasmid, which is not present in Cp, making the antibody response specific to Ct [140]. The Pgp3 antigen is recognised by specific IgG [141] and is thought to be the most immunodominant antigen encoded by the Ct [67]. Pgp3 has been used in numerous serological assays for both ocular [72,98,99,103,142] and genital Ct infection [57,102,143,144] as a proxy measure for the impact of intervention and screening programmes. Both commercial and in-house Pgp3-specific ELISAs have been developed, with varying sensitivity and specificity against MIF, clinical disease and infection as measured by PCR, depending on the population used to characterise the assays [57,103,143]. A Pgp3-specific in-house ELISA developed by Wills et al. was evaluated against three commercial ELISAs for IgG against MOMP and one MIF assay for IgG and IgM against EBs [57]. The sensitivity and specificity were determined using sera from both female and male GUM clinic-attendees who were diagnosed with Ct infection at least one month prior to serum collection as known positives (n=356) and archival sera from children which tested negative for Ct antibodies by MIF (n=740). The in-house Pgp3 assay was shown to have greater sensitivity (57.9% overall; 71.5% in women, 39.4% in men) than the other assays, and equal specificity (97.6% compared to 99%, 97.2% and 96% specificity of the three commercial assays). This assay has subsequently been used in several population-based studies in England, looking at the impact of the national chlamydia screening programme [102,144]. The authors have further developed the indirect ELISA to produce a double-antigen "sandwich" ELISA, with greater reported sensitivity (82.9% in women, 54.4% in men) [60].

A separate Pgp3-specific ELISA has been developed and used by Migchelsen and collaborators to measure seroprevalence in a trachoma context [103]. The authors also used the ELISA to determine the seroprevalence of Pgp3-specific antibodies in people of all ages in The Gambia [26]. One complication arising from this study is that, in populations where trachoma and genital Ct infection co-exist, it is not possible to distinguish between Pgp3-specific antibodies that result from ocular or genital infection[26]. A lateral flow assay has also been developed to detect Pgp3-specific antibodies and reports 96% sensitivity and 100% specificity with serum and 81.5% sensitivity and 100%

specificity for whole blood, when compared to the multiplex bead assay previously mentioned [142], although these results are not universal [145].

2.4.5 Novel Antigens

Researchers continue to search for novel biomarkers of chlamydial infection and its scarring sequelae. Transcriptional and proteomic experiments have shown that several chlamydial proteins are differentially expressed and may be of diagnostic value in serology [70,146–148]. Two such proteins, TroA and HtrA, have recently been studied as biomarkers of Ct infection. TroA, encoded by CTO67, is used in the iron-transport system and is present in infected cells, but less so in EBs [149]. HtrA, encoded by CT823, is required for bacterial replication [150] and increases during later developmental stages [151]. These recombinant proteins were used as antigens in ELISAs with sera from women with upper genital tract symptoms, patients from sexually transmitted infection (STI) clinics, blood donors and sexually inexperienced girls with sera being tested for IgG and IgA. IgA was infrequently detected in all patient groups. IgG against both TroA and HtrA was commonly detected in patients with perihepatitis caused by PID and in STI clinic-attendees. Absorbance measured for each antigen was low among blood donors and sexually-inexperienced girls, while absorbance was higher in patients with NAAT-confirmed infection or MIF-positive serology results. The authors suggest that TroA and HtrA antibodies appear following acute Ct infection, with the strongest response detected in upper genital tract infections and when there was evidence of previous or repeated exposure. Differential reactivity to TroA and HtrA, when combined with analyses of the antibodies mentioned above, may be of diagnostic value for reproductive tract complications.

2.4.6 Summary

Many of the assays used in serological surveys are based on the antibody response to one or two antigens, rather than detecting antibodies against a panel of antigens. A recent microarray study showed that in adults with trachomatous scarring, antibodies could be detected against a diverse array of antigens, with eight antigens being associated with scarring [73], three of which were concordant with a prior analysis of the microarray [69]. ELISAs using the three concordant antigens were conducted for further analysis and, in an independent case-control study, two of these were not associated with scarring in adults. Pgp3 was used as a positive control and antibody responses against Pgp3 were strongly correlated between the microarray and ELISA. Recent research in the field of malaria has shown the value of multi-antigen panels, allowing researchers to determine whether or not an individual has been infected [152], how recently [153], and their immunity to re-infection with *Plasmodium falciparum* [154]. Translating this technology to chlamydial antigens may

allow researchers to determine time since infection, number of infections, likelihood of sequelae, or perhaps even if antibodies were due to ocular or genital infection.

2.5 Data analysis and interpretation

Population-based surveys have typically required an estimate of seroprevalence based on the proportion of seropositive and seronegative samples. Few of the current assays present a simple binary response, rather they are based on interpreting continuous quantitative data, and assigning it as positive or negative, based on some established cut-off threshold. It has been shown that the proportion considered seropositive can vary substantially depending on how the threshold is set, particularly if based on reference standards or "known positives" and "known negatives" [103,155]. A simple estimate of seroprevalence may be programmatically practical, but a greater understanding of the (FoI) as a proxy for incidence of infection in a population may be gained from using higher-resolution methods, such as antibody acquisition models; analytical techniques are being explored to measure changes in seroprevalence without setting a threshold or using the quantitative data [156,157].

2.5.1 Methods for determination of thresholds

Thresholds allow the continuous immunofluorescence values produced by an ELISA or MBA to be simplified to a binary or categorical variable. Establishing such thresholds, however, is not straightforward and several methods exist [103]. Mathematical methods can be used to determine threshold values from the distribution of continuous measurements. Internally calibrated approaches (i.e. using only data generated during the study), such as finite mixture modelling [155], expectation-maximisation algorithm [158] or even simply visually determining a threshold between positive and negatives [103] do not require externally calibrated samples- "known positives" and "known negatives" and have been shown to be reproducible and consistent [103,155,159–162]. Migchelsen et al. used four analytical methods to establish a threshold between seropositive and seronegative samples: three were internal reference threshold methods and the fourth was an ROC curve based on externally collected samples which was used to generate three thresholds based on varying levels of sensitivity and specificity [103]. The authors showed that the method selected for threshold specification can greatly affect the population prevalence estimates that are derived, making any comparison between studies more challenging. More traditional threshold methods require external references, making them subject to reference standard misclassification if the reference has been incorrectly classified using infection data [163,164].

2.5.2 Finite Mixture Modelling (FMM)

Techniques such as FMM can be used without reference standards to find a threshold between seropositive and seronegative samples[165]. In its simplest form, FMM sets two Gaussian distributions, a narrow one representing the assumed seronegative samples and a second broader one representing the assumed seropositive samples (Figure 2.6). Although the threshold is commonly defined as the mean of the seronegative samples plus three standard deviations (SD) [155,162,166], this can be made more specific by increasing the threshold to the mean plus four SD [26] or more sensitive by reducing the threshold to the mean plus two SD. Additionally, FMM does not require any reference standards, as the selection of the threshold depends only on the particular samples studied, making it an ideal method for setting a threshold in trachoma-endemic countries, where obtaining appropriate reference samples may be challenging [26,72,103]. Furthermore, this method could be used to identify patients from distinct populations such as 'never infected', 'vaccine-immunised', and 'infected' [159]. FMM has recently been used to identify the number of component titre distributions in patients with laparoscopically-confirmed TFI or controls which was then used to estimate the proportion of TFI attributable to genital Ct infection [167].





2.5.3 ROC curves

Receiver Operating Characteristics (ROC) curves have commonly been used to set thresholds in serology studies [57,99,112,143,168]. These curves plot assay sensitivity against one minus assay specificity for different threshold values of an assay [169], demonstrating the trade-off between the two characteristics. ROC curves allow for thresholds maximising sensitivity, specificity or Youden's J-index, which balances sensitivity and specificity [170]. When test results with a high value are labelled as positive, increasing the threshold increases specificity whilst decreasing sensitivity, and vice versa for decreasing the threshold. The sensitivity and specificity displayed in the ROC curve rely on the accuracy of the reference assay and standards, highlighting concerns regarding reference standard misclassification [163]. Thresholds for Ct serology in trachoma studies have commonly been set using ROC curves; however, these have been based on a single set of reference standards from Tanzania [99]. The appropriateness of those standards for thresholds for sample sets from other countries appears weak, and potentially underestimates the seroprevalence [100].

2.5.4 Reference standards

Finding an appropriate gold standard test for serology remains a challenge as does finding appropriate reference samples. Samples from patients with NAAT-confirmed infection, have previously been used to define "known positive" samples [57,99,143]; however, infection positivity is not an appropriate reference as patients may not yet have seroconverted or the infection detected was insufficient to induce antibody production [57]. Other serological techniques may also present challenges for confirming positivity. Western blotting and whole cell inclusion immunofluorescence (WIF) have been used to confirm negative samples but use of these techniques assumes their accuracy. WIF detects genus- and species-specific antigens potentially over-estimating the sensitivity of the assay [171], whilst western blots may not be an effective means of detecting antibodies against Pgp3 as antibody recognition is dependent on the native, trimeric conformation of the antibody; the gel electrophoresis step causes the trimeric Pgp3 to denature to a monomeric protein [172]. "Known positives" based on disease status may also be problematic, as some Ctassociated outcomes, particularly those associated with the reproductive tract, are difficult to confirm due to invasive diagnostics [105] or may have more than one aetiology- for example PID may be due to genital infection with either Ct or *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* (NG). [35]. Similarly, serum samples from children or from non-trachoma endemic countries may be inappropriate for an assay designed for use with adults or in another country as non-specific antibodies arising from unrelated, prior infection, may result in different background 'noise' levels [173].

2.5.5 Quantitative antibody levels

New methods are being explored to use the quantitative serology data, rather than simply reducing it to a binary or categorical variable. In low transmission settings, these categorical outcomes may provide lower resolution information than quantitative levels [157]. Robust estimates of Ct transmission are required for the strategic planning, implementation and evaluation of interventions. Quantitative measures of antibodies may be better able to detect changes in high transmission areas and smaller and short-term trends in low-transmission populations [156,166,174].

2.5.6 Summary of analysis and interpretation of serological assays

The current methods of determining known references are less than ideal, reflecting the challenges in selecting a 'gold standard' reference. Clinical signs and infection status are inappropriate reference standards and comparator serological assays must be carefully selected, taking into account their known limitations, which may exclude their use as gold standards for determining thresholds. Internally calibrated methods remove the need to use reference standards, and set thresholds specific to the samples being tested, eliminating the need to source standards specific to the population being studied. Finally, more robust analysis can be performed by using the quantitative data, providing a sensitive measure of transmission changes.

2.6 Serology used in population-based surveys

The following section highlights some of the population-based studies using serological techniques to measure antibodies to Ct. Monitoring the prevalence of anti-Ct antibodies over time has strong potential as a surveillance tool in post-elimination settings as well as a tool to monitor and evaluate programme effectiveness [27,97,98]. It may also provide an understanding of what additional methods must be undertaken in regions where trachoma has not successfully been eliminated, despite MDA and other interventions[175]. Population-based serology studies are being explored as an alternative measure of prevalence of genital Ct infection, by providing a measure of age-specific cumulative incidence. Due to the often asymptomatic nature of urogenital chlamydia, ascertaining the prevalence of infection depends on the population tested [176]. Surveillance is commonly based on case reporting alone with no reporting on numbers of patients tested. Even when a testing denominator is known, positivity does not equal prevalence because the population tested has a different inherent risk than the general population [177].

In the first half of this section, we track the use of serology as a potential monitoring tool for trachoma programmes, whilst in the second half, we highlight serology's use in population-based studies of genital Ct infection.

A systematic literature search of online databases (PubMed, Cochrane, Lilacs, Scielo, Scopus and Web of Science) was conducted in June 2016, and updated in April 2018, following PRISMA guidelines [178] (Figure 2.7). The literature search used the following keywords: trachoma; *Chlamydia trachomatis*; chlamydia; prevalence; serology; epidemiology; diagnostics; genital; and ocular. The search was limited to peer-reviewed *Chlamydia trachomatis* serology papers published in English, French, Spanish and Dutch. The reference lists of retrieved articles were hand-searched to identify other studies that may have qualified for inclusion in the review. Studies were eligible for inclusion if they used population-based sampling, including if the participants were drawn from a sub-national geographic region of the country. No age limits were set on the population, as trachoma studies most commonly involve children, while genital chlamydia studies typically involve teenagers and adults. Participants must have provided a blood sample for analysis. No intervention or comparison groups were relevant to the inclusion criteria in this review. The outcome was the prevalence of antibodies against Ct, defined as the positive result of a serological assay by the study investigators. Studies were excluded if they were case-control studies or if samples were collected from patients at an STI or sexual health clinic or ophthalmology clinic (Figure 2.7)



Figure 2.7. Flow chart of publications identified and excluded for this review.

2.6.1 Ocular Ct infection

The following studies show the advance of serological techniques and their use from a simple measure of

seroprevalence to proxy indicators of the transmission and FoI. We have included the demographic information and seroprevalence of each study in Table 2.1.

Table 2.1. Summary of ocular Ct studies

Study	Location	Population (n)	Sample	Assay	Antigen	Immunoglobulin	Reference standards	Sensitivity	Specificity	Seropositivity
								(95% CI)	(95% CI)	(95% CI)
Goodhew et	Tanzania	Children aged	dried	in-house	Pgp3	lgG	Ct-infection PCR-positive	90.9% (62.2-	97.5% (93.0-	49.4% (41.7-
al., 2012 [99]		1-9 years old	blood	multiplex			samples from Tanzanian	98.4); 10 of	99.2); three	57.1)
		from 4	spots	bead			children (n=11); assumed-	the 11 PCR	assumed-	
		villages, post	(DBS)	assay			negative serum samples from	positive DBS	negative	
		MDA (3		(MBA)			US children (n=122)	were also	samples	
		rounds)						considered	were	
		(n=160)						positive by	positive for	
								MBA	antibodies	
									against Pgp3	
					CT694			90.9% (62.2-	98.4% (94.2-	46.3% (38.7-
								98.4); as	99.6); two	54.0)
								above	assumed-	
									negative	
									samples	
									were	
									positive for	
									antibodies	
									against	
									СТ694	
Goodhew et	Tanzania	Children aged	DBS;	MBA	Pgp3	IgG-baseline	As in [99]	96.1% (87.0-	not possible	63.9% (57.2-
al., 2014 [64]		1-6 years old,	swabs					98.9); 49/51	to calculate	70.2) for any
		baseline and	collected					PCR-positive	from the	lgG response
after one	for PCR		IgG-post MDA		samples	data	no			
---------------	-----------	-------	---------------	-----------------------------	-----------------	----------	---------------			
round MDA	test of		0 - 1		tested positive	provided	seroreversion			
(n=208 tested	infection				for IgA					
for IgG at					antibody					
baseline;					against Pgp3					
n=184 tested			IgA- baseline	Ct-infection PCR-positive	96.0% (86.5-		53.2% (46.6-			
for IgA)				samples from Tanzanian	98.9); 48/50		60.1) for any			
				children (n=10); assumed-	PCR-positive		lgA response			
			IgA- post MDA	negative serum samples from	samples		no			
				US children (n=122)	tested positive		seroreversion			
					for IgA					
					antibody					
					against Pgp3					
		CT694	IgG-baseline	As in [99]	96.1% (87.0-	•	no			
					98.9); 49/51		seroreversion			
			IgG-post MDA		PCR-positive		no			
					samples		seroreversion			
					tested positive					
					for IgA					
					antibody					
					against CT694					
			IgA- baseline	As for Pgp3-specific IgA	92.0% (81.2-		no			
					97.0); 46/50		seroreversion			
			IgA- post MDA		PCR-positive		no			
					samples		seroreversion			
					tested positive					
					for IgA					

								antibody		
								against CT694		
Martin et al.,	Tanzania	Children aged	DBS;	MBA	Pgp3	lgG	As in [99]	Not described	Not	Hyperendemic:
2015 [66]		1-6 years old	swabs						described	62.0% (55.4-
		from one	collected							68.6);
		village in a	for PCR							Mesoendemic:
		hyperendemic	test of							32.7% (30.0-
		setting	infection							36.0)
		(n=208);								Hypoendemic:
		children aged								21.2% (17.7-
		1-9 years old								24.6)
		in 8 villages in			CT694					Hyperendemic:
		а								61.5% (54.9-
		mesoendemic								68.1);
		setting								Mesoendemic:
		(n=987) and								34.0% (31.0-
		hypoendemic								37.0)
		setting								Hypoendemic:
		(n=680)								18.4% (15.1-
										21.7)
Martin et al.,	Tanzania	Participants of	DBS;	MBA	Pgp3	lgG	As in [99]	Not described	Not	33.8% (30.0-
2015 [27]		all ages in a	swabs						described	37.8)
		community	collected		CT694					seropositive
		where	for PCR							against at least
		trachoma was	test of							one antigen
		eliminated in	infection							
		2005 (n=571)								

Pant et al.,	Nepal	Children aged	DBS;	MBA	Pgp3	lgG	As in [99]	Not described	Not	1.50% (0.04-
2016 [100]		1-9 years old	swabs						described	7.9)
		from 3 post-	collected		СТ694	-				0% (0-5.3)
		MDA	for PCR							
		communities	test of							
		(n=68)	infection							
Zambrano et	Nepal	Children aged	DBS;	MBA	Pgp3	IgG	As in [99]	Not described	Not	2.40% (1.5-3.7)
al., 2016 [98]		1-4 and 9	swabs						described	
		years from 15	collected							
		clusters across	for PCR							
		two districts	test of							
		(n=794)	infection							
Cocks et al.,	Fiji	Children aged	DBS; test	ELISA	Pgp3	lgG	Threshold set using finite	Not described	Not	20.9% 17.8-
2016 [72]		1-14 years in	for				mixture modelling; no		described	24.6)
		30 randomly-	antibodie				reference standards required			
		selected	s against							
		villages in	Ct and							
		Western	Trepone							
		District	та							
		(n=593)	pallidum							
West et al.,	Kongwa,	Children aged	DBS;	MBA	Pgp3	IgG- baseline	As in [99]	As in [99]	As in [99]	31.1% (29.1-
2018 [65]	Tanzania	1-9 years in 52	swabs							33.1)
		communities	collected							
		enrolled in a	for PCR			lgG- one year]			36.8% (34.8-
		clinical trial of	test of			follow-up				38.9)
		surveillance	infection							
		studies; MDA								

		completed								
		2013 (n=2111)								
Butcher et al.,	Temotu	Participants of	DBS;	ELISA	Pgp3	lgG	Threshold set using finite	Not described	Not	42.2% (39.8-
2018 [189]	and	all ages in	swabs				mixture modelling; no		described	44.8)
	Rennell	villages that	collected				reference standards required			
	&	had received	for							
	Bellona,	MDA six	ddPCR							
	Solomon	months prior	test of							
	Islands	(n=1,511);	infection							
		DBS collected								
		from 1,499								
		participants								

The first modern study by Goodhew et al., from Tanzania, described the prevalence of antibodies against Pgp3 and CT694 in dried blood spots (DBS) collected from children aged 1-9 years (n=160) from four villages that had received three rounds of azithromycin as part of an MDA campaign [99] (Table 2.1). Clinical signs were recorded, and conjunctival swabs were collected to test for infection using PCR. The level of antibodies against Pgp3 and CT694 were measured using an in-house MBA. The thresholds for seropositivity were set using ROC curves, determined using delinked serum samples from children from the United States as negative controls and dried blood spots from Ctinfection PCR positive children from Tanzania as positive controls. Samples from Haitian children were also included as negative controls. The median fluorescence intensity minus background (MFI-Bkgd) values for Pgp3- and CT694-antibodies measured in Tanzanian samples were higher than those from both the Haitian and American samples. The seroprevalence of antibodies against both Pgp3 and CT694 was higher than the prevalence of either clinical signs or PCR positivity, with prevalence of antibodies against both antigens increasing with age. Older children were more likely to be seropositive but infection-negative and clinically-negative, suggesting past exposure with antibodies persisting after infection had been cleared, whilst most children under 3 years of age who were seropositive were also infection-positive or had clinical signs of trachoma. Six children who had signs of trachoma failed to exhibit an antibody response to either Pgp3 or CT694, which may suggest that these children failed to develop an immune response to Ct infection or that the assay is not as sensitive as stated, when compared to clinical signs; it may also suggest that the grader mis-graded TF in these children, or that the follicles were of a different aetiology. At the community-level, villages with higher prevalence of trachoma also had higher prevalence of seropositivity for both Pgp3 and CT694.

The second study, also from Tanzania and by Goodhew and colleagues, examined the change in antibody levels from baseline to six months after a round of MDA [64] (Table 2.1). Children aged 1-6 years old (n=173) provided DBS at both baseline and 6 months post-MDA, in addition to undergoing a clinical examination and providing an eye swab for infection testing. Both IgG and IgA against Pgp3 and CT694 were measured, as in [99]. At baseline, 47% of children were clinically positive for TF/TI, 25% of children were infection-positive, IgG seroprevalence was 64% and IgA seroprevalence was 53%. Both IgG and IgA against Ct-antigens increased with age. Data showed that although the levels of immunoglobulin (both IgG and IgA) decreased post-MDA, in no case did antibody levels decrease to a level where the sample would be considered negative. The mean decline in IgA antibody levels for antibody-positive children was greatest in the youngest children for both Pgp3 and CT694. No specific data were presented for IgG levels declining. The authors summarised that IgG may decline less significantly due to repeated Ct exposures, which induce memory B cells or plasma cells, as part

of the humoral immune response [179] whereas IgA immune response are shorter-lived particularly after mucosal infection with other organisms [79]. This would suggest that IgA is not a suitable target antibody for detection as it has a shorter duration than IgG. All IgA-positive samples were also IgG-positive. However, of the samples positive for IgG against either antigen, 21% were seronegative for IgA against both antigens, 19% were seronegative for anti-Pgp3 IgA and 33% were seronegative for anti-CT694 IgA.

An additional study, by Martin et al., in the same region of Tanzania used serological data from hyper-, meso-, and hypoendemic settings [180] to calculate the basic reproduction rate (R₀) for each level of endemicity [66] (Table 2.2). Dried blood spots were collected from children aged 1-9 years (n=1208) and tested for antibodies against Pgp3 and CT694 using MBA. The R₀ was calculated for each antigen in each endemicity assuming a constant (FoI) over age, which the authors caution may only hold true for young children, rather than the whole population (Table 2.1). When compared to R₀ values calculated using maximum likelihood estimation [31], the values presented in Table 2.2 are much higher.

Table 2.2. Calculated R₀ in communities with three levels of endemicity in Tanzania, including 95% confidence interval (95% CI). Modified from [66].

	R ₀ Pgp3 (95%CI)	R ₀ CT694 (95% CI)
Hyperendemic	29.4 (21.1-37.7)	28.3 (19.9-36.8)
Mesoendemic	8.1 (6.3-10.0)	7.8 (6.9-9.6)
Hypoendemic	2.8 (2.1-3.6)	2.8 (1.6-4.0)

Age-specific seroprevalence appears to be a reasonable proxy for disease in determining transmission rates for trachoma in these communities. The higher R₀ values seen in hyperendemic communities reflect a greater slope of the age seroprevalence curve and the prevalence of clinical signs. This study is a useful proof-of-concept that age-specific seroprevalence levels can be used as a proxy measure of the transmission of ocular Ct infection; it may be possible to use serology as an indicator of exposure. The authors caution that further studies are needed at district level, which is the functional unit for programmatic purposes, as well as studies with larger sample sizes, particularly for children at the youngest ages.

A third Tanzanian study [27] took place in a community where ocular chlamydial infection was eliminated with MDA of azithromycin between 2000 and 2002; elimination was confirmed in 2005 [181] (Table 2.1). The authors highlighted some of the challenges associated with 'traditional' trachoma survey including inter-observer standardisation [16,180,182] and the likelihood that follicular conjunctivitis may be caused by non-chlamydial bacteria, particularly in post-MDA settings [183]. In this study, the authors use the age-specific seroprevalence of antibodies against Pgp3 and CT694 to model the FoI before and after MDA. All residents were invited to undergo eye examinations and had an ocular swab collected for PCR infection testing. DBS were collected from all participants (n=571), which were then tested for antibodies against Pgp3 and CT694 using the MBA. The overall prevalence of TF/TI was 4.6% (6.5% in 1-9-year olds) whilst 21.5% of the participants had signs of scarring trachoma. Seropositivity increased with age, such that by 40 years of age over 90% of participants were positive for antibodies to at least one antigen and 60% were positive for antibodies to both. Of 200 participants aged 1-9 years, only 3.5% had positive responses to one antigen. No infection was detected. Seroconversion rates (SCR) were modelled using a simple reversible catalytic model using maximum likelihood methods and the best fit was provided with a change in the FoI 10-15 years prior, which is consistent with MDA having occurred between 2000 and 2002. The authors note that children born post-MDA have virtually no antibody response to Pgp3 or CT694, strongly suggesting a lack of Ct transmission, supported by the lack of clinical signs and infection. With regards to the few young children who have detectable levels of antibodies (3.5%), the authors suggest that these may be children who have acquired ocular or respiratory Ctinfection at birth from a mother with genital Ct infection but also that the previously determined specificity of the assay is 96-98% and thus these may be false positives. The authors acknowledged that their study represents only one community with a small sample size and suggest that additional studies be done in other post-MDA regions before their findings can be generalised. An additional limitation of the study was the lack of pre-MDA serology data. These data would assist in determining antibody longevity and how titres change due to repeated exposure. However, as the scale of trachoma-intervention programmes has rapidly increased in recent years, few endemicpopulations are likely to have collected pre-MDA serological data; this should be considered for future intervention activities.

A trachoma study by Pant and collaborators examined the seroprevalence of anti-Ct antibodies from 68 children aged 1-9 years in three post-MDA communities in Nepal [100] (Table 2.1). Following three rounds of MDA in 2008-2010, the prevalence of TF remained relatively high in Achham district, and an additional round of MDA was carried out in 2014. The three villages were selected on their accessibility and convenience. In these three communities, participating children had their eyes examined for clinical signs of trachoma, an ocular swab was collected for NAAT and DBS collected. No clinical disease was detected, nor was any infection detected using PCR. Only one sample tested

positive for antibodies against Pgp3; none were positive for antibodies against CT694. Although it would not be surprising to see a low level of prevalence in these three communities, knowing that the prevalence of TF was above 5% as recently as two years before the study, and that serology measures cumulative exposure to Ct infection, it seems that unlikely that only 1 child would have antibodies against Ct. No mention is made of the specificity of the assay. One possible explanation for this possible under-estimation of seroprevalence may be the threshold set for seropositivity. This threshold was set against 'negative' American serum samples and 'positive' Tanzanian DBS (outlined in [99]). If the baseline antibody level of the Tanzanian samples is greater than the baseline level of Nepalese samples – as seen in the original MBA study looking at data from Haiti and the USA – the Tanzanian threshold may not be appropriate for the Achham samples and positive samples may have been misclassified [184], highlighting the need for population-specific thresholds. The authors noted that the sample size is very small and thus the results should not be generalised but failed to address any concerns about sensitivity or specificity.

A second, larger study [98] was conducted in Nepal by Zambrano and colleagues who looked at the prevalence of TF, infection and anti-Ct antibodies in children. They used the new WHO guidelines which recommend a population-based prevalence survey at least 2 years post-MDA measuring both TF and TT [185] (Table 2.1). The study took place in two districts which were at least two years post-MDA. In low prevalence settings, the specificity of TF diagnosis is decreased, due to potential misgrading and the fact that follicular disease may have different aetiology [98]. It is thought that additional data, for example a test for infection or a test for antibodies against Ct, may provide additional evidence of elimination [185]. A random sampling of 15 clusters in two districts was selected in which 50 children aged 1 - 9 years had their eyes examined (n=2021). Selected children aged 1 - 4 and 9 years (n=794) had ocular swabs collected for infection testing and DBS collected for anti-Pgp3 IgG testing using the in-house MBA [99]. The prevalence of TF in surveyed children in both districts was $\leq 0.2\%$. Only one case of infection was detected. The data from this study suggest there was no ongoing transmission of ocular Ct infection in the two districts, with the low age-specific distribution suggesting the absence of exposure to Ct. The prevalence of anti-Ct antibodies was <5% and is similar to levels seen in a Tanzanian community where there was no infection and only low levels of trachoma (6.5% in 1-9 year olds) [27]. This study adds to the evidence for using serology as additional evidence of elimination.

A recent study in the South Pacific by Cocks and colleagues showed the potential for integrating surveys for NTDs; in particular yaws and trachoma, both of which are endemic in the region [72] (Table 2.1). A population-based survey was conducted in the Western Division of Fiji to measure the prevalence of yaws (infection with *Treponema pallidum* subsp. *pertenue*) and trachoma. A total of 30 villages were selected randomly based on probability proportional to size, then 30 households in each village were selected. All children aged 1 – 14 years (n=607) in the selected households were invited to participate. Each child was examined for signs of yaws, and 593 children had a DBS collected to test for antibodies against T. pallidum and Ct. Samples were tested using the T. pallidum particle agglutination test and a Pgp3 ELISA [103] to detect antibodies against T. pallidum and Ct, respectively. No children were found to have yaws, nor were any children positive for antibodies against T. pallidum. Although children were not examined for signs of trachoma in this survey, a previous study found there to be a low prevalence (2.8%) of active trachoma in Western Division [186]. The current study found a seroprevalence of 20.9% in surveyed children. There was only a moderate increase in seropositivity with age, and many 1-year old children were already seropositive, suggesting that seroprevalence may reflect transmission in the birth canal. In such a situation, it would be useful to compare serological results with the prevalence of genital Ct infection as it has been previously noted that the prevalence of genital Ct-infections is high in Fiji [187]. This study shows that trachoma and yaws are not significant health problems in the region studied, though further studies are required to determine the prevalence of genital chlamydia.

To measure the longevity of the immune response, West et al. collected DBS from children aged 1 – 9 years in 52 communities in the Kongwa district of Tanzania [65] at two time points (Table 2.1). Kongwa was previously considered hyperendemic for trachoma, but following MDA, the prevalence of TF was <10% in 2013 [188]. At baseline, participating children had their eyes examined for signs of trachoma, swabs collected for infection testing and a DBS collected for antibody testing. One year later, additional DBS were collected; a total of 2,111 children had DBS at both time points. At baseline, the prevalence of TF was 5.2%, the prevalence of ocular Ct infection was 4.6% and 31.1% of children had antibodies against Pgp3, as measured using MBA. One year later, seroprevalence had increased to 36.8%. Of the children positive at baseline, 42 seroreverted to negative after one year, while of those negative at baseline, 143 seroconverted to positive. At baseline, the seroreverters had lower average MFI-Bkgd measurements than those who were remained positive at follow-up; at follow-up the seroreverters had significantly higher MFI-Bkgd measurements than those who were seronegative at both time points were more likely to be 1- 3 years old, while those who were seropositive at both time points were more likely to be

aged 7-9 years, suggesting some stability in seropositivity for at least one year in low-prevalence communities. The authors suggested that the lack of age-specific increase in the prevalence of antibodies that is typically seen in low-endemic areas may be partially due to seroreversion rather than a lack of infection.

Serology has been used in combination with ocular examination, photographic assessment and droplet digital PCR to re-assess evidence of on-going transmission of ocular Ct in two provinces (Temotu and Rennell & Bellona) in the Solomon Islands [189] (Table 2.1). An initial population-based prevalence survey found the prevalence of TF to be 26.1% in children 1-9 years old, although the prevalence of ocular Ct infection was very low (1.3% in 1-9 year olds) as was TI (0.2% in 1-9 year olds) and TT (0.1% in participants ≥15 years old) [190]; this was dissimilar what was seen in Kiribati, another South Pacific nation considered endemic for trachoma [191], and led researchers to question the underlying biology of TF in the Solomon Islands. Villages which had undergone mapping at baseline were e-surveyed: participants of all ages underwent ocular examination, had photographs taken of the everted right tarsal conjunctiva and dried blood spots were collected. Children aged 1-9 years had swabs taken of the everted right tarsal. Six months post-MDA, the prevalence of TF was 14.2%, the prevalence of infection remained low (1.8%), both in 1-9-year-old children and seroprevalence was 42.2% overall. Upon further analysis, ELISA results showed that an equal proportion (~80%) of TF-positive and TF-negative children lacked antibodies against Pgp3, unlike in other countries, where greater seropositivity was seen in TF-positive children, suggesting that trachoma was likely not the cause of the follicles. Additionally, the greatest increase in seroprevalence was seen in 16-25-year olds, suggesting sexually-acquired genital Ct infections. The few cases of conjunctival scarring detected in children were not typical of trachomatous scarring and were detected in children without any antibodies against Pgp3. The combined results of this study suggest that while there may be some Ct infection, likely both genital chlamydia and a small amount of ocular chlamydia, most of the cases of TF are likely due to an infection other than Ct. This study assessed age-specific infection prevalence, seroprevalence and clinical results together across the full age range of the population to provide further clarity as to what may be causing TF in this population.

Summary of Seroprevalence Studies for Ocular Chlamydia

Although only a handful of trachoma serology studies have been published thus far, there is clear development of the technique and its potential to measure the impact of elimination programmes. The majority of studies published to-date has been conducted using an in-house MBA. Use of a MBA

allows the assay to be expanded to include antigens from numerous infections and diseases, which could be used to monitor seroprevalence across programmes [99]. However, it has been noted that the cost of such technology may prevent it from being adopted in trachoma-endemic countries [97]. Enzyme-linked immunoassays (ELISA) or lateral flow assays may offer a more practical solution, and feasibility is currently being explored [26,103,142,145]. The manner in which an appropriate threshold is set may also present a problem and is not exclusive to trachoma serology. There is a lack of an appropriate reference standard and experts have yet to agree as to what samples may constitute a true positive or a true negative reference, with regards to infection and disease history. Trachoma serological studies to-date have been led by the Centres for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) and have predominantly used samples from Tanzanian populations. The original study shows that the measured median antibody levels can vary between populations, particularly between endemic and non-endemic populations. This should be taken into account when assays are used to measure seroprevalence in other populations as thresholds set for one population may overor under-estimate the seroprevalence in different populations. Population-specific thresholds should be set using in-country samples rather than relying on non-endemic samples.

2.6.2 Genital Ct infection

In the section below, we have chosen to focus on the unique features of each study, which highlight the development of serology and its interpretation in studies focusing on genital chlamydia infection. We have included the demographic information and seroprevalence of each study in Table 2.3.

Early chlamydial serological studies were primarily concerned with determining the rate of exposure to 'chlamydial agents' [88]. Early diagnostic studies used cell-culturing systems [192], which required significant technical skill and expertise. The development of a MIF assay with whole EBs as antigen [44,193] was lauded as being sensitive, simple and much faster than traditional culture methods. It was used by Treharne and colleagues in a survey of serum samples from healthy blood donors from London (UK) which were screened for anti-chlamydial IgG and IgM [88] (Table 2.3). The MIF previously developed [39,194] divided 'subgroup A Chlamydia' into 14 subgroups. The modified protocol measured antibodies against four subgroups of chlamydia: serotypes responsible for i) hyperendemic trachoma, ii)"paratrachoma" [infection with *C. pneumoniae*], iii) LGV, and iv) human chlamydia infections "arising from birds or other animals" [44] [infection with *C. psittaci*]. The authors suggest that MIF positivity in women may correspond better with cell culturing than in men; however, the authors rightly pointed out the insensitivity of cell culture systems used in isolating chlamydia.

In a retrospective study in Helsinki, Puolakkainen et al. [89] used CF to screen serum samples from 60,000 patients of all ages with suspected viral infections for antibodies against primarily viral antigens, but also included group-specific CF antigen from Ct, serovar D (Table 2.3). It is important to note that the CF test detects antibodies against both *C. psittaci* and Cp as well as *C. trachomatis*. The authors also noted that the sensitivity of the CF assay is very much dependent on antibody titre, such that Ct infections seldom elicit a sufficiently strong antigenic response. The authors concluded that many of the seropositive patients had symptoms matching psittacosis, rather than genital chlamydia.

A study by Jonsson and colleagues in Sweden was conducted to assess the prevalence of Ct using culture and serology and their relationship with possible risk factors [90] (Table 2.3). The population-based study included the complete 19-, 21-, 23- and 25-year old cohorts of women registered in the

catchment area of Ålidhem health centre in Sweden. Participating women (n=529) completed a selfadministered questionnaire and had cervical and urethral specimens collected for culturing. Cultures were considered positive if cytoplasmic inclusion bodies were detected. Sera were collected from participants and MIF was used to detect antibodies against Cp, C. psittaci, and Ct. Only 15 women (2.8%) were culture-positive for Ct-infection, nine (60%) were also seropositive for antibodies against Ct. Overall, 130 women (24.6%) were seropositive for IgG against Ct. Antibodies against Cp were detected in 207 women (39.1%). There was no statistically significant difference in the prevalence of women with antibodies against both Ct and Cp compared to those with antibodies against only Ct (X^2 =2.65, p-value=0.1034). Of those women who were aware of a previous Ct infection, 60% were seropositive, compared to 17% seropositivity in women who were unaware of previous Ct infection. Commenting on the fact that only 60% of women were aware of a previous infection or a current infection, the authors stated that the exact conditions required for seroconversion following infection are unknown; nor is it known how long a detectable antibody response persists. The authors also commented on the specificity of MIF, having tested samples against three Chlamydia species. The authors felt that MIF was able to distinguish between antibodies against Ct and Cp without cross-reacting. The authors also found that reported PID was correlated with Ct-seropositivity. These findings agree with other studies [195–199] and suggest a possible role for Ct antibodies in determining the aetiology of female infertility.

As part of a study into the prevalence of sexually transmitted diseases in Tamil Nadu, India, a population-based, probability proportional to size cluster survey was undertaken [200] (Table 2.3). Households in three districts were selected, with adults, both men and women, between 15-45 years invited to participate. Urine and blood samples were collected for PCR and IgM ELISA testing, respectively. A total of 1,849 samples were collected: 1,066 from females and 783 males. Sera were tested using a commercial IgM ELISA [201] with an overall seroprevalence of 2.4%. The seroprevalence in women was significantly higher (3.3%) than seroprevalence in men (1.3%) (X², p<0.05). PCR positivity was lower, with only 16 of the 1,444 urine samples testing positive. The authors did not compare the proportion of PCR-positives to those that are seropositive, stating only that for participants in which results from the two tests are not concordant, this may be because infection have been resolved in a 'substantial portion' of IgM positive cases, or that infection had ascended to the upper genital tract. However, IgM is not a suitable marker for infection as the conditions under which seroconversion occurs or for how long IgM antibodies persist remain unclear.

A simple seroprevalence study was undertaken by Satpathy et al. to determine the prevalence of serovar-specific antibodies against *Chlamydia* in healthy male blood donors (n=844) in Delhi, India [92] (Table 2.3). Sera from 844 male blood donors were assayed using MIF to detect antibodies against pooled EBs from Ct (serovars A-C, D-K, L1-L3), *C. psittaci* and Cp. The authors state that antibodies against Ct, Cp, *C. psittaci* and *C. pecorum* are highly cross-reactive, with 47% of samples positive for antibodies against Ct serotypes A-C cross-reacting, 14% of samples positive for antibodies against Cp cross-reacting and 33% of samples positive for antibodies against *C. psittaci* cross-reacting. With many adolescents being infected with Cp as respiratory infections, screening of normal sera showed high positivity for antibodies against *Chlamydia* species, especially Cp [56]. The authors admitted that the high level of cross-reactivity between serovars and species made interpreting results for individual antigen groups challenging.

In Denmark, women requesting abortion are tested for the presence of Ct and treated if positive. Baczynska and collaborators took the opportunity to test women requesting abortion to determine the prevalence of *Mycoplasma genitalium* (MG), *M. hominis* and Ct using culture and PCR, as well as the prevalence of antibodies against these bacteria using a MOMP-specific commercial ELISA (Medac) [93] (Table 2.3). Endocervical swabs were collected for culturing *M. hominis*, and PCR detection of *M. hominis* [202], *M. genitalium* [203] and Ct. The authors compared the prevalence of Ct infection with the historical prevalence of infection (8-10%) [204] and noted that the apparent increase in prevalence may have been due to a true rise in prevalence or the use of improved diagnostic techniques. There was poor correlation between the detection of bacteria and the presence of specific antibodies. The authors suggested that PCR-positive/serology-negative women may have been sampled before IgG antibodies could be produced, whilst PCR-negative/serologypositive women are likely to have experienced previous infection.

To establish the prevalence of anti-Ct IgM and IgA in pregnant women in Venezuela, De Freitas and colleagues collected serum samples from 84 pregnant women, aged 14-43 years, attending University Hospital "Antonio Patricio de Alcalá" in Cumaná, Estado Sucre [94] (Table 2.3). A commercial ELISA assay (Diagnostic Automation INC) was used to detect IgA and IgM antibodies against a proprietary "LGV type 2 broadly reacting antigen" [205]. The authors stated that IgM is indicative of active, current infection, whilst IgA is indicative of early infection or secondary

infection. However, no samples were collected for culturing or NAAT, to confirm infection. Most patients, including those with either IgM or IgA, were asymptomatic. The authors found the prevalence of both antibodies to be greater in younger women (\leq 24 years of age).

A retrospective population-based cross-sectional survey was conducted in England by Horner et al., in which 4,732 serum samples were assayed with an in-house IgG-specific Pgp3 ELISA [102] (Table 2.3). The purpose of the study was to determine how seroprevalence of anti-Pgp3 antibodies changed over time and with age. Unlinked residual sera submitted to laboratories in England for routine microbiological or biochemical investigations were tested; sera known to have been collected from GUM clinics were excluded. Sera were limited to those collected between 1993 and 2010 from women aged 17-24 years. Samples were tested for anti-Pgp3 IgG. The overall seroprevalence was 17.5%. Seroprevalence increased with age and with time, between 1993 and 2002. In more recent years, age-standardised seroprevalence decreased in 17-22 year olds although this was only statistically significant in 20-22 year olds; there was no consistent trend in seroprevalence for 23-24 years olds in this time period. This may suggest that exposure to antibodyinducing infection may have declined in the latter years, potentially in response to public health activities promoting increased screening for Ct [206] and safer sexual health practices [207].

In response to rising rates of reported genital Ct infection in the Netherlands, van Aar and colleagues explored the prevalence of IgG against Ct in the general population in 1996 and 2007 using samples from large population-based serum banks (Table 2.3). This study covered a time when enhanced efforts were undertaken to reduce the prevalence of genital infection [95]. Samples were used from cross-sectional population-based serosurveillance and were tested for IgG against a synthetic peptide from the immunodominant region of MOMP using a commercial ELISA (Medac). When compared to MIF, the sensitivity and specificity were 71.4% and 97.3%, respectively. A total of 3,716 samples were tested: 1,579 from 1996 and 1,597 from 2007. In women, the seroprevalence increased with age, but not in men. In the younger women (15–24 years), the seroprevalence increased over time; for the older age group (25–39 years), the seroprevalence decreased. The authors noted the difficulty in interpreting results over time, as it is not possible to determine the precise time span between often-asymptomatic Ct infection and testing. Based on their findings, the authors hypothesised that anti-Ct antibodies may persist longer in women than in men, which may be due to a stronger immune response in the upper genital tract, in agreement with previous results

from Geisler et al. [208].

Ishak et al. undertook a retrospective study of serum samples from 1710 individuals in Brazil to determine the seroprevalence of antibodies against Ct [96] (Table 2.3). Samples were randomly selected from previous investigations at the Virus Laboratory of the Universidade Federal do Pará, which was established to determine the frequency of infectious agents in the Brazilian population. The samples had been collected from both urban and rural populations, including patients with respiratory illnesses, myocardial infarctions, villagers of Afro-descendant communities and indigenous groups; no further demographic information such as age or gender was included. A commercial indirect immunofluorescence assay (IIF; BioMerieux) was used to detect IgG and IgM against Ct serotype L₂. Positive IIF samples were then tested for specific IgG at a dilution of 1:512. Samples positive for IgG at 1:512 were tested for specific IgM. A portion of the samples was tested with MIF against Cp and the serovars of Ct, including A, B, Ba, and C (associated with ocular Ct infection); D, E, F, G, H, I, J and K (associated with genital infection); and L1, L2 and L3 (associated with lymphogranuloma venereum [67]. Samples that tested positive against more than one serovar were serially titrated as the serovar with the highest titre is assumed to have caused the most recent infection. The authors believed the prevalence of antibodies against serotype A (15/237, 6.3%), a strain associated with trachoma, is an indication of endemic trachoma in the Amazon region of Brazil, dating back several centuries [209] and that trachoma has spread to urban and other nonurban populations, despite a lack of patients with conjunctivitis or any other ocular disease resembling trachoma.

Woodhall and colleagues used anonymised sera from a nationally representative health survey to measure the impact of a national programme of opportunistic screening for Ct in England [59] (Table 2.3). Serum samples were collected as part of the Health Survey for England [22], which is a nationally representative health and lifestyle survey. Sera from participants aged 16-44 were tested using two in-house assays—an indirect ELISA and a double antigen "sandwich" ELISA to detect Pgp3-specific IgG [57]. They found lower seroprevalence in men possibly due to lower sensitivity, as previously noted in [57]. Seroprevalence increased with age, peaking in 30-34 year old women and in 35-39 year old men. These results may be comparable to those in [60], as both studies used the same in-house Pgp3-specific ELISA; however, the populations represented in each study are different.

Using stored sera from a New Zealand birth cohort, an in-house double antigen (sandwich) Pgp3specific ELISA was used by Horner and collaborators to measure IgG levels in participants at ages 26, 32 and 38 years [60] (Table 2.3). The authors developed a double-antigen ELISA and measured the sensitivity and specificity against a previously used indirect ELISA [57], with sensitivity being defined as the proportion of individuals with past infections identified as positive by the assay [210]. The sensitivity was found to be 82.9% in samples from women who were NAAT-positive for Ct-infection at least one month before sample collection and 42.6% in men. Specificity was determined using NAAT-negative paediatric sera and was 97.8%. The assay was used to test stored serum samples from a New Zealand birth cohort study that had also collected information on self-reported Ct infection and sexual behaviour [211]. The double-antigen ELISA identified 1.75 times more the number of self-reported Ct cases than the previous indirect ELISA. IgG against Pgp3 persisted in most men (83.8%) and women (96.5%) who did not report a subsequent Ct diagnosis. The authors highlight the relatively high seroprevalence in women and men who did not report ever having been diagnosed with Ct infection, indicating that many infections were either undiagnosed or unreported.

These samples were re-analysed using a Pgp3-specific double-antigen sandwich ELISA by Righarts et al. [212], with increased sensitivity compared to the indirect ELISA [60] (Table 2.3). In both women and men, incidence rates increased up to age 26 years, then decreased; seroprevalence increased with age. Incidence of chlamydia, measured either through self-reported diagnosis or serology, increased with number of sexual partners. In multivariate analysis, higher education was protective in women, while same-sex contact was found to be protective in males. This analysis showed that by age 38 years, 38.1% of women and 16.7% of men had ever self-reported a chlamydia diagnosis. Of these self-reported diagnoses, 80.0% of women and 29.0% of men had seroconverted by this age, which may suggest that males are less likely to mount an immunological response to Ct infection and also support the noted gender differences in the sensitivity of the assay as previously identified in [60].

MIF serology has been used to characterise past exposure to genital Ct infection and its association with developing uterine fibroids [213] (Table 2.3). Ct infection can stimulate an inflammatory immune response, which may lead to tissue repair and regeneration potentially causing uterine fibrosis [214,215]. African- American women participating in a prospective cohort study of fibroid development underwent transvaginal ultrasound and provided self-reported data and serum samples. Serum samples were tested using MIF for antibodies against whole EBs; researchers found seropositivity of 57%. In this study, seropositive women were more likely to be less educated,

parous, more likely to have ever smoked, to be heavier alcohol drinkers, to have an increased number of sexual partners, to have been younger at first sexual encounter and to have used depot medroxyprogesterone acetate (Depo-provera) as a method of birth control. Both primary (odds ratio=0.68) and multivariate analysis, adjusting for age (adjusted odds ratio=0.80), showed an inverse association between Ct seropositivity and fibroid prevalence in this population of African-American women. This is contrary to findings in previous studies [216,217]; however, these studies looked at older women. The authors suggest that bacterial infection can lead to regression of some tumour types [218] either by enhancing anti-tumour effects or by enhancing immune surveillance, particularly if infection coincided with fibroid progression. The authors suggest further research using animal models is required to elucidate the association between genital chlamydia infection and uterine fibrosis.

Frisse and collaborators used serology to ascertain the validity of self-reported Ct infection in a study of 409 English- or Spanish-speaking women between the ages of 18-35 years in the United States of America who were stopping contraceptives to attempt pregnancy [219] (Table 2.3). At baseline, a questionnaire was completed, a clinical examination was performed, and samples were collected for NAAT testing of NG, Ct, Trichomonas vaginalis (TV) and MG; blood samples were collected for serological testing for antibodies against Ct, TV and MG. As part of the medical questionnaire, participants were asked if they had ever been diagnosed by a health care professional as having had genital chlamydia. Blood samples were assayed using the modified MIF protocol [220]. Participants with either a serologically-confirmed or self-reported genital chlamydia were more likely to be younger, parous, non-white, unmarried, of lower socio-economic or educational level, uninsured, current drug user and former user of implant or Depo-Provera for contraception. There was only moderate agreement between self-reported Ct infection and seropositivity: 26% of participants reported a history of Ct infection, whereas 36% of participants were seropositive for antibodies against Ct. When comparing reported Ct infection to serological positivity, sensitivity was 52.1%, while specificity of self-reported infection to serology was 87.8%. Self-reporting was not found to be a valid marker of previous Ct infection, with only a moderate level of agreement between self-report and serology (Cohen's kappa=0.42, p<0.001). The authors emphasized the need for assays with high validity for clinical assessment.

Summary of Seroprevalence Studies for Genital Chlamydia

From the surveys listed in the above section, it is clear that serological techniques have advanced and become more sensitive and specific. Due to the array of assays and antigens used, as well as

antibodies detected, it is not possible to compare results between most of the studies. MOMP and Pgp3 were the most common antigens, with IgG being the most common antibody detected. ELISAs, either commercially available or in-house, appear to be the assay of choice in the most recent studies, as they are robust, objective and are relatively high-throughput and can be automated. No multi-antigen assays were used in the studies described here, though they are currently being explored both with Ct-specific antigens and with a panel of antigens for STIs (T. Waterboer, personal communication). Numerous studies noted that participants were seropositive while not being aware of any prior Ct infections [60,90,219], and when participants of both genders were included, seroprevalence was higher in women than in men [88,200,212], which may be a result of greater sensitivity of the assay in women than in men [60,144,212] or that women experience a stronger immune reaction than men [95,212]. These could be further investigated by looking directly at the antibody levels present in males and females, rather than only seropositivity.

Table 2.3. Summary of genital Ct studies

Study	Location	Population (n)	Sample	Assay	Antigen	Immunoglobulin	Seropositivity
Darougar et al.,	London, UK	Healthy female	Serum	modified MIF	whole EBs: Ct	lgG- females	3.3% (1.4-7.6)
1980 [88]		(n=150) and male			serovars D-K	IgG- males	0.67% (0.12-3.7)
		(n=150) blood donors				IgM- females	0.67% (0.12-3.7)
						lgM- males	0% (0-2.5)
Puolakkainen et	Helsinki, Finland	Hospital patients of all	Serum	CF	Lipopolysacchari	complement	0.70% (0.64-
al. , 1987 [89]		ages with suspected			de		0.77)
		viral infections					
		(n=60,000)					
Jonsson et al.,	Ålidhem, Sweden	19-, 21-, 23- and 25-	Cervical and	MIF	whole EBs: Ct	lgG	22.4% (19.2-
1995 [90]		year old cohorts of	urethral		serovars D-K		26.0)
		women (n=529)	samples for				
			culturing;				
			serum				
Satpathy el al,	Delhi, India	Healthy male blood	Serum	MIF	EBs- Ct serovars	lgG	4.0% (2.9-5.6)
2001 [92]		donors (n=844)			A-C		
					EBs-Ct serovars		8.5% (6,8-10.7)
					D-K		
					EBs- Ct serovars		not specified
					L1-L3		
					EBs- Cp		42.8% (39.5-
							46.1)

Joyee et al.,	Tamil Nadu, India	Females (n=1,066)	Urine	ELISA	Inactivated EB	IgM-females	3.3% (2.4-4.5)
2004 [200]		and males (n=783)	samples for		Ct antigen		
		aged 15-45 years, for	PCR, blood				
		a major study on	samples for			IgM-males	1.3% (0.7-2.3)
		community	serology				
		prevalence of sexually					
		transmitted diseases					
		(n=1849)					
Baczynska et	Denmark	Women requesting	Swabs to	ELISA	МОМР	lgG	10.0% (5.5-17.4)
al., 2008 [93]		abortion (n=102, 100	detect				
		women tested for	infection				
		antibodies)	(PCR); serum				
Horner et al.,	England	Unlinked residual	Residual sera	in-house ELISA	Pgp3	lgG	17.5% (16.4-
2013 [102]		samples from women,	submitted to				18.6)
		from Public Health	laboratories				
		England's Sero-	in England				
		Epidemiology Unit	for routine				
		collection; samples	microbiologi				
		from 1993-2010	cal or				
		(n=4,732)	biochemical				
			investigation				
			s				
de Freitas et al.,	Cumaná, Estado	Pregnant women, 14-	Serum			lgM	65.5% (54.8-
2006 [94]	Sucre, Venezuela	43 years old attending					74.8)

		University Hospital		Diagnostic	"LGV type 2	IgA	19.1% (12.1-
		"Antonio Patricio de		Automation	broadly reacting		28.7)
		Alcalá" (n=84)		INC ELISA	antigen" [94]		
van Aar et al.,	Netherlands	Men and women 15-	Serum	Medac	synthetic	lgG-men (1996)	5.2% (3.8-6.9)
2014 [95]		39 years old		quantitative	peptide from		
		participating in two		CT IgG ELISA	МОМР	lgG-women	11.1% (9.2-13.6)
		population-based				(1996)	
		studies in 1996 and				lgG- men (2007)	6.2% (4.7-8.2)
		2007; the 2007 study					
		oversampled in				IgG- women	8.5% (6.8-10.6)
		migrants and low				(2007)	
		immunisation					
		communities					
Ishak et al.,	Amazon region of	Blood samples of	Blood	immunofluore	"serotype L2 of	lgG	50.2% (47.9-
2015 [96]	Brazil	individuals from ten		scence assay	Ct"		52.6)
		human population		(Biomerieux)			
		groups (n=1,710; 237		MIF	EB	lgG	8.7% (6.9-10.9)
		tested with MIF)			EB	lgM	2.6% (1.6-3.7)
Woodhall et al.,	England	Nationally-	Residual	in-house	Pgp3	lgG -women	24.4% (22.0-
2016 [144]		representative,	blood	ELISAs-		(2010/2012)	27.1)
		population-based		indirect and			
		Health Survey for		confirmatory,			

		England- men		sandwich		lgG- men	13.9% (11.8-
		(n=1,119) and women		ELISA		(2010/2012)	16.2)
		(n=1,402) aged 16-44					
		2010-2012; samples					
		from women aged 16-					
		44 who participated in					
		previous years (1994-					
		2012) (n=3,361)					
Horner et al.,	Dunedin, NZ	Male and female	Stored	in-house	Pgp3	IgG- females	24.1% (20.2-
2016 [60]		participants in the	serum	sandwich			28.5)
		Dunedin		ELISA			
		Multidisciplinary					
		Health and				lgG- males	10.7% (8.1-13.9)
		Development Study;					
		samples collected at					
		26, 32 and 38 years of					
		age (n=1,307)					
Righarts et al.,	Dunedin, NZ	Male (n= 448) and	Stored	Double-	Pgp3	IgG- females (38	26.8% (22.7-
2017 [212]		female (n=440)	serum	antigen		years)	31.1)
		participants in the		sandwich			
		Dunedin		ELISA			
		Multidisciplinary				IgG- males (38	13.1% (10.1-
		Health and				years)	16.6)
		Health and				years)	16.6)

		Development Study at					
		age 38					
	D. 1. 1100						57.00/ (5.4.7
Moore et al.,	Detroit, USA	African-American	Serum	MIF	Whole EBs	IgG	57.2% (54.7-
2017 [213]		females, aged 23-34					59.6)
		years, participating in					
		the SELF study					
		[221](n=1,587)					
Frisse et al.,	USA	English- or Spanish-	Blood	Modified MIF	Whole EBs	"anti- human	35.7% (31.2-
2017 [219]		speaking women,	sample	[220]		globulin"	40.5)
		aged 16-35,					
		discontinuing					
		contraceptive, with					
		male partners and no					
		known fertility					
		problems (n=409)					

2.7 Discussion

Currently, several in-house and commercial assays exist for detecting antibodies against Ct. Although many commonly detect antibodies against Pgp3, assays are also available for detecting antibodies against MOMP and CT694. Assays also exist in a variety of forms: ELISAs, lateral flow assays and MBA to detect IgG, IgA and IgM. MIF is considered to have fallen out of favour and the summary above shows studies with conflicting results regarding cross-reactivity between Ct and Cp [90,92]. To-date, there has been little head-to-head comparison of the many assays, though this has been identified as a research priority [I. Toskin, personal communication]. There is a need for a head-to-head comparison of assays using a common set of serum standards to establish appropriate thresholds, sensitivity and specificity in a diverse array of patient groups, both for trachoma as well as genital chlamydia. The intended use of the assay will also dictate the required sensitivity and specificity. For example, assays with a higher threshold will likely be more specific and have a higher positive predictive value (PPV), which is desirable in post-intervention trachoma settings as over-estimating seropositivity may lead to continued, unnecessary, MDA efforts. However, a test used to screen for the sequelae of genital Ct infection may be more sensitive to effectively determine patients in need of further diagnostics.

The setting and use of the assay should be considered. For example, a Pgp3-based ELISA may be suitable for serosurveillance of anti-Ct antibodies to determine the cumulative incidence of genital Ct infections or as a proxy measure of the FoI in trachoma studies, whereas a multiplexed assay detecting antibodies against several immunogenic antigens would be useful in determining the risk of scarring sequelae, either of the tarsal conjunctiva or of the upper genital tract.

Some of these issues regarding assay selection are highlighted in Figure 2.8.



Figure 2.8. Factors to consider when selecting an assay to detect antibodies against *C. trachomatis*.

Much work remains to define the role of serology in public health, but it is clear that it has many exciting and potential applications. Further research should be focused on standardising assays using well-characterised serum samples. It is likely that different assays will be required for different purposes: an assay with a high sensitivity may be most appropriate as a screening tool, whilst one with a higher specificity may be more useful for measuring the sequelae of Ct infection or for estimating seroprevalence thresholds in trachoma elimination settings. The identification of immunogenic peptides specific for different disease conditions must be explored and a collection of well-characterised sera from a variety of sources is essential for future assay development and comparison between assays. Collaboration between academic research groups and public health bodies will be required to achieve this.

From a practical point of view, future work should focus on what is feasible in a programmatic context for population-based studies, although this may result in using less-robust methods, namely, a single-antigen ELISA rather than a multiplex assay and internally referenced thresholds rather than those based on ROC curves referring to infection testing. This may also result in estimates of seroprevalence based on binary positive/negative, but research should continue to explore the possibilities using the numerical output from assays and explore changes in antibody levels across ages and over time following initial Ct infection.

For identifying antigens indicative of scarring sequelae, the use of proteomics to identify additional antigens is necessary. Multiplexed assays are likely to be of more use than single antigen assays, and the additional cost more acceptable in this context. Appropriate reference samples will be challenging due to the multiple aetiologies associated with scarring of the upper genital tract in women, and the invasive nature of current diagnostic assays.

The production of a target product profile would help to guide further assay developments or refinements, while the development of a serum bank would facilitate comparison between assays and standardise assay evaluation. It is now up to international leaders in serology and chlamydia research to press for action.

2.8 References

- Workowski K, Berman S. Sexually Transmitted Diseases Treatment Guidelines, 2010. MMWR. 2009;5959.
- 2. Beatty WL, Morrison RP, Byrne GI. Persistent chlamydiae: from cell culture to a paradigm for chlamydial pathogenesis. Microbiol Rev. 1994;58: 686–99.
- Persson K. The role of serology, antibiotic susceptibility testing and serovar determination in genital chlamydial infections. Best Pract Res Clin Obstet Gynaecol. England; 2002;16: 801– 814. doi:10.1053/beog.2002.0321
- 4. World Health Organization. WHO Alliance for the Global Elimination of Blinding Trachoma by the year 2020. World Heal Organ Wkly Epidemiol Rec. 2014;89: 421–428.
- Weström L, Joesoef R, Reynolds G, Hagdu A, Thompson SE. Pelvic inflammatory disease and fertility. A cohort study of 1,844 women with laparoscopically verified disease and 657 control women with normal laparoscopic results. Sex Transm Dis. 19: 185–92.
- Hillis SD, Joesoef R, Marchbanks PA, Wasserheit JN, Cates W, Westrom L. Delayed care of pelvic inflammatory disease as a risk factor for impaired fertility. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 1993;168: 1503–9.
- Burton MJ, Bowman RJC, Faal H, Aryee EAN, Ikumapayi UN, Alexander NDE, et al. The longterm natural history of trachomatous trichiasis in the Gambia. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci. 2006;47: 847–52.
- Mabey DC, Bailey RL, Ward ME, Whittle HC. A longitudinal study of trachoma in a Gambian village: implications concerning the pathogenesis of chlamydial infection. Epidemiol Infect. 1992;108: 343–51.
- Carey AJ, Beagley KW. *Chlamydia trachomatis*, a hidden epidemic: effects on female reproduction and options for treatment. Am J Reprod Immunol. 2010;63: 576–86. doi:10.1111/j.1600-0897.2010.00819.x
- Redmond SM, Alexander-Kisslig K, Woodhall SC, Van Den Broek IVF, Van Bergen J, Ward H, et al. Genital chlamydia prevalence in Europe and Non-European high income countries: Systematic review and meta-analysis. PLoS One. 2015;10: 1–19. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0115753
- 11. Gallegos G, Ramos B, Santiso R, Goyanes V, Gos??lvez J, Fern??ndez JL. Sperm DNA fragmentation in infertile men with genitourinary infection by *Chlamydia trachomatis* and

Mycoplasma. Fertil Steril. 2008;90: 328-334. doi:10.1016/j.fertnstert.2007.06.035

- 12. Mabey DCW, Whittle HC. Genital and neonatal chlamydial infection in a trachoma endemic area. Lancet. 1982;320: 300–301. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(82)90273-2
- Taylor HR, Burton MJ, Haddad D, West S, Wright H. Trachoma. Lancet. 2014;6736. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(13)62182-0
- 14. Solomon AW, Zondervan M, Kuper H, Buchan JC, Mabey DC, Foster A. Trachoma control: A guide for programme managers. 2006.
- Butcher R, Sokana O, Jack K, Martin DL, Burton MJ, Solomon A, et al. Age-specific prevalence of anti-Pgp3 antibodies and severe conjunctival scarring in the Solomon Islands. bioRxiv. 2017; doi:10.1101/141135
- Solomon AW, Peeling RW, Foster A, Mabey DCW. Diagnosis and assessment of trachoma. Clin Microbiol Rev. 2004;17: 982–1011. doi:10.1128/CMR.17.4.982-1011.2004
- Price MJ, Ades AE, de Angelis D, Welton NJ, Macleod J, Turner K, et al. Incidence of *Chlamydia trachomatis* infection in women in England: two methods of estimation. Epidemiol Infect. 2014;142: 562–76. doi:10.1017/S0950268813001027
- BASHH Clinical Effectiveness Group. 2015 BASHH CEG guidance on tests for Sexually Transmitted Infections Asymptomatic patients. 2015.
- Adams EJ, Charlett A, Edmunds WJ, Hughes G. *Chlamydia trachomatis* in the United Kingdom: a systematic review and analysis of prevalence studies. Sex Transm Infect. 2004;80: 354–362. doi:10.1136/sti.2003.005454
- Fenton KA, Korovessis C, Johnson AM, McCadden A, McManus S, Wellings K, et al. Sexual behaviour in Britain: reported sexually transmitted infections and prevalent genital *Chlamydia trachomatis* infection. Lancet (London, England). Elsevier; 2001;358: 1851–4. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(01)06886-6
- 21. Woodhall SC, Nichols T, Alexander S, da Silva FC, Mercer CH, Ison C, et al. Can we use postal surveys with anonymous testing to monitor chlamydia prevalence in young women in England? Pilot study incorporating randomised controlled trial of recruitment methods. Sex Transm Infect. BMJ Publishing Group Ltd; 2015;91: 412–4. doi:10.1136/sextrans-2015-052067
- 22. Health Social Care Information Centre. Health Survey for England 2013. 2014.
- 23. Mercer CH, Tanton C, Prah P, Erens B, Sonnenberg P, Clifton S, et al. Changes in sexual

attitudes and lifestyles in Britain through the life course and over time: Findings from the National Surveys of Sexual Attitudes and Lifestyles (Natsal). Lancet. 2013;382: 1781–1794. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(13)62035-8

- 24. Nwokolo N, Dragoviv B, Patel S, Tong C, Barker G, RAdcliffe K. 2015 UK national guideline for the management of infection with *Chlamydia trachomatis*. 2015.
- Papp J, Schachter J, Gaydos C, Van Der Pol B. Recommendations for the Laboratory-Based Detection of *Chlamydia trachomatis* and *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* — 2014. Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2014;63: 1–19.
- Migchelsen SJ, Sepúlveda N, Martin DLDL, Cooley G, Gwyn S, Pickering H, et al. Serology reflects a decline in the prevalence of trachoma in two regions of The Gambia. Sci Rep. 2017;7: 15040. doi:10.1038/s41598-017-15056-7
- Martin DL, Bid R, Sandi F, Goodhew EB, Massae PA, Lasway A, et al. Serology for trachoma surveillance after cessation of mass drug administration. PLoS Negl Trop Dis. 2015;9: e0003555. doi:10.1371/journal.pntd.0003555
- Peeling RW, Bailey RL, Conway DJ, Holland MJ, Campbell AE, Jallow O, et al. Antibody response to the 60-kDa chlamydial heat-shock protein is associated with scarring trachoma. J Infect Dis. 1998;177: 256–9.
- Black CM. Current methods of laboratory diagnosis of *Chlamydia trachomatis* infections. Clin Microbiol Rev. UNITED STATES; 1997;10: 160–184.
- 30. Tuuminen T, Palomäki P, Paavonen J, Palomaki P, Paavonen J. The use of serologic tests for the diagnosis of chlamydial infections. J Microbiol Methods. NETHERLANDS; 2000;42: 265–279.
- Pinsent A, Blake IM, Basáñez MG, Gambhir M. Mathematical Modelling of Trachoma Transmission, Control and Elimination. Adv Parasitol. 2016;94: 1–48. doi:10.1016/bs.apar.2016.06.002
- 32. Bedson SP. The use of the complement-fixation reaction in the diagnosis of human psittacosis. Lancet. 1935;226: 1277–1280. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(00)47352-6
- Peeling RW, Brunham RC. Chlamydiae as pathogens: new species and new issues. Emerg Infect Dis. 1996;2: 307–319. doi:10.3201/eid0204.960406
- 34. Taylor HR. Trachoma A blinding scourge from the bronze age to the twenty-first century. 1st

ed. Victoria, Australia: Haddington Press; 2008.

- Conway D, Owen Caul E, Hull MRGR, Glazener CAMA, Hodgson J, Clarke SRKR, et al. Chlamydial serology in fertile and infertile women. Lancet. 1984;323: 191–193. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(84)92113-5
- Mitchell C, Prabhu M. Pelvic inflammatory disease: Current concepts in pathogenesis, diagnosis and treatment. Infectious Disease Clinics of North America. 2013. pp. 793–809. doi:10.1016/j.idc.2013.08.004
- Thomas K, Coughlin L, Mannion PT, Haddad NG. The value of *Chlamydia trachomatis* antibody testing as part of routine infertility investigations. Hum Reprod. ENGLAND; 2000;15: 1079–1082.
- Richmond SJ, Caul EO. Fluorescent Antibody Studies in Chlamydial Infections. J Clin Microbiol. American Society for Microbiology (ASM); 1994;1: 345–352.
- Wang SP, Grayston JT. Immunologic relationship between genital TRIC, lymphogranuloma venereum, and related organisms in a new microtiter indirect immunofluorescence test. Am J Ophthalmol. 1970;70: 367–74.
- Wang S-P, Grayston JT. Classification of TRIC and related strains with micro immunofluorescence. In: Nichols R, editor. Trachoma and related disorders caused by chlamydial agents. Amsterdam: Excerpta Medica; 1971. pp. 305–21.
- 41. Bébéar C, De Barbeyrac B. Genital *Chlamydia trachomatis* infections. Clin Microbiol Infect.
 2009;15: 4–10. doi:10.1111/j.1469-0691.2008.02647.x
- Wang S-P, Grayston JT. Local and systemic antibody response to trachoma eye infection in monkeys. In: Nichols R, editor. Trachoma and related disorders caused by chlamydial agents. Amsterdam: Excerpta Medica; 1971. pp. 217–32.
- Wang S-P, Grayston JT, Kuo C, Alexander E, Holmes KK. Serodiagnosis of *Chlamydia trachomatis* infection with the micro immunofluorescence test. In: Hobson D, Holmes KK, editors. Nongonococcal urethritis and related infections. Washington, DC: American Society for Microbiology (ASM); 1977. pp. 237–248.
- Treharne JD, Darougar S, Jones BR. Modification of the microimmunofluorescence test to provide a routine serodiagnostic test for chlamydial infection. J Clin Pathol. ENGLAND; 1977;30: 510–517.

- 45. Treharne JD, Darougar S, Simmons PD, Thin RN. Rapid diagnosis of chlamydial infection of the cervix. Br J Vener Dis. 1978;54: 403–408.
- 46. Kuo CC, Jackson LA, Campbell LA, Grayston JT. Chlamydia pneumoniae (TWAR). Clin Microbiol Rev. 1995;8: 451–61. doi:Review
- 47. Kern DG, Neill MA, Schachter J. A seroepidemiologic study of Chlamydia pneumoniae in Rhode Island. Evidence of serologic cross-reactivity. Chest. UNITED STATES; 1993;104: 208– 213.
- Clad A, Freidank H, Pltinnecke J, Jung B, Petersen EE. *Chlamydia trachomatis* species specific serology: ImmunoComb Chlamydia bivalent versus microimmunofluorescence (MIF). Infection. GERMANY: Springer-Verlag; 1994;22: 165–173. doi:10.1007/BF01716696
- Clad A, Freidank HM, Kunze M, Schnoeckel U, Hofmeier S, Flecken U, et al. Detection of seroconversion and persistence of *Chlamydia trachomatis* antibodies in five different serological tests. Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis. 2000;19: 932–937. doi:10.1007/s100960000397
- 50. Peeling RW, Wang SP, Grayston J. T, Blasi F, Boman J, Clad A. Chlamydia serology: interlaboratory variation in microimmunofluorescence results. In: Stephens RS, Byrne GI, Al E, editors. Chlamydial Infections Proceedings of the 9th International Symposium on Human Chlamydial Infections. Napa; 1998. pp. 159–162.
- 51. Evans RT, Taylor-Robinson D. Development and evaluation of an enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA), using chlamydial group antigen, to detect antibodies, to *Chlamydia trachomatis*. J Clin Pathol. 1982;35: 1122–8.
- Ladany S, Black CM, Farshy CE, Ossewaarde JM, Barnes RC. Enzyme immunoassay to determine exposure to Chlamydia pneumoniae (strain TWAR). J Clin Microbiol. 1989;27: 2778–2783.
- Ossewaarde JM, Manten JW, Hooft HJ, Hekker AC. An enzyme immunoassay to detect specific antibodies to protein and lipopolysaccharide antigens of *Chlamydia trachomatis*. J Immunol Methods. 1989;123: 293–8.
- 54. Ossewaarde JM, De Vries A, van den Hoek JA, van Loon AM. Enzyme Immunoassay with
 Enhanced Spedificity for Detection of Antibodies to *Chlamydia trachomatis*. JClinMicrobiol.
 1994;32: 1419–1426.
- 55. Numazaki K. Letter to the Editor Serological Tests for Chlamydia trachomatis Infections. Clin

Microbio Rev. 1998;11: 228-229.

- Forsey T, Darougar S, Treharne JDD. Prevalence in human beings of antibodies to Chlamydia
 IOL-207, an atypical strain of chlamydia. J Infect. 1986;12: 145–152. doi:10.1016/S0163-4453(86)93608-X
- 57. Wills GS, Horner PJ, Reynolds R, Johnson AM, Muir DA, Brown DW, et al. Pgp3 antibody enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay, a sensitive and specific assay for seroepidemiological analysis of *Chlamydia trachomatis* infection. Clin Vaccine Immunol. 2009;16: 835–43. doi:10.1128/CVI.00021-09
- 58. Steiner AZ, Diamond MP, Legro RS, Schlaff WD, Barnhart KT, Casson PR, et al. *Chlamydia trachomatis* immunoglobulin G3 seropositivity is a predictor of reproductive outcomes in infertile women with patent fallopian tubes. Fertil Steril. 2015;104: 1522–6. doi:10.1016/j.fertnstert.2015.08.022
- 59. Woodhall SC, Wills G, Horner P, Craig R, Mindell JS, Murphy G, et al. Assessment of changes in the burden of *Chlamydia trachomatis* infection in the context of widespread opportunistic chlamydia screening: Pgp3 seroprevalence measured in a series of nationally representative cross-sectional household surveys. Lancet. 2015;386: S10. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(15)00848-X
- Horner PJ, Wills GS, Righarts A, Vieira S. *Chlamydia trachomatis* Pgp3 Antibody Persists and Correlates with Self-Reported Infection and Behavioural Risks in a Blinded Cohort Study. PLoS One. 2016;14: 1–13. doi:10.6084/m9.figshare.2082721
- 61. Fulton RJ, McDade RL, Smith PL, Kienker LJ, Kettman JR. Advanced multiplexed analysis with the FlowMetrix system. Clin Chem. 1997;43: 1749–56.
- Lammie PJ, Moss DM, Brook Goodhew E, Hamlin K, Krolewiecki A, West SK, et al.
 Development of a new platform for neglected tropical disease surveillance. International Journal for Parasitology. 2012.
- 63. Solomon AW, Engels D, Bailey RL, Blake IM, Brooker S, Chen J-X, et al. A diagnostics platform for the integrated mapping, monitoring, and surveillance of neglected tropical diseases: rationale and target product profiles. PLoS Negl Trop Dis. Public Library of Science; 2012;6: e1746. doi:10.1371/journal.pntd.0001746
- 64. Goodhew EB, Morgan SMG, Switzer AJ, Munoz B, Dize L, Gaydos C, et al. Longitudinal analysis of antibody responses to trachoma antigens before and after mass drug administration. BMC

Infect Dis. England: BioMed Central Ltd.; 2014;14: 216. doi:10.1186/1471-2334-14-216

- 65. West SK, Munoz B, Kaur H, Dize L, Mkocha H, Gaydos CA, et al. Longitudinal change in the serology of antibodies to *Chlamydia trachomatis* pgp3 in children residing in a trachoma area. Sci Rep. England; 2018;8: 3520. doi:10.1038/s41598-018-21127-0
- 66. Martin DL, Wiegand R, Goodhew B, Lammie P, Black CM, West S, et al. Serological Measures of Trachoma Transmission Intensity. Sci Rep. 2015;5: 18532. doi:10.1038/srep18532
- 67. Wang J, Zhang Y, Lu C, Lei L, Yu P, Zhong G. A genome-wide profiling of the humoral immune response to *Chlamydia trachomatis* infection reveals vaccine candidate antigens expressed in humans. J Immunol. 2010;185: 1670–80. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1001240
- Li Z, Chen D, Zhong Y, Wang S, Zhong G. The chlamydial plasmid-encoded protein pgp3 is secreted into the cytosol of Chlamydia-infected cells. Infect Immun. 2008;76: 3415–28. doi:10.1128/IAI.01377-07
- Lu C, Holland MJ, Gong S, Peng B, Bailey RL, Mabey DW, et al. Genome-wide identification of *Chlamydia trachomatis* antigens associated with trachomatous trichiasis. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci. 2012;53: 2551–9. doi:10.1167/iovs.11-9212
- 70. Rodgers AK, Budrys NM, Gong S, Wang J, Holden A, Schenken RS, et al. Genome-wide identification of *Chlamydia trachomatis* antigens associated with tubal factor infertility. Fertil Steril. 2011;96: 715–721. doi:10.1016/j.fertnstert.2011.06.021
- 71. Mol BW, Lijmer J, Dijkman B, Van Der Veen F, Wertheim P, Bossuyt PMM, et al. The accuracy of serum chlamydial antibodies in the diagnosis of tubal pathology: A meta-analysis. Fertil Steril. Elsevier; 1997;67: 1031–1037. doi:10.1016/S0015-0282(97)81435-5
- Cocks N, Rainima-Qaniuci M, Yalen C, Macleod C, Nakolinivalu A, Migchelsen S, et al.
 Community seroprevalence survey for yaws and trachoma in the Western Division of Fiji.
 Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg. 2016; 1–6. doi:10.1093/trstmh/trw069
- 73. Pickering H, Burr SE, Derrick T, Makalo P, Joof H, Hayward RD, et al. Profiling and validation of individual and patterns of *Chlamydia trachomatis*-specific antibody responses in trachomatous trichiasis. Parasit Vectors. England: BioMed Central; 2017;10: 143. doi:10.1186/s13071-017-2078-8
- Saikku P. Diagnosis of actue and chronic Chlamydia pneumoniae infections. In: Orfila J, editor.
 Chlamydial Infections Proceedings of the 8th International Symposium on Human Chlamydial
 Infections. Bologna: Societa Editrice Esculapio; 1994. pp. 163–172.

- 75. Grayston JT, Campbell LA, Kuo CC, Mordhorst CH, Saikku P, Thorn DH, et al. A new respiratory tract pathogen: Chlamydia pneumoniae strain TWAR. J Infect Dis. 1990;161: 618–625. doi:10.1093/infdis/161.4.618
- Holmes KK, Handsfield HH, Wang SP, Wentworth BB, Turck M, Anderson JB, et al. Etiology of nongonococcal urethritis. N Engl J Med. 1975;292: 1199–205.
 doi:10.1056/NEJM197506052922301
- 77. Treharne JD. *Chlamydia trachomatis*: serological diagnosis. Infection. Springer-Verlag; 1982;10: S25–S31. doi:10.1007/bf01640711
- 78. Rahi A, Rashood A, Rahi S, Tabbara KF, Aljama A, Al-Jama A, et al. Immunodiagnosis of ocular chlamydial infection. Int Ophthalmol. Kluwer Academic Publishers; 1988;12: 65–72. doi:10.1007/bf00133784
- 79. Macpherson AJ, Geuking MB, Slack E, Hapfelmeier S, McCoy KD. The habitat, double life, citizenship, and forgetfulness of IgA. Immunological Reviews Jan, 2012 pp. 132–146. doi:10.1111/j.1600-065X.2011.01072.x
- 80. Snoeck V, Peters IR, Cox E. The IgA system: A comparison of structure and function in different species. Veterinary Research. 2006. pp. 455–467. doi:10.1051/vetres:2006010
- Ghaem-Maghami S, Ratti G, Ghaem-Maghami M, Comanducci M, Hay PE, Bailey RL, et al.
 Mucosal and systemic immune responses to plasmid protein pgp3 in patients with genital and ocular *Chlamydia trachomatis* infection. Clin Exp Immunol. 2003;132: 436–42.
- Crowley-Nowick P, Bell M, Edwards R, McCallister D, Gore H, Kanbour-Shakir A, et al. Normal Uterine Cervix: Characterization of Isolated Lymphocyte Phenotypes and Immunoglobulin Secretion. Am J Reprod Immunol. 1995;34: 241–247. doi:10.1111/j.1600-0897.1995.tb00948.x
- Bjercke S, Purvis K. Characteristics of women under fertility investigation with IgA/IgG seropositivity for *Chlamydia trachomatis*. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol. IRELAND; 1993;51: 157–161. doi:10.1016/0028-2243(93)90028-B
- Pier GB, Lyczak JB, Wetzler LM, editors. Immunology, Infection, and Immunity. Washington,
 DC: ASM Press; 2004.
- 85. Charles A Janeway J, Travers P, Walport M, Shlomchik MJ. Principles of innate and adaptive immunity. Garland Science; 2001;

- 86. Horner PJ, Wills GS, Reynolds R, Johnson AM, Muir D a, Winston A, et al. Effect of time since exposure to *Chlamydia trachomatis* on chlamydia antibody detection in women: a cross-sectional study. Sex Transm Infect. 2013;89: 398–403. doi:10.1136/sextrans-2011-050386
- Gijsen AP, Land J a, Goossens VJ, Slobbe MEP, Bruggeman C a. Chlamydia antibody testing in screening for tubal factor subfertility: the significance of IgG antibody decline over time. Hum Reprod. 2002;17: 699–703.
- Darougar S, Forsey T, Brewerton DA, Rogers KL. Prevalence of antichlamydial antibody in London blood donors. Br J Vener Dis. 1980;56: 404–407. doi:10.1136/sti.56.6.404
- 89. Puolakkainen M, Kousa M, Saikku P. Clinical conditions associated with positive complement fixation serology for Chlamydiae. Epidemiol Infect. 1987;98: 101–108.
- 90. Jonsson M, Karlsson R, Persson K, Juto P, Edlund K, Evander M, et al. The influence of sexual and social factors on the risk of *Chlamydia trachomatis* infections: A population-based serologic study. Sex Transm Dis. UNITED STATES; 1995;22: 355–363.
- Rabenau HFF, Köhler E, Peters M, Doerr HWW, Weber B, Kohler E, et al. Low correlation of serology with detection of *Chlamydia trachomatis* by ligase chain reaction and antigen EIA. Infection. 2000;28: 97–102. doi:10.1007/s150100050054
- 92. Satpathy G, Sharma A, Vishalakshi P. Species specific chlamydiae antibodies in voluntary blood donors of Delhi. Indian J Med Res. 2001;114: 164–168.
- 93. Baczynska A, Hvid M, Lamy P, Birkelund S, Christiansen G, Fedder J. Prevalence of Mycoplasma genitalium, Mycoplasma hominis and Chlamydia trachomatis among Danish patients requesting abortion. Syst Biol Reprod Med. 2008;54: 127–134.
- 94. De Freitas F HA, Caña G LEL, Caña G LEL, Rosales M. Frecuencia de anticuerpos IgA e IgM anti Chlamydia trachomatis, en mujeres embarazadas procedentes de una consulta prenatal, Cumaná, Estado Sucre, Venezuela, marzo-junio de 2006. Kasmera. 2009;37: 16–24.
- 95. van Aar F, de Moraes M, Morré SA, van Bergen JE a M, van der Klis FRM, Land JA, et al. *Chlamydia trachomatis* IgG seroprevalence in the general population of the Netherlands in
 1996 and in 2007: differential changes by gender and age. Sex Transm Infect. England;
 2014;90: 434–40. doi:10.1136/sextrans-2013-051074
- 96. Ishak M de OG, Costa MM, Almeida NCC de, Santiago AM, Brito WB de, Vallinoto ACR, et al. Chlamydia trachomatis serotype A infections in the Amazon region of Brazil: Prevalence, entry and dissemination. Rev Soc Bras Med Trop. 2015;48: 170–174. doi:10.1590/0037-8682-
0038-2015

- 97. West SK, Munoz B, Weaver J, Mrango Z, Dize L, Gaydos C, et al. Can We Use Antibodies to *Chlamydia trachomatis* as a Surveillance Tool for National Trachoma Control Programs ? Results from a District Survey. PLoS Negl Trop Dis. 2016;10: 1–11. doi:10.1371/journal.pntd.0004352
- 98. Zambrano AI, Sharma S, Crowley K, Dize L, Munoz BE, Mishra SK, et al. The World Health Organization Recommendations for Trachoma Surveillance, Experience in Nepal and Added Benefit of Testing for Antibodies to *Chlamydia trachomatis* pgp3 Protein: NESTS Study. PLoS Negl Trop Dis. 2016;10. doi:10.1371/journal.pntd.0005003
- Goodhew EB, Priest JW, Moss DM, Zhong G, Munoz B, Mkocha H, et al. CT694 and pgp3 as
 Serological Tools for Monitoring Trachoma Programs. PLoS Negl Trop Dis. 2012;6: e1873.
 doi:10.1371/journal.pntd.0001873
- 100. Pant BP, Bhatta RC, Chaudhary JSP, Awasthi S, Mishra S, Sharma S, et al. Control of Trachoma from Achham District, Nepal: A Cross-Sectional Study from the Nepal National Trachoma Program. PLoS Negl Trop Dis. 2016;10: e0004462. doi:10.1371/journal.pntd.0004462
- 101. Peeling RW, Kimani J, Plummer F, Maclean I, Cheang M, Bwayo J, et al. Antibody to chlamydial hsp60 predicts an increased risk for chlamydial pelvic inflammatory disease. J Infect Dis. 1997;175: 1153–1158. doi:10.1086/516454
- Horner P, Soldan K, Vieira SM, Wills GS, Woodhall SC, Pebody R, et al. C. trachomatis Pgp3 antibody prevalence in young women in England, 1993-2010. PLoS One. United States; 2013;8: e72001. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0072001
- 103. Migchelsen SJ, Martin DL, Southisombath K, Turyaguma P, Heggen A, Rubangakene PP, et al. Defining Seropositivity Thresholds for Use in Trachoma Elimination Studies. PLoS Negl Trop Dis. 2017;11: e0005230. doi:10.1371/journal.pntd.0005230
- 104. Price MJ, Ades AE, Welton NJ, Macleod J, Turner K, Simms I, et al. How much tubal factor infertility is caused by Chlamydia? Estimates based on serological evidence corrected for sensitivity and specificity. Sex Transm Dis. United States; 2012;39: 608–613. doi:10.1097/OLQ.0b013e3182572475
- 105. Price MJ, Ades A, Soldan K, Welton NJ, Macleod J, Simms I, et al. The natural history of *Chlamydia trachomatis* infection in women: a multi-parameter evidence synthesis. Health Technol Assess (Rocky). 2016;20: 1–250. doi:10.3310/hta20220

- 106. Idahl A, Boman J, Kumlin U, Olofsson JI. Demonstration of *Chlamydia trachomatis* IgG antibodies in the male partner of the infertile couple is correlated with a reduced likelihood of achieving pregnancy. Hum Reprod. England; 2004;19: 1121–1126. doi:10.1093/humrep/deh155
- 107. Logan S, Gazvani R, McKenzie H, Templeton A, Bhattacharya S. Can history, ultrasound, or ELISA chlamydial antibodies, alone or in combination, predict tubal factor infertility in subfertile women? Hum Reprod. 2003;18: 2350–2356.
- 108. Jenab A, Golbang N, Golbang P, Chamani-Tabriz L, Roghanian R. Diagnostic Value of PCR and ELISA for *Chlamydia trachomatis* in a Group of Asymptomatic and Symptomatic Women in Isfahan, Iran. Int J Fertil Steril. 2009;2: 193–198.
- Picaud A, Berthonneau JP, Nlome-Nze AR, Ogowet-Igumu N, Engongah-Beka T, Faye A. The serology of chlamydia and ectopic pregnancies. J Gynecol Obstet Biol la Reprod. 1991;20: 209–215.
- 110. den Hartog JE, Land JA, Stassen FRM, Slobbe-van Drunen MEP, Kessels AGH, Bruggeman CA. The role of chlamydia genus-specific and species-specific IgG antibody testing in predicting tubal disease in subfertile women. Hum Reprod. 2004;19: 1380–1384. doi:10.1093/humrep/deh267
- 111. Janeway CA, Travers P, Walport M, Shlomchik MJ. Immunobiology: The Immune System in Health and Disease. 5th ed. Garland Pub; 2001. doi:10.1111/j.1467-2494.1995.tb00120.x
- 112. Frikha-Gargouri O, Gdoura R, Znazen A, Gargouri J, Rebai A, Hammami A. Diagnostic value of an enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay using the recombinant CT694 species-specific protein of *Chlamydia trachomatis*. J Appl Microbiol. 2009;107: 1875–82. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2672.2009.04365.x
- 113. Miettinen A, Heinonen PK, Teisala K, Punnonen R, Paavonen J, PK H, et al. Antigen specific serum antibody response to *Chlamydia trachomatis* in patients with acute pelvic inflammatory disease. J Clin Pathol. 1990;43: 758–761.
- 114. Kalman S, Mitchell W, Marathe R, Lammel C, Fan J, Hyman RW, et al. Comparative genomes of Chlamydia pneumoniae and C. trachomatis. Nat Genet. 1999;21: 385–389.
 doi:10.1038/7716
- 115. Klein M, Kötz A, Bernardo K, Krönke M. Detection of Chlamydia pneumoniae-SpecificAntibodies Binding to the VD2 and VD3 Regions of the Major Outer Membrane Protein. J Clin

Microbiol. 2003;41: 1957-1962. doi:10.1128/JCM.41.5.1957-1962.2003

- 116. Närvänen A, Puolakkainen M, Hao W, Kino K, Suni J, Niirviinen A, et al. Detection of Antibodies to *Chlamydia trachomatis* With Peptide-Based Species-Specific Enzyme Immunoassay. Infect Dis Obstet Gynecol. 1997;5: 349–54. doi:10.1155/S1064744997000616
- 117. Land JA, Gijsen AP, Kessels AGH, Slobbe MEP, Bruggeman CA. Performance of five serological chlamydia antibody tests in subfertile women. Hum Reprod. 2003;18: 2621–2627.
 doi:10.1093/humrep/deg479
- 118. Mygind P, Christiansen G, Persson K, Birkelund S. Detection of *Chlamydia trachomatis*-specific antibodies in human sera by recombinant major outer-membrane protein polyantigens. J Med Microbiol. 2000;49: 457–465. doi:10.1099/0022-1317-49-5-457
- Bas S, Muzzin P, Vischer TL. *Chlamydia trachomatis* serology: diagnostic value of outer membrane protein 2 compared with that of other antigens. J Clin Microbiol. 2001;39: 4082– 5. doi:10.1128/JCM.39.11.4082-4085.2001
- 120. Morré SA, Munk C, Persson K, Krüger-kjaer S, Dijk R Van, Meijer CJLM, et al. Comparison of Three Commercially Available Peptide-Based Immunoglobulin G (IgG) and IgA Assays to Microimmunofluorescence Assay for Detection of *Chlamydia trachomatis* Antibodies. J Clin Microbiol. 2002;40: 584–587. doi:10.1128/JCM.40.2.584
- 121. Bax CJ, Mutsaers JAEM, Jansen CL, Trimbos JB, Dörr PJ, Oostvogel PM. Comparison of Serological Assays for Detection of *Chlamydia trachomatis* Antibodies in Different Groups of Obstetrical and Gynecological Patients. Clin Diagn Lab Immunol. 2003;10: 174–176. doi:10.1128/CDLI.10.1.174–176.2003
- Peeling RW, Mabey DC. Heat shock protein expression and immunity in chlamydial infections.
 Infect Dis Obstet Gynecol. 1999;7: 72–9. doi:10.1155/S1064744999000149
- Birkelund S, Larsen B, Holm A, Lundemose AG, Christiansen 'G. Characterization of a Linear Epitope on *Chlamydia trachomatis* Serovar L2 DnaK-Like Protein. Infect Immun. 1994;62: 2051–2057.
- 124. Maclean IW, Peeling RW, Brunham RC. Characterization of *Chlamydia trachomatis* antigens with monoclonal and polyclonal antibodies. Can J Microbiol. 1988;34: 141–147.
- 125. Arno JN, Yuan Y, Cleary RE, Morrison RP. Serologic responses of infertile women to the 60-kd chlamydial heat shock protein (hsp60). Fertil Steril. 1995;64: 730–5.

- 126. Morrison RP, Su H, Lyng K, Yuan Y. The *Chlamydia trachomatis* hyp operon is homologous to the groE stress response operon of Escherichia coli. Infect Immun. 1990;58: 2701–2705.
- 127. Betsou F, Sueur JM, Orfila J. Serological investigation of *Chlamydia trachomatis* heat shock protein 10. Infect Immun. 1999;67: 5243–5246.
- 128. Brunham RC, Mac Lean IW, Binns B, Peeling RW. *Chlamydia trachomatis*: Its role in tubal infertility. J Infect Dis. 1985;152: 1275–1282. doi:10.1093/infdis/152.6.1275
- 129. Toye B, Laferrière C, Claman P, Jessamine P, Peeling R. Association between antibody to the chlamydial heat-shock protein and tubal infertility. J Infect Dis. 1993;168: 1236–1240.
- 130. Eckert LO, Hawes SE, Wölner-Hanssen P, Money DM, Peeling RW, Brunham RC, et al. Prevalence and correlates of antibody to chlamydial heat shock protein in women attending sexually transmitted disease clinics and women with confirmed pelvic inflammatory disease. J Infect Dis. 1997;175: 1453–1458. doi:10.1086/516479
- Brunham RC, Peeling R, Maclean I, Kosseim ML, Paraskevas M. *Chlamydia trachomatis*associated ectopic pregnancy: Serologic and histologic correlates. J Infect Dis. 1992;165: 1076–1081. doi:10.1093/infdis/165.6.1076
- 132. Ault KA, Statland BD, Smith King MM, Dozier DIL, Joachims ML, Gunter J. Antibodies to the chlamydial 60 kilodalton heat shock protein in women with tubal factor infertility. Infectious Diseases in Obstetrics and Gynecology. 1998. pp. 163–167. doi:10.1002/(SICI)1098-0997(1998)6:4<163::AID-IDOG5>3.0.CO;2-6
- 133. Patton DL, Askienazy-Elbhar M, Henry-Suchet J, Campbell LA, Cappuccio A, Tannous W, et al. Detection of *Chlamydia trachomatis* in fallopian tube tissue in women with postinfectious tubal infertility. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 1994;171: 95–101.
- Bullock HD, Hower S, Fields KA. Domain analyses reveal that *Chlamydia trachomatis* CT694 protein belongs to the membrane-localized family of type III effector proteins. J Biol Chem. 2012;287: 28078–28086. doi:10.1074/jbc.M112.386904
- 135. Borges V, Pinheiro M, Antelo M, Sampaio DA, Vieira L, Ferreira R, et al. *Chlamydia trachomatis* in vivo to in vitro transition reveals mechanisms of phase variation and downregulation of virulence factors. PLoS One. 2015;10. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0133420
- Hower S, Wolf K, Fields K a. Evidence that CT694 is a novel *Chlamydia trachomatis* T3S substrate capable of functioning during invasion or early cycle development. Mol Microbiol. 2009;72: 1423–37. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2958.2009.06732.x

- 137. Moss TR, Darougar S, Woodland RM, Nathan M, Dines RJ, Cathrine V. Antibodies to chlamydia species in patients attending a genitourinary clinic and the impact of antibodies to c. Pneumoniae and c. psittaci on the sensitivity and the specificity of c. trachomatis serology tests. Sex Transm Dis. 1993;20: 61–65.
- 138. Wagenvoort JH, Koumans D, van de Cruijs M. How useful is the Chlamydia microimmunofluorescence (MIF) test for the gynaecologist? Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol. 1999;84: 13–5.
- 139. Frikha-Gargouri O, Znazen A, Gdoura R, Gargouri B, Arab N Ben, Jemaa M Ben, et al. Usefulness of enzyme linked immunosorbent assays species specific in the detection of *Chlamydia trachomatis* and Chlamydophila pneumoniae IgG antibodies in patients with genital infections or respiratory tract infections. Pathol Biol (Paris). 2008;56: 143–7. doi:10.1016/j.patbio.2007.09.020
- 140. Li Z, Zhong Y, Lei L, Wu Y, Wang S, Zhong G. Antibodies from women urogenitally infected with C. trachomatis predominantly recognized the plasmid protein pgp3 in a conformationdependent manner. BMC Microbiol. 2008;8: 90. doi:10.1186/1471-2180-8-90
- 141. Comanducci M, Cevenini R, Moroni A, Giuliani MM, Ricci S, Scarlato V, et al. Expression of a plasmid gene of *Chlamydia trachomatis* encoding a novel 28 kDa antigen. J Gen Microbiol. 1993;139: 1083–92.
- 142. Gwyn S, Mitchell A, Dean D, Mkocha H, Handali S, Martin DL. Lateral Flow-Based Antibody Testing for *Chlamydia trachomatis*. J Immunol Methods. 2016; doi:10.1016/j.jim.2016.05.008
- 143. Winstanley CE, Ramsey KH, Marsh P, Clarke IN. Development and evaluation of an enzymelinked immunosorbent assay for the detection of antibodies to a common urogenital derivative of *Chlamydia trachomatis* plasmid-encoded PGP3. J Immunol Methods. 2017; doi:10.1016/j.jim.2017.03.002
- 144. Woodhall SC, Wills GS, Horner PJ, Craig R, Mindell JS, Murphy G, et al. *Chlamydia trachomatis* Pgp3 antibody population seroprevalence before and during an era of widespread opportunistic chlamydia screening in England (1994-2012). PLoS One. 2016;12: e0152810. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0152810
- Sun MJ, Zambrano AI, Dize L, Munoz B, Gwyn S, Mishra S, et al. Evaluation of a field test for antibodies against *Chlamydia trachomatis* during trachoma surveillance in Nepal. Diagn Microbiol Infect Dis. United States; 2017;88: 3–6. doi:10.1016/j.diagmicrobio.2017.01.004

111

- 146. Budrys NM, Gong S, Rodgers AK, Wang J, Louden C, Shain R, et al. *Chlamydia trachomatis* antigens recognized in women with tubal factor infertility, normal fertility, and acute infection. Obstet Gynecol. 2012;119: 1009–1016. doi:10.1097/AOG.0b013e3182519326
- 147. Gérard HC, Whittum-Hudson JA, Schumacher HR, Hudson AP. Differential expression of three Chlamydia trachomatis hsp60-encoding genes in active vs. persistent infections. Microb Pathog. 2004;36: 35–39. doi:10.1016/j.micpath.2003.08.005
- 148. Belland RJ, Nelson DE, Virok D, Crane DD, Hogan D, Sturdevant D, et al. Transcriptome analysis of chlamydial growth during IFN-gamma-mediated persistence and reactivation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2003;100: 15971–15976. doi:10.1073/pnas.2535394100
- Bannantine JP, Rockey DD. Use of a primate model system to identify *Chlamydia trachomatis* protein antigens recognized uniquely in the context of infection. Microbiology. 1999;145: 2077–2085. doi:10.1099/13500872-145-8-2077
- 150. Patel P, De Boer L, Timms P, Huston WM. Evidence of a conserved role for Chlamydia HtrA in the replication phase of the chlamydial developmental cycle. Microbes Infect. 2014;16: 690– 694. doi:10.1016/j.micinf.2014.07.003
- 151. Huston WM, Swedberg JE, Harris JM, Walsh TP, Mathews SA, Timms P. The temperature activated HtrA protease from pathogen *Chlamydia trachomatis* acts as both a chaperone and protease at 37 °C. FEBS Lett. 2007;581: 3382–3386. doi:10.1016/j.febslet.2007.06.039
- 152. Doolan DL, Mu Y, Unal B, Sundaresh S, Hirst S, Valdez C, et al. Profiling humoral immune responses to P. falciparum infection with protein microarrays. Proteomics. 2008;8: 4680– 4694. doi:10.1002/pmic.200800194
- 153. Helb D, Tetteh KK a., Felgner PL, Skinner J, Hubbard A, Arinaitwe E, et al. Novel serologic biomarkers provide accurate estimates of recent Plasmodium falciparum exposure for individuals and communities. Proc Natl Acad Sci. 2015; 201501705. doi:10.1073/pnas.1501705112
- Trieu A, Kayala MA, Burk C, Molina DM, Freilich DA, Richie TL, et al. Sterile Protective
 Immunity to Malaria is Associated with a Panel of Novel P. falciparum Antigens. Mol Cell
 Proteomics. 2011;10: M111.007948-M111.007948. doi:10.1074/mcp.M111.007948
- 155. Sepúlveda N, Stresman G, White MT, Drakeley CJ. Current mathematical models for analyzing anti-malarial antibody data with an eye to malaria elimination and eradication. J Immunol Res. 2015;2015. doi:10.1155/2015/738030

- 156. Yman V, White MT, Rono J, Arcà B, Osier FH, Troye-Blomberg M, et al. Antibody acquisition models: A new tool for serological surveillance of malaria transmission intensity. Sci Rep. 2016;6: 19472. doi:10.1038/srep19472
- 157. Arnold BF, van der Laan MJ, Hubbard AE, Steel C, Kubofcik J, Hamlin KL, et al. Measuring changes in transmission of neglected tropical diseases, malaria, and enteric pathogens from quantitative antibody levels. PLoS Negl Trop Dis. 2017;11: e0005616. doi:10.1371/journal.pntd.0005616
- 158. Dempster APA, Laird NMN, Rubin DDB. Maximum likelihood from incomplete data via the EM algorithm. J R Stat Soc Ser B Methodol. 1977;39: 1–38. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.2307/2984875
- 159. Vyse AJ, Gay NJ, Hesketh LM, Pebody R, Morgan-Capner P, Miller E. Interpreting serological surveys using mixture models: the seroepidemiology of measles, mumps and rubella in England and Wales at the beginning of the 21st century. Epidemiol Infect. 2006;134: 1303– 12. doi:10.1017/S0950268806006340
- Vyse AJ, Gay NJ, Hesketh LM, Morgan-Capner P, Miller E. Seroprevalence of antibody to varicella zoster virus in England and Wales in children and young adults. Epidemiol Infect. 2004;132: 1129–34.
- Corran PH, Cook J, Lynch C, Leendertse H, Manjurano A, Griffin J, et al. Dried blood spots as a source of anti-malarial antibodies for epidemiological studies. Malar J. 2008;7: 195. doi:10.1186/1475-2875-7-195
- 162. Kaneko A, Chaves LF, Taleo G, Kalkoa M, Isozumi R, Wickremasinghe R, et al. Characteristic age distribution of Plasmodium vivax infections after malaria elimination on Aneityum Island, Vanuatu. Infect Immun. 2014;82: 243–52. doi:10.1128/IAI.00931-13
- 163. Rizwan SA, Nongkynrih B, Lena C, Krishnan A. Temporal Dimension in reference standard misclassification - A concept note. Journal of Clinical and Diagnostic Research. 2014. pp. 1–5. doi:10.7860/JCDR/2014/8270.4571
- Biesheuvel C, Irwig L, Bossuyt P. Observed Differences in Diagnostic Test Accuracy between Patient Subgroups: Is It Real or Due to Reference Standard Misclassification? Clin Chem. 2007;53. doi:10.1373/clinchem.2007.087403
- 165. Parker RA, Erdman DD, Anderson LJ. Use of mixture models in determining laboratory criterion for identification of seropositive individuals: application to parvovirus B19 serology.

J Virol Methods. 1990;27: 135-144. doi:10.1016/0166-0934(90)90130-8

- 166. Drakeley CJ, Corran PH, Coleman PG, Tongren JE, McDonald SLR, Carneiro I, et al. Estimating medium- and long-term trends in malaria transmission by using serological markers of malaria exposure. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2005;102: 5108–13. doi:10.1073/pnas.0408725102
- 167. Ades AE, Price MJ, Kounali D, Akande VA, Wills GS, McClure MO, et al. Proportion of Tubal Factor Infertility due to Chlamydia : Finite Mixture Modeling of Serum Antibody Titers. Am J Epidemiol. 2017;185: 124–134. doi:10.1093/aje/kww117
- 168. Broeze KA, Opmeer BC, Coppus SFPJ, Van Geloven N, Alves MFC, Anestad G, et al. Chlamydia antibody testing and diagnosing tubal pathology in subfertile women: An individual patient data meta-analysis. Hum Reprod Update. Oxford University Press; 2011;17: 301–310. doi:10.1093/humupd/dmq060
- 169. Leeflang Jonathan J.; Gatsonis, Constantine; Bossuyt, Patrick M.M.; , MMG. D. Systematic Reviews of Diagnostic Test Accuracy. Ann Intern Med. 2008;149: 889–897. doi:doi: 10.7326/0003-4819-149-12-200812160-00008
- 170. Youden WJ. Index for rating diagnostic tests. Cancer. 1950;3: 32–35. doi:10.1002/1097-0142(1950)3:1<32::AID-CNCR2820030106>3.0.CO;2-3
- 171. Jones CS, Maple PAC, Andrews NJ, Paul ID, Caul EO. Measurement of IgG antibodies to Chlamydia trachomatis by commercial enzyme immunoassays and immunofluorescence in sera from pregnant women and patients with infertility, pelvic inflammatory disease, ectopic pregnancy, and laboratory diagnosed Chlamydia psittaci/Chlamydia pneumoniae infection. J Clin Pathol. BMJ Publishing Group; 2003;56: 225–9.
- 172. Chen D, Lei L, Lu C, Galaleldeen A, Hart PJ, Zhong G. Characterization of Pgp3, a *Chlamydia trachomatis* plasmid-encoded immunodominant antigen. J Bacteriol. 2010;192: 6017–24. doi:10.1128/JB.00847-10
- 173. Mardh P-AA, Lind I, Svensson L, Weström L, Møller BR, Westrom L, et al. Antibodies to *Chlamydia trachomatis, Mycoplasma hominis,* and *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* in sera from patients with acute salpingitis. Br J Vener Dis. 1981;57: 125–129.
- Bruce-Chwatt LJ, Draper CC, Konfortion P. Seroepidemiological evidence of eradication of malaria from Mauritius. Lancet (London, England). 1973;2: 547–51.
- 175. Admassu F, Bayu S, Bejiga A, Amare B. Active trachoma two years after three rounds of

azithromycin mass treatment in Cheha district Gurage zone, Southern Ethiopia. BMC Pediatr. 2013;13: 199. doi:10.1186/1471-2431-13-199

- 176. Miller WC. Epidemiology of chlamydial infection: are we losing ground? Sex Transm Infect.2008;84: 87–91. doi:10.1136/sti.2007.027938
- Satterwhite CL, Grier L, Patzer R, Weinstock H, Howards PP, Kleinbaum D. Chlamydia positivity trends among women attending family planning clinics: United States, 2004-2008.
 Sex Transm Dis. 2011; doi:10.1097/OLQ.0b013e318225f7d7
- 178. Liberati A, Altman DG, Tetzlaff J, Mulrow C, Gøtzsche PC, Ioannidis JPA, et al. The PRISMA statement for reporting systematic reviews and meta-analyses of studies that evaluate health care interventions: explanation and elaboration. PLoS medicine. 2009. pp. e1-34. doi:10.1016/j.jclinepi.2009.06.006
- 179. Bailey R, Duong T, Carpenter R, Whittle H, Mabey D. The duration of human ocular *Chlamydia trachomatis* infection is age dependent. Epidemiol Infect. 1999;123: 479–86.
- 180. Wright HR, Taylor HR. Clinical examination and laboratory tests for estimation of trachoma prevalence in a remote setting: what are they really telling us? Lancet Infect Dis. 2005;5: 313–20.
- Solomon AW, Harding-Esch E, Alexander NDE, Aguirre A, Holland MJ, Bailey RL, et al. Two doses of azithromycin to eliminate trachoma in a Tanzanian community. N Engl J Med. 2008;358: 1870–1. doi:10.1056/NEJMc0706263
- 182. See CW, Alemayehu W, Melese M, Zhou Z, Porco TC, Shiboski S, et al. How reliable are tests for trachoma?--a latent class approach. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci. Association for Research in Vision and Ophthalmology; 2011;52: 6133–7. doi:10.1167/iovs.11-7419
- 183. Burton MJ, Hu VH, Massae P, Burr SE, Chevallier C, Afwamba IA, et al. What is causing active trachoma? The role of nonchlamydial bacterial pathogens in a low prevalence setting. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci. 2011;52: 6012–7. doi:10.1167/iovs.11-7326
- Banoo S, Bell D, Bossuyt P, Herring A, Mabey D, Poole F, et al. Evaluation of diagnostic tests for infectious diseases: general principles. Nat Rev Microbiol. Nature Publishing Group; 2010;8: S17-29.
- WHO Strategic and Technical Advisory Group on NTDs. Technical Consultaion on Trachoma Surveillance. Decatur; 2014.

- 186. Macleod CK, Butcher R, Mudaliar U, Natutusau K, Pavluck AL, Willis R, et al. Low Prevalence of Ocular *Chlamydia trachomatis* Infection and Active Trachoma in the Western Division of Fiji. Senok A, editor. PLoS Negl Trop Dis. 2016;10: e0004798. doi:10.1371/journal.pntd.0004798
- 187. Cliffe SJ, Tabrizi S, Sullivan EA, Pacific Islands Second Generation HIV Surveillance Group.
 Chlamydia in the Pacific region, the silent epidemic. Sex Transm Dis. 2008;35: 801–6.
 doi:10.1097/OLQ.0b013e318175d885
- 188. Ervin AM, Mkocha H, Munoz B, Dreger K, Dize L, Gaydos C, et al. Surveillance and Azithromycin Treatment for Newcomers and Travelers Evaluation (ASANTE) Trial: Design and Baseline Characteristics. Ophthalmic Epidemiol. 2016;23: 347–353. doi:10.1080/09286586.2016.1238947
- 189. Butcher R, Sokana O, Jack K, Sui L, Russell C, Last A, et al. Clinical signs of trachoma are prevalent among Solomon Islanders who have no persistent markers of prior infection with *Chlamydia trachomatis*. Wellcome Open Res. 2018;3: 14. doi:10.12688/wellcomeopenres.13423.1
- 190. Butcher RMR, Sokana O, Jack K, Macleod CK, Marks ME, Kalae E, et al. Low Prevalence of Conjunctival Infection with *Chlamydia trachomatis* in a Treatment-Naïve Trachoma-Endemic Region of the Solomon Islands. PLoS Negl Trop Dis. 2016;10: e0004863. doi:10.1371/journal.pntd.0004863
- 191. Cama A, Müller A, Taoaba R, Butcher RM, Itibita I, Migchelsen SJ, et al. Prevalence of signs of trachoma, ocular *Chlamydia trachomatis* infection and antibodies to Pgp3 in residents of Kiritimati Island, Kiribati. PLoS Negl Trop Dis. 2017;11: [manuscript in press]. doi:10.1371/journal.pntd.0005863
- 192. Wang SP, Kuo CC, Barnes RC, Stephens RS, Grayston JT. Immunotyping of *Chlamydia trachomatis* with monoclonal antibodies. J Infect Dis. 1985;152: 791–800.
- 193. Wang S-P, Kuo C-C, Grayston JT. A Simplified Method for Immunological Typing of Trachoma-Inclusion Conjunctivitis-Lympho- granuloma Venereum Organisms. Infect Immun. 1973;7: 356–60.
- Wang S, Grayston JT. Human seroloy in *Chlamydia trachomatis*: Infection with Microimmunofluorescence. J Infect Dis. 1974;130: 388–397.
- 195. Treharne JDD, Ripa KT, Mardh P-AA, Svensson L, Westrom L, Darougar S, et al. Antibodies to *Chlamydia trachomatis* in acute salpingitis. Br J Vener Dis. 1979;55: 203–6.

doi:10.1136/sti.55.3.203

- 196. Gorini G, Milano F, Olliaro P, Regazzetti A, Rondanelli EG. *Chlamydia trachomatis* infection in primary unexplained infertility. Eur J Epidemiol. ITALY: Kluwer Academic Publishers; 1990;6: 335–338. doi:10.1007/BF00150445
- Surana A, Rastogi V, Singh Nirwawan P. Association of the serum anti-chlamydial antibodies with tubal infertility. J Clin Diagnostic Res. JCDR Research & Publications Private Limited; 2012;6: 1692–1694. doi:10.7860/JCDR/2012/3771.2632
- 198. Ohashi K, Saji F, Tomiyama T, Tsutsui T, Tanizawa O, Horikawa M, et al. Serological diagnosis of *Chlamydia trachomatis* infection in infertile couples. Japanese J Fertil Steril. 1994;39: 49–52.
- Sziller I, Witkin SS, Ziegert M, Csapó Z, Ujházy A, Papp Z. Serological responses of patients with ectopic pregnancy to epitopes of the *Chlamydia trachomatis* 60 kDa heat shock protein. Hum Reprod. 1998;13: 1088–93.
- 200. Joyee AG, Thyagarajan SP, Rajendran P, Hari R, Balakrishnan P, Jeyaseelan L, et al. *Chlamydia trachomatis* genital infection in apparently healthy adult population of Tamil Nadu, India: A population-based study. Int J STD AIDS. 2004;15: 51–55. doi:10.1258/095646204322637272
- 201. DRG Diagnostics GmbH. Instructions for Use: Chlamydia trachomatis IgM ELSIA. Marburg;
- 202. Baczynska A, Svenstrup HF, Fedder J, Birkelund S, Christiansen G. Development of real-time PCR for detection of Mycoplasma hominis. BMC Microbiol. BioMed Central; 2004;4: 35. doi:10.1186/1471-2180-4-35
- 203. Baczynska A, Friis Svenstrup H, Fedder J, Birkelund S, Christiansen G, H FS, et al. The use of enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay for detection of Mycoplasma hominis antibodies in infertile women serum samples. Hum Reprod. Oxford University Press; 2005;20: 1277–1285. doi:10.1093/humrep/deh780
- Stevenson M, Radcliffe K. Preventing pelvic infection after abortion. Int J STD AIDS. 1995;6:
 305–12.
- 205. Inc CD. AccuDiag[™] Chlamydia trachomatis IgG ELISA Kit SUMMARY OF ASSAY PROCEDURE.
 2015.
- 206. Public Health England. Opportunistic Chlamydia Screening of Young Adults in England: An Evidence Summary. 2014;

- 207. Department of Health (DH). The national strategy for sexual health and HIV. 2001.
- 208. Geisler WM, Suchland RJ, Whittington WL, Stamm WE. Quantitative culture of *Chlamydia trachomatis*: relationship of inclusion-forming units produced in culture to clinical manifestations and acute inflammation in urogenital disease. J Infect Dis. 2001;184: 1350–1354. doi:JID010566 [pii]\n10.1086/323998
- 209. De Freitas CA. [Prevalence of trachoma in Brazil]. Rev Bras Malariol Doencas Trop. 1976;28:
 227–380.
- 210. Saah AJ, Hoover DR. "Sensitivity" and "specificity" reconsidered: the meaning of these terms in analytical and diagnostic settings. Ann Intern Med. 1997;126: 91–
 4.
- Poulton R, Moffitt TE, Silva PA. The Dunedin Multidisciplinary Health and Development Study: overview of the first 40 years, with an eye to the future. Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol. 2015;50: 679–93. doi:10.1007/s00127-015-1048-8
- 212. Righarts AA, Morgan J, Horner PJ, Wills GS, McClure MO, Dickson NP, et al. *Chlamydia trachomatis* incidence using self-reports and serology by gender, age period, and sexual behavior in a birth cohort. Sex Transm Dis. United States; 2017;44: 344–350. doi:10.1097/OLQ.000000000000605
- 213. Moore KR, Smith JS, Cole SR, Dittmer DP, Schoenbach VJ, Baird DD. Chlamydia trachomatis Seroprevalence and Ultrasound Diagnosed Uterine Fibroids in a Large Population of Young African-American Women. Am J Epidemiol. United States; 2017;187: 278–286. doi:10.1093/aje/kwx231
- 214. Wegienka G. Are uterine leiomyoma a consequence of a chronically inflammatory immune system? Med Hypotheses. 2012;79: 226–231. doi:10.1016/j.mehy.2012.04.046
- Leppert PC, Catherino WH, Segars JH. A new hypothesis about the origin of uterine fibroids based on gene expression profiling with microarrays. Am J Obstet Gynecol. NIH Public Access; 2006;195: 415–420. doi:10.1016/j.ajog.2005.12.059
- Laughlin SK, Schroeder JC, Baird DD. New directions in the epidemiology of uterine fibroids.
 Seminars in Reproductive Medicine. 2010. pp. 204–217. doi:10.1055/s-0030-1251477
- Faerstein E, Szklo M, Rosenshein NB. Risk factors for uterine leiomyoma: A practice-based case-controls study. II. Atherogenic risk factors and potential sources of uterine irritation. Am J Epidemiol. 2001;153: 11–19. doi:10.1093/aje/153.1.11

- 218. Kucerova P, Cervinkova M. Spontaneous regression of tumour and the role of microbial infection possibilities for cancer treatment. Anti-Cancer Drugs. 2016. pp. 269–277. doi:10.1097/CAD.00000000000337
- 219. Frisse AC, Marrazzo JM, Tutlam NT, Schreiber CA, Teal SB, Turok DK, et al. Validity of selfreported history of *Chlamydia trachomatis* infection. Am J Obstet Gynecol. United States: Elsevier Inc.; 2017;216: 393.e1-393.e7. doi:10.1016/j.ajog.2016.12.005
- 220. Hanna L, Keshishyan H. Chlamydial antigens stabilized with formalin for use in the microimmunofluorescence test. J Clin Microbiol. 1980;12: 409–412.
- 221. Baird DD, Harmon QE, Upson K, Moore KR, Barker-Cummings C, Baker S, et al. A Prospective, Ultrasound-Based Study to Evaluate Risk Factors for Uterine Fibroid Incidence and Growth: Methods and Results of Recruitment. J Women's Heal. 2015;24: 907–915. doi:10.1089/jwh.2015.5277

Chapter 3- Development of a Pgp3-specific ELISA to measure antibodies against Ct using fingerprick dried blood spots

Summary

In this chapter, the author outlines the development of a Pgp3-specific ELISA. The intent of this assay was to detect antibodies against a highly immunogenic protein expressed by the Ct plasmid. The assay was developed in collaboration with colleagues at the CDC, who developed a multiplex bead assay; the current assay requires highly specialised instrumentation which is often not available in trachoma-endemic populations. It was therefore the intent that this assay will be used 'on-site'. Indeed, this ELISA has been used in The Gambia, Ghana and Malawi, in addition to being used to test a large array of samples assayed at LSHTM.

This ELISA is based on the same Pgp3 from Ct serovar D-UW-3/.Cx used in the MBA [1] and in a whole-genome scale proteome assay [2]. It relies on five reference serum standards, with known levels of antibodies, measured in arbitrary units (u). The quantity of secondary antibody (HRP-conjugated mouse anti-human IgG) and the incubation time of TMB were optimised.

Significant quality control was undertaken. Reference standards were tested in triplicate with the standard deviation and coefficients of variation produced for each plate. As expected, the highest (1000u) and lowest (0 u and 50 u) standards showed more variation than those which fell in the linear range of the assay; a plate was permitted to have no more than one standard with a coefficient of variation greater than 15%. Standards were tracked across assays and inter-plate variation was less than 15%.

The ELISA developed here forms the basis for the serological analyses presented in Chapters 4, 5 and 6.

3.1 Purpose

To develop a Pgp3-specific indirect ELISA based on dried blood spots.

Previous work using serological assays to measure antibodies against Ct in trachoma-endemic populations was performed using a multiplex bead assay (MBA) and measured antibodies against Pgp3 and CT694[1,3,4]. This assay was financially unviable for this thesis research thus with collaborators from the CDC, the protocol for a Pgp3-specific ELSA was optimised by the author [5]. Antigen was kindly provided by Prof Guangming Zhong and the author expressed and purified the protein while at the CDC in March 2013.

3.2 Background

A multiplex bead was developed by collaborators at the CDC. This assay measured antibodies against Pgp3 and CT694 [1]. Due to changes in funding sources, the required platform and reagents were deemed to be too expensive for this thesis research. Additionally, if serology is to be used programmatically as part of trachoma elimination programmes, protocols should be developed that can be used in country, rather than relying on testing by international institutes. Therefore, a Pgp3-specific assay was developed that was affordable [5] and could be run on an ELISA plate reader, which are available in many labs in trachoma-endemic countries [6].

3.3 Methods

The Pgp3-specific ELISA is an indirect ELISA. A detailed description of the finalised ELISA protocol is provided in Chapter 4. This chapter outlines the optimisation steps that were undertaken by the author prior to testing samples from the field.

In brief, Pgp3, a Ct-specific antigen, was coated to microtitre plates at known concentrations. Pgp3 was kindly provided by Professor Guangming Zhong of the Department of Microbiology and Immunology, University of Texas Health Science Center at San Antonio [2]. Protein was expressed and purified by the author while at the CDC in March 2013. Serum, in the form of eluted blood spots, was incubated so that anti-Pgp3 antibodies present in the serum bound to the antigen. Serum was then removed from the plate by washing with PBS + 0.3% v/v Tween-20 (PBSTw). An optimised concentration of horseradish peroxidase (HRP)-labelled mouse anti-human IgG(Fc)-HRP (Southern Biotech, Birmingham, USA) was applied and plates were incubated for one hour. Plates were washed to remove unbound antibodies. Fifty microliters of 3,3',5,5'-tetramethylbenzidine (TMB) (KPL, Gaithersburg, USA) were added and the mixture was incubated in the dark for an optimised amount of time at room temperature. The colorimetric reaction was stopped with 50 μL 1N H₂SO₄ and

122

optical density was read at 450 nm (OD₄₅₀) on a Spectramax M3 plate reader (Molecular Devices, Wokingham UK). Figure 3.1 shows a schematic of the indirect ELISA set-up.



Figure 3.1. Visual representation of ELISA set-up (modified from <u>www.abnova.com</u>) Pgp3 is bound to the surface, where is capture anti-Pgp3 IgG present in the eluted dried blood spots bound to the antigen. The sample was then incubated with a secondary antibody which is conjugated with HRP and then TMB was added to produce a colourimetric reaction.

3.3.1 Standards

The standards were provided by the CDC and were prepared using serum from a Haitian donor, which tested at 2.0 OD₄₅₀. This serum has arbitrarily been assigned 1000 arbitrary units (u). The serum was diluted using a normal human serum from a blood bank donor; dilutions were made to 500 u, 200 u, and 50 u, while the normal serum itself was assigned 0 arbitrary units.

3.3.2 Optimisation of anti-IgG concentration

Anti-IgG bound to the IgG present in serum/samples, while the conjugated HRP (horseradish peroxidase) acted as an enzyme to oxidize TMB, causing a colourimetric change as the solution became blue.

The standard protocol was followed for the Pgp3 ELISA, with the concentration of anti-IgG-HRP changed. The standard concentration used was 1:1000 (5.5ul in 5.5ml PBSTw). The first column of the plate was incubated with the standard concentration, while each subsequent column was incubated with a decreasing serial dilution, down to 1:2048k (Figure 3.2). Standards 1000 u, 200 u, 0 u and Blank (PBSTw with milk) were tested in duplicate at each anti-IgG concentration, as shown below. TMB was incubated for 9 minutes before the colorimetric reaction was stopped with 50 μ L 1N H₂SO₄d before being read on the plate reader.

	1:1k	1:2k	1:4k	1:8k	1:16k	1:32k	1:64k	1:128k	1:256k	1:512k	1:1024k	1:2048k
А	1000u											
В	1000u											
С	200u											
D	200u											
E	0u											
F	0u											
G	BL											
н	BL											

Figure 3.2. Microtitre plate layout for optimisation of HRP-conjugated anti-human IgG used in a

Pgp3-specific ELISA. Known standards were tested in duplicate at each of 12 concentrations of antilgG.

Results are shown in Figure 3.3 and Table 3.1.



Figure 3.3. Serial dilution of HRP-conjugated mouse anti-human IgG. The standard concentration of anti-IgG is 1:1000 in PBS-Tween. Each well had 50µl of anti-IgG dilution applied, before incubating at room temperature for one hour.

Table 3.1 shows the ratios between standards. Looking at the ratios of the standards in the linear range (1:16k to 1:256k), the greatest difference between high and low is seen at 1:64k

Table 3.1. Ratio of OD values between standards measured to optimise the concentration of anti-IgG

	1000 u/0 u	1000 u/200 u	200 u/0 u
1:16k	1.74	1.14	1.52
1:32k	2.13	1.28	1.62
1:64k	2.00	1.24	1.61
1:128k	1.93	1.23	1.57
1:256k	1.84	1.21	1.52

3.3.3 Optimisation of TMB incubation time

As for the optimisation of anti-IgG concentration, the high-, mid-, and low- standards and blanks were tested in duplicate, at an anti-IgG concentration of 1:32k, while the incubation time increased from 4 to 15 minutes.

	4 min	5 min	6 min	7 min	8 min	9 min	10 min	11 min	12 min	13 min	14 min	15 min
А	1000u											
В	1000u											
С	200u											
D	200u											
E	Ou											
F	Ou											
G	BL											
н	BL											

Figure 3.4. Microtitre plate layout for optimisation of TMB incubation time used in a Pgp3-specific

ELISA. Known standards were tested in duplicate at each of 12 lengths of time for incubation with TMB.

Results are shown in Figure 3.5 and Table 3.2



Figure 3.5. Optimisation of TMB incubation time for Pgp3-specific ELISA. Standard protocol was for four minutes incubation with TMB, however the best ratios between standards were at 9 minutes incubation.

Table 3.2 shows the ratios between standards. The highest ratios between standards occurred after 9 minutes of incubation.

Table 3.2. Ratio of OD ₄₅₀ values between standards measured to optimise the incubation time w	ith
ТМВ.	

Ratios	1000 u/200 u	200 u/0 u	1000 u/0 u
4 mins	2.98	2.94	5.04
5 mins	3.04	3.02	5.16
6 mins	3.27	3.28	5.88
7 mins	3.40	3.14	5.87
8 mins	3.46	3.53	5.40
9 mins	3.78	3.64	6.12
10 mins	3.64	3.35	5.59
11 mins	3.49	3.14	5.32
12 mins	3.17	3.27	5.03
13 mins	2.88	3.51	5.00
14 mins	2.07	3.45	4.77
15 mins	2.01	3.72	4.51

Based on the optimisation steps, the finalised protocol was to dilute anti-IgG to 1:32k and to incubate with TMB for 9 minutes.

3.3.4 Quality Control

The five serum controls (1000 u, 500 u, 200 u, 50 u, 0 u) were tested in triplicate and the mean values for each plate were tracked across each sample set and inter-plate variation was less than 15% across all plates in each sample set tested. A plate was permitted to have no more than one control with>15% variation from the sample set mean for that control; if a plate had two or more controls with values more than 15% greater or lesser than the sample set mean, the plate was rerun.

Less than 5% of plates were re-run due to variation. Additionally, the standards were run in triplicate and the coefficient of variation was calculated; in all cases this was less than 10% as shown in Figure 6. Coefficients of variation are less in the linear range of the standard curve; values that fall toward the top or bottom of the curve tend to have a higher amount of error because of both the assay's and plate reader's limits.



Figure 3.6. Standard curve produced from 5 standards at arbitrary units (1000 u, 500 u, 200 u, 50 u and 0 u). Error bars denote the coefficient of variation of the OD₄₅₀ values for each standard assayed in triplicate.

3.4 References

- Goodhew EB, Priest JW, Moss DM, Zhong G, Munoz B, Mkocha H, et al. CT694 and pgp3 as Serological Tools for Monitoring Trachoma Programs. PLoS Negl Trop Dis. 2012;6: e1873. doi:10.1371/journal.pntd.0001873
- Wang J, Zhang Y, Lu C, Lei L, Yu P, Zhong G. A genome-wide profiling of the humoral immune response to *Chlamydia trachomatis* infection reveals vaccine candidate antigens expressed in humans. J Immunol. 2010;185: 1670–80. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1001240
- Goodhew EB, Morgan SMG, Switzer AJ, Munoz B, Dize L, Gaydos C, et al. Longitudinal analysis of antibody responses to trachoma antigens before and after mass drug administration. BMC Infect Dis. England: BioMed Central Ltd.; 2014;14: 216. doi:10.1186/1471-2334-14-216
- 4. Martin DL, Wiegand R, Goodhew B, Lammie P, Black CM, West S, et al. Serological Measures of Trachoma Transmission Intensity. Sci Rep. 2015;5: 18532. doi:10.1038/srep18532
- Migchelsen SJ, Martin DL, Southisombath K, Turyaguma P, Heggen A, Rubangakene PP, et al. Defining Seropositivity Thresholds for Use in Trachoma Elimination Studies. PLoS Negl Trop Dis. 2017;11: e0005230. doi:10.1371/journal.pntd.0005230
- Miao D, Zhang P, Gong Y, Yamaguchi T, Iritani Y, Blackall PJ. The development and application of a blocking ELISA kit for the diagnosis of infectious coryza. Avian Pathol. 2000;29: 219–225. doi:10.1080/03079450050045477

Chapter 4 - Defining seropositivity thresholds for use in trachoma elimination studies



Registry

T: +44(0)20 7299 4646 F: +44(0)20 7299 4656 E: registry@!shtm.ac.uk

RESEARCH PAPER COVER SHEET

PLEASE NOTE THAT A COVER SHEET MUST BE COMPLETED <u>FOR EACH</u> RESEARCH PAPER INCLUDED IN A THESIS.

SECTION A – Student Details

Student	Stephanic Migchelsen
Principal Supervisor	David Makey
Thesis Title	chumudia trachanatis servicy as a maanson monitoring
	problem

If the Research Paper has previously been published please complete Section B, if not please move to Section C

SECTION B – Paper already published

Where was the work published?		
When was the work published?		10
If the work was published prior to registration for your research degree, give a brief rationale for its inclusion	2	
Have you retained the copyright for the work?*	Was the work subject to academic peer review?	

*If yes, please attach evidence of retention. If no, or if the work is being included in its published format, please attach evidence of permission from the copyright holder (publisher or other author) to include this work.

SECTION C – Prepared for publication, but not yet published

Where is the work intended to be published?	PLOS NTD
Please list the paper's authors in the intended authorship order:	Higchelsen, Woodhall, Handley, Habey, Roberts
Stage of publication	ready to be submitted

SECTION D – Multi-authored work

Improving health worldwide	www.lshtm.ac.uk			
Supervisor Signature: _	Date: 12/4/18			
Student Signature:	Date: 10/09/18			
For multi-authored work, give full details of your role in the research included in the paper and in the preparation of the paper. (Attach a further sheet if necessary)	Fronducted the systematic review, produced the figures, wrote and edited the manuscript			

Summary

In the previous chapter, the development of a Pgp3-specific ELISA was explained. In this chapter, the narrative focuses on appropriate means to set thresholds for positivity.

Both ELISAs and multiplex bead assays (MBA) produce continuous numerical readings as output for samples tested; ELISA results are measured in optical density (OD), while MBA results are median fluorescence intensity minus background (MFI-bkgd). It is appealing to assign a classification (seropositive or seronegative) to each sample assayed. This is challenging however, as the range of output value in the seropositive and seronegative populations will overlap to a lesser or greater extent.

In the following study, the author explored techniques of setting thresholds using data three sets of samples, each one from a population that was being assessed following trachoma prevalence surveys.

Previous studies have relied on Receive Operator Characteristic (ROC) curves; however, this runs the risk of reference standard misclassification if the references are inappropriately selected. To reduce the risk of setting an inappropriate seropositivity threshold, the author explored possible solutions based solely on data generated during the study. The author included a method based on visual examination of the data, to demonstrate that the threshold based on human pattern recognition is consistent with those set by more complex modelling techniques such as finite mixture modelling and expectation-maximisation algorithm. All three of these methods established similar thresholds.

In comparison, three thresholds were set using an ROC curve. Thresholds were set to maximise Youden's J-index to balance sensitivity and specificity, the second and third were set for high sensitivity (minimum 80%) and high specificity (minimum 98%), respectively. The thresholds set using the ROC curve were higher than those set using internal calibration and therefore were more specific but had reduced sensitivity.

Setting appropriate thresholds allows for the estimation of seroprevalence, a measure that can be easily understood. Furthermore, additional analyses, such as estimating changes in force of infection (FoI) over time depend on age-specific seroprevalence estimates. In a longitudinal context, however, the change in seroprevalence over time, from a survey prior to the commencement of MDA compared to a follow-up or monitoring survey may be of greater importance than the absolute seroprevalence.

The subsequent chapter relies on the seroprevalence estimates established in this chapter to estimate changes in the FoI in two districts in The Gambia.



Citation: Migchelsen SJ, Martin DL, Southisombath K, Turyaguma P, Heggen A, Rubangakene PP, et al. (2017) Defining Seropositivity Thresholds for Use in Trachoma Elimination Studies. PLoS Negl Trop Dis 11(1): e0005230. doi:10.1371/journal.pntd.0005230

Editor: Christian Johnson, Fondation Raoul Follereau, FRANCE

Received: August 30, 2016

Accepted: December 5, 2016

Published: January 18, 2017

Copyright: This is an open access article, free of all copyright, and may be freely reproduced, distributed, transmitted, modified, built upon, or otherwise used by anyone for any lawful purpose. The work is made available under the <u>Creative</u> Commons CCO public domain dedication.

Data Availability Statement: All country files are available from the DataCompass database (datacompass.lshtm.ac.uk) (accession number disk0/00/00/02/47).

Funding: The funders had no role in study design, data collection and analysis, decision to publish, or preparation of the manuscript. This work was funded by grants from the Wellcome Trust (https:// wellcome.ac.uk/)(098521/B/12/Z, WT098051, GR079246MA and WT093368MA). ChR is funded by the Wellcome Trust Institutional Strategic RESEARCH ARTICLE

Defining Seropositivity Thresholds for Use in Trachoma Elimination Studies

Stephanie J. Migchelsen¹*, Diana L. Martin², Khamphoua Southisombath³, Patrick Turyaguma⁴, Anne Heggen⁵, Peter Paul Rubangakene⁶, Hassan Joof⁷, Pateh Makalo⁷, Gretchen Cooley², Sarah Gwyn⁸, Anthony W. Solomon^{1,9}, Martin J. Holland¹, Paul Courtright¹⁰, Rebecca Willis¹¹, Neal D. E. Alexander¹², David C. W. Mabey¹, Chrissy H., Roberts¹

 Clinical Research Department, London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine, London, United Kingdom,
 Division of Parasitic Diseases and Malaria, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Atlanta, Georgia, United States of America (DLM, GC), 3 Center for Ophthalmology, Ministry of Health, Vientiane, Lao People's Democratic Republic, 4 Trachoma Control Programme, Ugandan Ministry of Health, Kampala, Uganda,
 NTD Support Centre, Decatur, Georgia, United States of America, 6 ENVISION PROGRAMME, RTI International, Kampala, Uganda, 7 Medical Research Council Unit The Gambia, Fajara, The Gambia,
 IHRC, Inc., Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Atlanta, Georgia, United States of America,
 Department of Control of Neglected Tropical Diseases, World Health Organization, Geneva, Switzerland,
 Kilimanjaro Centre for Community Ophthalmology, University Cape Town, South Africa, 11 International Trachoma Initiative, The Task Force for Global Health, Decatur, Georgia, United States of America, 12 MRC Tropical Epidemiology Group, Infectious Disease Epidemiology Department, London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine, London, United Kingdom

* stephanie.migchelsen@lshtm.ac.uk

Abstract

Background

Efforts are underway to eliminate trachoma as a public health problem by 2020. Programmatic guidelines are based on clinical signs that correlate poorly with *Chlamydia trachomatis* (Ct) infection in post-treatment and low-endemicity settings. Age-specific seroprevalence of anti Ct Pgp3 antibodies has been proposed as an alternative indicator of the need for intervention. To standardise the use of these tools, it is necessary to develop an analytical approach that performs reproducibly both within and between studies.

Methodology

Dried blood spots were collected in 2014 from children aged 1–9 years in Laos (n = 952) and Uganda (n = 2700) and from people aged 1–90 years in The Gambia (n = 1868). Anti-Pgp3 antibodies were detected by ELISA. A number of visual and statistical analytical approaches for defining serological status were compared.

Principal Findings

Seroprevalence was estimated at 11.3% (Laos), 13.4% (Uganda) and 29.3% (The Gambia) by visual inspection of the inflection point. The expectation-maximisation algorithm estimated seroprevalence at 10.4% (Laos), 24.3% (Uganda) and 29.3% (The Gambia). Finite mixture model estimates were 15.6% (Laos), 17.1% (Uganda) and 26.2% (The Gambia). Receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curve analysis using a threshold calibrated against Support Fund (105609/Z/14/Z). SJM is funded by the Wellcome Trust. NA receives support from the United Kingdom Medical Research Council (MRC) (http://www.mrc.ac.uk/) and Department for International Development (DFID) (https://www. gov.uk/government/organisations/department-forinternational-development) (MR/K012126/1). The fieldwork in Laos was supported by the United States Agency for International Development (USAID) (https://www.usaid.gov/) via its END in Asia project, implemented by FHI360 (https://www. fhi360.org/) under cooperative agreement number OAA-A-10-00051. The fieldwork in Uganda was supported by the Coalition for Operational Research on the NTDs (COR-NTD) (http://www. ntdsupport.org/cor-ntd) which is funded at the Task Force for Global Health (http://www.taskforce. org/) by the Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation (http://www.gatesfoundation.org/) and by the United States Agency for International Development through its Neglected Tropical Diseases-Support Center Program.

Competing Interests: SG is employed by the commercial company IHRC, Inc. and is a contractor at the Centres for Disease Control and Prevention. The authors have declared that no competing interests exist.

external reference specimens estimated the seroprevalence at 6.7% (Laos), 6.8% (Uganda) and 20.9% (The Gambia) when the threshold was set to optimise Youden's J index. The ROC curve analysis was found to estimate seroprevalence at lower levels than estimates based on thresholds established using internal reference data. Thresholds defined using internal reference threshold methods did not vary substantially between population samples.

Conclusions

Internally calibrated approaches to threshold specification are reproducible and consistent and thus have advantages over methods that require external calibrators. We propose that future serological analyses in trachoma use a finite mixture model or expectation-maximisation algorithm as a means of setting the threshold for ELISA data. This will facilitate standardisation and harmonisation between studies and eliminate the need to establish and maintain a global calibration standard.

Author Summary

Trachoma is caused by the bacterium *Chlamydia trachomatis* (Ct). Individuals who have previously been infected with Ct carry specific antibodies in their blood. Recent studies have suggested that these antibodies may be a good way to estimate the intensity of transmission of this bacterium in a population. Among people who do have antibodies (seropositives) there is variation in the amount that is detectable in their blood. Some people have such low levels that differentiating them from those who don't have antibodies (seronegatives) is challenging. We used a new test for Ct antibodies on blood specimens from three countries. Our test worked extremely well, giving reproducible results when we tested the same samples multiple times. We compared four different methods for setting the position of the threshold line between seronegatives and seropositives. The estimated transmission intensity in each country varied depending on the threshold method used, but two methods that used statistical modelling algorithms to define the two groups performed consistently across all three countries' samples. We recommend that future studies should consider adopting the statistical modelling approaches, as they are objective tests that require no reference material and allow for standardisation between studies.

Introduction

Trachoma is caused by ocular infection with the bacterium *Chlamydia trachomatis* (Ct) [1]. It is the leading infectious cause of blindness worldwide [2]. The World Health Organization (WHO) estimates that over 200 million people in 42 countries are at risk from trachoma blindness [3], that 1.4 million people experience moderate to severe visual impairment because of the disease and that of these, around 450,000 have been irreversibly blinded [4].

The most commonly used system for estimating the prevalence of trachoma uses the WHO simplified grading system [5] of clinical signs of trachoma. These include trachomatous inflammation—follicular (TF), trachomatous inflammation—intense (TI) and trachomatous trichiasis (TT), which is the rubbing of the eyelashes against the globe of the eye. WHO guide-lines recommend the SAFE strategy to combat trachoma: <u>S</u>urgery to treat trichiasis, annual

mass-drug administration (MDA) of <u>A</u>ntibiotics to treat Ct infection and <u>F</u>acial cleanliness and <u>E</u>nvironmental improvement to reduce transmission. Implementation of the SAFE strategy and cessation of MDA depends on the prevalence of TF in children aged 1–9 years. Concerns have been raised about the appropriateness of having treatment guidelines based on clinical signs such as TF and TI. In some low endemicity [6,7] and post-MDA settings [8,9], both TF and TI correlate poorly with the prevalence of Ct infection and both clinical signs are sometimes associated with bacteria other than Ct [10,11].

Tests for infection have been suggested as possible tools for trachoma control programmes. Numerous nucleic acid-amplification tests (NAATs) have been developed, including the adapted use of commercial kits originally designed for diagnosing genitourinary Ct infections [12–16]. NAATs have been shown to be cost-effective in some settings [17] but concerns have been raised that the per-sample cost of NAATs can be too much for national eye health programmes in countries where trachoma remains a problem [18]. The cost of specialist devices and platforms for deploying NAATs can also be prohibitive.

Serology has been suggested as a possible alternative to clinical signs and infection testing, as it indicates the cumulative exposure to Ct [19,20], with the potential to assess the impact of intervention efforts [21]. By monitoring the exposure to Ct of the youngest age groups, born after implementation of MDA, serology may prove useful for confirming that transmission has been interrupted [22].

Serology has recently been used in several studies [19,20,22–24], three of which have taken place in districts that have completed three or more rounds of MDA [22–24]. These studies have used the multiplex bead array platform (Bio-rad, Hercules, California) to detect antibodies against Pgp3 and CT694, antigens thought to be highly immunogenic [25]. Because this platform is costly, technically complex and unlikely to be found in most laboratories in resource-limited regions, alternative, simpler methods of antibody detection have been proposed [22,26].

To make serological testing more widely accessible, the Pgp3/CT694 assay used in previous studies [19,20,22–24] has been adapted for use in a simple Pgp3-specific enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA). Pgp3 is a Ct-specific 84kDa heterotrimeric protein [27] and is recognised by specific IgG [28]. It is thought to be the most immunodominant of the proteins encoded by the Ct plasmid that is unique to Ct [29].

ELISAs are routinely used to detect specific IgG in dried blood spots [30–34]. ELISA data, measured as optical density (OD) is quantitative and continuous. It is desirable to be able to assign a classification (seronegative, seropositive) to each sample, but this can be challenging because the distributions of OD values in the negative and positive populations may overlap to a greater or lesser extent [34]. The aim of this study was to determine the most appropriate method for setting the threshold for positivity as well as to determine the usefulness of an anti-Pgp3-specific ELISA for identifying communities in which the transmission of ocular Ct has been interrupted. We tested dried blood spots collected as part of trachoma surveys in three countries: Laos, Uganda and The Gambia. We evaluated the age-specific seroprevalence using four methods and compared the resulting estimates of prevalence of seropositivity based on six possible thresholds. We discuss the merits of the different methods in the context of programmes seeking to monitor the elimination of trachoma as a public health problem.

Methods and Materials

Ethics statement

This study was conducted in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki. This study received approval from the Ethics Committee of the London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine

(LSHTM; references 6319, 6514, 8355, 8918), UK; the Ministry of Health of the Lao People's Democratic Republic (No:48 NIOPH/NECHR), Ugandan Ministry of Health (VCD-IRC/053) and The Gambia government/Medical Research Council (MRC) Joint Ethics Committee (SCC1408v2). In all countries, a local health official explained the study to each head of house-hold, answered any questions and explained the written consent form before requesting their agreement and signature. Written (thumbprint or signature) consent was obtained from each participant or the parent or guardian of each child under 18 who participated; assent was sought from children aged 12–17.

Clinical assessment

Trachoma graders were trained according to the Global Trachoma Mapping Project (GTMP) protocols and were required to score a minimum kappa of 0.7 for the diagnosis of TF in an inter-grader agreement test with 50 eyes of 50 children [35,36]. The samples in Laos were collected in November 2014 as part of a follow-up study to the GTMP work completed there. Three districts in three regions were selected based on baseline trachoma survey findings that indicated potential 'hot spots' [37]. From these three regions, all children aged 1–9 in selected villages were invited to participate. Trachoma elimination programmes have never been undertaken in Laos. In Uganda, samples were collected as part of a trachoma impact survey in May 2014, following three years (2010–2012) of implementation of the A, F and E components of the SAFE strategy in two regions (Pader and Agogo). Prior to MDA, trachoma was considered highly endemic in these regions, although no data is publicly available. This study was a population based prevalence survey, which used a two stage sampling strategy; villages were selected with probability proportional to size, and households were randomly selected within each selected village based on a household list produced by the village chief and local health officials.

All children aged 1–9 years in the selected households were invited to participate. In The Gambia, a population based prevalence survey using a two stage sampling strategy was undertaken in February-March 2014; villages were selected with probability proportional to size, and households were randomly selected within each selected village based on a household list produced by the village chief and local health officials. One region, Lower River Region (LRR) had undergone three rounds of annual (2007–2009) MDA for trachoma, while the other, Upper River Region (URR), has never had trachoma elimination activities because trachoma has not been of a sufficiently high prevalence to justify implementation. All members of randomly selected households were invited to participate, regardless of age.

After informed consent was obtained, a trachoma grader examined both eyes for signs of trachoma using a binocular loupe (2.5×) and a torch. The grader changed gloves between each participant to minimise the risk of carry-over contamination. Antibiotics were provided to individuals with evidence of active trachoma and/or the affected household, according to each country's national policy.

Blood collection

Each participant had a finger-prick blood sample collected onto filter paper (Trop-Bio Pty, Townsville, Australia), using a sterile single-use lancet (BD Microtrainer, Dublin, Ireland). Each filter paper had six extensions, calibrated to absorb 10 μ L of blood. Samples were airdried for approximately five hours and then stored in individual Whirl-Pak plastic bags (Nasco, Modesto, California) with desiccant sachets (Whatman, Little Chalfont, UK) before being stored at -20°C.

All samples were shipped to LSHTM for testing.

ELISA analysis of anti-Ct-Pgp3 antibodies

Dried blood spots (DBS) were tested for antibodies against Pgp3. One whole filter paper extension per sample was eluted in 250 µL PBS + 0.3% v/v Tween-20 (PBSTw) (Sigma-Aldrich, Dorset, UK)+ 5% w/v non-fat milk powder (PBSTw-milk) (AppliChem, Maryland Heights, USA) overnight at 4°C. Immulon 2HB 96-well plates (VWR International, Lutterworth, UK) were coated with recombinant Pgp3 protein [19] overnight at 4°C (25ng per well in 0.1M sodium carbonate buffer, pH 9.6). Plates were washed with PBSTw to remove unbound protein, blocked with 100 µL PBSTw for 1 hour at 4°C and washed two times. Control sera with known ratios of Pgp3 antibodies (1000 units, 500 units, 200 units, 50 units and negative control serum) and a blank consisting of PBSTw-milk were run on every plate. All samples and controls were tested in triplicate at a 1:50 dilution in PBSTw-milk. After 2 hours incubation on an orbital shaker at room temperature, wells were washed 5 times and 50 μ L of an HRP-labelled mouse anti-human IgG(Fc)-HRP (Southern Biotech, Birmingham, USA) diluted 1:32,000 was added. Plates were incubated for 1 hour on an orbital plate shaker at room temperature then washed 5 times to remove unbound antibody. Fifty microliters of TMB (KPL, Gaithersburg, USA) was added and the mixture was incubated in the dark for 9 minutes at room temperature. The reaction was stopped with 50 μ L 1N H₂SO₄ and optical density was read at 450 nm (OD₄₅₀) on a Spectramax M3 plate reader (Molecular Devices, Wokingham UK). Readings were corrected for background by subtracting the average absorbance of three blank wells containing no serum, using Softmax Pro5 software (Molecular Devices, Wokingham UK).

Data analysis

Blanked OD_{450} values for samples and controls were normalised by dividing the mean of the three wells against the mean of 200 unit control included on each plate. This was done for each plate.

Data analysis for ELISA was performed separately and masked to the results of demographic and clinical information. Statistical analysis was carried out using R [38].

Defining seropositivity

We used four different methods for establishing a threshold for seropositivity: visual inspection of the inflection point (VIP), a finite mixture model (FMM) [39], the expectation-maximisation algorithm (EM) [40] and an receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curve based on previously-assayed dried blood spots from children in Tanzania [19]. There are as yet no accepted guidelines as to what level of sensitivity or specificity is required of a serological test; thus we referred to a previously published template [18] and established three possible thresholds from the ROC curve: one maximising specificity, one with a sensitivity greater than 80% [18] and one optimising the balance between sensitivity and specificity, by maximising Youden's J-index [41].

Visual inflection point (VIP)

We asked 12 arbitrarily selected non-laboratory staff and students at LSHTM to visually examine a simple plot of the sorted OD_{450} data curves and determine the inflection point for each sample set. For this exercise, we defined the inflection point as the point on the data curve where the curve changes from predominantly horizontal to predominantly vertical. The 12 values were then averaged to determine the threshold and standard deviations (SDs) were calculated.

Finite mixture model (FMM)

A finite mixture model [42] was used to classify the samples as seropositive or seronegative based on normalised OD_{450} values. The data were fitted using maximum likelihood methods, estimating the distribution parameters for each classification group (seropositive or seronegative) as well as the proportion of samples in each category to fit the overall distribution of results [34,43,44]. The threshold for seropositivity was then defined as the mean of the Gaussian distribution of the seronegative population plus three SDs of the seronegative population [44,45]. FMM was performed on each set of samples, based on country of origin.

Expectation-maximisation algorithm (EM)

The expectation-maximisation algorithm is similar to FMM in that it classifies samples based on population parameters. It relies on the Bayesian information criterion to select an appropriate model. EM is an iterative optimization method to estimate some unknown parameter [40], in this case the threshold between seropositive and seronegative, given the number of clusters and the normalised OD_{450} values. EM estimates where to set the threshold while maximising the likelihood of each sample parameter [40]. Using the 'mclust' package in R, parameters were set to specify a univariate model with equal variance between 2 clusters [46].

Receiver operating characteristics (ROC) Curve

Serum samples from 122 children from the United States and blood spots from 11 Ct-specific PCR-positive children from Tanzania were used to make the original ROC curve [19]. A second set of 124 Tanzanian dried blood spots were assayed using the multiplex bead array and dichot-omised based on the original threshold. These samples were then re-tested with the ELISA and the data from this assay were used to generate the ROC curve used in this manuscript. The R package 'Epi' [47] was used to generate three different thresholds: the first of which maximises Youden's J-index to balance sensitivity and specificity [41], the second and third were set for high sensitivity (minimum 80%) and high specificity (minimum 98%), respectively.

Statistical analysis

The prevalence of signs of trachoma and the exact binomial confidence intervals were calculated using the R 'Stats' package [38]. Due to the low prevalence of clinical signs, Fisher's exact test was used to test for association [48].

Seroprevalence in each population was calculated using each of six thresholds. We also examined the relationship between the clinical data and serological data. Due to the low prevalence of clinical signs, data for clinical signs were pooled across all three studies.

Results

Clinical assessment

We recruited 978 Laotian children aged 1–9 years from the provinces of Attapu (n = 406), Houaphan (n = 307) and Phôngsali (n = 239). Twenty-six participants had incomplete clinical records and were excluded from further study. The proportions of the sample populations who were male were 52.9%, 60.3% and 54.0% in Attapu, Houaphan and Phôngsali, respectively. The median age was five years in all three provinces. Fifteen cases of TF were diagnosed (1.6%, exact binomial CI = 0.9%-2.6%), 11 of which were bilateral cases (Table 1). No cases of TI were observed. There was a higher prevalence of TF in Attapu (2.7%, 11/406) than in either Houaphan (1.0%, 3/307) or Phôngsali (0.4%, 1/239), (p = 0.02) using Fisher's exact test [49] with the Simes-Bonferroni correction for multiple tests [50]. 2738 children aged 1–9 years were recruited in the Ugandan districts of Agogo (n = 1388, 49.7% male) and Pader (n = 1377, 50.4% male). 38 participants were missing complete clinical data and were excluded from further study. The median age was five years in both districts. 93 cases of TF were diagnosed (3.4%, exact binomial CI = 2.8%-4.2%), 44 of which were bilateral. Eight cases of TI were diagnosed (0.3%, exact binomial CI = 0.1%-0.6%) (Table 1). No other clinical signs were assessed. The prevalence of TF was 3.2% in Agogo and 3.7% in Pader. There was no significant difference between the estimated prevalence of TF in the two districts (TF: $X^2 = 0.429$, p = 0.5125; TI: $X^2 = 3.1566$, p = 0.07562).

In the Gambia we recruited participants of all ages from the Lower River Region (LRR, n = 1028, 41.9% male) and Upper River Region (URR, n = 840, 42.5% male). Ten participants were excluded from the study because they either declined to provide a blood sample (n = 1) or had incomplete clinical data (n = 9). The median age in LRR was 13 years (range: 1–88) and 11 years in URR (range: 1–90). Overall, 30 cases of TF were diagnosed (1.6%, exact binomial CI = 1.1%-2.3%), 19 of which were bilateral (Table 1). There were 25 cases of TF in children aged 1–9 years. Four cases of TI were observed (0.2%, exact binomial CI = 0.06%-0.6%), two of which were in children aged 1–9 years. Examiners found 78 cases of TS (4.2%, exact binomial CI = 3.3%-5.2%), eight cases of TT (0.4%, exact binomial CI = 0.2%-0.8%) and one case of CO (0.05%, exact binomial CI = 0.001%-0.3%). There was a significant difference in TS prevalence between the URR and LRR ($X^2 = 7.2435$, p = 0.007116); the difference in TF prevalence was non-significant ($X^2 = 0.1343$, p = 0.714). The prevalence of TI, TT and CO in this population was too low for meaningful statistical analysis.

Observed frequencies of clinical signs of trachoma in the various samples are summarised in <u>Table 1</u>. A more detailed description, including prevalence by age and gender, is presented in Supplementary <u>S1</u>, <u>S2</u> and <u>S3</u> Tables.

Serological analysis

The five serum controls were tested in triplicate and the mean values for each plate were tracked across each sample set. The coefficient of variation was less than 10% in each of the

			_	-			
Country	Province	Ν	TF	TI	TS	TT	CO
Laos*		952	15 (1.6%)	-	-	-	-
	Attapu	406 (42.6%)	11 (2.7%)	-	-	-	-
	Houaphan	307 (32.2%)	3 (1.0%)	-	-	-	-
	Phôngsali	239 (25.1%)	1 (0.4%)	-	-	-	-
Uganda*		2700	93 (3.4%)	8 (0.3%)	-	-	-
	Agogo	1353 (50.1%)	43 (3.2%)	1 (0.1%)	-	-	-
	Pader	1347 (49.9%)	50 (3.7%)	7 (0.5%)	-	-	-
The Gambia*		1868	30 (1.6%)	4 (0.2%)	78 (4.2%)	8 (0.4%)	1 (0.1%)
All	LRR	1028 (55.0%)	18 (1.8%)	4 (0.4%)	55 (5.4%)	7 (0.7%)	1 (0.1%)
	URR	840 (45.0%)	12 (1.4%)	0 (0.0%)	23 (2.7%)	1 (0.1%)	0 (0.0%)
1–9 year olds	LRR	383 (20.5%)	14 (3.7%)	2 (0.5%)	1 (0.3%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)
	URR	359 (19.2%)	11 (3.1%)	0 (0.0%)	6 (1.7%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)
\geq 10 year olds	LRR	645 (34.5%)	4 (0.6%)	2 (0.3%)	54 (8.45)	7 (1.1%)	1 (0.2%)
	URR	481 (25.7%)	1 (0.2%)	0 (0.0%)	17 (2.6%)	1 (0.2%)	0 (0.0%)

Table 1. Distribution of participants in three trachoma studies, including clinical signs.

** Age range in Laotian and Ugandan participants was 1-9 years; age range in all Gambian participants was 1-90 years; -? not assessed.

N = Normal; F = trachomatous inflammation, follicular; TI = trachomatous inflammation-intense; TS = trachomatous scarring; TT = trachomatous trichiasis; CO = corneal opacity.LRR = Lower River Region; URR = Upper River Region.

doi:10.1371/journal.pntd.0005230.t001

Control serum	Mean	SD	Coefficient of variation	Upper limit (mean+15%)	Lower limit (mean-15%)
1000u	2.01 OD ₄₅₀	0.13 OD ₄₅₀	6.47%	2.26 OD ₄₅₀	1.75 OD ₄₅₀
500u	1.74 OD ₄₅₀	0.13 OD ₄₅₀	7.38%	2.00 OD ₄₅₀	1.49 OD ₄₅₀
200u	1.11 OD ₄₅₀	0.10 OD ₄₅₀	9.46%	1.31 OD ₄₅₀	0.90 OD ₄₅₀
50u	0.63 OD ₄₅₀	0.06 OD ₄₅₀	9.45%	0.74 OD ₄₅₀	0.51 OD ₄₅₀
Negative control serum	0.28 OD ₄₅₀	0.02 OD ₄₅₀	8.51%	0.32 OD ₄₅₀	0.23 OD ₄₅₀

Table 2. The mean OD₄₅₀ value for the five controls sera used on the ELISA plates. Mean, SD and coefficient of variation for the five serum standards run alongside the Ugandan samples across 24 plates. Data were similar for the standards run alongside the Laotian and Gambian samples.

doi:10.1371/journal.pntd.0005230.t002

three replicates of each control specimen. Inter-plate variation of controls was less than 15% across all plates in each sample set as shown in Table 2. A plate was permitted to have no more than one control with >15% variation from the sample set mean for that control; if a plate had two or more controls with values more than 15% greater or lesser than the sample set mean, the plate was re-run. Less than 5% of plates were re-run due to this. Table 2 shows the mean values and the accepted 15% range for the five controls.

The sample set for each country was tested separately. Each plate showed a large but narrowly distributed proportion of low-OD specimens, with a smaller proportion of higher-OD specimens. Fig 1 shows typical results from an ELISA plate. In all three sample sets, density data peak around 0.25 OD_{450} ; this can be seen in centre panels B in Figs 2, 3 and 4.

Visual inflection point (VIP)

The leftmost panels of Figs 2A, 3A and 4A were shown to 12 people, each of whom was asked to determine each graph's point of inflection. The mean of the inflection points was calculated for each sample set and the SD and range were calculated. For Laos, the mean threshold was calculated to be 0.619 OD_{450} (SD = 8.2%, range 0.485-0.750); for Uganda the threshold was calculated to be 0.641 OD_{450} (SD = 14.4%, range 0.410-0.795) and for The Gambia the threshold was calculated to be 0.579 OD_{450} (SD = 7.3%, range 0.402-0.673). The sorted normalised OD₄₅₀ values are shown in Figs 2A, 3A and 4A (leftmost panels), alongside marginal density distribution plots of the same values (centre panels) and boxplots (rightmost panels) showing the range of the 12 threshold values that were selected by the volunteers.





doi:10.1371/journal.pntd.0005230.g001



Fig 2. Threshold values for Laos (1–9 year olds) data. Panel A shows the threshold as determined by visual inflection point analysis by 12 volunteer individuals. Volunteers had access only to the data presented in the leftmost panels, which shows sorted OD_{450} values. The second panel in A shows the density of data points for the sample while the third panel in A shows a box and whisker plots with the range of threshold values that were selected by the 12 volunteers. The box shows the inter-quartile range for the values, with the thick horizontal line marking the median value. Whiskers show the upper quartile plus 1.5x the range between the 1st and 3rd quartiles. Outliers are shown by an open circle. **Panel B** shows the thresholds set by the finite mixture model and expectation-maximisation algorithm. Density plots of normalised OD values and thresholds, showing the FMM estimated distribution functions of 'seronegative' specimens in red and 'seropositive' specimens in green. Vertical lines show the threshold specifications by four different methods. Scatterplots show the oper maximisation algorithm (left-most lines). **Panel C** compares the threshold specifications by four different methods. Scatterplots show the ormalised and sorted OD_{450} values with horizontal lines marking the threshold specified by VIP ($OD_{450} = 0.619$), EM ($OD_{450} = 0.696$), FMM ($OD_{450} = 0.696$), ROC curve maximising Youden's J-index ($OD_{450} = 0.870$), ROC curve with sensitivity >80% ($OD_{450} = 0.968$) and ROC curve with specificity >98% ($OD_{450} = 1.951$).

doi:10.1371/journal.pntd.0005230.g002

Finite mixture model (FMM)

A finite mixture model was tested on all three sample sets, setting the threshold at the mean of the seronegative population plus three SDs [44,45]. The thresholds were set at 0.6963 OD₄₅₀, 0.5537 OD₄₅₀ and 0.6725 OD₄₅₀ for Laos, Uganda and The Gambia, respectively. The FMMs are shown in Figs 2B, <u>3B</u> and <u>4B</u>.



Fig 3. Threshold values for Uganda (1–9 year olds) data. Panel A shows the threshold as determined by visual inflection point analysis by 12 volunteer individuals, as detailed in Fig 2. **Panel B** shows the thresholds set by the finite mixture model and expectation-maximisation algorithm, as described in Fig 2. **Panel C** compares the threshold specifications by four different methods. Scatterplots show the normalised and sorted OD_{450} values with horizontal lines marking the thresholds specified by VIP ($OD_{450} = 0.641$), EM ($OD_{450} = 0.450$), FMM ($OD_{450} = 0.554$), ROC curve maximising Youden's J-index ($OD_{450} = 0.870$), ROC curve with sensitivity >80% ($OD_{450} = 0.968$) and ROC curve with specificity>98% ($OD_{450} = 1.951$).

doi:10.1371/journal.pntd.0005230.g003

Expectation-maximisation algorithm (EM)

An EM model was fitted to all three sample sets, specifying parameters for a univariate model with equal variance between 2 clusters [45]. The thresholds were set at 0.65 OD_{450} , 0.45 OD_{450} and 0.57 OD_{450} for Laos, Uganda and The Gambia, respectively. The EM-derived threshold selections are shown in Figs 2B, 3B and 4B.

ROC curve

Using the ROC curve to set a threshold optimising Youden's J-index to balance specificity and sensitivity resulted in a threshold at 0.870 OD_{450} (specificity 93.9%, sensitivity 91.4%). Setting the threshold to ensure a minimum sensitivity of 80% resulted in a threshold at 0.965 OD₄₅₀ (specificity 94.8%, sensitivity 89.4%). Setting the threshold for a minimum specificity of 98% resulted in a threshold at 1.951 OD₄₅₀ (specificity 98.28%, sensitivity 43.94%). Fig 5 shows the ROC curve with the three thresholds identified.

Panels 2C, 3C and 4C show all six thresholds in relation to the normalised OD_{450} data in each of the three populations. The internally calibrated methods (i.e., VIP, FMM and EM) were reasonably conformant and appeared to favour threshold placements that were substantially lower than those set by the ROC, which is calibrated with Tanzanian specimens, even when a higher sensitivity (i.e., lower threshold value) test was specified in the ROC analysis. As a consequence of this, the seroprevalence estimates that were determined by VIP, EM and FMM were similar to one another, while the seroprevalence estimates set by any of the ROC curve thresholds were much lower in all three populations (Table 3).

Seroprevalence for each sample set, using the six different thresholds were calculated, along with 95% confidence intervals. As the threshold increases in value, fewer specimens are classified as being seropositive, decreasing the seroprevalence. The seroprevalence for each sample set at each threshold is presented in Table 3. Seroprevalence for each country by sex, region and age is provided in Supplementary S4, S5 and S6 Tables.

Table 4 presents the proportion of seropositive samples by clinical grade, as estimated by each threshold specification. Due to the relatively low prevalence of all clinical signs, prevalence values for have been pooled.





doi:10.1371/journal.pntd.0005230.g004



Fig 5. Receiver Operating Characteristic (ROC) curve showing the relationship between sensitivity, specificity and threshold values. Three different thresholds were specified to meet the requirements of: (A) an assay (threshold = 0.870 OD_{450} , specificity = 93.9%, sensitivity = 91.4%, PPV = 89.8%, NPV = 92.4%) with balanced sensitivity and specificity (maximal Youden's J value); (B) an assay (threshold = 0.965 OD_{450} , specificity 94.8%, sensitivity = 89.4%) with at least 80% sensitivity and (C) an assay (threshold = 1.951 OD_{450} , specificity = 98.3%, sensitivity = 43.9%, PPV = 66.7%, NPV = 95.0%) with at least 98% specificity.

doi:10.1371/journal.pntd.0005230.g005

Discussion

Several previous studies have used anti-Pgp3-specific ELISAs to test for genital chlamydial infection [21,51–54] but only one [55] has used the method for the detection of antibodies against ocular chlamydial infection. In this study, we used an ELISA test to detect IgG antibodies specific to the Ct protein Pgp3 in studies with large sample sizes from three countries. To

Table 3.	Seroprevalence b	v Country, as estimated	l using alternate thresh	old specification methods.
		,,,,		

		Threshold % (95% Confidence Interval)												
		VIP		EM		FMM		ROC Youden's J-index		ROC Sensitivity >80%		ROC Specificity > 98%		
	N	OD = 0.619		OD = 0.65		OD = 0.696		OD = 0.870		OD = 0.965		OD = 1.951		
Laos (1–9 year olds)	952	11.3%	(9.4–13.6)	10.4%	(8.6–12.6)	15.6%	(13.3–18.0)	6.7%	(5.3–8.6)	6.3%	(4.9–8.1)	1.1%	(0.5–2.0)	
		O	OD = 0.641		OD = 0.45		OD = 0.5537							
Uganda (1–9 year olds)	2700	13.4%	(12.1–14.7)	24.3%	(22.7–26.0)	17.1%	(16.0–18.9)	6.8%	(5.9–7.8)	5.3%	(4.5–6.2)	0.3%	(0.1–0.8)	
		0	OD = 0.57 OD = 0.57		OD = 0.672									
The Gambia (all ages)	1868	29.3%	(27.3–31.5)	29.3%	(27.3–31.5)	26.2%	(24.2–28.2)	20.9%	(19.1–22.9)	18.9%	(17.2–20.8)	3.3%	(2.6-4.3)	

Seroprevalence by Gender, Region and Age is provided in Supplementary S2 Table.

VIP = visual inflection point; EM = expectation-maximisation algorithm; FMM = finite mixture model; ROC = receiver-operating characteristic curve.

OD = optical density, measured at 450 nm.

doi:10.1371/journal.pntd.0005230.t003
date, this is the largest study to measure antibodies to Ct in trachoma-endemic populations and the first to look at populations from more than one country, including East Africa, West Africa and Southeast Asia. We have shown that within and between runs there is a low coefficient of variation in the assay and that the bimodal data distribution of normalised OD_{450} values in those samples reflects that which would be expected in populations where a minority of individuals are seropositive and where there is a broad range of antibody titres in the seropositive sub-population. This is best observed in the data from the Gambia (Fig 4), where we included adults in the sample and where the more substantial seropositive sub-population can be accounted for by both sexually transmitted Ct infection and the formerly high level of endemicity of trachoma in the Gambia.

Clinical specimens without any Ct-specific IgG still have some degree of baseline reactivity in ELISA tests because of non-specific binding of irrelevant antibodies. There is also substantial between-specimen variation in seropositives, which reflects natural variation in the antibody titre. The potential for there being substantial overlap between the seronegative specimens with high baselines and the seropositives with low anti-Pgp3 antibody titres means that it can be difficult to differentiate between the two groups.

There is very little published information on the prevalence of trachoma in Laos and Uganda [56], but on the evidence of our analysis, clinical signs of disease are rare and the levels of seropositivity appear to be comparable to those in The Gambia, where elimination has been declared. We have no data on the prevalence of Ct infection in the communities in Laos and Uganda, nor is there any longitudinal data to monitor changes in antibody levels following documented infection. Numerous studies have looked at the prevalence of ocular Ct infection in The Gambia and shown it to be negligible [7,57,58]. All the populations we studied have received MDA and we did not screen a population with higher prevalence levels. Further research in meso- and hyper-endemic populations will be needed in order to assess the utility of this method in other settings.

We have shown how the method that is selected for the statistical interpretation of ELISA data (with particular regard to the method of threshold specification) can greatly change the population prevalence estimates that are derived. Methods that indicate the use of a higher threshold value are likely to be more specific and have a higher positive predictive value

	No si	gn of trachoma ac	cording to the system	ne WHO simplified	A	ctive trachoma	Sca	arring trachoma		
		% (95% coi	nfidence inte	erval)		(TF and/or TI)	(TS an	(TS and/or TT and/or CO)		
		1–9 year-olds	1	10+ year-olds		% (95%Cl)		% (95%CI)		
N across all studies		4268		964		150	87			
VIP*	11.1	(10.2–12.1)	42.8	(39.7–46.0)	9.3	(5.4–15.5)	70.1	(59.2–79.2)		
EM*	17.1	(16.0–18.2)	42.8	(39.7–46.0)	12	(7.5–18.6)	70.1	(59.2–79.2)		
FMM*	12.7	(11.8–13.8)	38.5	(35.4–41.6)	16.7	(11.3–23.8)	69	(58.0–78.2)		
J-index	5.8	(5.1–6.5)	31.8	(28.9–34.9)	4	(1.6-8.9)	55.2	(44.2–65.7)		
Sensitivity >80%	4.7	(4.1–5.4)	28.8	(26.0–31.8)	3.3	(1.2-8.0)	49.4	(38.6–60.2)		
Specificity >98%	0.4	(0.2–0.7)	4.8	(3.6–6.4)	0	(0–3.1)	16.1	(9.4–25.9)		

Table 4. Prop	ortion of partic	ipants with differen	t phenotypes	s considered sero	positive by	/ each threshold.

*Note that country-specific thresholds were used for VIP, EM and FMM.

TF = trachomatous inflammation, follicular; TI = trachomatous inflammation-intense; TS = trachomatous scarring; TT = trachomatous trichiasis;

CO = corneal opacity.

VIP = visual inflection point; EM = expectation-maximisation algorithm; FMM = finite mixture model.

doi:10.1371/journal.pntd.0005230.t004

(PPV), but they do incur a penalty in the form of reduced sensitivity. In the context of post-MDA trachoma control, a test with high PPV is more desirable as over-diagnosis might lead to the inappropriate continuation of MDA interventions. Meanwhile a lower sensitivity test, applied in a low prevalence setting such as the post-MDA population of the Gambia, is likely to have a high negative predictive value (NPV) and the clinical impact of the false negative rate is likely to be modest as long as the sensitivity does not fall too far. In our hands, the ROC analysis supported the use of higher thresholds than did the other methods. Unfortunately the reference material was not sampled from any natural population and so the estimated sensitivity and specificity of the test based on ROC were unlikely to reflect the true performance in the populations that were sampled in this study [59].

We explored three internally calibrated thresholding methods (i.e. using only data generated during the study), all of which specified thresholds at approximately the same OD_{450} value. This was true across sample sets from all three countries. It is perhaps unsurprising that similar estimates emerged from FMM and EM, as there are methodological similarities in the two approaches. At face value the VIP method might seem arbitrary and crude, but the human brain can outperform computers in some aspects of pattern recognition and by obtaining a threshold estimate that closely matches that of EM and FMM, our data indicate that the results of a conditionally independent method (VIP) correlate closely with the computational approaches and are able to successfully determine where the most obvious bimodal split in the data occurs. What gives FMM and EM the edge over VIP is that they are more replicable and that the different requirements for higher or lower specificity and sensitivity in different clinical settings can be controlled by changing the number of SDs that the algorithm uses to determine the cut point. For instance, an increasingly specific test could be implemented by setting the threshold at four, five or six SDs of the negative population, rather than three SDs we used here. None of the populations that we surveyed would be expected (based on clinical signs) to have a high level of Ct seropositivity and it may be that the data in Tables 3 and 4 (and Supplementary Data S4, S5 and S6 Tables) reflect a high false positive rate, low positive predictive value. By adjusting the parameters of the algorithms we might achieve a prevalence estimate that is more accurate, but without any gold standard we can never truly assess how accurate our estimates are. In the Gambian data, using respectively 4 or 5 SDs would have led to cut points at respectively OD = 0.81 and OD = 0.95, values much closer to the cut-points recommended by the ROC analysis.

For programmatic purposes, the absolute value and accuracy of the prevalence estimate is actually somewhat less important than the precision of that estimate and the longitudinal change in repeat measures from the same population across the lifetime of the intervention and monitoring programme. This is because the absolute estimate is clearly highly variable given quite arbitrary choices made during data analysis, whilst percentage changes in population seroprevalence across time (regardless of the actual number values) can be indicative of the effectiveness of MDA. As long as the method is fixed and replicable, then both longitudinal and between-population comparisons are appropriate and will have a fixed level of error, even though the absolute accuracy will remain unknown. The real value of using an internally controlled method such as FMM or EM is that it is possible to use an algorithmic approach that is simple to apply to any data set and which requires no additional testing of external specimens or controls. In this study, we generated a ROC curve based on specimens that had previously been calibrated against the original reference standards described by Goodhew *et al* [19]. There is no gold standard for serological testing of chlamydia, and mis-classification in the reference standards is likely to have introduced error in the reference panel. Goodhew described how one PCR-positive DBS tested negative for antibodies against Pgp3, while three samples that were in the negative reference group tested positive for antibodies against Pgp3 [19]. As these original reference standards were no longer available, we have had to rely on a second set of standards that were tested against the original standards. Problems relating to the ROC reference specimens could be solved by the establishment of a fully maintained and quality controlled international standard, but this is unlikely to happen as it is would be very difficult to identify a reliable source of large volumes of seropositive plasma.

FMM has been used in numerous serological studies [34,39,43,45,60–66] and we propose that it, or the closely related EM, should be considered as the method of choice when performing data analysis for trachoma serology data. In trachoma control programmes, the SD parameter should be adjusted to favour high specificity and a larger number of SDs than used here would seem appropriate. One attractive option would be to use data from a post-elimination country (i.e. the Gambia) to subtract out the background positivity and by doing so calibrate or normalise the test for use in populations where elimination has not yet been reached and prevalence is unknown.

Variability and error are inherent to any diagnostic test and with every change in reference standard and assay technique, variability and error increase over and above any variation that may be inherent in a test due to inter- or intra- centre and user variation. Thus, we believe that an alternate approach to assay design, reference selection and threshold specification should be considered.

For all the sample sets included in this study, the density data peak around 0.25 OD_{450} (Figs 2A, 3A and 4A), suggesting that a comparison of seroprevalence levels between populations is possible. Compared to ROC curves, internally-referenced thresholds inherently account for differing background levels in each population. If not accounted for using the ROC curve, this may result in an under- or over-estimation of seroprevalence. This will facilitate the programmatic usage of seroprevalence levels set by the finite mixture model or expectation-maximisation algorithm if serology is to be adopted as an alternative monitoring method.

Conclusion

The ELISA assay presented in this paper is easy-to-use, affordable in terms of both reagents and equipment required, and can potentially be deployed in low- and middle-income countries. The unit cost per sample was less than £4.00; this includes all materials required for sample collection and DBS testing, including reagents, ELISA plates and sterile gloves. Our results show that the technological aspects of the assay are robust and that there is low variation both between replicate samples and plates and between populations, making it possible to compare seroprevalence levels between countries. Internally calibrated thresholding methods, such as the finite mixture model or the expectation-maximisation algorithm are more appropriate than thresholds set by a ROC curve, but for programmatic surveillance, they may require calibration using data from countries where trachoma has been declared as having been eliminated.

Supporting Information

S1 Table. Prevalence of the clinical signs of trachoma for Laos, by Gender, Region and Age.

(DOCX)

S2 Table. Prevalence of the clinical signs of trachoma for Uganda, by Gender, Region and Age.

(DOCX)

S3 Table. Prevalence of the clinical signs of trachoma for The Gambia by Gender, Region and Age. (DOCX) **S4** Table. Seroprevalence for Laos by Gender, Region and Age, for each of six thresholds. (DOCX)

S5 Table. Seroprevalence for Uganda by Gender, Region and Age, for each of six thresholds.

(DOCX)

S6 Table. Seroprevalence for The Gambia by Gender, Region and Age, for each of six thresholds.

(DOCX)

Acknowledgments

We are grateful to all the communities that participated in this study and generously gave of their time. We would like to thank all the field teams, public health staff and trainers in Laos, Uganda and The Gambia who made this study possible, as well as PJ Hooper from the International Trachoma Initiative, Susan Lewallen from Kilimanjaro Centre for Community Ophthalmology and Sarah Burr from LSHTM. The findings and conclusions in this report are those of the authors and do not necessarily represent the official position of the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention.

Author Contributions

Conceptualization: SJM AWS ChR DCWM.

Data curation: RW SJM.

Formal analysis: SJM ChR RW NDEA.

Investigation: SJM KS AH PPR PT HJ PM SL PC DLM GC SG ChR.

Methodology: SJM.

Resources: DLM GC SG RW MJH ChR.

Supervision: KS PC AH SJM ChR DCWM.

Visualization: SJM ChR.

Writing - original draft: SJM ChR DCWM.

Writing - review & editing: SJM DLM ChR AWS MJH DCWM.

References

- Beatty WL, Morrison RP, Byrne GI. Persistent chlamydiae: from cell culture to a paradigm for chlamydial pathogenesis. Microbiol Rev. 1994; 58: 686–99. Available: http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/ articlerender.fcgi?artid=372987&tool=pmcentrez&rendertype=abstract PMID: 7854252
- 2. World Health Organisation. WHO alliance for the global elimination of Blinding trachoma by the year 2020. Wkly Epidemiol Rec. 2014; 96: 421–428.
- 3. World Health Organisation. WHO | Trachoma Fact sheet N 382 [Internet]. World Health Organization; 2016 [cited 12 Aug 2016]. Available: http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs382/en/
- Bourne RRA, Stevens GA, White RA, Smith JL, Flaxman SR, Price H, et al. Causes of vision loss worldwide, 1990–2010: A systematic analysis. Lancet Glob Heal. 2013; 1: 339–349.
- Thylefors B, Dawson CR, Jones BR, West SK, Taylor HR. A simple system for the assessment of trachoma and its complications. Bull World Health Organ. 1987; 65: 477–83. Available: http://www. pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=2491032&tool=pmcentrez&rendertype=abstract PMID: 3500800

- Burton MJ, Holland MJ, Faal N, Aryee EA, Alexander N DE, Bah M, et al. Which Members of a Community Need Antibiotics to Control Trachoma? Conjunctival Chlamydia trachomatis Infection Load in Gambian Villages. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci. 2003; 44: 4215–4222. PMID: 14507864
- Harding-Esch EM, Sillah A, Edwards T, Burr SE, Hart JD, Joof H, et al. Mass Treatment with Azithromycin for Trachoma: When Is One Round Enough? Results from the PRET Trial in The Gambia. Vinetz JM, editor. PLoS Negl Trop Dis. Public Library of Science; 2013; 7: e2115. doi: <u>10.1371/journal.pntd</u>. 0002115 PMID: 23785525
- Burton MJ, Holland MJ, Makalo P, Aryee EAN, Alexander NDE, Sillah A, et al. Re-emergence of Chlamydia trachomatis infection after mass antibiotic treatment of a trachoma-endemic Gambian community: a longitudinal study. Lancet. 2005; 365: 1321–8. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(05)61029-X PMID: 15823382
- Harding-Esch EM, Edwards T, Sillah A, Sarr I, Roberts CH, Snell P, et al. Active trachoma and ocular Chlamydia trachomatis infection in two Gambian regions: on course for elimination by 2020? Ngondi JM, editor. PLoS Negl Trop Dis. Public Library of Science; 2009; 3: e573. doi: <u>10.1371/journal.pntd</u>. 0000573 PMID: 20027217
- Burton MJ, Hu VH, Massae P, Burr SE, Chevallier C, Afwamba IA, et al. What is causing active trachoma? The role of nonchlamydial bacterial pathogens in a low prevalence setting. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci. 2011; 52: 6012–7. doi: 10.1167/iovs.11-7326 PMID: 21693601
- Burr SE, Hart JD, Edwards T, Baldeh I, Bojang E, Harding-Esch EM, et al. Association between ocular bacterial carriage and follicular trachoma following mass azithromycin distribution in The Gambia. Ngondi JM, editor. PLoS Negl Trop Dis. Public Library of Science; 2013; 7: e2347. doi: 10.1371/journal. pntd.0002347 PMID: 23936573
- Roberts C h, Last A, Molina-Gonzalez S, Cassama E, Butcher R, Nabicassa M, et al. Development and evaluation of a next generation digital PCR diagnostic assay for ocular Chlamydia trachomatis infections. J Clin Microbiol. 2013;
- Jenson A, Dize L, Mkocha H, Munoz B, Lee J, Gaydos C, et al. Field evaluation of the Cepheid GeneXpert Chlamydia trachomatis assay for detection of infection in a trachoma endemic community in Tanzania. Vinetz JM, editor. PLoS Negl Trop Dis. Public Library of Science; 2013; 7: e2265. doi: <u>10.1371/</u> journal.pntd.0002265 PMID: 23861986
- Dize L, West S, Williams JA, Van Der Pol B, Quinn TC, Gaydos CA. Comparison of the Abbott m2000 RealTime CT assay and the Cepheid GeneXpert CT/NG assay to the Roche Amplicor CT assay for detection of Chlamydia trachomatis in ocular samples from Tanzania. J Clin Microbiol. 2013; 51: 1611– 3. doi: 10.1128/JCM.00519-13 PMID: 23486714
- Dize L, West S, Quinn TC, Gaydos CA. Pooling ocular swab specimens from Tanzania for testing by Roche Amplicor and Aptima Combo 2 assays for the detection of Chlamydia trachomatis: accuracy and cost-savings. Diagn Microbiol Infect Dis. NIH Public Access; 2013; 77: 289–91. doi: <u>10.1016/j.</u> diagmicrobio.2013.08.005 PMID: 24079951
- Shekhawat N, Mkocha H, Munoz B, Gaydos C, Dize L, Quinn TC, et al. Cohort and Age Effects of Mass Drug Administration on Prevalence of Trachoma: A Longitudinal Study in Rural Tanzania. Investig Opthalmology Vis Sci. 2014; 55: 2307.
- Harding-Esch E, Jofre-Bonet M, Dhanjal JK, Burr S, Edwards T, Holland M, et al. Costs of Testing for Ocular Chlamydia trachomatis Infection Compared to Mass Drug Administration for Trachoma in The Gambia: Application of Results from the PRET Study. PLoS Negl Trop Dis. 2015; 9: e0003670. doi: 10. 1371/journal.pntd.0003670 PMID: 25901349
- Roberts CH, Last A, Burr SE, Bailey RL, Mabey DC, Holland MJ. Will droplet digital PCR become the test of choice for detecting and quantifying ocular Chlamydia trachomatis infection? Maybe. Expert Rev Mol Diagn. Informa UK, Ltd. London; 2014; 14: 253–6. doi: 10.1586/14737159.2014.897609 PMID: 24649815
- Goodhew EB, Priest JW, Moss DM, Zhong G, Munoz B, Mkocha H, et al. CT694 and pgp3 as Serological Tools for Monitoring Trachoma Programs. PLoS Negl Trop Dis. 2012; 6: e1873. doi: <u>10.1371/</u> journal.pntd.0001873 PMID: 23133684
- Goodhew EB, Morgan SMG, Switzer AJ, Munoz B, Dize L, Gaydos C, et al. Longitudinal analysis of antibody responses to trachoma antigens before and after mass drug administration. BMC Infect Dis. England: BioMed Central Ltd.; 2014; 14: 216. doi: 10.1186/1471-2334-14-216 PMID: 24755001
- Horner PJ, Wills GS, Reynolds R, Johnson AM, Muir D a, Winston A, et al. Effect of time since exposure to Chlamydia trachomatis on chlamydia antibody detection in women: a cross-sectional study. Sex Transm Infect. England; 2013; 89: 398–403. doi: 10.1136/sextrans-2011-050386 PMID: 23430706
- 22. West SK, Munoz B, Weaver J, Mrango Z, Dize L, Gaydos C, et al. Can We Use Antibodies to Chlamydia trachomatis as a Surveillance Tool for National Trachoma Control Programs? Results from a District Survey. PLoS Negl Trop Dis. 2016; 10: 1–11.

- Martin DL, Bid R, Sandi F, Goodhew EB, Massae PA, Lasway A, et al. Serology for trachoma surveillance after cessation of mass drug administration. PLoS Negl Trop Dis. United States: Public Library of Science; 2015; 9: e0003555. doi: 10.1371/journal.pntd.0003555 PMID: 25714363
- Pant BP, Bhatta RC, Chaudhary JSP, Awasthi S, Mishra S, Sharma S, et al. Control of Trachoma from Achham District, Nepal: A Cross-Sectional Study from the Nepal National Trachoma Program. PLoS Negl Trop Dis. United States: Public Library of Science; 2016; 10: e0004462. doi: 10.1371/journal.pntd. 0004462 PMID: 26871898
- 25. Wang J, Zhang Y, Lu C, Lei L, Yu P, Zhong G. A genome-wide profiling of the humoral immune response to Chlamydia trachomatis infection reveals vaccine candidate antigens expressed in humans. J Immunol. 2010; 185: 1670–80. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1001240 PMID: 20581152
- Donati M, Laroucau K, Storni E, Mazzeo C, Magnino S, Di Francesco A, et al. Serological response to pgp3 protein in animal and human chlamydial infections. Vet Microbiol. 2009; 135: 181–185. doi: <u>10.</u> 1016/j.vetmic.2008.09.037 PMID: 18945555
- Galaleldeen A, Taylor AB, Chen D, Schuermann JP, Holloway SP, Hou S, et al. Structure of the chlamydia trachomatis immunodominant antigen Pgp3. J Biol Chem. 2013; 288: 22068–22079. doi: 10. 1074/jbc.M113.475012 PMID: 23703617
- Comanducci M, Cevenini R, Moroni A, Giuliani MM, Ricci S, Scarlato V, et al. Expression of a plasmid gene of Chlamydia trachomatis encoding a novel 28 kDa antigen. J Gen Microbiol. 1993; 139: 1083–92. Available: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/8336105 doi: 10.1099/00221287-139-5-1083 PMID: 8336105
- Li Z, Zhong Y, Lei L, Wu Y, Wang S, Zhong G. Antibodies from women urogenitally infected with C. trachomatis predominantly recognized the plasmid protein pgp3 in a conformation-dependent manner. BMC Microbiol. 2008; 8: 90. doi: 10.1186/1471-2180-8-90 PMID: 18541036
- Corran PH, Cook J, Lynch C, Leendertse H, Manjurano A, Griffin J, et al. Dried blood spots as a source of anti-malarial antibodies for epidemiological studies. Malar J. 2008; 7: 195. doi: <u>10.1186/1475-2875-7-195 PMID</u>: 18826573
- Smit PW, Elliott I, Peeling RW, Mabey D, Newton PN. An overview of the clinical use of filter paper in the diagnosis of tropical diseases. Am J Trop Med Hyg. 2014; 90: 195–210. doi: 10.4269/ajtmh.13-0463 PMID: 24366501
- 32. Smit PW, van der Vlis T, Mabey D, Changalucha J, Mngara J, Clark BD, et al. The development and validation of dried blood spots for external quality assurance of syphilis serology. BMC Infect Dis. BMC Infectious Diseases; 2013; 13: 102. doi: 10.1186/1471-2334-13-102 PMID: 23442198
- Parker SP, Cubitt WD. The use of the dried blood spot sample in epidemiological studies. J Clin Pathol. 1999; 52: 633–9. Available: http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=501537&tool= pmcentrez&rendertype=abstract PMID: 10655983
- Vyse AJ, Gay NJ, Hesketh LM, Pebody R, Morgan-Capner P, Miller E. Interpreting serological surveys using mixture models: the seroepidemiology of measles, mumps and rubella in England and Wales at the beginning of the 21st century. Epidemiol Infect. 2006; 134: 1303–12. doi: 10.1017/ S0950268806006340 PMID: 16650326
- Solomon AW, Pavluck AL, Courtright P, Aboe A, Adamu L, Alemayehu W, et al. The Global Trachoma Mapping Project: Methodology of a 34-Country Population-Based Study. Ophthalmic Epidemiol. 2015; 22: 214–25. doi: 10.3109/09286586.2015.1037401 PMID: 26158580
- 36. Courtright P, Gass K, Lewallen S, MacArthur C, Pavluck A, Solomon AW, et al. Global Trachoma Mapping Project Training for mapping of trachoma, 3rd edition [Internet]. London; 2015. Available: http://www.trachomacoalition.org/resources/global-trachoma-mapping-project-training-mapping-trachoma
- Southisombath K, Sisalermsak S, Chansan P, Akkhavong K, Phommala S, Lewallen S, et al. National Trachoma Assessment in the Lao People's Democratic Republic in 2013–2014. Ophthalmic Epidemiol. Taylor & Francis; 2016; 23: 1–7.
- **38.** R Core Team. R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing. In: R Foundation for Statistical Computing. 2014.
- Parker RA, Erdman DD, Anderson LJ. Use of mixture models in determining laboratory criterion for identification of seropositive individuals: application to parvovirus B19 serology. J Virol Methods. 1990; 27: 135–144. PMID: 2156877
- Dempster APA, Laird NMN, Rubin DDB. Maximum likelihood from incomplete data via the EM algorithm. J R Stat Soc Ser B Methodol. 1977; 39: 1–38.
- 41. Youden WJ. Index for rating diagnostic tests. Cancer. 1950; 3: 32–35. PMID: 15405679
- 42. Deb P. FMM: Stata module to estimate finite mixture models [Internet]. 2012. Available: http://econpapers.repec.org/software/bocbocode/s456895.htm

- Gay NJ, Vyse AJ, Enquselassie F, Nigatu W, Nokes DJ. Improving sensitivity of oral fluid testing in IgG prevalence studies: application of mixture models to a rubella antibody survey. Epidemiol Infect. 2003; 130: 285–91. Available: http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=2869964&tool= pmcentrez&rendertype=abstract PMID: 12729197
- Kaneko A, Chaves LF, Taleo G, Kalkoa M, Isozumi R, Wickremasinghe R, et al. Characteristic age distribution of Plasmodium vivax infections after malaria elimination on Aneityum Island, Vanuatu. Infect Immun. 2014; 82: 243–52. doi: 10.1128/IAI.00931-13 PMID: 24166950
- 45. Sepúlveda N, Stresman G, White MT, Drakeley CJ. Current mathematical models for analyzing antimalarial antibody data with an eye to malaria elimination and eradication. J Immunol Res. 2015;2015.
- 46. Fraley C, Raferty AE. Model-based Clustering, Discriminant Analysis, and Density Estimation. J Am Stat Assoc. 2002; 97: 611–631. Available: https://www.stat.washington.edu/raftery/Research/PDF/ fraley2002.pdf
- Carstensen B, Plummer M, Laara E, Hills M. Epi: A Package for Statistical Analysis in Epidemiology. R package version 2.0 [Internet]. 2016. Available: http://cran.r-project.org/package=Epi
- Fisher RA. On the Interpretation of χ2 from Contingency Tables, and the Calculation of P. J R Stat Soc. 1922; 85: 87–94.
- MacDonald PL, Gardner RC. Type I Error Rate Comparisons of Post Hoc Procedures for I j Chi-Square Tables. Educ Psychol Meas. 2000; 60: 735–754.
- 50. Simes R. An improved Bonferroni procedure for multiple tests of significance. Biometrika. 1986; 73: 751–4.
- Lyytikainen E, Kaasila M, Koskela P, Lehtinen M, Patama T, Pukkala E, et al. Chlamydia trachomatis seroprevalence atlas of Finland 1983–2003. Sex Transm Infect. England; 2008; 84: 19–22. doi: 10. 1136/sti.2007.027409 PMID: 17911135
- Horner P, Soldan K, Vieira SM, Wills GS, Woodhall SC, Pebody R, et al. trachomatis C. Pgp3 antibody prevalence in young women in England, 1993–2010. Trotter CL, editor. PLoS One. United States: Public Library of Science; 2013; 8: e72001. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0072001 PMID: 23991024
- 53. Wills GS, Horner PJ, Reynolds R, Johnson AM, Muir D a, Brown DW, et al. Pgp3 antibody enzymelinked immunosorbent assay, a sensitive and specific assay for seroepidemiological analysis of Chlamydia trachomatis infection. Clin Vaccine Immunol. 2009; 16: 835–43. doi: <u>10.1128/CVI.00021-09</u> PMID: <u>19357314</u>
- 54. Comanducci M, Manetti R, Bini L, Santucci A, Pallini V, Cevenini R, et al. Humoral immune response to plasmid protein pgp3 in patients with Chlamydia trachomatis infection. Infect Immun. 1994; 62: 5491–7. Available: http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=303293&tool= pmcentrez&rendertype=abstract PMID: 7960130
- 55. Ghaem-Maghami S, Ratti G, Ghaem-Maghami M, Comanducci M, Hay PE, Bailey RL, et al. Mucosal and systemic immune responses to plasmid protein pgp3 in patients with genital and ocular Chlamydia trachomatis infection. Clin Exp Immunol. 2003; 132: 436–42. Available: http://www.pubmedcentral.nih. gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=1808734&tool=pmcentrez&rendertype=abstract doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2249. 2003.02163.x PMID: 12780690
- 56. Polack S, Brooker S, Kuper H, Mariotti S, Mabey D, Foster A. Mapping the global distribution of trachoma. Bull World Health Organ. 2005; 83: 913–919. Available: http://www.scielosp.org/scielo.php? script=sci_arttext&pid=S0042-96862005001200013&lang=es PMID: 16462983
- 57. Harding-Esch EM, Edwards T, Mkocha H, Munoz B, Holland MJ, Burr SE, et al. Trachoma prevalence and associated risk factors in the Gambia and Tanzania: baseline results of a cluster randomised controlled trial. Schachter J, editor. PLoS Negl Trop Dis. Public Library of Science; 2010; 4: e861. doi: 10. 1371/journal.pntd.0000861 PMID: 21072224
- Harding-Esch EM, Edwards T, Sillah A, Sarr-Sissoho I, Aryee EA, Snell P, et al. Risk factors for active trachoma in The Gambia. Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg. 2008; 102: 1255–62. doi: 10.1016/j.trstmh.2008. 04.022 PMID: 18502459
- Banoo S, Bell D, Bossuyt P, Herring A, Mabey D, Poole F, et al. Evaluation of diagnostic tests for infectious diseases: general principles. Nat Rev Microbiol. Nature Publishing Group; 2006; 4: S20–S32. doi: 10.1038/nrmicro1570 PMID: 17366684
- Pfeiffer RM, Gail MH, Brown LM. Probability of helicobacter pylori infection based on IgG levels and other covariates using a mixture model. J Epidemiol Biostat. 2000; 5: 267–75. Available: <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11142602</u> PMID: <u>11142602</u>
- Gay NJ. Analysis of serological surveys using mixture models: application to a survey of parvovirus B19. Stat Med. 1996; 15: 1567–73. doi: 10.1002/(SICI)1097-0258(19960730)15:14<1567::AID-SIM289>3.0.CO;2-G PMID: 8855482

- 62. Vyse AJ, Gay NJ, Hesketh LM, Morgan-Capner P, Miller E. Seroprevalence of antibody to varicella zoster virus in England and Wales in children and young adults. Epidemiol Infect. 2004; 132: 1129–34. Available: http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=2870205&tool= pmcentrez&rendertype=abstract PMID: 15635971
- **63.** Bretscher MT, Supargiyono S, Wijayanti MA, Nugraheni D, Widyastuti AN, Lobo NF, et al. Measurement of Plasmodium falciparum transmission intensity using serological cohort data from Indonesian schoolchildren. Malar J. 2013; 12: 21. doi: 10.1186/1475-2875-12-21 PMID: 23327665
- Drakeley CJ, Corran PH, Coleman PG, Tongren JE, McDonald SLR, Carneiro I, et al. Estimating medium- and long-term trends in malaria transmission by using serological markers of malaria exposure. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2005; 102: 5108–13. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0408725102 PMID: 15792998
- Stewart L, Gosling R, Griffin J, Gesase S, Campo J, Hashim R, et al. Rapid assessment of malaria transmission using age-specific sero-conversion rates. PLoS One. 2009; 4: e6083. doi: 10.1371/ journal.pone.0006083 PMID: 19562032
- 66. van den Hoogen LL, Griffin JT, Cook J, Sepúlveda N, Corran P, Conway DJ, et al. Serology describes a profile of declining malaria transmission in Farafenni, The Gambia. Malar J. BioMed Central; 2015; 14: 416. doi: 10.1186/s12936-015-0939-1 PMID: 26492873

Supplementary Table 4.1: Prevalence of the clinical signs of trachoma for Laos, by Gender, Region and Age.

	Prevalence of clinical signs (%)									
	N	TF								
Overall	952	15 (1.6)								
Female	423	9 (2.1)								
Male	529	6 (1.1)								
Attapu	406	11 (2.7)								
Houaphan	307	3 (1.0)								
Phôngsali	239	1 (0.4)								
1 year old	78	2 (2.6)								
2 years old	105	3 (2.9)								
3 years old	101	5 (5.0)								
4 years old	127	0								
5 years old	114	1 (0.9)								
6 years old	100	2 (2.0)								
7 years old	100	1 (1.0)								
8 years old	99	0								
9 years old	128	1 (0.8)								

TF = trachomatous inflammation, follicular

Supplementary Table 4.2: Prevalence of the clinical signs of trachoma for Uganda, by Gender, Region and Age

	Prevale	Prevalence of clinical signs (%)									
	Ν	TF	ТІ								
Overall	2700	93 (3.4)	8 (0.3)								
Agogo	1353	43 (3.2)	1 (0.1)								
Pader	1347	50 (3.7)	7 (0.5)								
Female	1351	48 (3.6)	6 (0.4)								
Male	1349	45 (3.6)	2 (0.1)								
1 year old	242	11 (4.5)	2 (0.8)								
2 years old	353	17 (4.8)	0								
3 years old	358	16 (4.5)	3 (0.8)								
4 years old	336	14 (4.2)	1 (0.3)								
5 years old	329	12 (3.6)	1 (0.3)								
6 years old	333	8 (2.4)	0								
7 years old	264	6 (2.3)	1 (0.4)								
8 years old	235	3 (1.3)	0								
9 years old	250	6 (2.4)	0								

TF = trachomatous inflammation, follicular; TI = trachomatous inflammation-intense

	Prevalence of clinical signs (%)										
	N	TF	ТІ	TS	TT	со					
Overall	1868	30 (1.6)	4 (0.2)	78 (4.2)	8 (0.4)	1 (0.1)					
LRR	1028	18 (1.8)	4 (0.4)	55 (5.4)	7 (0.7)	1 (0.1)					
URR	840	12 (1.4)	0	23 (2.7)	1 (0.1)	0					
Female	1080	10 (0.9)	3 (0.3)	52 (4.8)	5 (0.5)	1 (0.1)					
Male	788	20 (2.5)	1 (0.1)	26 (3.3)	3 (0.4)	0					
<1 year old	36	0	0	0	0	0					
1 year old	65	1 (1.5)	0	0	0	0					
2 years old	88	3 (3.4)	0	2 (2.3)	0	0					
3 years old	101	8 (7.9)	0	1 (1.0)	0	0					
4 years old	96	5 (5.2)	0	1 (1.0)	0	0					
5 years old	96	3 (3.1)	0	1 (1.0)	0	0					
6 years old	89	0	0	2 (2.2)	0	0					
7 years old	77	2 (2.6)	1 (1.3)	0	0	0					
8 years old	78	1 (1.3)	0	0	0	0					
9 years old	52	2 (3.8)	1 (1.9)	0	0	0					
10-19	412	4 (1.0)	1 (0.2)	2 (0.5)	0	0					
20-29	191	0	0	1 (0.5)	0	0					
30-39	152	1 (0.7)	1 (0.7)	5 (3.3)	0	0					
40-49	99	0	0	5 (5.1)	0	0					
50-59	95	0	0	15 (15.8)	2 (2.1)	0					
60+	141	0	0	43 (30.5)	6 (4.3)	1 (0.7)					
1-9 year olds -LRR	383	14 (3.7)	2 (0.5)	1 (0.3)	0	0					
1-9 year olds -URR	359	11 (3.1)	0	6 (1.7)	0	0					
\geq 10 year olds-LRR	645	4 (0.6)	2 (0.3)	54 (8.45)	7 (1.1)	1 (0.2)					
≥10 year olds-URR	481	1 (0.2)	0	17 (2.6)	1 (0.2)	0					

Supplementary Table 4.3: Prevalence of the clinical signs of trachoma for The Gambia by Gender, Region and Age

TF = trachomatous inflammation, follicular; TI = trachomatous inflammation-intense; TS = trachomatous scarring; TT = trachomatous trichiasis; CO = corneal opacity

	Threshold, % (95% confidence interval)												
			VIP		EM		FMM	ROC Y	'ouden's J-		ROC		ROC
								i	ndex	Sensit	ivity>80%	Specif	icity>98%
	Ν	0	D=0.619	0	D=0.650	0	OD=0.696		=0.870	OD=0.965		OD=1.951	
Overall	952	11.3%	(9.4-13.6)	10.4%	(8.6-12.6)	15.6%	(13.3-18.0)	6.7%	(5.3-8.6)	6.3%	(4.9-8.1)	1.1%	(0.5-2.0)
Female	423	10.4%	(7.7-13.8)	9.9%	(7.3-13.3)	15.6%	(12.3-19.5)	6.9%	(4.7-9.8)	6.4%	(4.3-9.3)	0.70%	(0.2-2.2)
Male	529	12.1%	(9.5-15.3)	10.8%	(8.3-13.8)	15.5%	(12.6-18.9)	6.6%	(4.7-9.2)	6.2%	(4.4-8.7)	1.3%	(0.6-2.8)
Attapu	406	4.4%	(2.7-7.0)	3.7%	(2.2-6.2)	9.4%	(6.8-12.7)	0.70%	(0.2-2.3)	0.70%	(0.19-2.3)	0	(0-1.1)
Houaphan	307	21.5%	(17.1-26.6)	20.5%	(16.2-25.6)	24.1%	(19.5-29.4)	16.0%	(12.1-	15.0%	(11.3-	2.3%	(1.0-4.8)
									20.7)		19.6)		
Phôngsali	239	10.0%	(6.7-14.7)	8.8%	(5.7-13.3)	15.1%	(10.9-20.4)	5.0%	(2.7-8.8)	4.6%	(2.4-8.3)	1.3%	(0.3-3.9)
1 year old	78	10.2%	(4.8-19.7)	10.2%	(4.8-19.7)	10.2%	(4.8-19.7)	9.0%	(4.0-18.2)	9.0%	(4.0-18.2)	2.6%	(0.4-9.8)
2 years	105	8.6%	(4.2-16.1)	8.6%	(4.2-16.1)	14.3%	(8.5-22.7)	6.7%	(3.0-13.7)	6.7%	(3.0-13.7)	0	(0-4.3)
old													
3 years	101	9.9%	(5.1-17.9)	8.9%	(4.4-16.7)	12.9%	(7.3-21.4)	6.9%	(3.1-14.2)	6.9%	(3.1-14.2)	2.0%	(0.3-7.7)
old													
4 years	127	13.4%	(8.2-20.8)	12.6%	(7.6-19.9)	15.7%	(10.1-23.5)	9.4%	(5.2-16.3)	9.4%	(5.2-16.3)	0.80%	(0.04-5.0)
old													
5 years	114	6.1%	(2.7-12.7)	4.4%	(1.6-10.4)	8.8%	(4.5-15.9)	2.6%	(0.7-8.1)	2.6%	(0.7-8.1)	0.90%	(0.04-5.5)
old													

Supplementary Table 4.4: Seroprevalence for Laos by Gender, Region and Age, for each of six thresholds.

6 years	100	12.0%	(6.6-20.4)	11.0%	(5.9-19.2)	18.0%	(11.3-27.2)	6.0%	(2.5-13.1)	6.0%	(2.5-13.1)	3.0%	(0.8-9.2)
old													
7 years	100	8.0%	(3.8-15.6)	8.0%	(3.8-15.6)	13.0%	(7.4-21.6)	6.0%	(2.5-13.1)	6.0%	(2.5-13.1)	0	(0-4.6)
old													
8 years	99	15.2%	(9.0-24.1)	12.1%	(6.7-20.6)	24.2%	(16.4-34.1)	8.1%	(3.8-15.8)	7.1%	(3.1-14.5)	1.0%	(06.3)
old													
9 years	128	17.2%	(11.3-25.1)	16.4%	(10.7-24.2)	21.1%	(14.6-29.4)	6.35%	(2.9-12.3)	3.9%	(1.4-9.3)	0	(0-3.6)
old													

TF = trachomatous inflammation, follicular; TI = trachomatous inflammation-intense; TS = trachomatous scarring; TT = trachomatous trichiasis; CO = corneal

opacity; VIP = visual inflection point; EM = expectation-maximisation algorithm; FMM = finite mixture model; OD = optical density, measured at 450 nm

	Threshold, % (95% confidence interval)												
			VIP		EM		FMM	ROC Y	'ouden's J-		ROC	F	ROC
								i	index	Sensit	ivity>80%	Specif	icity>98%
	Ν	OI	D=0.641	OD=0.450		0	OD=0.554)=0.870	OD	=0.965	OD=1.951	
Overall	2700	13.4%	(12.1- 4.7)	24.3%	(22.7-26.0)	17.1%	(16.0-18.9)	6.8%	(5.9-7.8)	5.3%	(4.5-6.2)	0.3%	(0.1-0.8)
Female	1351	13.3%	(11.6-15.3)	23.8%	(21.5-26.1)	17.2%	(15.7-19.1)	6.2%	(5.0-7.7)	5.0%	(3.9-6.3)	0.3%	(0.1-0.8)
Male	1349	13.4%	(11.7-15.4)	24.9%	(22.6-27.3)	17.8%	(15.8-20.0)	7.4%	(6.1-9.0)	5.6%	(4.5-7.0)	0.2%	(0.1-0.7)
Agogo	1353	12.6%	(10.9-14.6)	23.3%	(21.1-25.6)	15.9%	(14.0-18.0)	6.0%	(4.8-7.4)	4.9%	(3.8-6.2)	0.3%	(0.1-0.8)
Pader	1347	14.1%	(12.3-16.1)	25.4%	(23.1-27.8)	18.9%	(16.9-21.1)	7.7%	(6.3-9.2)	5.7%	(4.6-7.1)	0.2%	(0.1-0.7)
1 year old	247	2.4%	(1.0-5.5)	7.3%	(4.5-11.4)	3.6%	(1.8-7.0)	1.6%	(0.5-4.4)	0.8%	(0.1-3.2)	0	(0-1.9)
2 years													
old	365	5.5%	(3.5-8.5)	10.7%	(7.8-14.4)	7.9%	(5.5-11.3)	3.8%	(2.2-6.5)	3.8%	(2.2-6.5)	0.3%	(0-1.8)
3 years													
old	367	7.1%	(4.8-10.3)	18.3%	(14.5-22.7)	10.6%	(7.8-14.3)	3.5%	(2.0-6.1)	2.2%	(1.0-4.4)	0.3%	(0-1.8)
4 years													
old	349	11.5%	(8.4-15.4)	22.1%	(17.9-26.9)	15.2%	(11.7-19.5)	4.9%	(3.0-7.8)	4.0%	(2.3-6.8)	0	(0-1.4)
5 years													
old	331	15.7%	(12.1-20.2)	27.2%	(22.5-32.4)	18.4%	(14.5-23.1)	8.2%	(5.5-11.8)	6.6%	(4.3-10.0)	0.6%	(0.1-2.0)
6 years													
old	344	18.3%	(14.5-22.9)	31.1%	(26.3-36.3)	23.5%	(19.2-28.5)	8.1%	(5.6-11.7)	6.4%	(4.1-9.7)	0	(0-1.4)

Supplementary Table 4.5: Seroprevalence for Uganda by Gender, Region and Age, for each of six thresholds.

7 years													
old	269	16.7%	(12.6-21.9)	32.3%	(26.9-38.3)	23.4%	(18.6-29.0)	9.3%	(6.2-13.6)	6.7%	(4.1-10.5)	0	(0-1.8)
8 years													
old	240	20.4%	(15.6-26.2)	32.5%	(26.7-38.9)	24.2%	(19.0-30.2)	9.2%	(6.0-13.7)	7.5%	(4.6-11.8)	0.8%	(0.1-3.3)
9 years													
old	253	23.7%	(18.7-29.5)	37.2%	(31.2-43.4)	30.4%	(24.9-36.6)	13.4%	(9.6-18.4)	9.9%	(6.6-14.4)	0.4%	(0-2.5)

TF = trachomatous inflammation, follicular; TI = trachomatous inflammation-intense; TS = trachomatous scarring; TT = trachomatous trichiasis; CO = corneal

opacity; VIP = visual inflection point; EM = expectation-maximisation algorithm; FMM = finite mixture model; OD = optical density, measured at 450 nm

Threshold, % (95% confidence interval)													
			VIP		EM		FMM	ROC	Youden's J-	ROC Se	ensitivity>80%		ROC
									index			Speci	ficity>98%
	N	00)=0.570	OI	D=0.570	0	OD=0.672		D=0.870	0	D=0.965	OD=1.951	
Overall	1868	29.3%	(27.3-31.5)	29.3%	(27.3-31.5)	26.2%	(24.2-28.2)	20.9%	(19.1-22.9)	18.9%	(17.2-20.8)	3.3%	(2.6-4.3)
Female	1080	35.0%	(32.2-37.9)	35.0%	(32.2-37.9)	31.6%	(28.8-34.5)	26.0%	(23.4-28.8)	23.7%	(21.2-26.4)	4.8%	(3.7-6.3)
Male	788	21.6%	(18.8-24.6)	21.6%	(18.8-24.6)	18.7%	(16.1-21.7)	14.0%	(11.7-16.6)	12.3%	(10.1-14.9)	1.3%	(0.7-2.4)
LRR	1028	33.9%	(31.0-36.8)	33.8%	(31.0-36.8)	30.5%	(27.7-33.4)	25.1%	(22.5-27.9)	22.6%	(20.1-25.2)	3.7%	(2.7-5.1)
URR	840	23.8%	(21.0-26.9)	23.8%	(21.0-26.9)	21.0%	(18.3-23.9)	15.8%	(13.5-18.5)	14.4%	(12.1-17.0)	2.9%	(1.9-4.3)
<1 year	36	0	(0-12.0)	0	(0-12.0)	0	(0-12.0)	0	(0-12.0)	0	(0-12.0)	0	(0-12.0)
1 year old	65	4.6%	(1.2-13.8)	4.6%	(1.2-13.8)	3.1%	(0.5-11.6)	0	(0-6.9)	0	(0-6.9)	0	(0-6.9)
2 years													
old	88	4.5%	(1.5-11.9)	4.5%	(1.5-11.9)	2.3%	(0.4-8.7)	1.1%	(0-7.1)	0	(0-5.2)	0	(0-5.2)
3 years													
old	101	5.9%	(2.4-13.0)	5.9%	(2.4-13.0)	5.9%	(2.4-13.0)	2.0%	(0.3-7.7)	2.0%	(0.3-7.7)	0	(0-4.6)
4 years													
old	96	8.3%	(3.9-16.2)	8.3%	(3.9-16.2)	7.3%	(3.2-14.90	4.2%	(1.3-10.9)	4.2%	(1.3-10.9)	0	(0-4.8)
5 years													
old	96	8.3%	(3.9-16.2)	8.3%	(3.9-16.2)	6.3%	(2.6-13.6)	3.1%	(0.8-9.5)	3.1%	(0.8-9.5)	0	(0-4.8)
6 years													
old	89	5.60%	(2.1-13.2)	5.6%	(2.1-13.2)	4.5%	(1.4-11.7)	4.5%	(1.4-11.7)	3.4%	(0.9-10.2)	0	(0-5.2)

Supplementary Table 4.6: Seroprevalence for The Gambia by Gender, Region and Age, for each of six thresholds.

7 years													
old	77	10.2%	(4.9-20.0)	10.4%	(4.9-20.0)	7.8%	(3.2-16.8)	2.6%	(0.5-9.9)	2.6%	(0.5-9.9)	0	(0-5.9)
8 years													
old	78	10.3%	(4.8-19.7)	10.3%	(4.8-19.7)	7.7%	(3.2-16.6)	6.4%	(2.4-15.0)	3.8%	(1.0-11.6)	0	(0-5.8)
9 years													
old	52	19.2%	(10.1-33.0)	19.2%	(10.1-33.0)	15.4%	(7.3-28.6)	9.6%	(3.6-21.8)	9.6%	(3.6-21.8)	1.9%	(0.1-11.6)
10-19	412	21.4%	(17.6-25.7)	21.4%	(17.6-25.7)	15.5%	(12.2-19.5)	11.1%	(8.4-14.7)	9.7%	(7.1-13.1)	1.7%	(0.7-3.6)
20-29	191	36.6%	(29.9-43.9)	36.6%	(29.9-43.9)	31.4%	(25.0-38.6)	23.0%	(17.4-29.8)	19.9%	(14.6-26.4)	3.7%	(1.6-7.7)
30-39	152	53.9%	(45.7-62.0)	53.9%	(45.7-62.0)	52.0%	(43.8-60.1)	46.1%	(38.0-54.3)	44.1%	(36.1-52.3)	5.9%	(2.9-11.3)
40-49	99	69.7%	(59.5-78.3)	69.7%	(59.5-78.3)	65.7%	(55.4-74.7)	56.6%	(46.2-66.4)	50.1%	(40.3-60.1)	12.1%	(6.7-20.6)
50-59	95	74.7%	(64.5-82.8)	74.7%	(64.5-82.8)	72.6%	(62.4-81.0)	62.1%	(51.5-71.7)	55.8%	(45.3-65.9)	8.4%	(4.0-16.4)
60+	141	75.9%	(67.8-82.5)	75.9%	(67.8-82.5)	73.8%	(65.6-80.6)	63.1%	(54.5-71.0)	58.2%	(49.5-66.3)	12.8%	(7.9-19.7)

TF = trachomatous inflammation, follicular; TI = trachomatous inflammation-intense; TS = trachomatous scarring; TT = trachomatous trichiasis; CO = corneal

opacity; VIP = visual inflection point; EM = expectation-maximisation algorithm; FMM = finite mixture model; OD = optical density, measured at 450nm

Chapter 5- Serology reflects a decline in the prevalence of trachoma in two regions of The Gambia

London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine Keppel Street, London WC1E 7HT www.ishtm.ac.uk



Registry

T: +44(0)20 7299 4646 F: +44(0)20 7299 4656 E: registry@lshtm.ac.uk

RESEARCH PAPER COVER SHEET

PLEASE NOTE THAT A COVER SHEET MUST BE COMPLETED <u>FOR EACH</u> RESEARCH PAPER INCLUDED IN A THESIS.

SECTION A – Student Details

Student	Stephanie Migchelsen
Principal Supervisor	David Haber
Thesis Title	when the activities to eliminate trachoma as a public here ith
	proplem

If the Research Paper has previously been published please complete Section B, if not please move to <u>Section C</u>

SECTION B – Paper already published

Where was the work published?	Nature Scientific Reports						
When was the work published?	2017						
If the work was published prior to registration for your research degree, give a brief rationale for its inclusion	NA						
Have you retained the copyright for the work?*	Openacuess Was the work subject to use						

*If yes, please attach evidence of retention. If no, or if the work is being included in its published format, please attach evidence of permission from the copyright holder (publisher or other author) to include this work.

SECTION C – Prepared for publication, but not yet published

Where is the work intended to be published?	
Please list the paper's authors in the intended authorship order:	
Stage of publication	

SECTION D – Multi-authored work

For multi-authored work, give full details of your role in the research included in the paper and in the preparation of the paper. (Attach a further sheet if necessary)	F collected and assayed the samples. Ud on the analysis, wrote and edited the paper and responded to reviewers
Student Signature:	Date: <u>10/09/18</u>
Supervisor Signature:	Date: 12/4/18
Improving health worldwide	www.lshtm.ac.uk

Summary

In the previous chapter, methods of setting thresholds to define seropositivity were explored. Thresholds set using finite mixture modelling (FMM) were selected going forward.

In this chapter age-specific seroprevalence in two populations in The Gambia are used to estimate changes in the force of infection (FoI) and seroconversion and seroreversion rates. A population-based cross-sectional survey was conducted in Lower River Region (LRR) and Upper River Region (URR).

One population (LRR) received MDA because the prevalence of TF was greater than 10% in children aged 1-9 years old; the other population (URR) did not receive MDA because the prevalence of TF was not above the 10% threshold. In the current survey, both regions had less than 5% TF in children aged 1-9 years old. Seroprevalence was measured using antibodies against Pgp3. Seroprevalence was significantly different in the two regions: 26.2% in LRR and 17.1% in URR. Age-specific seroprevalence was used with reverse catalytic modelling to show a decrease in the transmission of Ct infection in both regions over 15 years ago. This change in the force of infection likely reflects a secular decline as access to healthcare, sanitation and water has increased over the past 30 years, as well as a previously unpublished mass drug campaign with topical tetracycline. Seroprevalence data was also used to estimate changes in seroconversion and seroreversion, which showed a reduction in seroconversion over time in both populations.

The serological analysis support findings from clinical examination and test for infection but is confounded by the fact that the antibodies detected in this study are unable to distinguish between ocular and genital Ct infection, potentially confounding results as changes in seroconversion may be due to historical interventions against trachoma or may reflect more recent acquisition of genital Ct infection.

This chapter demonstrates a potential use for serological data beyond simple estimates of population seroprevalence, showing how the age-specific prevalence of antibodies can be used to demonstrate past changes in the force of infection. In the subsequent chapter antibody levels, rather than seroprevalence data, is used to model changes in the force of infection over time and between populations.

SCIENTIFIC REPORTS

Received: 22 June 2017 Accepted: 16 October 2017 Published online: 08 November 2017

OPEN Serology reflects a decline in the prevalence of trachoma in two regions of The Gambia

Stephanie J. Migchelsen 1, Nuno Sepúlveda^{1,2}, Diana L. Martin³, Gretchen Cooley³, Sarah Gwyn⁴, Harry Pickering¹, Hassan Joof⁵, Pateh Makalo⁵, Robin Bailey¹, Sarah E. Burr^{1,5}, David C. W. Mabey¹, Anthony W. Solomon¹ & Chrissy h. Roberts¹

Trachoma is caused by Chlamydia trachomatis (Ct). It is targeted for global elimination as a public health problem. In 2014, a population-based cross-sectional study was performed in two previously trachomaendemic areas of The Gambia. Participants of all ages from Lower River Region (LRR) (N = 1028) and Upper River Region (URR) (N = 840) underwent examination for trachoma and had blood collected for detection of antibodies against the Ct antigen Pgp3, by ELISA. Overall, 30 (1.6%) individuals had active trachoma; the prevalence in children aged 1–9 years was 3.4% (25/742) with no statistically significant difference in prevalence between the regions. There was a significant difference in overall seroprevalence by region: 26.2% in LRR and 17.1% in URR (p < 0.0001). In children 1–9 years old, seroprevalence was 4.4% in LRR and 3.9% in URR. Reversible catalytic models using information on age-specific seroprevalence demonstrated a decrease in the transmission of Ct infection in both regions, possibly reflecting the impact of improved access to water, health and sanitation as well as mass drug administration campaigns. Serological testing for antibodies to Ct antigens is potentially useful for trachoma programmes, but consideration should be given to the co-endemicity of sexually transmitted Ct infections.

Trachoma is caused by ocular infection with the obligate intracellular bacterium Chlamydia trachomatis (Ct). It is the leading infectious cause of blindness worldwide¹. Infection is associated with clinical signs of inflammation in the conjunctiva, known as active trachoma; these include trachomatous inflammation-follicular (TF) and trachomatous inflammation-intense (TI). Many repeated episodes of active trachoma over years to decades can lead to trachomatous trichiasis (TT), which may lead to impaired vision. The World Health Organization (WHO) estimates that over 200 million people in 42 countries are at risk of blindness from trachoma². In 2010, approximately 1.9 million people suffered from visual impairment or blindness due to trachoma¹. The WHO Alliance for the Global Elimination of Trachoma by 2020 (GET2020) aims to eliminate trachoma as a public health problem by 2020² through the SAFE Strategy (Surgery, Antimicrobials, Facial cleanliness and Environmental improvement). The WHO-endorsed strategy for global control is to reduce the population prevalence of TF to <5% in children aged 1–9 years and the prevalence of unmanaged TT to <0.2% in adults aged 15 years and above³. By 2014, seven countries had reported having met these targets nationally⁴. The Gambia has been a hub for trachoma research for over 50 years and is on course to declare the elimination of trachoma as a public health problem by 2020. Two National Surveys of Blindness and Low Vision in The Gambia demonstrated that there had been a nation-wide decrease in the prevalence of active trachoma and TT between 1986 and 2000^{5,6}. Specific elimination efforts, undertaken between 2007 and 2010 and run by the National Eye Health Programme (NEHP), included mass drug administration (MDA) of azithromycin in 23 districts across the country. The Partnership for the Rapid Elimination of Trachoma (PRET)⁷ was embedded within the national programme and measured the prevalence of Ct infection in children residing in four districts in which MDA had been administered. Deployment

¹Clinical Research Department, London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine, London, United Kingdom. ²Centro de Estatística e Aplicações, Faculdade de Ciências, Universidade de Lisboa, Lisboa, Portugal. ³Division of Parasitic Diseases and Malaria, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Atlanta, Georgia, USA. ⁴IHRC, Inc., Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Atlanta, Georgia, USA. ⁵Disease Control and Elimination Theme, Medical Research Council, The Gambia Unit, Fajara, The Gambia. Anthony W Solomon and Chrissy h Roberts contributed equally to this work. Correspondence and requests for materials should be addressed to S.J.M. (email: stephanie.migchelsen@ lshtm.ac.uk)

	Both Regions		Lower River	r Region	Upper River Region					
	N	%	N	%	N	%				
Overall	1832		1010	55.1	822	44.9				
Gender										
Female	1056	57.7	584	58.0	472	57.0				
Male	776	42.2	426	42.0	350	43.0				
Age group (y	vears)									
1–9	742	39.7	383	37.3	359	42.7				
10-19	412	22.1	231	22.5	181	21.5				
20-29	191	10.2	101	9.8	90	10.7				
30-39	152	8.1	79	7.7	73	8.7				
40+	335	17.9	216	21.0	119	14.2				

Table 1. Age distribution of study participants, Lower River Region and Upper River Region, The Gambia,2014.

.....

.....

of interventions and disease control measures across The Gambia was not even, with some districts receiving the full SAFE intervention and others receiving reduced (F & E components) or no specifically targeted interventions. It is important to be able to evaluate the effectiveness of these interventions and a significantly reduced or halted transmission of infection is a key indicator that elimination may have been achieved.

The current guidelines for post-intervention surveillance of Ct transmission intensity are based on the prevalence of TF in children aged 1–9 years. This is problematic because in the peri-elimination period and low-endemicity settings^{7,8} the correlation between the clinical signs of trachoma and the presence of ocular Ct infection is poor. This diminishment of the positive predictive value of clinical signs means that the false positive rate of TF screening is increased and the specificity of the clinical sign is negatively affected.

Reduced global endemicity also leads to the unmasking of diseases that resemble trachoma clinically but which have no clear link to Ct infections. We recently surveyed the western division of the Solomon Islands⁹, a population where TF was not found to be a highly specific indicator of ocular Ct infection. Around 26% of 1-9 year olds living there had TF, but Ct infection was very scarce at just 1.3%. Using a serological tool we showed that 53/66 (80%) of the cases of TF that we observed were in people who were serologically negative for prior Ct infection¹⁰. Clinical signs of trachoma were also a poor indicator for the need to deploy antimicrobials in Fiji, where the high prevalence of TT cases could be better explained by socio-epidemiological practices of eyelash depilation than by Ct infections¹¹. The current WHO guidelines would recommend MDA in both Fiji and the Solomon Islands, but the evidence from more detailed surveys makes an argument against the likelihood that the use of antimicrobials would be effective. Situations such as this highlight the need to develop new tools that can support programmes to make informed decisions about how to use antimicrobials in trachoma control. Antibodies against *Chlamydia trachomatis* reflect cumulative exposure to Ct^{12,13} and it has been suggested that programmes could use some measure of seroprevalence as an alternative indicator of changes in transmission^{14,15}. Previous work has investigated the use of age-specific seroprevalence for surveillance in the peri-¹⁶ and post-MDA setting^{15,17,18}. Serological techniques for the detection of antibodies against Ct have been used to study the epidemiology of both urogenital and ocular Ct infections^{19,20}. An enzyme-linked immunoassay (ELISA) which detects antibodies against Pgp3 (pCT03) has recently been used for analysis of samples collected from trachoma-endemic regions^{21,22}. The Pgp3 molecule is an immunogenic Ct-specific protein that is encoded by the Ct plasmid and which is highly conserved at the genetic level among Ct isolates²³.

In the current study we have used serological data from a Pgp3-specific ELISA to gain insight into the dynamics of Ct transmission in two regions of The Gambia, one of which (the Lower River Region [LRR]) had received three annual rounds of MDA, whilst the other (the Upper River Region [URR]) had not. URR was not targeted for antimicrobial use because the TF prevalence had already dropped below the WHO threshold for elimination as a public health problem.

To explore the utility of serology as a tool for surveillance in trachoma elimination programmes, we have modelled the seroconversion rate (SCR) in URR and LRR under different epidemiological settings. The SCR is the yearly average rate by which seronegative individuals become seropositive because of disease exposure. SCR is a metric that acts as a surrogate measure for the underlying force of infection (FoI) and the age specific SCR can be used to model changes in FOI across time, potentially identifying periods in which there were substantial changes in the rate of transmission of Ct infection in the population.

Results

We recruited participants of all ages from LRR (n = 1028, 41.9% male) and URR (n = 840, 42.5% male). Ten participants were excluded from the study because they either declined to provide a blood sample (n = 1) or had incomplete examination data (n = 9). The median participant age was 13 years in LRR (range: 1–88, IQR 6–34) and 11 years in URR (range: 0–90, IQR 5–40). The proportion of participants by age group is shown in Table 1. There were significantly more females than males overall (X^2 = 45.332, p < 0.0001), which held true in both LRR (X^2 = 26.483, p < 0.0001) and URR (X^2 = 18.601, p < 0.0001) and is representative of Gambian demographics²⁴. Age distributions were approximately equal between the two regions, as seen in Table 1 (X^2 = 27.703, p = 0.14).

	Frequ	Frequency of signs (%)								
	N	TF	TI	TS	ТТ	СО				
Overall	1832	30 (1.6)	4 (0.2)	78 (4.3)	8 (0.4)	1 (0.1)				
Region										
LRR	1010	18 (1.8)	4 (0.4)	55 (5.4)	7 (0.7)	1 (0.1)				
URR	822	12 (1.4)	0	23 (2.8)	1 (0.1)	0				
Gender										
Female	1056	10 (0.9)	3 (0.3)	52 (4.9)	5 (0.5)	1 (0.1)				
Male	776	20 (2.5)	1 (0.1)	26 (3.4)	3 (0.4)	0				
Age group (years)										
1-9	742	25 (3.4)	2 (0.3)	7 (1.1)	0	0				
10-19	412	4 (1.0)	1 (0.2)	2 (0.5)	0	0				
20–29	191	0	0	1 (0.5)	0	0				
30-39	152	1 (0.7)	1 (0.7)	5 (3.3)	0	0				
40+	335	0	0	63 (18.8)	8 (2.4)	1 (0.3)				
1–9 year olds -LRR	383	14 (3.7)	2 (0.5)	1 (0.3)	0	0				
1–9 year olds -URR	359	11 (3.1)	0	6 (1.7)	0	0				
\geq 10 year olds-LRR	645	4 (0.6)	2 (0.3)	54 (8.4)	7 (1.1)	1 (0.2)				
\geq 10 year olds-URR	481	1 (0.2)	0	17 (3.5)	1 (0.2)	0				

Table 2. Frequency of signs of trachoma in study participants, Lower River Region and Upper River Region,The Gambia, 2014. TF = trachomatous inflammation—follicular; TI = trachomatous inflammation—intense;TS = trachomatous conjunctival scarring; TT = trachomatous trichiasis; CO = corneal opacity LRR = LowerRiver Region; URR = Upper River Region.

.....

Clinical signs. Thirty cases of TF were found in total (1.6%, 95% CI = 1.1–2.3%), of which 25 were in children aged 1–9 years (3.4%, 95% CI = 2.2–4.9, Table 2). There were 78 cases of trachomatous conjunctival scarring (TS), of which 70 were in participants aged 15 years and above (8.3%, 95% CI = 6.6–10.5); eight cases of TT, all of which were in those aged 40 years and older (0.9%, 95% CI = 0.4–1.8); and one case of corneal opacity (CO), in a participant over 40 years of age (0.1%, 95% CI = 0.0–0.6) (Table 2). The prevalence of TS was significantly different (X^2 = 7.7932, p = 0.005) between LRR (5.4%, 95% CI = 4.1–7.1%) and URR (2.8%, 95% CI = 1.8–4.2%). The TF prevalence in children aged 1–9 years was not significantly different (X^2 = 0.199, p = 0.66) between LRR (3.7%, 95% CI = 2.1–6.2%) and URR (3.1%, 95% CI = 1.6–5.6%). The prevalence of TI, TT and CO in this population was too low for further statistical analysis.

Data from this study show very low prevalence of active trachoma in these regions. In children aged 1–9 years, only 4.2% had detectable antibodies against Pgp3. In both regions, the prevalence of TF in 1–9-year-olds was below the 5% threshold for elimination as a public health problem as specified by the WHO.

Antibody responses in the populations. The threshold for seropositivity was set using a finite mixture model²⁵ to classify the samples as seropositive or seronegative based on maximum likelihood methods. The threshold was set at the mean of the Gaussian distribution of the seronegative population plus four standard deviations, 0.810 OD_{450nm} to ensure high specificity. Previous studies using the Pgp3 ELISA have commonly used a threshold set as three standard deviations above the mean of the negative population (the 97.5% confidence interval)^{21,26}. Using that lower threshold resulted in the same qualitative conclusions being drawn (See Supplementary Information).

The seroprevalence of antibodies against Pgp3 for each region, by age and gender, is summarised in Table 3. The overall seroprevalence in LRR and URR was 26.2% (95% CI = 23.5–29.0) and 17.1% (95% CI = 14.7–19.9%), respectively. Adjusting for multiple comparisons, there was a significant difference in overall seroprevalence between the two regions ($X^2 = 20.72$, p < 0.0001). Figure 1 shows the seroprevalence by age group and region. In children 1–9 years old, seroprevalence was 4.4% in LRR and 3.9% in URR. As expected, the prevalence of anti-Pgp3 antibodies increased with age using the non-parametric test for trend (z-score = 23.35, p < 0.0001; alpha = 0.01). The seroprevalence doubled between 10–19-year-olds and the next oldest age group, 20–29-year-olds, both in the two regions combined, and in each region. Across both regions, in study participants who had no signs of trachoma, seroprevalence was 21% (95% CI = 19–23). Of those who had active trachoma (TF and/or TI) (n = 30), 3% were seropositive (95% CI = 0.1–17) and of those who had scarring trachoma (TS and/or TT and/or CO in either eye; n = 122) 56% were seropositive (95% CI = 44–67).

The prevalence of antibodies was significantly higher in females than in males (z-score = 6.384, p < 0.0001). The same was true in each region (LRR: z-score = 4.881, p < 0.0001; URR: z-score = 4.114, p < 0.0001). When data were considered for each age group, the seropositivity difference between males and females was only significant for 10–19-year-olds (z-score = 2.667, p = 0.0077) and 30–39-year-olds (z-score = 0.2551, p = 0.0107). Seroprevalence by gender and age group is shown in Fig. 2.

	Both			Lower River Region				Upper River Region				
	N	n	%	95% CI	N	n	%	95% CI	N	n	%	95% CI
Overall	1832	412	22.5	20.2-24.0	1010	268	26.5	23.5-29.0	822	144	17.5	14.7-19.9
Gender												
Female	1056	295	27.9	24.8-30.2	584	190	32.5	28.8-36.5	472	105	22.2	18.6-26.3
Male	776	117	15.1	12.4-17.5	426	78	18.3	14.8-22.4	350	39	11.1	8.1-15.0
Age group (years)											
1–9	742	31	4.2	2.9-5.9	383	17	4.4	2.6-7.0	359	14	3.9	2.1-6.5
10–19	412	48	11.7	8.7-15.1	231	29	12.6	8.6-17.5	181	19	10.5	6.4-16.0
20-29	191	48	25.1	19.1-31.9	101	28	27.7	19.3-37.5	90	20	22.2	14.1-32.2
30-39	152	73	48.0	39.9-56.3	79	41	51.9	40.4-63.3	73	32	43.8	32.2-55.9
40+	335	212	63.3	57.9-68.5	216	153	70.8	64.3-76.8	119	59	49.6	40.3-58.9

Table 3. Seroprevalence of anti-Pgp3 antibodies by region, gender and age, Lower River Region and Upper River Region, The Gambia, 2014.



Figure 1. Proportion of participants who were seropositive for anti-Pgp3 antibodies by age group and region, Lower River Region (LRR) and Upper River Region (URR), The Gambia, 2014. Vertical bars indicate 95% CIs.



Figure 2. Proportion of participants who were seropositive for anti-Pgp3 antibodies, by age group and gender, Lower River Region and Upper River Region, The Gambia, 2014. Vertical bars indicate 95% confidence intervals.

Reduction in seroconversion rates over time. We used a reversible catalytic model together with the profile likelihood method to identify reductions in seroconversion rates (SCR) in both LRR and URR. The reversible catalytic model is based on the premise that individuals transit between seropositive and seronegative states with specific average rates²⁷. We compared three different models under which transmission dynamics might have changed across time. Our first model used the assumption that there had been a constant transmission, the second that there had at some point been an abrupt change in force of infection and the third that there had been a constant FOI to a point, after which it had decayed in a log-linear manner. We found that the model of abrupt change was most likely to explain the data we had observed in The Gambia. Abrupt reductions in SCRs were identified in both LRR and URR (Table 4 and Fig. 3) and these changes in SCR are estimated to have occurred respectively 23 and 16 years before data collection took place (Fig. 3). For LRR, the SCR would appear to have dropped from an incidence of 0.062 yearly events per person, to 0.010 yearly events per person. These estimates implied a putative 6.3-fold decrease in transmission intensity. In URR, the estimate of the past SCR dropped from

Region	SCR _{past}	SCR _{current}	SRR	Fold change
Lower River Region	0.095 (0.051-0.176)	0.015 (0.012-0.019)	0.008 (0.004-0.015)	6.3
Upper River Region	0.038 (0.018-0.082)	0.012 (0.009-0.016)	0.011 (0.003-0.039)	3.2

Table 4. Maximum likelihood estimates for the past and current seroconversion and seroreversion rates (SCR and SRR, respectively) associated with data collected from participants in Lower River Region and Upper River Region, The Gambia, 2014 where the respective 95% confidence intervals are shown in brackets.



Figure 3. Akaike's information criterion (AIC) using the profile likelihood method for estimating the changepoint for the models assuming an abrupt reduction in transmission intensity or annual log-linear decay of transmission intensity from the change-point to the present. In this analysis, the best model as function of change point is the one that leads to the minimum estimate of the AIC. Note that a change point of 0 is equivalent to the simple model assuming a constant transmission intensity over time. The results suggest abrupt reductions of transmission intensity 23 and 16 years before sampling for respectively the lower and upper river regions.

0.050 yearly events per person to 0.008 yearly events per person, a 3.2-fold decrease (Table 4). Figure 4 shows the expected seroprevalence curves as function of age assuming a change in transmission intensity.

Discussion

The Gambian government is currently compiling evidence for validation of trachoma elimination, following completion of its three-year TF/TT surveillance plan, which began in 2011^{28,29}. Previous studies have demonstrated declines in the prevalence of active trachoma in The Gambia both prior to^{8,30} and in response to the implementation of specific trachoma-control interventions³¹⁻³³. Increased access to water, education and healthcare in The Gambia during recent decades are thought to have had an impact³⁴, manifesting in a secular decline. Regardless of cause, the prevalence of active trachoma in 0-14-year-olds fell from 10.4% in 1986⁶ to less than 5% in 1996⁵ and has subsequently remained low. Prevalence data from historical studies is presented in Table 5. More recently, six years before the survey reported here, communities in LRR received azithromycin to treat ocular Ct infection, further reducing the prevalence of trachoma in this region^{7,29}, while communities in URR did not. Although not measured in our study, previous work has shown that there has been a reduction in the prevalence of ocular Ct infection in two villages in LRR^{35,36} with the most recent measurements showing 0.5% infection prevalence in PRET villages, a portion of which are in LRR⁷. In line with the findings of those previous studies, we provide a further data point showing TF prevalence <5% for each region. The prevalence of clinical signs strongly supports The Gambia's claim to have eliminated trachoma as a public health problem from these areas. The seroprevalence estimates and FoI modelling of trachoma transmission intensity offer further support that transmission is greatly reduced and that trachoma is no longer a public health problem in the areas studied. Seroprevalence data presented here are very similar to those seen in a recent study in Tanzania, where ocular Ct infection was eliminated in 2005³⁷ and serology shows an equally low prevalence of antibodies against Ct in children¹⁵.

We used three SCR models to estimate the change in SCR: the first model assumed no change in SCR and serves as a baseline for the second and third models, both of which did assume a change in SCR. The best model allowed for an acute change in SCR (Table 4, Fig. 3).

Our analysis of age-specific seroprevalence suggests that the FOI is currently very low, with a substantial decrease in SCR in children having occurred approximately 20 years ago (compared to the children that grew up before then). This change is too acute to reflect secular decline in the FoI of trachoma and may indicate the effects of interventions.

	Prevalence of signs of trachoma									
	1986 ⁶ 1996 ⁶ 2013 ²⁹									
Region	TF/TI (0-14 year-olds)	TF/TI (0-9 year-olds)	TT (\geq 30 year-olds)	TF (0-9 year-olds)	TT (\geq 15 year-olds)					
Lower River Region	12.3%	11.5%	4.6%	1.8%	1.0%					
Upper River Region	5.0%	1.3%	1.3%	0.4%	0.07%					

Table 5. Previously published data on the prevalence active trachoma and trachomatous trichiasis, Lower River Region and Upper River Region, The Gambia, 1986–2013. Data from the 1986 survey was not available for 0–9 year olds, thus we have used the data for 0–14 year olds. TF = trachomatous inflammation - follicular, TI = trachomatous inflammation - intense, TT = trachomatous trichiasis.





One confounding factor in this analysis is that the serological test we used was not specific to ocular Ct infections; rather it indicates whether the individual being tested has antibodies against Ct that might originate from historical ocular or urogenital infections. Whilst the acute change in SCR that we identified would be consistent with a significant drop in the transmission intensity of ocular Ct in the mid to late 1990s, it could also be explained by a confounding signal from contemporary seroconversion events that relate to sexual activity of people in their late teens to mid-twenties. It is arguably most likely that the data reflect both things, but without current data describing the population prevalence of urogenital and ocular infections, the proportional contributions of STIs and trachoma to the change in SCR cannot be fully assessed.

No currently available serological test distinguishes between exposure to ocular and urogenital CT infection. It is interesting to note that the seroprevalence among 10–19-year-old Gambian females in our study was almost double that of their male counterparts of the same age. In the Gambia, the median age at which females first have sex is 18.6 years, with 52% of women aged 20–24 years surveyed as part of the Demographic and Health Survey (2013) having had sexual intercourse by age 20. In males the median age is 23.1 years, with 48% of men aged 25–29 years surveyed having had sexual intercourse by age 22³⁸. This could in part explain why we observed a gender difference in seroprevalence in the 10–19-year-old age range, as those with earlier sexual debut would be expected to be more likely to acquire STIs^{39–41} and to seroconvert.

In a population in which the urogenital Ct infection prevalence has been consistently low, it might be expected that anti-Pgp3 serological data would more accurately reflect longitudinal trends in ocular Ct transmission. Whilst data suggest that the prevalence of urogenital Ct infections has historically been very low in rural areas of The Gambia^{42,43}, there are no recent data, nor data based on modern molecular testing methods. A 2003 study from Malicounda in Thiès Region of neighbouring Senegal estimated that the prevalence of urogenital Ct infection there was just 0.3% (n = 73)⁴⁴. A systematic review of global estimates of incidence and prevalence of sexually transmitted infections (STI), including urogenital chlamydia, estimated that the prevalence of urogenital chlamydia was 2.9% in low-income countries⁴⁵, although it is noted that this study did not include data from The Gambia.

The cross-specificity of serological tests for antibodies emerging in response to ocular and urogenital Ct infections is a substantial hurdle that will need to be overcome if serological tests are to be widely deployed for trachoma monitoring.

The confidence intervals associated with SCRs seen in Fig. 4 are very broad (which in part reflects the uncertainty of modelling approaches) and comparison between the charts for LRR and URR is indicative but not conclusive of a difference in SCR between the two regions. Although a larger sample size would reduce the uncertainty, interpretation of the model depends to a large extent on the magnitude of the change as well as the timing between the change in SCR and sample collection, as seen in malaria modelling work²⁵. The very large sample sizes required of studies that could delineate SCR changes with high precision could be prohibitive. The analysis is further limited by the fact that the model assumes a memoryless property over time and the SCR models are defined as a function of the seroreversion rate, which not easily estimated from a single cross-sectional survey.

A recent serological study using samples from Tanzania¹⁵ examined the age-specific seroprevalence of anti-Pgp3 antibodies in a trachoma-endemic community that had received two rounds of high coverage azithromycin MDA. The all-ages prevalence of ocular Ct infection had fallen from 9.5% to 0.1% two years after MDA⁴⁶, and to 0% five years after MDA³⁷, with a corresponding 11-fold decrease in SCR¹⁵. This change in infection prevalence occurred in a more defined (and probably narrower) timeframe than the one we have studied in The Gambia. This resulted in a more acute change in SCR, as has been demonstrated in malaria modelling exercises^{26,47}. Previous trachoma modelling studies suggest that an individual may require upwards of 100 lifetime ocular Ct infections in order to develop TT⁴⁸, so even a modest reduction in transmission may have significant public health implications and reduce the future incidence of TT.

Research is ongoing to address remaining challenges in interpreting trachoma seroprevalence. It is unclear how many infections are required for seroconversion to occur. Studies involving urogenital Ct infection suggest that just 68% of infected women produce IgG antibodies against Ct⁴⁹. The intensity of the inflammatory response, and the surface area of inflamed mucosa, however, are both likely to differ between the infected conjunctiva and infected female urogenital tract. Additionally, further work is needed to determine the half-life of Pgp3 antibodies and seroreversion rates. A previous study that examined a high-prevalence community before and after one round of azithromycin suggested that individual anti-Pgp3 antibody levels decreased slightly six months after drug treatment, but not enough to be considered seroreversion⁵⁰. This is similar to results seen for urogenital Ct infection, where anti-Pgp3 antibody titres decreased over 4–7 years, but patients were still in the seropositive range⁵¹. Although we have estimated SRR in this study (Table 4), a more accurate estimate could be obtained from a longitudinal study collecting serum samples over a period of years. In low transmission settings, such as post-MDA communities, the SRR may be under-estimated if the assumption of a balance between total number of seropositive and seronegative individuals does not hold true. Further studies to determine SRR are currently underway.

Dichotomising antibody levels to a simple seropositive/seronegative classification provides a straightforward estimation of seroprevalence, but SCR estimates could potentially be improved by using a model based on antibody levels and multiple sampling time points, as suggested by Yman *et al.*⁵². Such models might assume that antibody levels increase with age, as exposure is age-dependent and that transmission intensity can be calculated by measuring the boost in antibody levels. The use of age group-specific geometric mean antibody levels could be explored⁵² in addition to SCR.

Approximately 4% of 1–9-year-olds were positive for antibodies to Pgp3, which may be due to previously acquired ocular Ct infections and/or to ocular or respiratory Ct infections acquired at birth from mothers with urogenital Ct infections⁵³. This seroprevalence is within the range of prevalence values previously estimated in post-MDA surveys in Tanzania and Nepal^{14,15}. There was also no observed increase in anti-Pgp3 antibody positivity with age in 1–9-year-olds (Supplementary Table 2), in contrast to what is observed in trachoma-endemic settings, whether treatment-naive¹⁸ or after 3 rounds of MDA^{17,21} and is in stark contrast to communities with a high prevalence of ocular infection¹⁶. Focusing on age-specific changes in seropositivity as a measure of cumulative exposure to ocular Ct infection might offset antibody responses from peri-natal infection, as the latter would be expected to be consistent across all ages, or even to decline with increasing age. The data from The Gambia presented here, combined with those from a variety of pre- and post-MDA settings, contribute to an understanding of the potential use of antibody-based surveillance of children to ensure a lack of infection recrudescence.

Data from paired pre- and post-MDA surveys, or longitudinal data from MDA surveys, would substantially improve parameters and modeling efforts. A detailed series of surveys in one population would help to develop generalized models for use elsewhere. The inclusion of infection data for both ocular and urogenital Ct infection is needed to further clarify how urogenital Ct contributes to observed seropositivity rates.

Methods

Ethical Review. This study was conducted in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki. It received approval from the London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine Ethics Committee (LSHTM; reference 7059) and The Gambia Government/Medical Research Council Joint Ethics Committee (SCC1408v2). CDC investigators did not engage with study participants.

Survey methodology. We conducted a population-based, cluster-random-sampled survey was conducted in February-March 2014. The Gambia is divided into geographically-defined census Enumeration Areas (EAs) of approximately 600–800 people each. Sampling by EA is equivalent to sampling settlements with probability proportional to their size⁵⁴. Twenty EAs in each of URR and LRR were randomly selected for participation. Trained field workers sensitised villagers and obtained verbal community-consent from each village chief (*alkalo*). Field workers and *alkalos* compiled a list of households for each EA, from which households were randomly selected for census and recruitment. The study and consent form were explained to the head of each selected household

and prospective participants. All members of selected households were invited to participate, regardless of age. Written (thumbprint or signature) consent was obtained from each participant aged \geq 18 years, while a parent or guardian provided written consent for each participating child aged under 18 years. Children aged 12–17 years provided assent before participating.

The trachoma graders were experienced in field grading for active trachoma and had received regular training according to PRET⁷ and Global Trachoma Mapping Project (GTMP) protocols^{55,56}. After informed consent was received, the grader examined both eyes of the subject using a binocular loupe $(2.5 \times)$ and a torch. The grader changed gloves between each participant to minimise the risk of carry-over infection. In accordance with the Gambian NEHP policy, antibiotics were provided to individuals with evidence of active trachoma and to residents of their household.

Each participant had a finger-prick blood sample collected onto filter paper (Trop-Bio, Townsville, Australia) using a sterile single-use lancet (BD Microtrainer, Dublin, Ireland). Each filter paper had six extensions, calibrated to absorb 10μ L of blood each. Samples were air-dried for approximately five hours and then placed in individual Whirl-Pak plastic bags (Nasco, Modesto, California) which were stored with desiccant sachets (Whatman, Little Chalfont, UK) at -20 °C. All samples were shipped to LSHTM for testing.

ELISA Assay. Dried blood spots (DBS) were tested for antibodies against Pgp3 according to the method previously described²¹. Briefly, serum was eluted from dried blots spots then applied to a plate coated with Pgp3 protein¹⁷; known standards were included and assayed in triplicate on each plate. Following incubation, bound antibody was detected with HRP-labelled mouse anti-human IgG(Fc)-HRP (Southern Biotech, Birmingham, USA). Plates were incubated and washed, and then TMB (KPL, Gaithersburg, USA) was added to develop the plates. The reaction was stopped with $1 \text{ N H}_2\text{SO}_4$ and optical density was read at 450 nm (OD₄₅₀) on a Spectramax M3 plate reader (Molecular Devices, Wokingham UK). Readings were corrected for background by subtracting the average absorbance of three blank wells containing no serum, using Softmax Pro5 software (Molecular Devices).

Statistical Methods. Blanked OD_{450} values for samples were normalised against the 200 U standard included on each plate²¹. Laboratory work was undertaken masked to demographic and clinical information. Statistical analyses were carried out using R⁵⁷. Using the "survey" package and assuming a design effect of 2.65⁵⁵, the 95% confidence intervals (CI) were calculated using the Clopper-Pearson interval⁵⁸. Wilcoxon-Mann-Whitney z-scores⁵⁹ were calculated to compare the proportion seropositive between different regions, ages, and genders. The non-parametric test for trend was used to measure the increase in prevalence of anti-Pgp3 antibodies with age.

A finite mixture model²⁵ was used to classify the samples as seropositive or seronegative based on normalised OD_{450} values. The data were fitted using maximum likelihood methods, estimating the distribution parameters for each classification group (assumed seropositive or assumed seronegative) as well as the proportion of samples in each category to fit the overall distribution of results⁶⁰. To ensure that the assay had high specificity, the threshold for seropositivity was set using the mean of the Gaussian distribution of the seronegative population plus four standard deviations (the quantile inclusive of 99.994%) of the seronegative population^{25,60}.

Population age groups were categorized according to known time points of changes in disease prevalence. The youngest age group was 1–9-year-olds, who in LRR are likely to have been born during or after MDA with azithromycin. The oldest group included people aged 40 years and above, who experienced secular declines in trachoma prevalence prior to 1986, the year of the first National Survey of Blindness and Low Vision⁶. Participants aged between 10 and 39 years were grouped into 10-year categories.

Different reversible catalytic models were applied to the analysis of the data from each region. These models are described as function of seroconversion and seroreversion rates (SCR and SRR, respectively). SCR is defined as the annual mean rate by which seronegative individuals become seropositive upon disease exposure and is usually considered as a proxy of the transmission intensity of the population. SRR describes the annual mean rate by which seronegative individuals revert to a seronegative status in the absence of re-infection. Three reversible catalytic models were fit to the serological data of each region: (i) a simple model that assumes a constant SCR (i.e., transmission intensity) over time and people are born seronegative²⁷; (ii) a model with a constant historical SCR until a certain change point in the past where SCR changes abruptly to a new value (current SCR); (iii) a model that also assumes a historical seroconversion rate until a certain change point followed by a time period where SCR decays log-linearly every year. The respective parameter estimation was done using maximum likelihood principles. In particular, the models assuming a change point were estimated via profile likelihood method, as described elsewhere²⁵. Model comparison for the data of each region was based on the Akaike's information criterion where the best model (and change point) is the one that provides the minimum estimate of this statistics.

References

- 1. Bourne, R. R. A. et al. Causes of vision loss worldwide, 1990-2010: A systematic analysis. Lancet Glob. Heal. 1, 339-349 (2013).
- 2. World Health Organization Alliance for the Global Elimination of Trachoma by 2020. *Eliminating trachoma: accelerating towards* 2020 (2016).
- 3. World Health Organization. Validation of elimination of trachoma as a public health problem (WHO/HTM/NTD/2016.8) (2016).
- WHO. Weekly epidemiological record Relevé épidémiologique hebdomadaire. World Heal. Organ. Wkly. Epidemiol. Rec. 96, 421–428 (2014).
- 5. Faal, H. et al. Evaluation of a national eye care programme: re-survey after 10 years. Br. J. Ophthalmol. 84, 948–51 (2000).
- Dolin, P. J. et al. Trachoma in the Gambia. Br. J. Ophthalmol. 82, 930–933 (1998).
 Harding-Esch, E. M. et al. Mass Treatment with Azithromycin for Trachoma: When Is One Round Enough? Results from the PRET
- Trial in The Gambia. *PLoS Negl. Trop. Dis.* 7, e2115 (2013).
- Harding-Esch, E. M. et al. Active trachoma and ocular Chlamydia trachomatis infection in two Gambian regions: on course for elimination by 2020? PLoS Negl. Trop. Dis 3, e573 (2009).

- Butcher, R. M. R. et al. Low Prevalence of Conjunctival Infection with Chlamydia trachomatis in a Treatment-Naïve Trachoma-Endemic Region of the Solomon Islands. PLoS Negl. Trop. Dis. 10, e0004863 (2016).
- Butcher, R. et al. Age-specific prevalence of anti-Pgp3 antibodies and severe conjunctival scarring in the Solomon Islands. bioRxiv (2017).
- 11. Macleod, C. *et al.* Eyelash Epilation in the Absence of Trichiasis: Results of a Population-Based Prevalence Survey in the Western Division of Fiji. *PLoS Negl. Trop. Dis* **11**, e0005277 (2017).
- Zambrano, A. I. et al. TheWorld Health Organization Recommendations for Trachoma Surveillance, Experience in Nepal and Added Benefit of Testing for Antibodies to Chlamydia trachomatis pgp3 Protein: NESTS Study. PLoS Negl. Trop. Dis. 10 (2016).
- 13. Wang, S. & Grayston, J. T. Human seroloy in Chlamydia trachomatis: Infection with Microimmunofluorescence. J. Infect. Dis. 130, 388–397 (1974).
- West, S. K. et al. Can We Use Antibodies to Chlamydia trachomatis as a Surveillance Tool for National Trachoma Control Programs? Results from a District Survey. PLoS Negl. Trop. Dis. 10, e0004352 (2016).
- 15. Martin, D. L. et al. Serology for Trachoma Surveillance after Cessation of Mass Drug Administration. PLoS Negl. Trop. Dis. 9 (2015). 16. Cama, A. et al. Prevalence of signs of trachoma, ocular Chlamydia trachomatis infection and antibodies to Pgp3 in residents of
- Kiritimati Island, Kiribati. *PLoS Negl. Trop. Dis.* **11**, [manuscript in press] (2017).
- 17. Goodhew, E. B. et al. CT694 and pgp3 as Serological Tools for Monitoring Trachoma Programs. PLoS Negl. Trop. Dis. 6 (2012).
- 18. Martin, D. L. et al. Serological Measures of Trachoma Transmission Intensity. Sci. Rep. 5, 18532 (2015).
- 19. Woodhall, S. C. *et al.* Can we use postal surveys with anonymous testing to monitor chlamydia prevalence in young women in England? Pilot study incorporating randomised controlled trial of recruitment methods. *Sex. Transm. Infect.* **91**, 412–4 (2015).
- Wills, G. S. et al. Pgp3 antibody enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay, a sensitive and specific assay for seroepidemiological analysis of Chlamydia trachomatis infection. Clin. Vaccine Immunol. 16, 835–43 (2009).
- 21. Migchelsen, S. J. et al. Defining Seropositivity Thresholds for Use in Trachoma EliminationStudies. PLoS Negl. Trop. Dis 11, e0005230 (2017).
- 22. Cocks, N. et al. Community seroprevalence survey for yaws and trachoma in the Western Division of Fiji. Trans. R. Soc. Trop. Med. Hyg. 110, 582–587 (2016).
- Wang, J. et al. A genome-wide profiling of the humoral immune response to Chlamydia trachomatis infection reveals vaccine candidate antigens expressed in humans. J. Immunol. 185, 1670–80 (2010).
- 24. United Nations Statistics Division. UN: a world of information (2016).
- Sepúlveda, N., Stresman, G., White, M. T. & Drakeley, C. J. Current mathematical models for analyzing anti-malarial antibody data with an eye to malaria elimination and eradication. J. Immunol. Res. 2015 (2015).
- Sepúlveda, N., Paulino, C. D. & Drakeley, C. Sample size and power calculations for detecting changes in malaria transmission using antibody seroconversion rate. *Malar. J.* 14, 1–14 (2015).
- 27. Drakeley, C. J. et al. Estimating medium- and long-term trends in malaria transmission by using serological markers of malaria exposure. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 102, 5108–13 (2005).
- 28. World Health Organization. Report of the 17th meeting of the WHO alliance for the global elimination of blinding trachoma (2013).
- Burr, S. E. et al. Cross-Sectional Surveys of the Prevalence of Follicular Trachoma and Trichiasis in The Gambia: Has Elimination Been Reached? PLoS Negl Trop Dis 10 (2016).
- Faal, H., Minassian, D., Sowa, S. & Foster, A. National survey of blindness and low vision in The Gambia: results. Br. J. Ophthalmol. 73, 82–7 (1989).
- Harding-Esch, E. M. et al. Trachoma prevalence and associated risk factors in the gambia and Tanzania: baseline results of a cluster randomised controlled trial. PLoS Negl. Trop. Dis. 4, e861 (2010).
- Chen, C. et al. Incremental cost of conducting population-based prevalence surveys for a neglected tropical disease: the example of trachoma in 8 national programs. PLoS Negl. Trop. Dis. 5, e979 (2011).
- Burton, M. J. et al. Profound and sustained reduction in Chlamydia trachomatis in The Gambia: a five-year longitudinal study of trachoma endemic communities. PLoS Negl. Trop. Dis. 4 (2010).
- Dolin, P. J. et al. Reduction of trachoma in a sub-Saharan village in absence of a disease control programme. Lancet 349, 1511–2 (1997).
- Bailey, R. L. et al. Polymerase chain reaction for the detection of ocular chlamydial infection in trachoma-endemic communities. J. Infect. Dis. 170, 709–12 (1994).
- 36. Mabey, D. C., Bailey, R. L., Ward, M. E. & Whittle, H. C. A longitudinal study of trachoma in a Gambian village: implications concerning the pathogenesis of chlamydial infection. *Epidemiol. Infect.* **108**, 343–51 (1992).
- Solomon, A. W. et al. Two doses of azithromycin to eliminate trachoma in a Tanzanian community. N. Engl. J. Med. 358, 1870–1 (2008).
- 38. The Gambia Bureau of Statistics (GBOS) & ICF International. The Gambia Demographic and Health Survey (2014).
- Speizer, I. S., Christophe Fotso, J., Davis, J. T., Saad, A. & Otai, J. Timing and Circumstances of First Sex among Female and Male Youth from Select Urban Areas of Nigeria, Kenya, and Senegal. J Adolesc Heal. 53, 609–616 (2013).
- Ghebremichael, M., Larsen, U. & Paintsil, E. Association of age at first sex with HIV-1, HSV-2, and other sexual transmitted infections among women in northern Tanzania. Sex. Transm. Dis. 36, 570–6 (2009).
- 41. Sauvain-Dugerdil, C. et al. The start of the sexual transition in Mali: risks and opportunities. Stud. Fam. Plann. 39, 263-80 (2008).
- 42. Mabey, D. C. W. & Whittle, H. C. Genital and neonatal chlamydial infection in a trachoma endemic area. *Lancet* **320**, 300–301 (1982).
- Walraven, G. et al. The burden of reproductive-organ disease in rural women in The Gambia, West Africa. Lancet (London, England) 357, 1161–1167 (2001).
- Gueye Ndiaye, A. *et al.* [Screening for HIV, syphilis, Chlamydia trachomatis and Neisseria gonorrhoreae during a combined survey conducted in Malicouna, a Senegalese rural area]. *Bull Soc Pathol Exot* 102, 150–154 (2009).
- Newman, L., Rowley, J., Hoorn, S. & Wijesooriya, N. S. Global Estimates of the Prevalence and Incidence of Four Curable Sexually Transmitted Infections in 2012 Based on Systematic Review and Global Reporting. *PloS ONEone* 10, 1–17 (2015).
- 46. Solomon, A. W. et al. Mass treatment with single-dose azithromycin for trachoma. N. Engl. J. Med. 351, 1962-71 (2004).
- 47. van den Hoogen, L. L. *et al.* Serology describes a profile of declining malaria transmission in Farafenni, The Gambia. *Malar. J.* 14, 416 (2015).
- 48. Gambhir, M. *et al.* The development of an age-structured model for trachoma transmission dynamics, pathogenesis and control. *PLoS Negl. Trop. Dis.* **3**, e462 (2009).
- Horner, P. J. et al. Effect of time since exposure to Chlamydia trachomatis on chlamydia antibody detection in women: a crosssectional study. Sex. Transm. Infect. 89, 398–403 (2013).
- Goodhew, E. B. et al. Longitudinal analysis of antibody responses to trachoma antigens before and after mass drug administration. BMC Infect. Dis. 14, 216 (2014).
- Gijsen, A. P., Land, J. A., Goossens, V. J., Slobbe, M. E. P. & Bruggeman, C. A. Chlamydia antibody testing in screening for tubal factor subfertility: the significance of IgG antibody decline over time. *Hum. Reprod.* 17, 699–703 (2002).
- 52. Yman, V. *et al.* Antibody acquisition models: A new tool for serological surveillance of malaria transmission intensity. *Sci. Rep.* **6**, 19472 (2016).

- 53. Hobson, D. & Rees, E. Maternal genital chlamydial infection as a cause of neonatal conjunctivitis. *Postgrad.Med.J.* 53, 595–597 (1977).
- Harding-Esch, E. et al. Costs of Testing for Ocular Chlamydia trachomatis Infection Compared to Mass Drug Administration for Trachoma in The Gambia: Application of Results from the PRET Study. PLoS Negl. Trop. Dis. 9, e0003670 (2015).
- Solomon, A. W. et al. The Global Trachoma Mapping Project: Methodology of a 34-Country Population-Based Study. Ophthalmic Epidemiol. 22, 214–25 (2015).
- 56. Courtright, P. et al. Global Trachoma Mapping Project Training for mapping of trachoma (2015).
- R Development Core Team, R Core Team & R Development Core Team. R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing (R Foundation for Statistical Computing 2008).
- Clopper, C. J. & Pearson, E. S. The Use of Confidence or Fiducial Limits Illustrated in the Case of the Binomial. *Biometrika* 26, 404–413 (1934).
- 59. Fay, M. P. & Proschan, M. A. Wilcoxon-Mann-Whitney or t-test? On assumptions for hypothesis tests and multiple interpretations of decision rules. *Stat. Surv.* 4, 1–39 (2010).
- 60. Kaneko, A. *et al.* Characteristic age distribution of Plasmodium vivax infections after malaria elimination on Aneityum Island, Vanuatu. *Infect. Immun.* **82**, 243–52 (2014).

Acknowledgements

We are very grateful to the communities that generously gave their time to participate in this study. We thank the field team and public health staff in The Gambia, Ms PJ Hooper from the International Trachoma Initiative, and Prof Hannah Faal from the University of Calabar and Teaching Hospital. NS is partially supported by the Portuguese Fundação para a Ciência e Tecnologia (Grant # UID/MAT/00006/2013). The findings and conclusions in this report are those of the authors and do not necessarily represent the official position of the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention.

Author Contributions

S.J.M., R.B., D.C.W.M., A.W.S. and C.h.R. designed the study and wrote the paper, D.L.M., G.C., S.G. C.h.R. and S.J.M. developed the protocol for serological analysis, S.J.M. performed serological analysis, S.J.M., C.h.R. and N.S. performed the statistical analysis, R.B. trained the trachoma graders, S.J.M., H.J., P.M., R.B., S.E.B., D.C.W.M. and C.h.R. organized field data collection. H.J. and P.M. performed the field grading of trachoma. H.P. provided critical feedback on the paper. All authors reviewed and approved the manuscript.

Additional Information

Supplementary information accompanies this paper at https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-15056-7.

Competing Interests: S.G. is employed by the commercial company IHRC, Inc. and is a contractor at the Centres for Disease Control and Prevention. The authors have declared that no competing interests exist.

Publisher's note: Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

Open Access This article is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License, which permits use, sharing, adaptation, distribution and reproduction in any medium or format, as long as you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons license, and indicate if changes were made. The images or other third party material in this article are included in the article's Creative Commons license, unless indicated otherwise in a credit line to the material. If material is not included in the article's Creative Commons license and your intended use is not permitted by statutory regulation or exceeds the permitted use, you will need to obtain permission directly from the copyright holder. To view a copy of this license, visit http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/.

© The Author(s) 2017

SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

We provide a more detailed description of the prevalence of clinical signs by age and gender in Supplementary Table 1, including prevalence in one-year increments for children 9 years and under, as well as extending the age groups up to 60+ years of age.

		Prevalence of clinical signs (%)								
	Ν	TF	ТІ	TS	тт	СО				
Overall	1832	30 (1.6)	4 (0.2)	78 (4.3)	8 (0.4)	1 (0.1)				
LRR	1010	18 (1.8)	4 (0.4)	55 (5.4)	7 (0.7)	1 (0.1)				
URR	822	12 (1.5)	0	23 (2.8)	1 (0.1)	0				
Female	1057	10 (0.9)	3 (0.3)	52 (4.9)	5 (0.5)	1 (0.1)				
Male	776	20 (2.6)	1 (0.1)	26 (3.4)	3 (0.4)	0				
1 year old	65	1 (1.5)	0	0	0	0				
2 years old	88	3 (3.4)	0	2 (2.3)	0	0				
3 years old	101	8 (7.9)	0	1 (1.0)	0	0				
4 years old	96	5 (5.2)	0	1 (1.0)	0	0				
5 years old	96	3 (3.1)	0	1 (1.0)	0	0				
6 years old	89	0	0	2 (2.2)	0	0				
7 years old	77	2 (2.6)	1 (1.3)	0	0	0				
8 years old	78	1 (1.3)	0	0	0	0				
9 years old	52	2 (3.8)	1 (1.9)	0	0	0				
10-19	412	4 (1.0)	1 (0.2)	2 (0.5)	0	0				
20-29	191	0	0	1 (0.5)	0	0				
30-39	152	1 (0.7)	1 (0.7)	5 (3.3)	0	0				
40-49	99	0	0	5 (5.1)	0	0				
50-59	95	0	0	15 (15.8)	2 (2.1)	0				
60+	141	0	0	43 (30.5)	6 (4.3)	1 (0.7)				
1-9 year olds -LRR	383	14 (3.7)	2 (0.5)	1 (0.3)	0	0				
1-9 year olds -URR	359	11 (3.1)	0	6 (1.7)	0	0				
≥10 year olds-LRR	627	4 (0.6)	2 (0.3)	54 (8.6)	7 (1.1)	1 (0.2)				
≥10 year olds-URR	463	1 (0.2)	0	17 (3.7)	1 (0.2)	0				

Supplementary Table 5.1.	Clinical signs	assessed in	participan	ts in	The	Gambia
--------------------------	----------------	-------------	------------	-------	-----	--------

TF = trachomatous inflammation, follicular; TI = trachomatous inflammation-intense; TS = trachomatous scarring; TT = trachomatous trichiasis; CO = corneal opacity LRR = Lower River Region; URR = Upper River Region

Similarly, we provide a more detailed description of the seroprevalence of anti-Pgp3 antibodies in LRR and URR by region, gender and age in Supplementary Table 2. We again provide the seroprevalence in one-year increments for children 9 years and under, to facilitate comparison with other seroprevalence studies.

					% sero	positive	e (95% confi	dence interval)					
			Overall			Lov	ver River Re	gion		Upper River Region			
	Ν	n	%	95%CI	Ν	n	%	95%CI	Ν	n	%	95% CI	
Overall	1868	489	26.18%	(24.2-28.2)	1028	313	30.45%	(27.7-33.4)	840	176	20.95%	(18.3-23.9)	
Female	1080	341	31.57%	(28.8-34.5)	597	215	36.01%	(32.2-40.0)	483	126	26.09%	(22.2-30.2)	
Male	788	148	18.78%	(16.1-21.7)	431	98	22.74%	(18.9-27.0)	357	50	14.01%	(10.7-18.1)	
1 year old	65	2	3.08%	(0.5-11.6)	29	0	0	(0-1.9)	36	2	5.56%	(1.0-20.0)	
2 years old	88	2	2.27%	(0.4-8.7)	33	2	6.06%	(1.1-21.6)	55	0	0	(0-8.1)	
3 years old	101	6	5.94%	(2.4-13.0)	59	2	3.39%	(0.6-12.7)	42	4	9.52%	(3.1-23.5)	
4 years old	96	7	7.29%	(3.2-14.90	46	3	6.50%	(1.7-18.9)	50	4	8.00%	(2.6-20.1)	
5 years old	96	6	6.25%	(2.6-13.6)	58	4	6.90%	(2.2-17.5)	38	2	5.26%	(1.0-19.1)	
6 years old	89	4	4.49%	(1.4-11.7)	40	2	5.00%	(0.9-18.2)	49	2	4.08%	(0.7-15.1)	
7 years old	77	6	7.79%	(3.2-16.8)	42	2	4.80%	(0.8-17.4)	35	4	11.43%	(3.7-27.7)	
8 years old	78	6	7.69%	(3.2-16.6)	41	3	7.30%	(1.9-21.0)	37	3	8.11%	(2.1-23.0)	
9 years old	52	8	15.38%	(7.3-28.6)	35	7	20.00%	(9.1-37.5)	17	1	5.88%	(0.3-30.8)	
1-9	742	47	6.33%	(4.5-8.0)	383	25	6.53%	(3.9-8.9)	359	22	6.13%	(3.8-8.8)	
10-19	412	65	15.78%	(12.2-19.5)	231	40	17.32%	(12.8-23.0)	181	24	13.26%	(8.8-19.3)	
20-29	191	60	31.41%	(25.0-38.6)	101	35	34.65%	(25.6-44.8)	90	25	27.78%	(19.1-38.4)	
30-39	152	79	51.97%	(43.8-60.1)	79	44	55.70%	(44.1-66.7)	73	35	47.95%	(36.2-59.9)	
40-49	99	65	65.66%	(55.4-74.7)	62	47	75.81%	(63.0-85.4)	37	18	48.65%	(32.2-65.3)	
50-59	95	69	72.63%	(62.4-81.0)	59	46	77.97%	(64.9-87.3)	36	23	63.89%	(46.2-78.7)	
60+	141	104	73.76%	(65.6-80.6)	95	75	78.95%	(69.1-86.4)	46	29	63.04%	(47.5-76.4)	

Supplementary Table 5.2. Seroprevalence of anti-Pgp3 antibodies in The Gambia by region, gender and age

In our paper, we set the threshold for positivity at the mean of the Gaussian distribution of the seronegative population plus four standard deviations, $0.810 \text{ OD}_{450\text{nm}}$. Previous studies using the Pgp3 ELISA have commonly used a threshold set as three standard deviations above the mean of the negative population (the 97.5% confidence interval) ^{15,20,21}. Supplementary Figure 1 shows the positive and negative populations with both thresholds.



Supplementary Figure 5.1. Assumed seronegative (red) and assumed seropositive (green) populations as estimated using Finite Mixture Modelling.

The dashed line shows the threshold set using the mean of the negative population plus three standard deviations, while the solid line shows the more specific threshold set using the mean of the negative population plus four standard deviations.

Below we present the results had we used the typical threshold set using the mean of the Gaussian distribution of the seronegative population plus three standard deviations, 0.673 OD_{450nm} . Note that the estimated time change in seroconversion rates does not change.

	Both regions combined			L	ower Riv	ver Region	Upper River Region			
		Pr	evalence		P	revalence		Prevalence		
	Ν	%	95%CI	N	%	95%CI	Ν	%	95% CI	
Overall	1868	26.2	(24.2-28.2)	1028	30.5	(27.7-33.4)	840	20.9	(18.3-23.9)	
Gender										
Female	1080	31.6	(28.8-34.5)	597	36.0	(32.2-40.0)	483	26.1	(22.2-30.2)	
Male	788	18.8	(16.1-21.7)	431	22.7	(18.9-27.0)	357	14.0	(10.7-18.1)	
Age (years)										
1-9	742	6.3	(4.5-8.0)	383	6.5	(3.9-8.9)	359	6.1	(3.8-8.8)	
10-19	412	15.8	(12.2-19.5)	231	17.3	(12.8-23.0)	181	13.3	(8.8-19.3)	
20-29	191	31.4	(25.0-38.6)	101	34.6	(25.6-44.8)	90	27.8	(19.1-38.4)	
30-39	152	51.9	(43.8-60.1)	79	55.7	(44.1-66.7)	73	47.9	(36.2-59.9)	
40+	335	71.0	(65.8-75.8)	216	77.8	(71.5-83.0)	119	35.2	(28.6-42.3)	

Supplementary Table 5.3. Seroprevalence of anti-Pgp3 antibodies by region, gender and
age, Lower River Region and Upper River Region, The Gambia, 2014.



Supplementary Figure 5.2. Proportion of participants who were seropositive for anti-Pgp3 antibodies using a threshold set at 0.673 OD450nm, by age group and region, Lower River Region (LRR) and Upper River Region (URR), The Gambia, 2014.

Vertical bars indicate 95% Cls.



Supplementary Figure 5.3. Proportion of participants who were seropositive for anti-Pgp3 antibodies using a threshold set at 0.673 OD₄₅₀nm, by age group and gender, Lower River Region and Upper River Region, The Gambia, 2014. Vertical bars indicate 95% confidence intervals.

Supplementary Table 5.4. Maximum likelihood parameter estimates and the respective 95% confidence intervals (in brackets) for the seroconversion and seroreversion rates (SCR and SRR, respectively); data collected from participants in Lower River Region and Upper River Region, The Gambia, 2014.

P-values <0.05 are indicative of a change in transmission intensity when comparing two reversible catalytic models, one assuming constant and stable transmission over and another assuming a sudden reduction in transmission intensity somewhere in the past.

	SCR _{past}	SCR _{current}	SRR	Fold change	p-value
Region					
Lower River	0.062	0.014	0.006	4.4	<0.001
Region	(0.038, 0.100)	(0.011, 0.018)	(0.003,0.014)		
Upper River	0.038	0.011	0.011	3.5	<0.001
Region	(0.017, 0.082)	(0.009, 0.016)	(0.003, 0.039)		

Chapter 6- Analysis of age-dependent mean antibody levels is more informative than qualitative sero-status analysis for studies on elimination of trachoma.


Registry

T: +44(0)20 7299 4646 F: +44(0)20 7299 4656 E: registry@lshtm.ac.uk

RESEARCH PAPER COVER SHEET

PLEASE NOTE THAT A COVER SHEET MUST BE COMPLETED <u>FOR EACH</u> RESEARCH PAPER INCLUDED IN A THESIS.

SECTION A – Student Details

Student	Stephanie Migchelsen
Principal Supervisor	David Mabery.
Thesis Title	internation activities to climinal trachoma as a public health
	DIDULM

If the Research Paper has previously been published please complete Section B, if not please move to Section C

SECTION B – Paper already published

Where was the work published?		
When was the work published?		
If the work was published prior to registration for your research degree, give a brief rationale for its inclusion		
Have you retained the copyright for the work?*	Was the work subject to academic peer review?	

*If yes, please attach evidence of retention. If no, or if the work is being included in its published format, please attach evidence of permission from the copyright holder (publisher or other author) to include this work.

SECTION C – Prepared for publication, but not yet published

Where is the work intended to be published?	PLOS NTD
Please list the paper's authors in the intended authorship order:	Migchelsen, Martin, Massac, Dean, Bid, Sokana, Tekcraoi, Solomon, Mabey, Roberts
Stage of publication	ready to be submitted

SECTION D - Multi-authored work

Improving health worldwide	www.ishtm.ac.uk		
Supervisor Signature:	Date: 12/9/18		
Student Signature:	Date: 10/09/18		
For multi-authored work, give full details of your role in the research included in the paper and in the preparation of the paper. (Attach a further sheet if necessary)	I collected Samples from The Gambia, assayed samples from The Gambia, Caost Uganda Kinterti, analysed all the samples conducted the statistical analysis, wroke and edited the paper.		

Summary

The previous chapters have explored setting seropositivity thresholds and estimating changes in seroprevalence. These analyses have relied on dichotomising the continuous data generated from ELISA and MBA assays.

This chapter explores the use of antibody levels, rather than seroprevalence, to monitor effects of MDA for trachoma elimination and to compare levels between populations, including those where trachoma has been eliminated as a public health problem and where MDA is ongoing.

In the following analyses, semi-quantitative antibody levels were used to create age-dependent geometric mean antibody level curves. This secondary analysis of antibody level data used a novel R package, 'tmleAb', which uses an ensemble machine learning approach to generate age-dependent antibody curves. These were compared between pre- and post-MDA communities of all ages in Nepal and a post-MDA community in Tanzania. Additionally, curves were compared for the two Gambian populations of all ages previously described in this thesis. Part of the analysis examined age-dependent curves for children from four countries between the ages of 1-9 years as this is the age range of interest in measuring the prevalence of clinical signs of trachoma. The final comparison was between the Gambian population, where there is a low prevalence of both ocular and genital Ct infection, and the Solomon Islands, where the prevalence of genital Ct infection is much higher which has affected the level of antibodies in the youngest children of the population.

Using antibody levels removes the need to establish the somewhat arbitrary thresholds between positive and negative samples and uses the 'raw' antibody level data directly. These analyses are more sensitive to changes in antibody levels and capture information as levels change that may not be otherwise captured if the change were too small to cross the positivity threshold. Additionally, the analysis in this chapter shows that at a population-level, wider confidence intervals are seen when a population is under the greatest force of Ct infection.

Title

Analysis of age-dependent mean antibody levels is more informative than qualitative sero-status analysis for studies on elimination of trachoma.

Authors

Stephanie J Migchelsen, Diana L Martin, Patrick A Massae, Deborah Dean, Rhiannon Bid, Oliver Sokana, Rabebe Tekeraoi, Anthony W Solomon, David C W Mabey, Chrissy h Roberts

6.1 Abstract

Background

Detecting antibodies against *Chlamydia trachomatis* (Ct), the cause of trachoma, may be useful for surveillance following population-level interventions, which include antibiotic mass drug administration (MDA). More information may be generated by analysing antibody levels rather than simply estimating seroprevalence.

Methodology

We used the level of antibodies against Pgp3, a Ct-specific antigen, to examine the intensity of Ct transmission at population level, using R package 'tmleAb'. Dried blood spot or serum samples from seven countries where trachoma is either currently or was previously endemic were employed. Levels of IgG against Pgp3 were measured using either a multiplex bead assay (MBA) or an ELISA. Semi-quantitative antibody levels were used to create age-dependent geometric mean antibody level curves.

The following comparisons were made: 1) pre- and post-MDA antibody levels from individuals of all ages in Nepal were compared with post-MDA data from Tanzania; 2) antibody levels from individuals of all ages in two regions of The Gambia, one of which had previously received MDA; 3) antibody levels in children aged 1–9 years from peri-elimination populations in The Gambia, Uganda, and Laos were compared with those from children in Kiribati, a country with ongoing transmission of ocular Ct; and 4) antibody levels from individuals of all ages in The Gambia were compared with those from residents of the Solomon Islands, a country with a high prevalence of urogenital Ct infection.

Significance

In children from populations in which trachoma has been, or is close to being, eliminated as a public health problem, there is little or no increase in mean antibody levels with increasing age. In populations with a high prevalence of urogenital Ct infection, there is a rapid increase in signal at the age of sexual debut. Wide confidence intervals around age-standardised means suggest increased exposure to antibody-inducing Ct infections.

6.2 Introduction

Ocular infection with *Chlamydia trachomatis* (Ct) causes trachoma, the leading infectious cause of blindness [1]. Trachoma is targeted for global elimination as a public health problem by 2020 [2]. Elimination requires the district-level prevalence of the active trachoma sign trachomatous inflammation—follicular (TF) to be <5% in 1–9-year-olds, and the district-level prevalence of trachomatous trichiasis (TT) unknown to the health system to be <0.2% in ≥15-year olds [3]. Any district in which the prevalence of TF and/or TT remains above the elimination threshold is targeted for some or all of the four components of the "SAFE" strategy: <u>S</u>urgery for TT, <u>A</u>ntibiotics to clear infection, <u>F</u>acial cleanliness and <u>E</u>nvironmental improvement, particularly better access to water and sanitation. The A, F and E components of SAFE are intended to reduce the transmission of ocular Ct infection [1].

Recent evidence has shown that high prevalence of TF in 1–9-year-olds does not always correlate with high prevalence of ocular Ct infection [4], that TF can occur in the absence of any bacterial infection [5] and that a follicular conjunctivitis resembling TF may be common among people who have never had an ocular infection with Ct [6]. In light of this there are some concerns that antibiotic mass drug administration (MDA) might be administered in populations where there is no (or very limited) ongoing transmission of ocular Ct. There have been calls for the use of assessment methods that more directly measure the extent to which Ct is prevalent within a community [7,8]. Serological tests that could be used to measure the prevalence of antibodies against Ct have been proposed as alternative or additional measures for post-MDA surveillance surveys [9], which the World Health Organization (WHO) recommends should take place at least two and a half years after the last round of MDA [10].

Pgp3 is a highly specific and immunogenic Ct antigen [11,12] and has been used extensively in serological studies of both ocular [9,13–24] and genital Ct infections [12,25–36]. Previous studies have evaluated the use of the age-specific prevalence of serum antibodies against Ct (classifying individuals either as seropositive or seronegative) as a potential marker of the intensity of transmission of ocular Ct infection [8,19,21,22,24]. Additional studies have used the prevalence of antibodies against Ct to estimate the seroconversion and seroreversion rates following ocular Ct infection [17,18]. Studies to date have measured seroprevalence by using thresholds to dichotomise semi-quantitative antibody measurements as positive/negative results, but resulting prevalence estimates can vary widely depending on the reference population and method used [17,37].

Other approaches to serological analysis have proved useful elsewhere. For instance, the use of antibody acquisition models has been of benefit in malaria studies in populations with declining transmission. These models produce more precise estimates of transmission patterns than seroprevalence and may better estimate transmission intensity, particularly in low prevalence settings [38]. Ensemble machine learning has

meanwhile been used to fit age-dependent antibody curves for diverse pathogens that may be included in multiplex bead assays (MBA) [39]. Such analytical methods use semi-quantitative antibody results, such as those from ELISA or MBA, and remove the need to define a threshold between seropositive and seronegative samples. This may provide more detailed and, crucially, more consistent findings between studies, especially in settings with very low transmission intensity which would otherwise require a very large sample size [40]. Semi-quantitative data are also of intrinsic value where transmission is in decline, as in such an environment the average age of first infection is likely to increase, and the frequency of repeat infections to diminish. Both of these factors would contribute to a slower increase in population-level antibody levels with age [39]. Antibody acquisition models therefore have the potential to reflect transmission more appropriately than do analyses using proportions of individuals who demonstrate responses above investigator-defined thresholds.

We used a new ensemble machine learning approach to antibody acquisition modelling to compare agedependent antibody curves from a series of cross-sectional population-based trachoma studies. This novel analysis using R package 'Targeted maximum likelihood estimation for antibody measurements' (tmleAb) [39] includes an ensemble machine learning approach to antibody acquisition modelling which is computationally advanced but straightforward to implement with the open-source statistical analysis software R [41]. The populations studied include pre-, peri-, and post-elimination communities, with antibody levels measured using both ELISA and MBA. Age-specific seroprevalence data from these studies, using various methods to determine the cut-off between seronegative and seropositive, have been previously published [17,18,20,21,23,42]. We hypothesise that the age-antibody level curve in populations in which trachoma has been eliminated as a public health problem will have a characteristic profile, differing significantly from that derived from populations in which Ct infection remains a problem.

6.3 Methods

6.3.1 Ethics

This study was a secondary analysis of de-identified data. All of the antecedent studies [17,18,20,21,23,42] from which data were sourced had received approval from the relevant ethics committees or review boards. Ethical approval for secondary analysis of the data was received from London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine (Ref 16187). All studies were conducted in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki.

6.3.2 Datasets

Table 6.1 summarizes the datasets used in the antibody acquisition analysis, including the population demographics, assay used, seroprevalence, and disease and infection prevalence for each study.

6.3.3 Measuring effects of MDA on antibody levels

Serological data were compared between pre- and post-MDA populations in 4 villages in Kapilvastu District of southwest Nepal [23]. In 2000–2002, serum samples were collected from participants of all ages and stored at -20°C. The prevalence of TF in children aged 1–9 years was 17.6% (95% Confidence Interval: 9.4– 29.7). Three annual rounds of MDA were administered (2007–2009) and in 2014, blood samples were collected from the population. For children under 15 years of age, dried blood spots (DBS) were collected while serum samples were collected from participants aged 15 years and older. Disease prevalence was measured again in 2014: the prevalence of TF had declined to 0% (95CI: 0-5.6) in 1–9-year olds (who had not yet been born at the time of the previous survey) [23]. Serum samples from 2000–2002 and serum and DBS from 2014 were analysed. The prevalence of antibodies against Pgp3 was 59.6% (95CI: 46.1–71.8) in the first sample collection: the prevalence of antibodies was 3% in the samples collected in 2014 [23].

Antibody levels from Nepal were compared to those from a Tanzanian village in which ocular Ct infection was eliminated in 2005, following two rounds of high-coverage (>90%) MDA [18]. This study saw the prevalence of ocular Ct infection decline from 9.5% (95CI: 7.8-11.6) prior to the first round of MDA in 2000 [43] to 0% (95CI: 0-0.01) in 2005, three years after the second round of MDA [44].

6.3.4 Evaluating antibody levels in a peri-elimination setting

In The Gambia, despite a secular decline in trachoma prevalence from 1986–2006 associated with improved access to water and sanitation [45–50], the TF prevalence remained above the elimination threshold in some areas. Antibiotic MDA was therefore required in several regions of the country in 2007–2010 [46,48,51], including Lower River Region (LRR) but not Upper River Region (URR). The Gambia was subsequently considered to be in the peri-elimination phase. The most recent study, which examined samples of residents of all ages across LRR and URR in 2014, showed low prevalence of TF (3.4%), and a seroprevalence across the study population ranging from 4% in 1–9-year-olds to 63% in those aged 40 years and older [20,52]. Antibody levels were compared between the two regions.

6.3.5 Comparing Ct exposure in children

DBS were collected from children aged 1–9 years in Laos, Uganda and Kiribati [17,21]. In Laos, samples were collected from in three provinces considered to be potential trachoma "hot spots" [53]. Specific trachoma elimination interventions, including antibiotic MDA, have never been undertaken in Laos; the country was recently validated as having eliminated trachoma as a public health problem [54]. Samples from Uganda were collected as part of an impact survey, following three years (2010–2012) of implementation of the A, F

and E components of the SAFE strategy. DBS were collected from children in Kiribati in work coupled to surveys supported by the Global Trachoma Mapping Project [55], which was designed to determine the need for interventions against trachoma. Antibody levels from children in these three countries were compared to those from children aged 1–9 years in The Gambia, as described above.

6.3.6 Visualising the relative impact of urogenital and ocular Ct infections on antibody levels DBS were collected from participants of all ages in the Solomon Islands, where there is a low prevalence of ocular Ct infection (1% in children aged 1–9 years) [4] but high prevalence of urogenital Ct infection [56,57]. The prevalence of urogenital Ct infection has been estimated to be as high as 28% in women under the age of 30 years in Honiara, the capital city [56], although this may have declined following azithromycin MDA given as part of trachoma elimination efforts [57]. Antibody levels were compared to those from individuals of all ages in The Gambia, where there is a low prevalence of ocular [48] and genital Ct infection [58,59].

6.3.7 Specimen handling

Sample management has previously been described for each dataset, but in brief: specimens from The Gambia, Laos, Uganda, Solomon Islands and Kiribati were shipped to the London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine, London, UK, for testing. They were stored at -20°C before being assayed using a Pgp3-specific ELISA [17]. Samples from Nepal and Tanzania were shipped to the US Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Atlanta, USA, at ambient temperature (for DBS) or on cold packs (for sera), and stored at -20°C before being assayed for antibodies against Pgp3 using MBA [24].

6.3.8 Serological analysis of anti-Ct-antibodies

Specimens from The Gambia, Laos, Uganda, Solomon Islands and Kiribati were assayed using a Pgp3-specific ELISA as previously described [17]. In brief, serum was eluted from DBS then applied to a plate coated with Pgp3 protein; known standards were included on each plate and assayed in triplicate. Following incubation, bound antibody was detected using HRP-labelled mouse anti-human IgG(Fc) (Southern Biotech, Birmingham, USA). Plates were incubated and washed and then developed using 3,3',5,5'-tetramethylbenzidine (TMB, KPL, Gaithersburg, USA). The reaction was stopped with 1 N H₂SO₄ and optical density was read at 450 nm (OD₄₅₀) on a Spectramax M3 plate reader (Molecular Devices, Wokingham UK). Readings were corrected for background by subtracting the average absorbance of three blank wells containing no serum using Softmax Pro5 software (Molecular Devices, Wokingham, UK).

Specimens from Tanzania and Nepal were assayed using an MBA as previously described [24]. Briefly, Pgp3coupled beads were added to each well of a filter plate (Millipore) and washed. Control sera and serum eluted from DBS were added in duplicate then incubated. Following incubation, antibodies were detected with biotinylated mouse anti-human total IgG (Southern Biotech, Birmingham, AL) and biotinylated mouse antihuman IgG4 (Invitrogen, South San Francisco, CA). Plates were incubated and washed then developed with R-phycoerythrin-labelled streptavidin and a solution of bovine serum albumin, Tween 20 and sodium azide in PBS. Beads were suspended in PBS, shaken, and immediately read on a BioPlex 200 instrument (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA) equipped with Bio-Plex Manager 6.0 software (Bio-Rad). The median fluorescence intensity (MFI) for each sample was recorded and background from the blank well subtracted out (MFI-BG).

6.3.9 Statistical analysis

Statistical analyses were carried out using R [60]. Each cross-sectional survey captured age, gender, signs of trachoma, community of residence and other characteristics. These data were combined with laboratory results which in some instances included results from nucleic acid amplification tests for ocular Ct infection (Table 6.1). A nominal value was added to zero data: 0.001 for ELISA data, 1 for MBA data.

The R package 'tmleAb' [39] was used to fit age-dependent antibody curves. This package uses data adaptive ensemble learning [61] based on multiple models to create an algorithm which is used to minimise the variance in the distribution of data. In this case, the algorithm was based on the 'SuperLearner' ensemble [61], and included a generalised additive model, generalised linear model, geometric mean, local regression (loess) and Yman [38], for targeted maximum likelihood estimation [62] of antibodies by age group [63].

Because the range of possible values varied between ELISA (which measures absorption in units of optical density) and MBA (which measures fluorescent intensity in units of median fluorescent intensity [MIF-background]) data, the tmleAb script was modified to exponentiate the ELISA data, adjusting for the reduced range of possible values. Also for this reason, datasets generated using the MBA platform (Nepal and Tanzania) could not be compared to those generated using ELISA (The Gambia, Uganda, Laos, Kiribati and the Solomon Islands).

Data between studies were compared using age ranges that were common between studies. The parameter of interest was the marginal difference between age groups in geometric mean antibody levels. P-values for the geometric mean antibody level by age group were calculated accounting for stratified data (within age bands) and adjusted using a Bonferroni correction [39].

6.3.10 Seroprevalence estimation

Seroprevalence data obtained in each of the data sets were previously published [17,18,20,21,23,42]. Thresholds used to establish seropositivity were determined either by using finite mixture modelling [17] or by receiver operator characteristics (ROC) curves [24].

6.4 Results

6.4.1 Effect of MDA on antibody levels

In Nepal, pre-MDA data show a sharp increase in antibody levels with age in the youngest age groups, reaching a plateau around age 10 years then remaining high in older age groups. In contrast, there was a much slower rise in levels of antibodies in younger participants post-MDA (Figure 6.1A). The post-MDA antibody curves did not reach a plateau until around age 50 years. Until age ~20 years there was at least a log₁₀ difference in geometric mean antibody levels between age-equivalent participants in the two surveys: for example the average 10-year-old in post-MDA Nepal had 100 times lower antibody levels against Ct than the average 10-year-old in the pre-MDA population. The antibody acquisition model shows lower levels of antibodies in the youngest participants, with a sustained and significant difference between the pre- and post-MDA populations. The confidence intervals (CI) surrounding the mean estimates (Figure 6.1B) provide additional information, suggesting that not only were average antibody levels higher in children in 2002, but also that the absolute majority of children aged 6–10 years in 2002 had high levels of antibodies whilst the majority in 2014 had negligible levels. There are wide CI associated with the geometric mean antibody level among 1–5-year-olds in pre-MDA Nepal; CI are narrower for other age groups in the pre-MDA population and for all ages they are wider than the CI for the corresponding age group in post-MDA Nepal. In 2014 there was no period in which the geometric mean antibody level varied to this extent, suggesting that no age group was (compared to others) at particularly increased risk of seroconverting (Figure 6.1B).

Figure 6.2 compares Nepal's pre- and post-MDA data to data from a community in Tanzania where transmission of ocular Ct was interrupted with MDA. The post-MDA data from Nepal follow the same curve as the data from Tanzania (Figure 6.2A), providing some empirical indication that the 2014 Nepal survey was conducted in a district in which ocular Ct transmission was low or negligible. The confidence intervals are wide amongst 21–30-year-olds in both Tanzania and post-MDA Nepal (Figure 6.2B), while in pre-MDA Nepal, confidence intervals are widest in the youngest age group.

Table 6.1. Datasets used in the antibody acquisition analysis

Samples analysed using Pgp3-specific ELISA									
Country	Survey pre- or post- MDA	Age range (years)	N	Antigen	Threshold (OD ₄₅₀)	Seroprevalence % (95Cl)	TF prevalence in 1–9-year-olds % (95Cl)	Infection prevalence %(95Cl)	
The Gambia	post	1–90	1868	Pgp3	0.672	26.2 (24.3-28.3)	NA	0.5 (0-0.9) [48]	
[17,20]		1–9	738	Pgp3	0.672	6.4 (4.8-8.4)	1.6 (0.9-2.8)		
Uganda [17]	post	1–9	2700	Pgp3	0.5537	17.1 (15.7-18.6)	3.4 (2.8-4.8)	0.3 (0.1-0.6) [9]	
Laos [17]	post	1–9	952	Pgp3	0.696	15.6 (13.5-18.1)	1.6 (1.0-2.6)	Not measured	
Kiribati [21]	pre	1–9	397	Pgp3	0.245	53.0 (48.0-57.8)	28.0 (23.8-32.6)	24.0 (20.0-28.4)	
Solomon	post	1–90	1511	Pgp3	0.7997	42.2 (39.8-44.7)	NA	Not measured	
Islands [4]		1–9	458	Pgp3	0.7997	18.0 (14.7-21.7)	14.2 (11.3-17.7)	9.8 (4.6-19.9)*	
Samples analysed using Pgp3-specific MBA assay									
Country	Survey pre- or post- MDA	Age range (years)	N	Antigen	Threshold (MFI-Bkgd)	Seroprevalence % (95Cl)	TF prevalence in 1–9-year-olds % (95Cl)	Infection prevalence % (95Cl)	
Nepal [23]	pre	2–80	659	Pgp3	801	77.1 (73.7-80.1)	17.6 (14.9-20.7)	Not measured	
	post	3–90	646	Pgp3	801	34.9 (31.3-38.6)	0 (0-0.6)	Not measured	
Tanzania [18]	post	1–87	557	Pgp3	1024	31.1 (27.4-35.0)	6.5 (4.7-8.8)	0 (0-0.7) [44]	
MDA=mass drug administration; TF=trachomatous inflammation—follicular; 95CI= 95% Confidence Interval; NA=not applicable. MFI- Bkgd=Median fluorescence intensity with background subtracted. OD450 = optical density at 450 nm. ELISA = enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay. MBA = multiplex bead assay. * Swabs for infection testing were only collected from the 61 children in whom TF was present.									



Figure 6.1. A shift in the *C. trachomatis* Pgp3 age-antibody level curves demonstrates a reduction in transmission following antibiotic mass drug administration (MDA) in Kapilvastu District, Nepal. IgG antibody responses to Pgp3 measured in serum sampled both prior to mass drug administration (MDA) in 2002 (n=659, orange) and after MDA in 2014 (n=646, blue). MDA was performed in three annual rounds (2007, 2008 and 2009). **1A** shows age-specific geometric means are shown as curves. Shaded bands show 95% confidence intervals. **1B** shows age-adjusted geometric mean antibody response (ages 1-20) and 95% confidence intervals for the same both before (2002, orange) and after (2014, blue) azithromycin MDA. Age is limited to individuals 20 years and younger to demonstrate the width of the confidence intervals in the youngest age group. Differences between means are significant (Bonferroni corrected p<2e-16) except for the 1–5-year-olds age group. Data are stratified into 5–year age categories.



Figure 6.2. *C. trachomatis* Pgp3 age-antibody level curves from Kapilvastu District, Nepal, compared to a population in Rombo, Tanzania, where ocular Ct infection was eliminated in 2005 [44]. 2A shows the geometric mean antibody levels by age and survey. Data from the pre-mass drug administration (MDA) Nepal population (2002, orange) is compared to the post-MDA Nepal population (blue, 2014) as well as a population from Rombo, Tanzania (pink) where ocular Ct infection was eliminated following antibiotic MDA. Shaded bands show 95% confidence intervals. **2B** shows age-adjusted geometric mean antibody responses in individuals aged 10–50 years and 95% confidence intervals for the two sets of samples from Nepal before (2002, orange) and after (2014, blue) azithromycin MDA and the post-MDA population in Rombo (pink). Differences between Nepal pre-MDA and Rombo means are significant (Bonferroni corrected p<0.002) for the 1–10 and 11–20 years age categories, and (Bonferroni corrected p<0.2e-16) for the 21–30 years age category. Data are stratified into 10–year age categories.

6.4.2 Antibody levels in the peri-elimination setting

Figure 6.3 shows the age-dependent geometric mean of anti-Pgp3 antibodies in the two Gambian regions studied: LRR and URR. Age-dependent means are equal between the two regions in the youngest participants and there is only a difference in the adult population (Figure 6.3A). Closer examination of the age-adjusted mean shows consistently low antibody levels across the youngest age groups, with narrow confidence intervals for the adjusted geometric mean antibody levels for participants aged 1–9 years; the width of the confidence intervals is slightly wider amongst 10–12-year-olds and 13–15-year-olds than in the younger age categories, while still overlapping with those of other age groups (Figure 6.3B).



Figure 6.3. Variation in the *C. trachomatis* Pgp3 age-antibody level curves between populations in two regions of The Gambia. Communities in Lower River Region (LRR, N=1,010, orange) received three annual rounds of antibiotic mass drug administration (MDA), while those in Upper River Region (URR, n=822, blue) received none. **3A** shows the age-dependent geometric means. Shaded bands show 95% confidence intervals. **3B** shows the age-adjusted geometric mean antibody response for children aged 1–15 years with 95% confidence intervals for the two regions. Differences between means are not significant (Bonferroni corrected p=0.619). Data are stratified into 3-year age categories.

6.4.3 Comparing Ct exposure in children

Figure 6.4 shows the combined age-adjusted geometric means of children aged 1–9 years from four countries: Laos, Uganda, The Gambia and Kiribati. Disease and infection prevalence estimates in each setting are provided in Table 6.1.

The geometric mean anti-Pgp3 levels for Laos, Uganda and The Gambia are all similarly low: under 0.5 OD₄₅₀, and nearly horizontal. In contrast, the mean antibody level for Kiribati increases steeply with increasing age, and at all ages is higher than those for the other three countries, suggesting ongoing intense transmission of Ct. The confidence intervals are wider for every age group in Kiribati than in any other population included here.



Figure 6.4. *C. trachomatis* **Pgp3 age-antibody level curves between children aged 1–9 years in The Gambia, Uganda, Laos and Kiribati.** The age-adjusted geometric mean antibody levels, including 95% confidence intervals, for Kiribati (green) compared to those from Laos (blue), Uganda (orange) and The Gambia (pink); data are stratified into 3-year age categories. The geometric means of age groups in Kiribati were compared to those from Laos, where trachoma has been certified as being eliminated. Differences between means are significant (Bonferroni corrected p<0.01) for 1–3 years age group and (Bonferroni corrected p>0.002) for 4–6 years age group and 7–9 years age group. 95% confidence intervals are shown. Data are stratified into 3-year age categories.

6.4.4 Relative impact of genital and ocular infections on antibody levels Figure 6.5A shows the age-dependent geometric mean of anti-Pgp3 antibodies populations in The Gambia and the Solomon Islands across all ages. The summary curves from The Gambia shows a change in slope, increasing around 20 years, while the summary curve for the Solomon Islands increases sharply from 15 to 30 years, then drops from 30 to 70 years of age before increasing again. For all ages, the summary curve in the Solomon Islands is higher than that of The Gambia. Figure 6.5B shows the geometric mean antibody level stratified in age groups with the geometric mean values from the Solomon Islands and The Gambia.

In both Figures 6.5A and 6.5B, the age-dependent mean antibody levels are higher in the Solomon Islands than in The Gambia. In the Solomon Islands the age-dependent antibody level begins to increase around 15 years, while in The Gambia, mean antibody levels increase at a lower rate after 20 years. Confidence intervals are wider in the Solomon Islands beginning in age group 21–30 and remain wide thereafter.



Figure 6.5. Variation in the *C. trachomatis* Pgp3 age-antibody level curves between The Gambia and the Solomon Islands. 5A shows the age-dependent geometric mean in the Solomon Island samples (n= 1,499, orange) and The Gambia (n=1,805, blue). Shaded bands show 95% confidence intervals. 5B shows the age-adjusted geometric mean antibody response by age category. Differences between means are significant (Bonferroni corrected p<0.01) for 1-10 years and 50+ age groups and (Bonferroni corrected p<0.002) for all other age groups, although optical densities measured at an intensity >2.0 are associated with higher levels of error. Data are stratified into 10-year age categories.

6.5 Discussion

We have evaluated age-dependent antibody response to infection with Ct in seven different populations using an ensemble machine learning approach. Previous serological studies have assigned seropositive/seronegative status to samples, however determining thresholds for estimation of prevalence can be problematic [17]. This novel analysis, using R package 'tmleAb', removes the need to dichotomise continuous ELISA or MBA data and produces age-dependent mean antibody levels.

These age-dependent geometric mean antibody levels produce characteristic curves based on Ct transmission intensity at different ages. Samples collected from trachoma-endemic populations show a rapid increase in antibody levels with age in 1–9-year-olds, as seen in Kiribati (Figure 6.4), and continuing to rise steeply before plateauing around 50 years of age, as seen in the pre-MDA population in Nepal (Figure 6.1A and 6.2A). In post-MDA and peri-elimination communities, antibody levels increase much more slowly, as seen in the samples from post-MDA Nepal and Tanzania (Figure 6.2A) and The Gambia (Figure 6.3A). In children aged 1–9 years, the antibody acquisition curve is virtually horizontal in peri- and post-elimination populations (Figure 6.4), suggesting there is a characteristic shape to age-dependent mean antibody acquisition curves in populations where trachoma is no longer a public health concern. This could be used to support, or as an alternative indicator to, the clinical findings of TF. As decisions regarding implementation and cessation of MDA are based on the prevalence of TF in children aged 1–9 years, there may be no need to extend serological surveys to older age groups. Extending the survey to include adults may provide information about the prevalence of genital Ct infections, which can contribute to the prevalence of antibodies in the youngest participants through vertical transmission of Ct during birth.

Interestingly, the relative width of confidence intervals around age-stratified means may indicate when a population is under the greatest force of Ct infection, either ocular or genital. The confidence interval around the mean is impacted by the variability (as standard deviation) in the sampled population, the specified confidence level (95% in this analysis) and the sample size (all relatively similar in this analysis) [64]. Prior to infection with Ct, mean antibody levels are low, with narrow confidence intervals. When infection occurs within an age group, it is likely to occur asynchronously amongst different individuals in that group, thus producing a stimulus towards variability in the level of antibodies between individuals. In pre-MDA Nepal, when the prevalence of TF in 1–9 year olds was 17.6% (95Cl 14.9-20.7), the widest confidence intervals are wide, intervals were seen in the youngest population, children aged 1–5 years (Figures 6.1B and 6.2B). Similarly, in Kiribati, where TF prevalence in children aged 1–9 was 28.0% (95Cl 23.8-32.6), confidence intervals are wide, particularly in comparison to children of the same age from Laos, Uganda and The Gambia, where TF prevalence was estimated to be 1.6% (95Cl 1.0-2.6), 3.4% (95Cl 2.8-4.2) and 1.6% (95Cl 0.9-2.8), respectively (Figure 6.4), suggesting children in these population have only limited Ct infection. It would be useful to

examine age-dependent antibody level data from populations with higher estimations of seroprevalence to determine if our findings regarding wide confidence intervals hold true when seroprevalence rises greatly in a small age range, such as the population described by Goodhew and colleagues where 97% (95Cl 93.9-98.7) of study participants were seropositive by the age of 6 years [15].

In populations with low levels of active trachoma in children, wide confidence intervals are seen in young adults around the age of sexual debut. The post-MDA populations in Nepal and Tanzania both had the widest confidence intervals in 21–30 year olds (Figures 6.1B and 6.2B).Confidence intervals were particularly wide for this age group in the Solomon Islands (Figure 6.5B), a country known to have a high prevalence of urogenital Ct infection [56,57]; The Gambia, in contrast, is thought to have a low prevalence of urogenital Ct infection [58,59].

This analysis has some limitations. The use of serology to monitor transmission of ocular Ct infection is not yet standardised. There are two assays commonly used for trachoma serological studies: a Pgp3-specific ELISA [17] and an MBA [24], which also detects antibodies against Pgp3. Data from the two assays are not directly comparable due to the distinct nature of each assay's output. Additionally, we were not able to compare all age ranges as some studies included only include children between 1–9 years of age as this is the age range of interest in measuring the prevalence of TF. This may be relatively unimportant as our analysis shows a distinct difference between communities with on-going ocular Ct infection and those with low levels, and this difference is obvious even in the limited age range of 1–9 years.

Using mean antibody levels removes the challenges of setting an appropriate threshold between seropositive and seronegative samples. By comparing antibody data from several studies, we have shown: a) a clearly significant separation between pre- and post-MDA populations; b) which ages of a population are under transmission pressure and acquiring Ct infections, either ocular or genital; c) the characteristic baseline and slope of a population in which elimination has been achieved; d) that it may be possible to segregate effects of ocular and genital Ct, at least in populations with low prevalence of ocular Ct infection and high levels of genital Ct infection.

6.6 Acknowledgements

We are grateful to all the communities that participated in this study and generously gave of their time. We thank all the field teams, public health staff and trainers in Tanzania, Nepal, Laos, Uganda, The Gambia, Kiribati and the Solomon Islands who made this study possible, as well as Ben Arnold for his assistance with the statistical analysis. The findings and conclusions in this report are those of the authors and do not necessarily represent the official position of the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention.

6.7 Author Contributions

Conceptualisation: SJM, ChR Sample collection: SJM, PAM, RB, DD, OS, RT, AWS Data Curation: SJM, DLM, AWS Methodology: SJM Supervision: ChR, DCWM Writing original draft: SJM, ChR, DCWM

6.8 References

- World Health Organization (WHO). Future Approaches to Trachoma Control [Internet]. Geneva; 1997. Available: http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/10665/63413/1/WHO PBL 96.56.pdf?ua=1
- World Health Organization Alliance for the Global Elimination of Trachoma by 2020.
 Eliminating trachoma: accelerating towards 2020 [Internet]. London; 2016. Available: http://www.trachomacoalition.org/GET2020/
- World Health Organization. Validation of elimination of trachoma as a public health problem (WHO/HTM/NTD/2016.8) [Internet]. Geneva; 2016. Available: http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/10665/208901/1/WHO-HTM-NTD-2016.8-eng.pdf?ua=1
- Butcher RMR, Sokana O, Jack K, Macleod CK, Marks ME, Kalae E, et al. Low Prevalence of Conjunctival Infection with *Chlamydia trachomatis* in a Treatment-Naïve Trachoma-Endemic Region of the Solomon Islands. PLoS Negl Trop Dis. 2016;10: e0004863. doi:10.1371/journal.pntd.0004863
- Butcher R, Sokana O, Jack K, Kalae E, Sui L, Russell C, et al. Active Trachoma Cases In The Solomon Islands Have Varied Polymicrobial Community Structures But Do Not Associate With Individual Non-Chlamydial Pathogens Of The Eye. Front Med. 2017;4: 251. doi:10.3389/fmed.2017.00251
- Butcher R, Sokana O, Jack K, Sui L, Russell C, Last A, et al. Clinical signs of trachoma are prevalent among Solomon Islanders who have no persistent markers of prior infection with *Chlamydia trachomatis*. Wellcome Open Res. 2018;3: 14. doi:10.12688/wellcomeopenres.13423.1
- Solomon AW, Foster A, Mabey DCW. Clinical examination versus *Chlamydia trachomatis* assays to guide antibiotic use in trachoma control programmes. Lancet Infect Dis. 2006;6: 5-6-8. Available: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16377526
- Zambrano AI, Sharma S, Crowley K, Dize L, Munoz BE, Mishra SK, et al. The World Health Organization Recommendations for Trachoma Surveillance, Experience in Nepal and Added Benefit of Testing for Antibodies to *Chlamydia trachomatis* pgp3 Protein: NESTS Study. PLoS Negl Trop Dis. 2016;10. doi:10.1371/journal.pntd.0005003
- 9. Trachoma Alternative Indicators Study: Data review 31 August-1 September 2016 [Internet].

Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017. Available: http://www.who.int/trachoma/resources/who_htm_ntd_pct_2017.10/en/

- WHO Strategic and Technical Advisory Group on NTDs. Technical Consultaion on Trachoma Surveillance [Internet]. Decatur; 2014. Available: http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/10665/174085/1/WHO_HTM_NTD_2015.02_en.pdf?ua=1
- 11. Wang J, Zhang Y, Lu C, Lei L, Yu P, Zhong G. A genome-wide profiling of the humoral immune response to *Chlamydia trachomatis* infection reveals vaccine candidate antigens expressed in humans. J Immunol. 2010;185: 1670–80. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1001240
- Comanducci M, Manetti R, Bini L, Santucci A, Pallini V, Cevenini R, et al. Humoral immune response to plasmid protein pgp3 in patients with *Chlamydia trachomatis* infection. Infect Immun. 1994;62: 5491–7. Available: http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=303293&tool=pmcentrez&rend ertype=abstract
- Gwyn S, Cooley G, Goodhew B, Kohlhoff S, Banniettis N, Wiegand R, et al. Comparison of Platforms for Testing Antibody Responses against the *Chlamydia trachomatis* Antigen Pgp3. Am J Trop Med Hyg. 2017;97: 1662–1668. doi:10.4269/ajtmh.17-0292
- 14. Gwyn S, Mitchell A, Dean D, Mkocha H, Handali S, Martin DL. Lateral Flow-Based Antibody Testing for *Chlamydia trachomatis*. J Immunol Methods. 2016; doi:10.1016/j.jim.2016.05.008
- Goodhew EB, Morgan SMG, Switzer AJ, Munoz B, Dize L, Gaydos C, et al. Longitudinal analysis of antibody responses to trachoma antigens before and after mass drug administration. BMC Infect Dis. England: BioMed Central Ltd.; 2014;14: 216. doi:10.1186/1471-2334-14-216
- 16. Martin DL, Wiegand R, Goodhew B, Lammie P, Black CM, West S, et al. Serological Measures of Trachoma Transmission Intensity. Sci Rep. 2015;5: 18532. doi:10.1038/srep18532
- Migchelsen SJ, Martin DL, Southisombath K, Turyaguma P, Heggen A, Rubangakene PP, et al. Defining Seropositivity Thresholds for Use in Trachoma Elimination Studies. PLoS Negl Trop Dis. 2017;11: e0005230. doi:10.1371/journal.pntd.0005230
- Martin DL, Bid R, Sandi F, Goodhew EB, Massae PA, Lasway A, et al. Serology for trachoma surveillance after cessation of mass drug administration. PLoS Negl Trop Dis. 2015;9: e0003555. doi:10.1371/journal.pntd.0003555
- Cocks N, Rainima-Qaniuci M, Yalen C, Macleod C, Nakolinivalu A, Migchelsen S, et al.
 Community seroprevalence survey for yaws and trachoma in the Western Division of Fiji.

Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg. 2016; 1–6. doi:10.1093/trstmh/trw069

- Migchelsen SJ, Sepúlveda N, Martin DLDL, Cooley G, Gwyn S, Pickering H, et al. Serology reflects a decline in the prevalence of trachoma in two regions of The Gambia. Sci Rep. 2017;7: 15040. doi:10.1038/s41598-017-15056-7
- Cama A, Müller A, Taoaba R, Butcher RM, Itibita I, Migchelsen SJ, et al. Prevalence of signs of trachoma, ocular *Chlamydia trachomatis* infection and antibodies to Pgp3 in residents of Kiritimati Island, Kiribati. PLoS Negl Trop Dis. 2017;11: [manuscript in press]. doi:10.1371/journal.pntd.0005863
- Pant BP, Bhatta RC, Chaudhary JSP, Awasthi S, Mishra S, Sharma S, et al. Control of Trachoma from Achham District, Nepal: A Cross-Sectional Study from the Nepal National Trachoma Program. PLoS Negl Trop Dis. 2016;10: e0004462. doi:10.1371/journal.pntd.0004462
- Gwyn SE, Xiang L, Kandel RP, Dean D, Gambhir M, Martin DL. Prevalence of *Chlamydia* trachomatis -Specific Antibodies before and after Mass Drug Administration for Trachoma in Community-Wide Surveys of Four Communities in Nepal. Am J Trop Med Hyg. 2017; 1–11. doi:10.4269/ajtmh.17-0102
- Goodhew EB, Priest JW, Moss DM, Zhong G, Munoz B, Mkocha H, et al. CT694 and pgp3 as Serological Tools for Monitoring Trachoma Programs. PLoS Negl Trop Dis. 2012;6: e1873. doi:10.1371/journal.pntd.0001873
- 25. Stephen J. Jordan, Kanupriya Gupta, Brian M. O. Ogendi, Rakesh K. Bakshi, Richa Kapil, Christen G. Press, Steffanie Sabbaj JYL, Geisler WM. The Predominant CD4? Th1 Cytokine Elicited to *Chlamydia trachomatis* Infection in Women Is Tumor Necrosis Factor Alpha and Not Interferon Gamma. Staats HF, editor. Clin Vaccine Immunol. 2017;24: 1–13. doi:10.1128/CVI.00010-17
- Woodhall SC, Wills GS, Horner PPJ, Craig R, Mindell JS, Murphy G, et al. *Chlamydia* trachomatis Pgp3 antibody population seroprevalence before and during an era of widespread opportunistic chlamydia screening in England (1994-2012). PLoS One. 2016;12: e0152810. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0152810
- Horner PJ, Wills GS, Righarts A, Vieira S. *Chlamydia trachomatis* Pgp3 Antibody Persists and Correlates with Self-Reported Infection and Behavioural Risks in a Blinded Cohort Study. PLoS One. 2016;14: 1–13. doi:10.6084/m9.figshare.2082721
- 28. Wills GS, Horner PJ, Reynolds R, Johnson AM, Muir DA, Brown DW, et al. Pgp3 antibody

enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay, a sensitive and specific assay for seroepidemiological analysis of *Chlamydia trachomatis* infection. Clin Vaccine Immunol. 2009;16: 835–43. doi:10.1128/CVI.00021-09

- 29. Horner PJ, Wills GS, Reynolds R, Johnson AM, Muir D a, Winston A, et al. Effect of time since exposure to *Chlamydia trachomatis* on chlamydia antibody detection in women: a cross-sectional study. Sex Transm Infect. 2013;89: 398–403. doi:10.1136/sextrans-2011-050386
- Horner P, Soldan K, Vieira SM, Wills GS, Woodhall SC, Pebody R, et al. C. trachomatis Pgp3 antibody prevalence in young women in England, 1993-2010. PLoS One. United States; 2013;8: e72001. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0072001
- 31. Woodhall SC, Wills G, Horner P, Craig R, Mindell JS, Murphy G, et al. Assessment of changes in the burden of *Chlamydia trachomatis* infection in the context of widespread opportunistic chlamydia screening: Pgp3 seroprevalence measured in a series of nationally representative cross-sectional household surveys. Lancet. 2015;386: S10. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(15)00848-X
- West SK, Munoz B, Weaver J, Mrango Z, Dize L, Gaydos C, et al. Can We Use Antibodies to Chlamydia trachomatis as a Surveillance Tool for National Trachoma Control Programs ? Results from a District Survey. PLoS Negl Trop Dis. 2016;10: 1–11. doi:10.1371/journal.pntd.0004352
- Rodgers AK, Budrys NM, Gong S, Wang J, Holden A, Schenken RS, et al. Genome-wide identification of *Chlamydia trachomatis* antigens associated with tubal factor infertility. Fertil Steril. 2011;96: 715–721. doi:10.1016/j.fertnstert.2011.06.021
- 34. Winstanley CE, Ramsey KH, Marsh P, Clarke IN. Development and evaluation of an enzymelinked immunosorbent assay for the detection of antibodies to a common urogenital derivative of *Chlamydia trachomatis* plasmid-encoded PGP3. J Immunol Methods. 2017; doi:10.1016/j.jim.2017.03.002
- 35. Li Z, Zhong Y, Lei L, Wu Y, Wang S, Zhong G. Antibodies from women urogenitally infected with C. trachomatis predominantly recognized the plasmid protein pgp3 in a conformationdependent manner. BMC Microbiol. 2008;8: 90. doi:10.1186/1471-2180-8-90
- Ghaem-Maghami S, Ratti G, Ghaem-Maghami M, Comanducci M, Hay PE, Bailey RL, et al.
 Mucosal and systemic immune responses to plasmid protein pgp3 in patients with genital and ocular *Chlamydia trachomatis* infection. Clin Exp Immunol. 2003;132: 436–42. Available:

http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=1808734&tool=pmcentrez&ren dertype=abstract

- Rogier E, Wiegand R, Moss D, Priest J, Angov E, Dutta S, et al. Multiple comparisons analysis of serological data from an area of low Plasmodium falciparum transmission. Malar J. 2015;14: 436. doi:10.1186/s12936-015-0955-1
- Yman V, White MT, Rono J, Arcà B, Osier FH, Troye-Blomberg M, et al. Antibody acquisition models: A new tool for serological surveillance of malaria transmission intensity. Sci Rep. 2016;6: 19472. doi:10.1038/srep19472
- Arnold BF, van der Laan MJ, Hubbard AE, Steel C, Kubofcik J, Hamlin KL, et al. Measuring changes in transmission of neglected tropical diseases, malaria, and enteric pathogens from quantitative antibody levels. PLoS Negl Trop Dis. 2017;11: e0005616. doi:10.1371/journal.pntd.0005616
- Hens N, Shkedy Z, Aerts M, Faes C, Damme P Van, Beutels P. Nonparametric Approaches to Model the Prevalence and Force of Infection. Modeling Infectious Disease Parameters Based on Serological and Social Contact Data. 2012. doi:10.1017/CB09781107415324.004
- R Development Core Team . R: A language and environment for statistical computingR Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. ISBN 3-900051-07-0, URL http://www.R-project.org. 2008.
- Butcher R, Sokana O, Jack K, Martin DL, Burton MJ, Solomon A, et al. Age-specific prevalence of anti-Pgp3 antibodies and severe conjunctival scarring in the Solomon Islands. bioRxiv. 2017; doi:10.1101/141135
- 43. Solomon AW, Holland MJ, Alexander NDE, Massae P a, Aguirre A, Natividad-Sancho A, et al.
 Mass treatment with single-dose azithromycin for trachoma. N Engl J Med. 2004;351: 1962– 71. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa040979
- Solomon AW, Harding-Esch E, Alexander NDE, Aguirre A, Holland MJ, Bailey RL, et al. Two doses of azithromycin to eliminate trachoma in a Tanzanian community. N Engl J Med. 2008;358: 1870–1. doi:10.1056/NEJMc0706263
- Harding-Esch EM, Edwards T, Sillah A, Sarr I, Roberts CH, Snell P, et al. Active trachoma and ocular *Chlamydia trachomatis* infection in two Gambian regions: on course for elimination by 2020? PLoS Negl Trop Dis. 2009;3: e573. doi:10.1371/journal.pntd.0000573
- 46. Dolin PJ, Faal H, Johnson GJ, Ajewole J, Mohamed AA, Lee PS. Trachoma in The Gambia. Br J

Ophthalmol. 1998;82: 930–3. Available:

http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=1722714&tool=pmcentrez&ren dertype=abstract

- 47. Faal H, Minassian DC, Dolin PJ, Mohamed AA, Ajewole J, Johnson GJ. Evaluation of a national eye care programme: re-survey after 10 years. Br J Ophthalmol. 2000;84: 948–51. Available: http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=1723659&tool=pmcentrez&ren dertype=abstract
- 48. Harding-Esch EM, Sillah A, Edwards T, Burr SE, Hart JD, Joof H, et al. Mass Treatment with Azithromycin for Trachoma: When Is One Round Enough? Results from the PRET Trial in The Gambia. PLoS Negl Trop Dis. 2013;7: e2115. doi:10.1371/journal.pntd.0002115
- Bailey RL, Hampton TJ, Hayes LJ, Ward ME, Whittle HC, Mabey DCW. Polymerase Chain Reaction For The Detection Of Ocular Chlamydial Infection In Trachoma-Endemic Communities. J Infect Dis. 1994;170: 709–712. doi:10.1093/infdis/170.3.709
- 50. Mabey DC, Bailey RL, Ward ME, Whittle HC. A longitudinal study of trachoma in a Gambian village: implications concerning the pathogenesis of chlamydial infection. Epidemiol Infect. 1992;108: 343–51. Available: http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=2271993&tool=pmcentrez&ren dertype=abstract
- Burr SE, Sillah A, Sanou AS, Wadagni AC, Hart J, Harding-Esch EM, et al. Cross-Sectional Surveys of the Prevalence of Follicular Trachoma and Trichiasis in The Gambia: Has Elimination Been Reached? PLoS Negl Trop Dis. 2016;10. doi:10.1371/journal.pntd.0004906
- 52. World Health Organisation. WHO | Trachoma Fact sheet N 382 [Internet]. World Health Organization; 2017 [cited 12 Jan 2017]. Available: http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs382/en/
- Southisombath K, Sisalermsak S, Chansan P, Akkhavong K, Phommala S, Lewallen S, et al.
 National Trachoma Assessment in the Lao People's Democratic Republic in 2013–2014.
 Ophthalmic Epidemiol. Taylor & Francis; 2016;23: 1–7. doi:10.1080/09286586.2016.1236973
- 54. World Health Organization (WHO). Cambodia and the Lao People's Democratic Republic wipe out trachoma—leading infectious cause of blindness. In: Media release [Internet]. 2017 [cited 21 Feb 2018]. Available:

http://www.wpro.who.int/mediacentre/releases/2017/20170919/en/

- Solomon AW, Pavluck AL, Courtright P, Aboe A, Adamu L, Alemayehu W, et al. The Global Trachoma Mapping Project: Methodology of a 34-Country Population-Based Study.
 Ophthalmic Epidemiol. 2015;22: 214–25. doi:10.3109/09286586.2015.1037401
- Marks M, Kako H, Butcher R, Lauri B, Puiahi E, Pitakaka R, et al. Prevalence of sexually transmitted infections in female clinic attendees in Honiara, Solomon Islands. BMJ Open. 2015;5: e007276. doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2014-007276
- 57. Marks M, Bottomley C, Tome H, Pitakaka R, Butcher R, Sokana O, et al. Mass drug administration of azithromycin for trachoma reduces the prevalence of genital *Chlamydia trachomatis* infection in the Solomon Islands. Sex Transm Infect. 2016;92: 261–5. doi:10.1136/sextrans-2015-052439
- Walraven G, Scherf C, West B, Ekpo G, Paine K, Coleman R, et al. The burden of reproductiveorgan disease in rural women in The Gambia, West Africa. Lancet. 2001;357: 1161–1167. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(00)04333-6
- 59. Mabey DCW, Whittle HC. Genital and neonatal chlamydial infection in a trachoma endemic area. Lancet. 1982;320: 300–301. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(82)90273-2
- R Development Core Team, R Core Team, R Development Core Team. R: A language and environment for statistical computing [Internet]. R Foundation for Statistical Computing. Vienna, Austria: R Foundation for Statistical Computing; 2008. Available: http://www.rproject.org.
- van der Laan MJ, Polley EC, Hubbard AE. Super Learner. Stat Appl Genet Mol Biol. 2007;6:
 Article25. doi:https://doi.org/10.2202/1544-6115.1309
- 62. van der Laan MJ, Rose S. Targeted Learning:Causal Inference for Observational and Experimental Data. Springer Ser Stat. Springer Series in Statistics; 2011; 626. Available: https://scholar.google.co.uk/scholar?q=targeted+learning+causal+inference+for+observation al+and+experimental+data&hl=en&as_sdt=0&as_vis=1&oi=scholart&sa=X&ved=0ahUKEwiVj unyosPXAhWGMhoKHR0rAvgQgQMIJjAA
- 63. Schuler MS, Rose S. Targeted maximum likelihood estimation for causal inference in observational studies. Am J Epidemiol. 2017;185: 65–73. doi:10.1093/aje/kww165
- Neyman J. Outline of a Theory of Statistical Estimation Based on the Classical Theory of
 Probability. Philos Trans R Soc A. 1937;236: 333–380. doi:DOI: 10.1098/rsta.1937.0005

Chapter 7- Discussion

Summary

In this final chapter, each research objective is summarised. Limitations to the work and to serology in general are discussed. Finally, practical considerations are presented, placing the work in this thesis in the greater context of NTD control and elimination, as well as future research possibilities which would apply to both genital and ocular infection with Ct

7.1 Summary of Research Findings

This section provides a brief overview of the findings of this thesis work in relation to the objectives set out in in Chapter 1. For each objective, the research paper in which a detailed description of the findings is reported, is highlighted.

7.1.1 Objective 1

Collect demographic and clinical information and fingerprick blood samples to determine the prevalence of trachoma and antibodies against Pgp3 in Lower and Upper River Regions of The Gambia (Chapters 4 and 5)

A population-based prevalence survey was undertaken in Lower River Region (LRR) and Upper River Region (URR) The Gambia, using a two-stage sampling strategy with villages selected by probability proportional to size and households randomly selected a household list. LRR had previously undergone three rounds (2007-2009) of MDA of azithromycin for trachoma, while URR has never had specific trachoma elimination activities because trachoma has not been of a sufficiently high prevalence to justify intervention activities.

A total of 1,868 people of all ages participated in the study. The overall prevalence of TF was 1.6% (95CI 1.1-2.3%). Amongst 1-9 year olds, the prevalence of TF was 3.7% (95CI 2.2-6.1%) in LRR and 3.1% (95CI 1.7-5.4%) in URR [1], a non-significant difference ($X^2 = 0.1343$, p = 0.714) and in both regions the prevalence of TF in 1-9 year-olds was below the 5% threshold for elimination as a public health problem, as specified by the WHO [2]. Additionally, examiners found 78 cases of TS (71 cases in those >15 years), eight cases of TT and one case of CO (all in >15 years). There was a significant difference in TS prevalence between the URR (2.7%; 95CI 1.8-4.2%)) and LRR (5.4%; 95CI 4.1-6.9%)) ($X^2 = 7.2435$, p = 0.007116).

The prevalence of TF in children aged 1-9 years is below the 5% threshold for elimination as a public health problem [3].

Seroprevalence estimates suggest there is very little Ct circulating in the regions studied, as evidenced by the low seroprevalence in the youngest participants (Chapter 5) and corresponds to virtually non-existent levels of ocular Ct infection, demonstrated following the PRET study [4].

7.1.2 Objective 2

Develop a Pgp3-specific ELISA to measure antibodies against Ct using fingerprick dried blood spots (Chapters 3 and 4)

Previous work using serological assays to measure antibodies against Ct in trachoma-endemic populations was performed using a multiplex bead assay (MBA) and measured antibodies against Pgp3 and CT694 [5–7]. This assay was financially unviable for this thesis research thus with collaborators from the CDC, I optimised the protocol for a Pgp3-specific ELISA [1]. Serum standards were provided by the CDC and are described in detail in Chapter 3 and 4. Standards were tested in triplicate and standard deviations (SD) and coefficients of variations (CoV) were calculated based on the blanked OD₄₅₀ value.

For ongoing quality control, the mean OD₄₅₀ values, SD and CoV for the five serum standards were tracked across sample sets. Inter-plate variation was less than 15% across all plates in each set. This ELISA has been used by other researchers in surveys of the South Pacific, Malawi and Ghana [8–10] with similar results.

7.1.3 Objective 3

Determine appropriate thresholds to distinguish between seropositive and seronegative individuals in populations from The Gambia, Laos and Uganda (Chapter 4)

Both ELISA and MBA produce continuous numerical data as outputs which are typically converted into a simple binary positive/negative response. The thresholds used to determine positive/negative are based on reference standards. Mis-classification in the reference standards may introduce errors in the threshold between seropositive and seronegative samples. To overcome the need for reference standards, we explored alternative methods to establish thresholds, based only on the data generated during the study. These internally calibrated methods specified thresholds at approximately the same OD₄₅₀ value for each of the samples sets from the three countries in the study (Laos, Uganda and The Gambia). The finite mixture model (FMM) and expectationmaximisation algorithm (EM) are replicable and can allow for increasing sensitivity or specificity by changing the number of SD used by the algorithm to determine the threshold.

From a programmatic point of view, the absolute value and accuracy of the estimated seroprevalence is less relevant than the changes in population seroprevalence over time, particularly between pre- and post-MDA sampling of populations. Trachoma elimination programmes should consider collecting DBS as MDA is initiated. The fieldwork in this thesis has shown that DBS can be easily incorporated into trachoma surveys, following ocular examination.

7.1.4 Objective 4

Use seroprevalence data to estimate changes in transmission in The Gambia and estimate seroconversion and seroreversion rates (Chapter 5)

A large amount of effort and international funding has gone into the trachoma elimination efforts and it is important to monitor and evaluate the effectiveness of these efforts. Detecting a significantly reduced transmission of infection is a key indicator that elimination is likely to have been achieved.

Using the seroprevalence estimates from LRR and URR [1], estimates of seroconversion (SCR) and seroreversion (SRR) were used to explore the dynamics of Ct transmission in these two regions. The seroconversion and seroreversion rates were estimated under different epidemiological conditions using a reversible catalytic model [11]. Using catalytic models for trachoma research is not a new concept, as it has previously been used to model disease prevalence [12,13], and combining modelling with serological data can help determine the force of infection (FoI) by using SCR as a proxy [14].

Our model compared three possible situations: i) a constant SCR, ii) an abrupt change in SCR at some point prior to sample collection, or iii) a constant SCR followed by a log-linear decay in SCR. The model allowing for an abrupt change in SCR showed the best fit, suggesting a change in SCR in LRR approximately 23 years before sample collection and in URR approximately 16 years before sample collection. This interpretation may be confounded by considering an alternative scenario, wherein participants are exposed to a genital chlamydial infection at some more contemporaneous time.

Detecting a change in SCR additionally depends on both the sample size as well as the scale of change in SCR, with smaller changes in SCR requiring larger sample sizes.

7.1.5 Objective 5

Use antibody level data as an alternative to seroprevalence data to measure changes in Ct transmission (Chapter 6)

Antibody-level data was used to generate age-dependent antibody curves for comparison using a recently developed statistical package, 'tmleAb' [15]. I compared: countries pre- and postintervention, regions with different scales of intervention activities, and countries with varying prevalence of ocular and genital Ct infections. My analysis showed that there is a characteristic shape to the curve in communities where trachoma is no longer a public health problem, with a nearly horizontal curve in the youngest age groups, which increases slowly with age. In populations with low prevalence of ocular Ct infection but where genital Ct infection is prevalent, the slope increases rapidly around the age of sexual debut, then stays elevated. When comparing pre- and post-MDA populations, there is a statistically significant difference in the age-dependent mean antibody levels, shown by comparing pre-MDA data from Nepal to post-MDA data from the same population [16]. The post-MDA data was statistically similar to data from a post-MDA community in Tanzania [17,18]. Similarly, children (1-9 year olds) in Kiribati [19] had statistically higher mean antibody levels than their peers of the same age in Laos, Uganda and The Gambia, all regions that are post-MDA [1] or have been declared to have eliminated trachoma as a public health problem [20].

Confidence intervals around the age group-dependent means are widest in the age groups that are experiencing the force of Ct infection, whether ocular or genital. The 95% CI are wider in young children in trachoma-endemic regions- pre-MDA Nepal and Kiribati- while in regions in which trachoma is no longer considered a public health problem, wider confidence intervals are often present at the age when sexual debut occurs. This is most obvious in the Solomon Islands, where there is a high prevalence of genital Ct infection [21,22], but can also be seen in post-MDA populations in Nepal and the Solomon Islands.

Based on the above, age-dependent antibody levels are a practical means of monitoring Ct infections in a population, eliminating the need to set a threshold between seropositive and seronegative samples.

7.2 Limitations

There are limitations to the analyses presented in this thesis. Some are due to practical restrictions, while others require a reconsideration of trachoma elimination programmes

7.2.1 Study design

Most studies are cross-sectional, covering a single point in time; few studies collect serological samples at two or more time points [6,16,23]. An ideal study would collect samples from communities prior to the implementation of any interventions, then again during and following completion of the SAFE strategy. However, this thesis included one study with pre- and post-MDA samples [16], which showed a significant reduction in age-dependent antibody levels from pre- to post-MDA population and produced a similar age-dependent antibody profile to a population in Rombo, Tanzania where trachoma and ocular Ct infection were eliminated following MDA [17,18]. This thesis also compared three populations with low prevalence of both trachoma and ocular Ct

infection [1], two of which had previously undergone MDA with azithromycin, to a population with high prevalence of trachoma that had yet to undergo MDA [19]. The antibody levels in the pre-MDA population were significantly higher than those of the three low prevalence populations, which all had similar levels of antibodies.

7.2.2 Population to be sampled

There is no consensus on which age range should be surveyed for serological studies. Thresholds for the initiation or cessation of programmatic MDA are based on the prevalence of TF in children aged 1-9 years and many studies have focused on these children for serology as well [6,23,25–28]. In principle, the serological history of individuals born before the reduction in Fol (older) consists of a time period at a high SCR which is then followed by a second period at lower SCR. Those born after the change in SCR (younger) will have experienced a constant SCR [29]. DBS were collected from participants of all ages in The Gambia; datasets from Nepal and Tanzania also comprised samples from participants of all ages. All modelling performed as part of this thesis was applied to data from either a wide age range (1-90 years) or a more limited age range focusing only on children. Increasing the age range of participants involved in a study to include adults may result in confounding if levels of genital Ct are high, however data from Chapter 6 suggests it may be possible, at population-level, to use confidence intervals to estimate when Ct infections are being acquired. Using age-based confidence intervals may allow for researchers to ascertain whether Ct-specific antibodies are being produced as a result of ocular or genital Ct infections.

7.2.3 Seroconversion

Secondly, most of the analyses assume persistent antibody levels and that both seroprevalence and antibody levels in participants have not declined significantly since they were initially infected with Ct. In Chapter 5, the SRR was estimated to be 0.008 and 0.010 in two Gambian populations. These calculations could be made more robust by examining a population at multiple time points following elimination, as has recently been demonstrated [24].

A study conducted in Tanzania showed no seroreversion in 1-6 year-old children six months following MDA [16], however a study in which children aged 1-9 years were followed up one year after baseline showed that seroreversion did occur, primarily in participants with antibody levels close to the threshold between seropositive and seronegative [23]. Following up a large population

of all ages may show that once antibodies are established above a certain level, for example following multiple ocular Ct infections in hyper-endemic populations, or multiple genital Ct infections, antibody levels remain fixed. This would support data in Chapter 6, where high antibody levels can be seen in the oldest population groups in Nepal, Tanzania, The Gambia and the Solomon Islands. The ability to detect a change using catalytic modelling assumes that an abrupt reduction in the Ct transmission intensity will translate into a similar change in SCR.

7.2.4 Assay Limitations

The Pgp3 antigen used in this ELISA was derived from serovar D, a urogenital strain of Ct. Another Pgp3-specific ELISA existed when this research was carried out [30] which was based on serovar L1, associated with LGV. Other Pgp3-specific ELISAs have been since been developed, one based on serovar E [31], as well a double antigen sandwich ELISA based on serovar L1 [32,33]; these other ELISAs have been used to study the prevalence of antibodies due to genital Ct infection. Only the double antigen ELISA has been compared to the original, indirect Pgp3 ELISA [32], however the other ELISAs, including the one used in this study, have not undergone head-to-head comparison.

Finally, there remains no gold standard references for antibodies resulting from Ct infection. Previous studies have used serum samples from children in non-endemic populations as negative controls, however these have shown to include samples that are considered seropositive based on their antibody levels. Similarly, positive samples have included infection-positive samples that would be classified as seronegative based on the antibody levels measured.

7.3 Practical Considerations

The research presented in this thesis can be considered translational in its nature, extending beyond the standard 'bench-to-bedside' [34] to 'bush-to-beside'. As such, application to practical public health outcomes is dependent on a variety of factors.

7.3.1 Sampling frame

Estimates of seroprevalence depend on the population sampled. As shown in Chapters 5 and 6, it is important to consider the age of people sampled and whether they are likely to have been exposed genital Ct infections through sexual activity, in addition to ocular Ct infection.
The size of the population to be sampled must be considered: the WHO recommends that trachoma (disease) prevalence estimates should be collected at the district level, with population sizes between 100,000 and 250,000, as this is the normal administrative unit for SAFE implementation [2]. It is likely district-level estimates of age-specific seroprevalence would also be sufficient, provided probability-proportional-to-size sampling rather than convenience sampling is followed. This also assumes in post-MDA districts, a low seroprevalence in young people is associated with a decline in the transmission of ocular Ct infection. The sample size required will depend on the population structure and a priori knowledge or estimation of disease and infection prevalence in the population to be sampled. Depending on the shape of the population pyramid within a country, it may be necessary to over-sample the youngest proportion of the population to achieve the power necessary to confidently measure changes in seroprevalence [35]. A second consideration is the time between the change in SCR and sample collection [29], such that there is a sufficiently large proportion of the population born after the change in SCR to compare to the older proportion. In areas with a high prevalence of genital Ct infection, oversampling around the age of sexual debut may elucidate additional patterns of infection [36]. Sampling frames should be guided by local knowledge of the epidemiology and prevalence of genital Ct infection.

7.3.2 Assays and data

Few studies to date have assayed samples in-country; the samples analysed as part of this thesis were assayed at either LSHTM or the CDC. With the exception of the lateral flow assay [28,37,38], assays to measure antibodies against Pgp3 are based on ELISA or MBA technology and require expensive reagents, many of which must be kept cold or frozen prior to use, and a continuous source of electricity. This may not be practical in trachoma-endemic countries and may require collaboration with a research or academic institute elsewhere.

Interpretation of ELISA or MBA data is straightforward when presented as seroprevalence data, can be easily understood and has been well-published using datasets from around the world. The interpretation of antibody level data is more complex and still a relatively new concept, not only for trachoma but for neglected tropical diseases in general [15]. This thesis contributes to the reservoir of knowledge about Ct serology and analysis and interpretation of antibody levels.

7.3.3 Following successful MDA

215

As more countries work towards the elimination of trachoma as a public health programme, MDA strategies may result in over-administration of antibiotics. This could potentially lead to antimicrobial resistance in Ct and commensal or opportunistic bacteria. A recent study has shown no antimicrobial resistance in *Mycoplasma genitalium* following one round of MDA [39], though there is concern that *Salmonella typhi* could easily develop resistance to azithromycin [40]. One possible solution to prevent over-administration is household targeted treatment, wherein households with one of more members presenting with active trachoma are treated, as is the current policy in The Gambia [36]. Because trachoma clusters by household [41–43], targeted treatment with a high level of coverage has been modelled to be cost-effective and to reduce the prevalence of ocular Ct infection [44].

MDA of azithromycin has been shown to reduce the prevalence of genital Ct infection [22] as well as reducing childhood mortality [45], and there may be other trade-offs to discontinuing MDA of azithromycin for trachoma elimination. This will need to be considered by policymakers in affected countries and NGOs involved with trachoma elimination programmers.

7.3.4 Symbiosis with other NTD programmes

The Expanded Special Project for the Elimination of Neglected Tropical Diseases (ESPEN) was established to accelerate elimination of NTDs for which preventive chemotherapy and transmission control (PCT) exist and to implement large-scale MDA. Along with trachoma, lymphatic filariasis, onchocerciasis, loiasis, schistosomiasis and soil-transmitted helminths are often co-endemic and therefore may benefit from collaborative efforts to accelerate treatment and prevention of these diseases [46]. As treatment for NTDs is expanded across all endemic regions, the incidence and prevalence of these disease will decrease, meaning case detection will become increasingly difficult and expensive [47–50]. Combining efforts for surveying, treatment and monitoring of intervention efforts across multiple endemic diseases may be one way in which to maximise resources. For example, the use of MBA to measure antibodies against a variety of NTDs would also allow for field surveys to collect information about a multiple diseases from a single DBS [51]. NTD programmes should consider combining efforts to maximise results, while reducing the demands of those affected by these diseases, donors and healthcare workers.

7.3.5 Future Research

216

Leading from this thesis, there are many areas for future research. A head-to-head comparison of ELISA and MBA results has not yet been published and doing so would allow for a direct comparison of the two techniques using the same research samples and standards. This would help inform assay choices in-country and the purpose for which each assay could be used. The development of serum reference standards would greatly facilitate this.

There is a need to further explore what level of antibodies may be associated with scarring sequelae, such that antibody level could be used to determine the risk of a person developing long-term sequelae. This would be relevant for both ocular and genital Ct infections, and in terms of intensified disease management, would help trachoma programmes follow up individuals at risk of progressing to trichiasis. For genital Ct infections, antibody levels could help determine the risk of infertility and the need for further medical intervention (I. Toskin, WHO, personal communication.)

Importantly, the research in this thesis was only able to compare one region for pre- and post-MDA antibody levels. With the increase in MDA for trachoma elimination that has occurred in the past decade [52] before the recent renaissance in Ct serology, it will not be possible to collect blood samples from pre-MDA populations. Serology should be incorporated in future MDA efforts to allow for monitoring changes in seroprevalence and antibody levels in communities. Combining efforts with other NTD programmes working in co-endemic regions could allow for on-going monitoring even once MDA for trachoma has been successful, and could be used to estimate more accurate seroreversion rates [24] once the FoI for trachoma reaches a non-significant level.

Finally, on-going studies have hypothesized that follicles on the upper tarsal may not solely be due to Ct, as seen in populations in the Solomon Islands [8]. Follicles may be due to a variety of non-chlamydial bacteria [53–55]; further consideration of the ocular microbiome and the role of commensal bacteria in good eye health should be explored.

7.4 Conclusions

The clinical results from my field work supports The Gambia's milestone of eliminating trachoma as a public health problem. Additionally, the analyses presented here support elimination in Laos and in the two regions studied in Uganda.

The data presented within this thesis substantiates the use of serology as an additional measure to monitor the prevalence of Ct infections and to support the decision-making process in trachoma elimination efforts. This is particularly demonstrated by the antibody prevalence data, which showed a consistent horizontal curve in children from post-MDA communities and regions where trachoma

217

has been eliminated as a public health problem. Ultimately, it may not be an exact seroprevalence or antibody level that is used as a metric for elimination, but the changes in seroprevalence or antibody levels over time.

In contrast to clinical indicators like follicles of the conjunctiva, which can be caused by other infectious agents, are not always correlated to Ct ocular infection and are subject to inter-grader variation, antibodies persist, can be (semi) quantitatively measured and those against Pgp3 are considered highly specific for infection with Ct.

A considered analysis of serological data may offer a complementary method to assess efforts to eliminate trachoma as a public health problem. Combined serological assays could gather information about multiple NTDs and infections, thereby maximising impact in resource-limited settings.

7.5 References

- Migchelsen SJ, Martin DL, Southisombath K, Turyaguma P, Heggen A, Rubangakene PP, et al. Defining Seropositivity Thresholds for Use in Trachoma Elimination Studies. PLoS Negl Trop Dis. 2017;11: e0005230. doi:10.1371/journal.pntd.0005230
- 2. World Health Organization. Report of the 3rd Global Scientific Meeting on Trachoma. 2010.
- WHO. Trachoma Alternative Indicators Study: Data review 31 August-1 September 2016.
 Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017.
- Harding-Esch EM, Sillah A, Edwards T, Burr SE, Hart JD, Joof H, et al. Mass Treatment with Azithromycin for Trachoma: When Is One Round Enough? Results from the PRET Trial in The Gambia. PLoS Negl Trop Dis. 2013;7: e2115. doi:10.1371/journal.pntd.0002115
- Goodhew EB, Priest JW, Moss DM, Zhong G, Munoz B, Mkocha H, et al. CT694 and pgp3 as Serological Tools for Monitoring Trachoma Programs. PLoS Negl Trop Dis. 2012;6: e1873. doi:10.1371/journal.pntd.0001873
- Goodhew EB, Morgan SMG, Switzer AJ, Munoz B, Dize L, Gaydos C, et al. Longitudinal analysis of antibody responses to trachoma antigens before and after mass drug administration. BMC Infect Dis. England: BioMed Central Ltd.; 2014;14: 216. doi:10.1186/1471-2334-14-216
- 7. Martin DL, Wiegand R, Goodhew B, Lammie P, Black CM, West S, et al. Serological Measures of Trachoma Transmission Intensity. Sci Rep. 2015;5: 18532. doi:10.1038/srep18532
- Butcher R, Sokana O, Jack K, Sui L, Russell C, Last A, et al. Clinical signs of trachoma are prevalent among Solomon Islanders who have no persistent markers of prior infection with *Chlamydia trachomatis*. Wellcome Open Res. 2018;3: 14. doi:10.12688/wellcomeopenres.13423.1
- Butcher R, Sokana O, Jack K, Martin DL, Burton MJ, Solomon A, et al. Age-specific prevalence of anti-Pgp3 antibodies and severe conjunctival scarring in the Solomon Islands. bioRxiv. 2017; doi:10.1101/141135
- Senyonjo LG, Debrah O, Martin DL, Asante-Poku A, Migchelsen SJ, Gwyn S, et al. Serological and PCR-based markers of ocular *Chlamydia trachomatis* transmission in northern Ghana after elimination of trachoma as a public health problem. Somily AM, editor. PLoS Negl Trop Dis. 2018;12: e0007027. doi:10.1371/journal.pntd.0007027

- 11. Muench H. Catalytic Models in Epidemiology. Cambridge, Mass: Harvard University Press; 1959.
- 12. Assaad FA, Maxwell-Lyons F. The use of catalytic models as tools for elucidating the clinical and epidemiological features of trachoma. Bull World Health Organ. 1966;34: 341–55.
- Sundaresan TK, Assaad F a. The use of simple epidemiological models in the evaluation of disease control programmes: a case study of trachoma. Bull World Health Organ. 1973;48: 709–14.
- Cucunubá ZM, Nouvellet P, Conteh L, Vera MJ, Angulo VM, Dib JC, et al. Modelling historical changes in the force-of-infection of Chagas disease to inform control and elimination programmes: application in Colombia. BMJ Glob Heal. 2017;2: e000345. doi:10.1136/bmjgh-2017-000345
- Arnold BF, van der Laan MJ, Hubbard AE, Steel C, Kubofcik J, Hamlin KL, et al. Measuring changes in transmission of neglected tropical diseases, malaria, and enteric pathogens from quantitative antibody levels. PLoS Negl Trop Dis. 2017;11: e0005616. doi:10.1371/journal.pntd.0005616
- Gwyn SE, Xiang L, Kandel RP, Dean D, Gambhir M, Martin DL. Prevalence of *Chlamydia* trachomatis -Specific Antibodies before and after Mass Drug Administration for Trachoma in Community-Wide Surveys of Four Communities in Nepal. Am J Trop Med Hyg. 2017; 1–11. doi:10.4269/ajtmh.17-0102
- Solomon AW, Harding-Esch E, Alexander NDE, Aguirre A, Holland MJ, Bailey RL, et al. Two doses of azithromycin to eliminate trachoma in a Tanzanian community. N Engl J Med. 2008;358: 1870–1. doi:10.1056/NEJMc0706263
- Martin DL, Bid R, Sandi F, Goodhew EB, Massae PA, Lasway A, et al. Serology for trachoma surveillance after cessation of mass drug administration. PLoS Negl Trop Dis. 2015;9: e0003555. doi:10.1371/journal.pntd.0003555
- Cama A, Müller A, Taoaba R, Butcher RM, Itibita I, Migchelsen SJ, et al. Prevalence of signs of trachoma, ocular *Chlamydia trachomatis* infection and antibodies to Pgp3 in residents of Kiritimati Island, Kiribati. PLoS Negl Trop Dis. 2017;11: [manuscript in press]. doi:10.1371/journal.pntd.0005863
- 20. World Health Organization (WHO). Cambodia and the Lao People's Democratic Republic wipe out trachoma—leading infectious cause of blindness. In: Media release [Internet]. 2017 [cited

21 Feb 2018]. Available: https://www.who.int/westernpacific/news/detail/19-09-2017cambodia-and-the-lao-people-s-democratic-republic-wipe-out-trachoma-leading-infectiouscause-of-blindness

- Marks M, Kako H, Butcher R, Lauri B, Puiahi E, Pitakaka R, et al. Prevalence of sexually transmitted infections in female clinic attendees in Honiara, Solomon Islands. BMJ Open. 2015;5: e007276. doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2014-007276
- 22. Marks M, Bottomley C, Tome H, Pitakaka R, Butcher R, Sokana O, et al. Mass drug administration of azithromycin for trachoma reduces the prevalence of genital *Chlamydia trachomatis* infection in the Solomon Islands. Sex Transm Infect. 2016;92: 261–5. doi:10.1136/sextrans-2015-052439
- West SK, Munoz B, Kaur H, Dize L, Mkocha H, Gaydos CA, et al. Longitudinal change in the serology of antibodies to *Chlamydia trachomatis* pgp3 in children residing in a trachoma area. Sci Rep. England; 2018;8: 3520. doi:10.1038/s41598-018-21127-0
- Pinsent A, Solomon AW, Bailey RL, Bid R, Cama A, Dean D, et al. The utility of serology for elimination surveillance of trachoma. Nat Commun. 2018;9: 5444. doi:10.1038/s41467-018-07852-0
- 25. West SK, Munoz B, Weaver J, Mrango Z, Dize L, Gaydos C, et al. Can We Use Antibodies to *Chlamydia trachomatis* as a Surveillance Tool for National Trachoma Control Programs ? Results from a District Survey. PLoS Negl Trop Dis. 2016;10: 1–11. doi:10.1371/journal.pntd.0004352
- Cocks N, Rainima-Qaniuci M, Yalen C, Macleod C, Nakolinivalu A, Migchelsen S, et al.
 Community seroprevalence survey for yaws and trachoma in the Western Division of Fiji.
 Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg. 2016; 1–6. doi:10.1093/trstmh/trw069
- Pant BP, Bhatta RC, Chaudhary JSP, Awasthi S, Mishra S, Sharma S, et al. Control of Trachoma from Achham District, Nepal: A Cross-Sectional Study from the Nepal National Trachoma Program. PLoS Negl Trop Dis. 2016;10: e0004462. doi:10.1371/journal.pntd.0004462
- Sun MJ, Zambrano AI, Dize L, Munoz B, Gwyn S, Mishra S, et al. Evaluation of a field test for antibodies against *Chlamydia trachomatis* during trachoma surveillance in Nepal. Diagn Microbiol Infect Dis. United States; 2017;88: 3–6. doi:10.1016/j.diagmicrobio.2017.01.004
- 29. Sepúlveda N, Stresman G, White MT, Drakeley CJ. Current mathematical models for analyzing anti-malarial antibody data with an eye to malaria elimination and eradication. J Immunol

Res. 2015;2015. doi:10.1155/2015/738030

- 30. Wills GS, Horner PJ, Reynolds R, Johnson AM, Muir DA, Brown DW, et al. Pgp3 antibody enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay, a sensitive and specific assay for seroepidemiological analysis of *Chlamydia trachomatis* infection. Clin Vaccine Immunol. 2009;16: 835–43. doi:10.1128/CVI.00021-09
- 31. Winstanley CE, Ramsey KH, Marsh P, Clarke IN. Development and evaluation of an enzymelinked immunosorbent assay for the detection of antibodies to a common urogenital derivative of *Chlamydia trachomatis* plasmid-encoded PGP3. J Immunol Methods. 2017; doi:10.1016/j.jim.2017.03.002
- Horner PJ, Wills GS, Righarts A, Vieira S. *Chlamydia trachomatis* Pgp3 Antibody Persists and Correlates with Self-Reported Infection and Behavioural Risks in a Blinded Cohort Study. PLoS One. 2016;14: 1–13. doi:10.6084/m9.figshare.2082721
- Woodhall SC, Wills GS, Horner PJ, Craig R, Mindell JS, Murphy G, et al. *Chlamydia trachomatis* Pgp3 antibody population seroprevalence before and during an era of widespread
 opportunistic chlamydia screening in England (1994-2012). PLoS One. 2016;12: e0152810.
 doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0152810
- Goldblatt EM, Lee W-H. From bench to bedside: the growing use of translational research in cancer medicine. Am J Transl Res. e-Century Publishing Corporation; 2010;2: 1–18.
- Sepúlveda N, Paulino CD, Drakeley C. Sample size and power calculations for detecting changes in malaria transmission using antibody seroconversion rate. Malar J. BioMed Central; 2015;14: 1–14. doi:10.1186/s12936-015-1050-3
- Migchelsen SJ, Sepúlveda N, Martin DL, Cooley G, Gwyn S, Pickering H, et al. Serology reflects a decline in the prevalence of trachoma in two regions of The Gambia. Sci Rep. 2017;7: 15040. doi:10.1038/s41598-017-15056-7
- Gwyn S, Mitchell A, Dean D, Mkocha H, Handali S, Martin DL. Lateral Flow-Based Antibody
 Testing for *Chlamydia trachomatis*. J Immunol Methods. 2016; doi:10.1016/j.jim.2016.05.008
- 38. Gwyn S, Cooley G, Goodhew B, Kohlhoff S, Banniettis N, Wiegand R, et al. Comparison of Platforms for Testing Antibody Responses against the *Chlamydia trachomatis* Antigen Pgp3. Am J Trop Med Hyg. 2017;97: 1662–1668. doi:10.4269/ajtmh.17-0292
- 39. Harrison MA, Harding-Esch EM, Marks M, Pond MJ, Butcher R, Solomon AW, et al. Impact of mass drug administration of azithromycin for trachoma elimination on prevalence and

azithromycin resistance of genital *Mycoplasma genitalium* infection. Sex Transm Infect. 2019; sextrans-2018-053938. doi:10.1136/sextrans-2018-053938

- 40. Rasheed MK, Hasan SS, Babar Z-U-D, Ahmed SI. Extensively drug-resistant typhoid fever in Pakistan. Lancet Infect Dis. Elsevier; 2019;19: 242–243. doi:10.1016/S1473-3099(19)30051-9
- Bailey R, Osmond C, Mabey DC, Whittle HC, Ward ME. Analysis of the household distribution of trachoma in a Gambian village using a Monte Carlo simulation procedure. Int J Epidemiol. 1989;18: 944–51.
- Burton MJ, Holland MJ, Faal N, Aryee EA, Alexander N DE, Bah M, et al. Which Members of a Community Need Antibiotics to Control Trachoma? Conjunctival *Chlamydia trachomatis* Infection Load in Gambian Villages. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci. 2003;44: 4215–4222. doi:10.1167/iovs.03-0107
- 43. Polack SR, Solomon AW, Alexander NDE, Massae PA, Safari S, Shao JF, et al. The household distribution of trachoma in a Tanzanian village: an application of GIS to the study of trachoma. Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg. 2005;99: 218–25. doi:10.1016/j.trstmh.2004.06.010
- Blake IM, Burton MJ, Solomon AW, West SK, Basáñez M-G, Gambhir M, et al. Targeting antibiotics to households for trachoma control. PLoS Negl Trop Dis. 2010;4: e862.
 doi:10.1371/journal.pntd.0000862
- Keenan JD, Bailey RL, West SK, Arzika AM, Hart J, Weaver J, et al. Azithromycin to Reduce Childhood Mortality in Sub-Saharan Africa. N Engl J Med. Massachusetts Medical Society; 2018;378: 1583–1592. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1715474
- 46. ESPEN | Expanded Special Project for Elimination Neglected Tropical Diseases [Internet].[cited 19 Apr 2019]. Available: http://espen.afro.who.int/
- Kappagoda S, Ioannidis JPA. Prevention and control of neglected tropical diseases: overview of randomized trials, systematic reviews and meta-analyses. Bull World Health Organ.
 2014;92: 356-366C. doi:10.2471/BLT.13.129601
- Baltussen RMPM, Sylla M, Frick KD, Mariotti SP. Cost-effectiveness of trachoma control in seven world regions. Ophthalmic Epidemiol. 2005;12: 91–101.
 doi:10.1080/09286580590932761
- 49. Ogden S, Gallo K, Davis S, McGuire C, Meyer E, Addiss D, et al. WASH and the Neglected Tropical Diseases. Atlanta; 2013.

- 50. Chen C, Cromwell EA, King JD, Mosher A, Harding-Esch EM, Ngondi JM, et al. Incremental cost of conducting population-based prevalence surveys for a neglected tropical disease: the example of trachoma in 8 national programs. Carabin H, editor. PLoS Negl Trop Dis. Public Library of Science; 2011;5: e979. doi:10.1371/journal.pntd.0000979
- Lammie PJ, Moss DM, Brook Goodhew E, Hamlin K, Krolewiecki A, West SK, et al.
 Development of a new platform for neglected tropical disease surveillance. International Journal for Parasitology. 2012.
- 52. Solomon AW, Zondervan M, Kuper H, Buchan JC, Mabey DC, Foster A. Trachoma control: A guide for programme managers. 2006.
- 53. Thygeson P. Etiology and differential diagnosis of non-trachomatous follicular conjunctivitis.Bull World Health Organ. World Health Organization; 1957;16: 995–1011.
- Burr SE, Milne S, Jafali J, Bojang E, Rajasekhar M, Hart J, et al. Mass administration of azithromycin and Streptococcus pneumoniae carriage: cross-sectional surveys in the Gambia.
 Bull World Health Organ. 2014;92: 490–498. doi:10.2471/BLT.13.133462
- 55. Burr SE, Hart JD, Edwards T, Baldeh I, Bojang E, Harding-Esch EM, et al. Association between ocular bacterial carriage and follicular trachoma following mass azithromycin distribution in The Gambia. Ngondi JM, editor. PLoS Negl Trop Dis. Public Library of Science; 2013;7: e2347. doi:10.1371/journal.pntd.0002347

Appendix 1- Eye exam and Dried Blood Spot (DBS) sample collection

Eye Exam and Dried Blood Spot (DBS) sample collection

Standard Operating Procedure (SOP)

V 19.11.2014

By Stephanie Migchelsen

Overview

This pilot project aims to measure the levels of anti-*C. trachomatis* antibodies in two populations: one where is it hoped that trachoma has been controlled through the recent mass administration of azithromycin and one where trachoma and the sequelae have been under control for many years.

Photographs will be taken of everted eyelids and blood samples, preserved on filter paper, will be collected from participants.

This project is designed to collect the following information from participants:

- Demographic information of participant
- Clinical phenotype according to the Simplified WHO trachoma grading system (Presence or absence of each of TF, TI, TS, TT, CO)
- Four dried blood spots from participants (at least 100 from each EA)
- Photographs of the conjunctiva (using predefined SLR photography protocol)

Written consent is required to take part in the follow-up project.

Blood spots must be dried before being stored in envelopes.

Staff and materials (per cluster)

Staff	Materials
2x MRC trachoma staff (grading	Information sheets
and photography)	
2 x Community Ophthalmic Nurses	Inkpad for thumbprints
(CON) (blood and consent)	
1 x field recorder	Pen(s) for signatures
1x driver	Consent forms
	Ocular Examination forms
	Census print-outs
	Binder to store forms
	Filter papers
	Lancets
	Alcohol swabs (EtOH+cotton)
	Storage bags
	Desiccant
	Sample storage box
	Drying sticks
	Printed labels
	Gloves
	Waste bag
	Nikon SLR camera
	Truck
	Fuel
	Table
	Chairs

Phase 1: Informed Consent

Step		Task
1 (Informed consent)	1.1	Read information sheet to household decision maker
	1.2	Invite decision maker to participate in study. Written consent required.
	1.3	If consent granted, a consent form must be signed for each member of the
		household who will take part in the survey.
		NOTE: Children below the age of 18 must have consent granted on their
		behalf by a parent or guardian. Children between 12 and 17 must provide
		their own assent.
		NOTE: Adults aged 18 or above must provide their own consent
	1.4	If consent is granted, proceed to step 2
2	2.1	Record ID number on Ocular Examination Form
	2.2	Ask demographic questions: Sex, Date of Birth/Age, and General Observations

Phase 2: Examination

2 (Examination)	2.1	Examine household head and any other adults who have consented to
		examination first
	2.2	Assistant calls ID to recorder for recording
	2.3	Grader uses 2.5x binocular loupes to examine eye in normal position.
	2.4	Grader examines for signs of TT and CO and calls verdict to recorder
	2.5	Grader everts right eyelid
	2.6	Grader examines for signs of TF and calls verdict to recorder
	2.7	Grader examines for signs of TI and calls verdict to recorder
	2.8	Grader examines for signs of TS and calls verdict to recorder
	2.9	Photographer takes photo of label
	2.10	Photographer takes photograph of everted right lid with SLR camera
	2.11	Photographer calls photo frame number to recorder

	NOTE: If lid eversion is too painful due to signs of trichiasis, the lid will not be
	everted and a photograph will be taken of the lid in normal position
2.12	The right lid is returned to its normal position
2.13	Steps 2.3-2.12 are repeated with the left eyelid
2.14	Nurse collects one filter paper disk and one alcohol swab (cotton and
	ethanol)
2.15	Nurse wipes participant's fingertip with alcohol swab, then pierces skin with
	the lancet
2.16	Wipe the first drop of blood from the finger using the alcohol wipe
2.17	Gently squeezing the fingertip, and holding the filter wheel by the label, use
	the filter wheel to collect at least four drops of blood, one on each of four
	outer circles. Both sides of the paper must be saturated with blood.
2.18	Pass the filter paper to the assistant, who then places the wheel on a drying
	stick in the sample collection box.
	NOTE: Approximately 6 filter wheels can be placed on one drying stick. One
	finger-width must be kept between each wheel to ensure proper drying.
2.19	Grader/Nurse thanks the examinee for their participation
2.20	Grader changes gloves
	NOTE: Nurse to change gloves when (s)he thinks the gloves may be
	contaminated

Phase 3: Between clusters (end of the day)

Step		Task
3 (Storage)	3.1	Before the end of each day, the filter wheels must be removed
		from the storage box and placed individually in resealable plastic
		bags with a small amount of desiccant
	3.2	Data from Ocular Forms must be entered into database;
		photographs must be uploaded to Eyescores
4 (Charging)	4.1	Recorder must return to electricity source to enter data
	4.2	Assistants must charge photographic equipment each night

Appendix 2- Ocular Examination Form

SCC X	xxx					
	Tools for trachoma an OCU	elimination tibodies in JLAR EXAM	: a pilot st children, ऽ INATION F	udy to detec CC Number:N ORM V1 – 10-1	t anti- <i>Chlai</i> XXX 11-2014	mydia trachom
1. ID m	mber: _ _ - _ _ -					
2. Sex:	1=Male 2= Female	U	Ethr	ic Group: 1=N 2=F 3=V	Mandika 4 Jula 2 Volof	4=Jola [] 5=Other
3. Date	of birth: _ _ / _ _ / _		OR 4. A	ge in years (0-	9):	
5. Gene	ral observations (please (circle):				
	Is the face clean?	Ocular discl	harge? N	asal discharge	? Flies	on face?
	1657140	165715	0	1637140	10	5/110
6. Trac	homa grading (please circ	cle ONE corr	ect answer f	for each row):		
]			Absent (0)	Present	Can't	Participant
				(1)	evert eyelid (4)	exam (9)
ľ	Right eye	TF	0	1	4	9
		TI	0	1	4	9
		TS	0	1	4	9
		TT	0	1	4	9
		со	0	1	4	9
ľ	Comments					
ľ	Left eye	TF	0	1	4	9
		TI	0	1	4	9
		TS	0	1	4	9
		TT	0	1	4	9
		CO	0	1	4	9
ľ	Comments					<u> </u>
7. Eye 1	Exam status: 1=Com 2= Inco 3= Refi 4= Abs	plete omplete used ent	Ĺ	ļ		
Intervie	ewer:		D	ate: /		

Appendix 3- Participant Information Sheet (Child)



PARTICIPANT INFORMATION SHEET (CHILD)

Version 1.0 Date 21/10/2014

Study Title: Age-specific seroprevalence of anti-*Chlamydia trachomatis* antibodies and the historical prevalence of trachoma

|--|

Sponsor: Wellcome Trust

What is informed consent?

You are invited to let your child take part in a research study. Before you decide you need to understand why the research study is being done and what it will involve. Please take time to read the following information or get the information explained to you in your language. Listen carefully and feel free to ask if there is anything that is not clear or you do not understand. You may also wish to consult your spouse, family members, friends or others before deciding to let your child take part in the study.

If you decide to allow your child to join the study, you will need to sign or put a thumbprint on a consent form saying you agree for your child to be in the study. If your child is between the ages of 12-17, we will ask for his/her assent as a signature or thumbprint.

Why is this study being done?

One reason many people go blind in The Gambia is because of trachoma. Trachoma is an eye disease that is easily passed from person to person. If you get the infection many times it can lead to scarring in your eyelid, which causes the eyelashes to rub on the eyeball. This is painful and can eventually lead to blindness. When a person is infected with trachoma, they will produce antibodies to help fight this infection. These antibodies can stay in a person's blood for a very long time.

The National Eye Health Programme has recorded that over time, the amount of trachoma in many communities has gone down. We think this is because there is better access to latrines and water, as well as community screening for eye health, and giving antibiotics for infection.

A few years ago, some communities in The Gambia were given antibiotics against trachoma. We would like to compare communities that did receive antibiotics with communities that did not receive antibiotics because they did not need them.

We would like to check your child's eyes for signs of trachoma and test his/her blood to see if he/she has antibodies against trachoma.

The results of the study will be made available to your community.

What does this study involve?

We will ask 100 people of all ages in your community to have their eyes examined. We will examine the eye by gently turning over the eyelid. We will also take a small sample of

blood. This will be done using a new, clean lancet to prick the fingertip. We will collect a few drops of blood onto a piece of paper.

If we discover your child's eyes cannot be examined because of an eye disease, we will refer him/her to the nearest eye health unit for appropriate care.

In case the investigator discovers your child is sick and decides that he/she cannot participate in the study because of that, he/she will receive immediate care at the study site and then be referred to the appropriate health facility.

If the research study needs to be stopped, you will be informed and your child will have the normal medical care.

What will happen to the samples taken in this study?

The samples will be taken back to the MRC laboratory in Fajara for testing to see if there are antibodies against trachoma. We will also send some of the samples to a lab in England to verify the results.

What harm or discomfort can you expect in the study?

We will prick your child's finger with a sharp pin to collect the blood. This can cause some discomfort to your child but the discomfort is not expected to last more than a day.

What benefits can you expect in the study?

While there are no direct benefits to you or your child, the information we get from this study will help us determine if the trachoma has been successfully eliminated from your community. This will help researchers make decisions that will help other communities around the world in their efforts to eliminate trachoma.

Will you be compensated for your child's/ward's participation in the study?

You will not get paid for participation of your child in the study.

What happens if you refuse to participate in the study or change your mind later?

You are free to let your child participate or not in the study and you have the right to stop his/her participating at anytime without giving a reason. This will not affect the medical care that your child would normally receive.

In case you decide to withdraw your child's participation during the study, we will not work on your child's samples without your permission, but any information already generated from the samples will be kept. The study doctor may also ask for tests for your child's safety.

Should any new information become available during the study that may affect your child's participation, you will be informed as soon as possible.

What compensation will be available if your child is injured during the study?

We will be responsible to provide for treatment caused by procedures of the research study.

If medical treatment is required as an emergency, please refer to your health centre or clinic and contact the field worker who gave his/her telephone number to you or contact

Version	Date	
---------	------	--

Stephanie Migchelsen on [Phone number] or Mr Sarjo Kanyi on 9901716, 3011349, 6651344 or 7510996.

How will your child's information be kept and who will be allowed to see it?

All information that is collected about your child in the course of the study will be kept strictly confidential. Your child's personal information will only be available to the study team members and might be seen by some rightful persons from the Ethics Committee, Government authorities and sponsor.

Who should you contact if you have questions?

If you have any queries or concerns you can contact Stephanie Migchelsen on [Phone number] or Mr Sarjo Kanyi on 9901716, 3011349, 6651344 or 7510996 and you can always call the personal numbers of the study staff given to you.

Please feel free to ask any question you might have about the research study.

Who has reviewed this study?

This study has been reviewed and approved by a panel of scientists at the Medical Research Council and the Gambia Government/MRC Joint Ethics Committee, which consists of scientists and lay persons to protect your rights and wellbeing.

Participant's Name					
Participant's Identification Nu	umber: _ _	_	.		
(Printed name	o of paront)	OR	(Printed name o	f quardian)	
(Finited fiam	e or parent)			i guarulari)	
 I have read the written in I have had the informatio understand, 	formation OR n explained to me	e by study	personnel in a la	anguage tha	t I
 and I confirm that my choice t confirm that I have had satisfied with the answer understand that I grant a in the information sheet, have received time to co agree to allow my child t 	to let my child par the opportunity to rs and explanation access to data ab posider to let my o take part in this s	ticipate is b ask ques hs that hav out my chi child take p tudy.	entirely voluntai tions about this ve been provideo Id to authorised part in this study	rily, study and I d, persons des /,	am scribed
Tick as appropriate I agree to further research of the information sheet	on my child's sam	iples as de	scribed in	Yes 🗌 No	
Participant's signature/ thumbprint* for assent (child aged 12-17 years)					
			Date (dd/mr	mm/yyyy)	Time (24hr)
Participant's parent/guardian signature/thumbprint*					
			Date (dd/mr	mm/yyyy)	Time (24hr)
Printed name of witness*					
Printed Name of Person obtaining consent					
I attest that I have explaine to, and was understood to t He/she has freely given cor (where applicable). Signature of Person	ed the study infor he best of my kno nsent to participa	mation acc owledge by te *in the p	curately in /, the participan presence of the a	t/parent/gu above name	ardian. d witness
obtaining consent			Data (dd/mr		Time (24br)
* Only required if the participan	t is unable to read	or write.	Date (aa/mr	шп/уууу)	nme (24 nr)

Appendix 4- Participant Information Sheet (Adult)



PARTICIPANT INFORMATION SHEET (ADULT)

Version 1.0 Date 21/10/2014

Study Title: Age-specific seroprevalence of anti-*Chlamydia trachomatis* antibodies and the historical prevalence of trachoma

|--|

Sponsor: Wellcome Trust

What is informed consent?

You are invited to take part in a research study. Participating in a research study is not the same as getting regular medical care. The purpose of regular medical care is to improve one's health. The purpose of a research study is to gather information. It is your choice to take part and you can stop any time.

Before you decide you need to understand all information about this study and what it will involve. Please take time to read the following information or get the information explained to you in your language. Listen carefully and feel free to ask if there is anything that you do not understand. Ask for it to be explained until you are satisfied. You may also wish to consult your spouse, family members or others before deciding to take part in the study.

If you decide to join the study, you will need to sign or thumbprint a consent form saying you agree to be in the study.

Why is this study being done?

One reason many people go blind in The Gambia is because of trachoma. Trachoma is an eye disease that is easily passed from person to person. If you get the infection many times it can lead to scarring in your eyelid, which causes the eyelashes to rub on the eyeball. This is painful and can eventually lead to blindness. When a person is infected with trachoma, they will produce antibodies to help fight this infection. These antibodies can stay in a person's blood for a very long time.

The National Eye Health Programme has recorded that over time, the amount of trachoma in many communities has gone down. We think this is because there is better access to latrines and water, as well as community screening for eye health, and giving antibiotics for infection.

A few years ago, some communities in The Gambia were given antibiotics against trachoma. We would like to compare communities that did receive antibiotics with communities that did not receive antibiotics because they didn't need them.

We would like to check your eyes for signs of trachoma and test your blood to see if you have antibodies against trachoma.

The results of the study will be made available to your community.

What does this study involve?

We will ask 100 people of all ages in your community to have their eyes examined. We will examine the eye by gently turning over the eyelid. We will also take a small sample of blood. This will be done using a new, clean lancet to prick the fingertip. We will collect a few drops of blood onto a piece of paper.

If we discover your eyes cannot be examined because of an eye disease, we will refer you to the nearest eye health unit for appropriate care.

In case the investigator discovers you are sick and decides that you cannot participate in the study because of that, you will receive immediate care at the study site and then be referred to the appropriate health facility.

If the research study needs to be stopped, you will be informed and you will have your normal medical care.

What will happen to the samples taken in this study?

The samples will be taken back to the MRC laboratory in Fajara for testing to see if there are antibodies against trachoma. We will also send some of the samples to a lab in England to verify the results.

What harm or discomfort can you expect in the study?

We will prick your finger with a sharp pin to collect the blood. This can cause some discomfort but the discomfort is not expected to last more than a day.

What benefits can you expect in the study?

While there are no direct benefits to you, the information we get from this study will help us determine if the trachoma has been successfully eliminated from your community. This will help researchers make decisions that will help other communities around the world in their efforts to eliminate trachoma.

Will you be compensated for participating in the study?

You will not get paid for participation.

What happens if you refuse to participate in the study or change your mind later?

You are free to participate or not in the study and you have the right to stop participating at anytime without giving a reason. This will not affect the medical care that you would normally receive.

In case you decide to withdraw your participation during the study, we will not work on your samples without your permission, but any information already generated from the samples will be kept. The study doctor may also ask for tests for your safety.

Should any new information become available during the study that may affect your participation, you will be informed as soon as possible.

If you are injured in the study what compensation will be available?

We will be responsible to provide for treatment caused by procedures of the research study.

If medical treatment is required as an emergency, please refer to your health centre or clinic and contact the field worker who gave his/her telephone number to you or contact

Version	Date	
---------	------	--

Stephanie Migchelsen on [Phone number] or Mr Sarjo Kanyi on 9901716, 3011349, 6651344 or 7510996.

How will personal records remain confidential and who will have access to it?

All information that is collected about you in the course of the study will be kept strictly confidential. Your personal information will only be available to the study team members and might be seen by some rightful persons from the Ethics Committee, Government authorities and sponsor.

Who should you contact if you have questions?

If you have any queries or concerns you can contact Stephanie Migchelsen on [Phone number] or Mr Sarjo Kanyi on 9901716, 3011349, 6651344 or 7510996 and you can always call the personal numbers of the study staff given to you.

Please feel free to ask any question you might have about the research study.

Who has reviewed this study?

This study has been reviewed and approved by a panel of scientists at the Medical Research Council and the Gambia Government/MRC Joint Ethics Committee, which consists of scientists and lay persons to protect your rights and wellbeing.

CONSENT FORM

Participant Identification Number: |__|__|__|__|__|__|__|__|__|__|__|

(Printed name of participant)

 $\hfill \square$ I have read the written information ${\bf OR}$

I have had the information explained to me by study personnel in a language that I understand,

and I

- confirm that my choice to participate is entirely voluntarily,
- confirm that I have had the opportunity to ask questions about this study and I am satisfied with the answers and explanations that have been provided,
- understand that I grant access to data about me to authorised persons described in the information sheet,
- have received time to consider to take part in this study,
- agree to take part in this study.

Tick as appropriate

I agree to further research on my samples as described in the information sheet	Yes 🗌	No 🗌	
---	-------	------	--

Participant's signature/ thumbprint*		
	Date (dd/mmm/yyyy)	Time (24hr)

Printed name of witness*

Printed name of person obtaining consent

Signature of person obtaining consent

Date (dd/mmm/yyyy) Time (24hr)

* Only required if the participant is unable to read or write.

Version Date	Version Date	
--------------	--------------	--